
 

 

 

 
Three Rivers House 

Northway 
Rickmansworth 
Herts WD3 1RL 

 

REGULATORY SERVICES 
COMMITTEE 

NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

For a meeting to be held on Tuesday 8 March 2022 at 7.30pm in the Penn Chamber, Three Rivers 
House, Northway, Rickmansworth, WD3 1RL 
 
Members of the Regulatory Services Committee:- 
 
Councillors:-    Raj Khiroya (Chair) 

Donna Duncan 
Stephen Cox 
Joanna Clemens 
David Coltman 

Martin Trevett (Vice Chair) 
Roger Seabourne  
Paul Rainbow 
Alex Turner 
Kate Turner 
Alison Wall 

Joanne Wagstaffe, Chief Executive   
28 February 2022 

 

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public to aid discussions on agenda 
items at the Regulatory Services Committee meetings. Details of the procedure are provided 
below: 

For those wishing to speak: 

Members of the public will be entitled to register and identify which item(s) they wish to speak on 
from the published agenda for the meeting.  Those who wish to register to speak (for or against 
an item) are asked to please notify the Committee team by e-mail 
(CommitteeTeam@threerivers.gov.uk) 48 before the meeting or can come on the night to 
register to speak from 7pm. Registering before the meeting allows the Committee Team time to 
prepare the speaker sheet in advance of the meeting. 

Please note that contributions will be limited to no more than three minutes.  

Please note that, in the event of registering your interest to speak on an agenda item but not 
taking up that right because the item is deferred, you will be given the right to speak on that item 
at the next meeting of the Committee. 

In accordance with The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 any matters 
considered under Part I business only of the meeting may be filmed, recorded, photographed, 
broadcast or reported via social media by any person. 

Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of 
those doing the recording and reporting to ensure compliance.  This will include the Human 
Rights Act, the Data Protection Legislation and the laws of libel and defamation. 

The Committee meeting will not being broadcast/livestreamed but a recording of the meeting will 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:CommitteeTeam@threerivers.gov.uk


 

 

be made. 

 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
 

2.   MINUTES 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Regulatory Services 
Committee Meeting that took place on 1 December 2021 
 

 

3.   NOTICE OF OTHER BUSINESS 
Items of other business notified under Council Procedure Rule 30 to be 
announced, together with the special circumstances that justify their 
consideration as a matter of urgency.  The Chair to rule on the admission of 
such items. 
 

 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
To receive any declarations of interest. 

 

5.   AMENDMENTS TO TRDC'S EXISTING HACKNEY CARRIAGE, PRIVATE 
HIRE AND OPERATOR POLICY 
The existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019 (“the Policy”) 
(see Appendix 1) was effective from 1 October 2019 following a review 
earlier that year. The Policy is required to be reviewed every three years with 
the next review scheduled for 2022, if required.  

Notwithstanding the above and prior to the forthcoming review, if necessary, 
a number of immediate changes to the Policy are required which require 
Committee approval. The changes have come to light over the past year 
when using the policy, ensuring that certain areas of the Policy are tightened 
with greater clarification provided for those that use and read the Policy. In 
addition, the Government will be introducing a new tax check (new legislation 
in the form of the Finance Bill 2020-21) which will be come into effect from 4 
April 2022. This will affect those that drive taxi’s and operate a private hire 
vehicle business within the District. 

The changes to the Policy are set out in more detail within Section 2 of this 
report.  

Following the Regulatory Services Committee in December, a 12 week public 
consultation commenced and expires on 11 March 2022. 

 

(Pages 5 
- 176) 

6.   INTRODUCTION OF A STREET TRADING POLICY (LICENSING) 
 
In recent months, following a number of street trading applications, it is 
evident the Council requires a specific Policy to cover Street Trading and 
tighter internal processes which would be best achieved by implementing a 
new Street Trading Policy (“the Policy”). 

The aim of the Policy is to create a street trading environment which ensures 
fair trading, protects the amenity of residents, ensures the safety of those 
trading, promotes diversity and consumer choice and provides applicants with 
advice and guidance on the Council’s approach to the administration for 
street trading consents and licences under Schedule 4 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the Act”).  

Currently the licensing department rely on Schedule 4 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the Act”) when 
processing applications as no street trading policy exists. That said, the 

(Pages 
177 - 
214) 

Page 2



 

 

department does currently have a list of prohibited and consent streets (see 
Appendix II of the Policy) which were passed by Council on 10 July 2007.  
These streets and the designation of streets as prohibited, consent or licence 
streets have not been reviewed at the current time. However, a review of the 
streets would be undertaken and reported within the next 18 months with 
amendments made thereafter. 

Officers are therefore seeking member agreement in adopting the Policy 
following a 12 week public consultation which is due to expire on 11 March 
2022. 

7.   REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
To consider and make necessary changes to the Committee’s work 
programme. 
 

(Pages 
215 - 
216) 

8.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
If approved under Item 3 above. 

 

 

9.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLICITY 
 
If any confidential business is approved, it will also be necessary to specify 
the class of exempt or confidential information in the additional item(s) and a 
resolution to be passed in the following terms: 

 
“that under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined under Paragraphs 1 to 7 of Schedule 12A to the Act.”  It has been 
decided by the Council that in all circumstances, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

 

 

General Enquiries: Please contact the Committee Team at 
committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

mailto:committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7 
 

REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE - 8 MARCH 2022 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE – 14 MARCH 2022 
PART I 

5. AMENDMENTS TO TRDC’S EXISTING HACKNEY CARRIAGE, PRIVATE HIRE 
AND OPERATOR POLICY  

 (DCES) 
 
1 Summary 

 The existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019 (“the Policy”) (see 
Appendix 1) was effective from 1 October 2019 following a review earlier that year. 
The Policy is required to be reviewed every three years with the next review 
scheduled for 2022, if required.  

1.2 Notwithstanding the above and prior to the forthcoming review, if necessary, a 
number of immediate changes to the Policy are required which require Committee 
approval. The changes have come to light over the past year when using the policy, 
ensuring that certain areas of the Policy are tightened with greater clarification 
provided for those that use and read the Policy. In addition, the Government will be 
introducing a new tax check (new legislation in the form of the Finance Bill 2020-21) 
which will be come into effect from 4 April 2022. This will affect those that drive taxi’s 
and operate a private hire vehicle business within the District. 

1.3 The changes to the Policy are set out in more detail within Section 2 of this report.  

1.4 Following the Regulatory Services Committee in December, a 12 week public 
consultation commenced and expires on 11 March 2022. 

2 Details 

2.1 The proposed changes are broken down to the relevant parts below and are 
considered necessary in order to tighten the existing Policy to ensure the Council 
licences those that are fit and proper and ensure we can do all we can in protecting 
the public.  

2.2 One of the changes requires private hire operators to submit an annual basic 
disclosure certificate which coincides with the policy aims such as protecting the 
public and by ensuring that those licensed and in charge of booking do not harm 
passenger safety. 

2.3 Other changes such as not accepting insurance write offs aim to maintain the high 
standard of the trade operating within the District and greater clarification is provided 
to ensure that the requirements for all are clear. 

2.3.1 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licence Requirements: (Appendix 1 of the 
Policy) 

- Requirement to return the driver’s identity badge within 7 days of expiry (5 
working days), revocation or suspension of licence 

- Requirement to sign up to the DBS update service 
- That the Council will not accept insurance write offs 

2.3.2 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles Requirements: (Appendix 2 of the 
Policy) 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 7 
 

- Clarification that any other vehicle licenced with another authority cannot be 
licenced by TRDC 

- Clarification over exemptions for factory fitted tinted windows 
 

2.3.3 Conditions relating to Private Hire Operators: (Appendix 11 of the Policy) 

- Not to invite or accept bookings for private hire work for any vehicle which is not 
currently licensed by the Council 

- Not to employ or engage any driver who does not hold a valid private hire or 
Hackney Carriage driver licence issued by the Council 

- Details on subcontracting bookings onto another sub-contractor 
- Requirement for Private Hire Operators to submit an annual ‘basic disclosure 

certificate’. 
- Requiring that the number of vehicles used by the licence holder does not 

exceed the number of vehicles in the licence 
- Notification of change of details and how to submit such changes formally via 

the Council’s online forms 
- Clarification over trading names 
- Requiring Operator to view a basic DBS certificate for any staff that have access 

to booking records or dispatch vehicles  
2.3.4 Tax Check: (paragraph 17 of the amended Policy) 

2.3.4.1 The introduction of a paragraph setting out that from 4 April 2022 licensing authorities 
must carry out checks on applications from individuals, companies and any type of 
partnership to make sure they are aware of their tax responsibilities or have 
completed a tax check. The objective behind the check is to make ensure individuals 
and businesses are aware of their tax obligations. The tax check is considered to be 
an innovative, cost effective and simple way to tackle this part of the tax gap and 
make it more difficult for people to hide from their tax obligations.  

2.3.5 The checks must be done prior to granting or refusing a licence when renewing, 
applying for the same type of licence they previously held that ceased to be valid less 
than a year ago and applying for the same type of licence they already hold with 
another licensing authority. Gov.uk sets out the following guidance: 

“Make sure your organisation has systems and processes in place ready for the 
changes on 4 April 2022, as you will need to: 
 
• ask applicants if they currently hold, or have held in the last 12 months before this 

application, the same type of licence with one or more licensing authority 
(including the licensing body that the applicant is applying to now) 

• ask the applicant for their 9-character tax check code if they have to complete a 
tax check, so you can confirm that it has been done 

• record their Company Number, if the applicant is a company 
• make the applicant aware that HMRC has powers to obtain information from 

licensing authorities, we suggest using the following wording: 
‘Schedule 23 to Finance Act 2011 (Data Gathering Powers) and Schedule 36 to 
Finance Act 2008 (Information and Inspection Powers), grant HMRC powers to 
obtain relevant information from third parties. This includes licensing bodies being 
required to provide information about licence applicants.’ 

 
You must also give applicants who do not need to complete a tax check the following 
GOV.UK website addresses for HMRC guidance about tax registration obligations: 
 

Page 6



Page 3 of 7 
 

• PAYE information: www.gov.uk/income-tax/how-you-pay-income-tax 
• registering for Self Assessment: www.gov.uk/register-for-self-assessment 
• Corporation Tax information: www.gov.uk/corporation-tax 
 
You’ll also need to record that the applicant has confirmed they are aware of the 
guidance, you can do this by adding a declaration onto the application form. We 
suggest using the following wording: 
 
‘I confirm that I am aware of the content of HMRC guidance relating to my/our (delete 
as applicable) tax registration obligations.” 

 
2.3.6 As such, changes to the application process will be required and licences cannot be 

issued until the tax check has been completed.  

2.3.7 Further guidance was provided via Gov.uk in January 20221. 

3 Consultation  

 A public consultation regarding the changes to the Policy took place for 6 weeks and 
initially expired on 28 January 2022. However, the consultation was extended by a 
further 6 weeks as the Parish Councils were omitted from the original consultation 
exercise. The consultation now expires on 11 March 2022. 

 As a result of the consultation exercise, all existing taxi licence holders, all members, 
Parish Councils, relevant consultees on licence applications were notified and public 
notices were also displayed in the Watford Observer throughout the consultation 
period. The consultation was also displayed on the Council’s website. 

 One response was received at the time of writing the report and is attached at 
Appendix 3. A response to the comments received is set out below: 

 Dual plating 

3.4.1 Vehicles are not permitted to be dual licensed with many, if not all, licensing 
authorities. This is due to the requirement to display a licence plate throughout the 
duration of the licence. Should the licence plate be removed, the proprietor would be 
committing an offence by removing and not displaying the plate (Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976).  

 Glazing 

3.5.1 The legal requirement2 is as stated in our Policy: Front Windscreen 75%, Front Side 
Windows 70%, All other Windows 30%.  

3.5.2 Further to the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham3 this 
measure has been put in place for the utmost safety of the young and vulnerable as 
public safety is our utmost consideration.  

 Sub-contracting 

                                                
1 Confirm a tax check for taxi, private hire or scrap metal licence applications - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
2 https://www.gov.uk/tinted-vehicle-window-rules 
3 Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham (1997 - 2013) – Rotherham Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

Page 7

https://www.gov.uk/income-tax/how-you-pay-income-tax
https://www.gov.uk/register-for-self-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/corporation-tax
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/confirm-a-tax-check-for-taxi-private-hire-or-scrap-metal-licence-applications
https://www.gov.uk/tinted-vehicle-window-rules
https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/download/31/independent-inquiry-into-child-sexual-exploitation-in-rotherham-1997---2013
https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/download/31/independent-inquiry-into-child-sexual-exploitation-in-rotherham-1997---2013


Page 4 of 7 
 

3.6.1 In response to the representation received, the amended Policy simply states that 
bookings must not be sub-contracted to another licensed driver. Section 55A of the 
1976 Act permits operators licensed by the Council to sub-contract a private hire 
booking to another operator.  

3.6.2 TRDC does not have any control over which operators/drivers are awarded schools 
contracts as this is a function of Herts County Council. 

 Alternative options to prevent incidents like installing cameras 

3.7.1 Vehicle proprietors are permitted to install CCTV at their own expense, however, if 
the Licensing Authority was to make this a mandatory condition there may be many 
drivers that could not afford to install CCTV. Officers are not aware of any available 
funding for drivers to install CCTV at the current time.  

3.7.2 Conditions set by the Policy must be practicable, financially viable for both the 
proprietor and the Licensing Authority, and must be proportionate.  

4 Options and Reasons for Recommendations 

 Following discussion at Committee, there are three options available for Members: 

Option 1: That Members agree the amended Policy subject to any new response(s) 
received within the consultation period.  
 
Any response(s) to be circulated to all members of the committee with an officer 
response. 

 
Following receipt of any further responses the Head of Regulatory Services will 
determine whether the amended Policy (attached to this report) can be presented to 
the Policy and Resources Committee for determination on formal adoption or 
returned to a future Regulatory Services Committee. 
 
Option 2: Authorise Officers to make further changes on the Policy and return to a 
future Regulatory Services Committee. 
 
Option 3: Decide not to adopt the amended Policy. 
 

 Officers recommend that Members adopt Option 1 so the changes to the Policy can 
be implemented without delay, subject to any other responses received, whilst 
improving the effectiveness of the department and to ensure greater safety checks 
for operators. 

5 Policy/Budget Reference and Implications 

 The recommendations in this report are within the Council’s agreed policy and 
budgets. Costs associated with a press notice are to be subsumed within existing 
licensing budgets.  

6 Financial Implications 

 By implementing stricter controls this could result in reduced numbers of applicants 
which could affect income. However, the impact of this will be hard to quantify. 

Page 8



Page 5 of 7 
 

7 Legal Implications 

 No legal implications.  

8 Equal Opportunities Implications 

 Relevance Test 

Has a relevance test been completed for Equality Impact? 
There will be no effect to equal opportunities with the 
proposed changes to the policy. 

No  

Did the relevance test conclude a full impact assessment 
was required? 
The recommended changes may have an impact on the 
licence holders and new applicants but only if they breach 
the conditions that are set out in legislation and this policy.  

N/A 

9 Impact Assessment 

 There is no detrimental impact likely towards any protected group from the proposed 
changes to the Policy.   

10 Customer Services Centre Implications 

 The CSC will be made aware of the adoption of the Policy if agreed. 

11 Communications and Website Implications 

 If agreed, an update will be added to the licensing pages of the Three Rivers website. 
Officers will also ensure that all operators and drivers are aware of the new changes 
if agreed. 

12 Risk and Health & Safety Implications 

 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on the 
website at http://www.threerivers.gov.uk.  In addition, the risks of the proposals in the 
report have also been assessed against the Council’s duties under Health and Safety 
legislation relating to employees, visitors and persons affected by our operations.  
The risk management implications of this report are detailed below. 

 The subject of this report is covered by the Regulatory Services Service Plan.  Any 
risks resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if necessary, 
managed within this plan. 

Nature of 
Risk 

Consequence Suggested 
Control 
Measures 

Response 
(tolerate, 
treat 
terminate, 
transfer) 

Risk Rating 
(combination 
of likelihood 
and impact) 

Option 1: 
No risk. 

n/a n/a Tolerate 1 - low  

Page 9



Page 6 of 7 
 

Option 2: 
Delays to 
requiring 
tighter 
controls  

Officers will not 
be able to 
request certain 
information on 
applications 
which seeks to 
strength 
processes 
which may 
have an impact 
on public safety 

Any 
amendments 
to be brought 
back to a 
future 
Committee as 
soon as 
possible 

Tolerate 3 - Low 

Option 3: 
Officers 
unable to 
request tighter 
controls. 

Officers will not 
be able to 
request certain 
information on 
applications 
which may 
have an impact 
on public safety 

Members 
advised 
against this 
option 

Tolerate  3 -low 

 The above risks are scored using the matrix below.  The Council has determined its 
aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of impact and 
likelihood scores 6 or less. 

 
 

Impact Score  Likelihood Score 

4 (Catastrophic)  4 (Very Likely (≥80%)) 

3 (Critical)  3 (Likely (21-79%)) 

2 (Significant)  2 (Unlikely (6-20%)) 

Very  Likely  --------------------------►
  R

em
ote 

Low 

4 

High 

8 

Very High 

12 

Very High 

16 

Low 

3 

Medium  

6 

High 

9 

Very High 

12 

Low 

2 

Low 

4 

Medium 

6 

High 

8 

Low 

1 

Low 

2 

Low 

3 

Low 

4 

Impact 
Low  --------------------------------------------------►  Unacceptable 

Page 10



Page 7 of 7 
 

1 (Marginal)  1 (Remote (≤5%)) 

 

 In the officer’s opinion none of the new risks above, were they to come about, would 
seriously prejudice the achievement of the Strategic Plan and are therefore 
operational risks.  The effectiveness of the management of operational risks is 
reviewed by the Audit Committee annually.  

13 Recommendation 

 That the Members of the Committee: 

(1) Recommend to agree the amended Policy subject to any new response(s) 
received. Any response(s) received within the consultation period are to be 
circulated to all Members of the Committee with an officer response.  
 
Following receipt of any further responses the Head of Regulatory Services will 
determine whether the amended Policy (attached to this report) can be 
presented to the Policy and Resources Committee for determination on formal 
adoption or returned to a future Regulatory Services Committee. 

Report prepared by: Lorna Fryer, Lead Licensing Officer 

 
Data Quality 
Data sources: 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
Data checked by: Matthew Roberts, Team Leader, Development Management. 
Data rating:  

1 Poor  
2 Sufficient  
3 High X 

 Background Papers: None. 

APPENDICES / ATTACHMENTS 

Appendix 1: Existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019  

Appendix 2: Amended Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019 (changes highlighted) 

Appendix 3: Consultation response(s) 

 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 77 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Hackney Carriage and  
Private Hire Policy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/licensing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted on 22 July 2019 
Effective from 1 October 2019 
Updated 4 May 2021: Sc18 p.42, Sc23 p.56 – To include the change of operator in the change of 
personal details that must be reported to the licensing team. 

  

Page 13

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/licensing
https://www.watford.gov.uk/intranettrdc


 

Page 2 of 77 

Contents 
Section 

No. 
Section Page 

1. Definitions  3 
2. Introduction  3 
3. Background  4 
4. Policy objections and aims 6 
5. Uniformity 7 
6. Administration of licences 7 
7. General fees 7 
8. Service standards 7 
9. Notification of decisions 8 
10. Monitoring 8 
11. Records 8 
12. Data protection 8 
13. Safeguarding 8 
14. Abuse of drivers by members of the public 9 
15. Powers 9 
16. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 9 
17. Private Hire Operator Licences 13 
18. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licences 14 
19. Guidelines for CCTV systems in Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 

Vehicles 
16 

20. Communication, Audio and Visual Devices 20 
21. Policy on convictions and conduct - New Applicants 21 
22. Policy on convictions and conduct - Existing licensees 26 
23. Expedition policy for revoked licences where reinstating a licensee is 

considered appropriate       
27 

24 Table of offences summary 29 
25. Licensing enforcement 34 

 
Appendix  

No. 
Title Pages 

1 Licence Requirements relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Drivers   

38-44 

2 Requirements relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 45-47 
3 Requirements relating only to Private Hire Vehicles 48-49 
4 Requirements Relating only To Hackney Carriage Vehicles  50-51 
5 Licensing conditions relating to Private Hire Drivers  52-56 
6 Hackney Carriage Byelaws 57-60 
7 Conditions relating to Hackney Carriage Vehicles 61-66 
8 Conditions relating to Private Hire Vehicles 67-70 
9 Standards for Conditions of Appearance of a Hackney Carriage or Private 

Hire Vehicle 
71 

10 Non-standard Private Hire Vehicle conditions for stretched limousine, and 
novelty vehicles 

72-74 

11 Conditions relating to Private Hire Operators 75-78 
 
  

Page 14



 

Page 3 of 77 

 
1. Definitions 
For the purpose of this policy - 

  
Authorised officer shall mean any officer within the Council authorised by the Council’s scheme of 
delegations as set out in the Council’s Constitution. 
 
The Council shall mean Three Rivers District Council. 

 
Hirer shall mean any person or persons who from time-to-time hires or books the vehicle. 

 
Licensee(s) shall mean the person(s) named in the licence. 

 
Operator shall mean a person holding a licence to operate private hire vehicles issued pursuant to Section 
55 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. A private hire operator's licence is 
required to enable a person to accept or invite bookings for private hire vehicles. 

 
Working day is any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, Christmas Day, Good Friday or a day which is 
a bank holiday under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971 in any part of the United Kingdom. 

 
Additional Periods This is an amount of time after the length of a criminal sentence that needs to expire 
before we would consider making a licensing decision about an applicant. For example, someone’s length 
of sentence for robbery may be two years, but they only serve six months’ imprisonment. We would not 
consider that person fit and proper for those two years and for an additional period of three years (that is, 
five years in total from the date of conviction). The additional periods are set out in Sc24 of the policy 
below.  

 
Free of conviction shall mean from the date the applicant was convicted. If the incident did not amount to 
a criminal offence or is not to be prosecuted, then the relevant date will be the date of the incident. 

 
Offence shall mean any criminal offence and/or any other behaviour including a civil penalty which brings 
into question whether the applicant is a fit and proper person. 

 
Conviction shall mean a criminal conviction or a civil penalty. However if the applicant is on trial, is not to 
be convicted or the incident did not amount to a criminal offence, the suggested periods free from 
convictions shall be considered by the Council when making their decision, taking all the evidence before 
them into account. 

 
Caution an admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued. Accordingly cautions will be 
assessed in the same way as a conviction by the court. 

 
2. Introduction   
This policy has been produced pursuant to the powers conferred by the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 and Town and Police Clauses Act 147 which places the duty on the Council to carry 
out licensing functions in respect of hackney carriage and private hire vehicle, drivers and operators. 
 
In carrying out its said regulatory licensing functions, the Council will have regard to this policy document. 
Where it is necessary for the Council to depart from this policy, clear reasons will be given for doing so. 

 
Following consultation and adoption by the Council, this policy shall be kept under review and revised as 
necessary. The Head of Regulatory Services is authorised to make minor amendments to the policy without 
consultation by the Council.  

 
The policy refers to guidance that is available to applicants, drivers and operators and proprietors to assist 
them with the application processes and the running of the service. This guidance, application forms and 
current fees are available on the Council’s Website. Before granting or renewing a licence we must be 
satisfied that the applicant is a “fit and proper person” to hold a licence, as set out in sections 51, 55 and 
59 of the 1976 Act. This policy sets out how we decide not only whether an applicant is fit and proper when 
applying for a licence, but to assess whether they remain so once a licence has been issued.  
 
This policy provides guidance to any person with an interest in taxi and private hire licensing. In particular, 
but not exclusively:  

 Applicants for a driver’s licence  

 Existing licensed drivers whose licences are being reviewed / renewed  

Page 15



 

Page 4 of 77 

 Licensing officers  

 Members of the Regulatory Services/Licensing committee/sub-committee  

 Magistrates and Judges hearing appeals against local authority decisions  
 

This policy provides guidance to all parties on the criteria that will be taken into account when determining 
whether or not an applicant or an existing licence-holder is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney 
carriage and/or private hire driver or operator licence. Whilst criminal convictions play a significant part in 
the Licensing Authority’s determination on whether an individual is fit and proper or not, the Council will 
also take into account other factors such as demeanour, general character, non-criminal behaviour, driving 
abilities, and police information etc.  

 
The term “Fit and Proper” for the purposes of taxi and private hire licensing is not legally defined but it has 
also been described as “safe and suitable” in a number of court cases.  

 
3. Background 
3.1. Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a distinct role to play in an integrated transport system. 
They are able to provide services in situations where public transport is either not available (for example in 
rural areas, or outside “normal” hours of operation such as in the evenings or on Sundays), and/or for those 
with mobility difficulties. 

 
3.1 Three Rivers District Council Boundary  
 

 
 

Page 16



 

Page 5 of 77 

3.2 Practice, guidance & legislation 
The Department for Transport (DfT) has national responsibility for hackney carriage and private hire 
legislation in England and Wales. As a result of the Office of Fair Trading producing a report on the UK 
hackney carriage and private hire trade, the DfT was asked to produce best practice guidance for local 
licensing authorities. The latest guidance was issued in March 2010 entitled ‘Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing: Best Practice Guidance’1 and represents examples of good or best practice from within England 
and Wales. However, the document recognises that licensing authorities may reach their own decisions 
both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters in the light of their own circumstances. 

 
The Council has therefore taken account of the DfT guidance to develop this policy.  

 
This policy also takes account of the legislative basis of the Council’s taxi licensing powers, including those 
contained in the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976, the Immigration Act 2016 as amended. 

 
3.3 Equality Act 2010  
In addition, the Equality Act 2010 has implications for both hackney carriage and private hire operators and 
drivers in respect of disabled access to vehicles.  

 
3.4. Duties to assist passengers in wheelchairs 

 
3.4.1 General 
Section 165 places a duty on a driver of designated wheelchair accessible hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles. The duties are: 

 To convey the passenger while in the wheelchair 

 Not to make any additional charge for doing so 
 

If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat: 

 To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is conveyed in safety and 
reasonable comfort; and 

 To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required to enable the passenger 
to get in or out of the vehicle and to secure/convey the wheelchair as appropriate. 

 
Section 167 of the Equality Act2 allows licensing authorities to maintain a list of “designated vehicles”, that 
is, a list of wheelchair-accessible hackney carriages and private hire vehicles licensed in their area. The 
consequence of being on this list is that the driver must undertake the duties in section 165.  

 
Following the full commencement of sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010 on 6th April 2017, the 
Council will maintain a statutory list of wheelchair-accessible vehicles (i.e. designated vehicles).  
 
Accordingly, drivers of these vehicles are required to carry passengers in wheelchairs, provide assistance 
to those passengers, and prohibits them from charging extra to do so.  

 
3.4.2. Policy on exempting drivers on medical and physical condition grounds   
The requirements of Section 165 of the Equality Act 2010 do not apply to drivers who are issued with a 
medical exemption certificate who display the prescribed notice in their vehicle. 

 
Generally, the Council will seek to consider the contents of a driver’s medical questionnaire when a driver 
requests to be granted the required exemption. However, where there is doubt as to the ability of the driver 
to assist passengers in wheelchairs, the Council may require the driver to obtain a more detailed report 
from their registered GP, confirming that the driver is not able to provide this service and should be granted 
an exemption certificate. Any charges associated with additional GP reports must be met by the driver and 
will not be reimbursed by the Council. 
 
3.5. Guide dogs and assistance dogs (sections 168 to 171 of Equality Act 2010)  
Councils are able to issue certificates to drivers who are exempt by their doctors under strict medical 
grounds from the duty to carry guide and assistance dogs. Exemption certificates will only be issued when 
written requirement for this exemption is provided by the driver’s registered GP practice. 

                                                           
1 https://www.gov.uk/search?q=taxi+and+Private+hire+Licensing&show_organisations_filter=true 

 
2 http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2010/ukpga_20100015_en_1  
 

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/search?q=taxi+and+Private+hire+Licensing&show_organisations_filter=true
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2010/ukpga_20100015_en_1


 

Page 6 of 77 

 
There is comprehensive guidance issued by the DfT in 2010 about the duties to carry guide and assistance 
dogs and the procedure for granting medical exemptions etc. 

 
3.6. Immigration Act 2016 
The Immigration Act 2016 requires ‘right to work’ checks to be carried out on any applicant applying for a 
new or renewal of a hackney carriage driver’s licence, private hire driver’s licence or operator’s licence. 
Where a right to work is indefinite, this check is only required once; where it is time limited, licences may 
only be granted for that period and a further check is required when the existing right to work expires. 

 
4. Policy aims & objectives 
 
4.1 Objectives 

 the protection of the public 

 the maintenance of a professional and respected hackney carriage and private hire trade 

 access to an efficient and effective local transport service 

 the protection of our local environment 

 to support small businesses by ensuring a consistent and fair approach. 
 

4.2 Aims 
The Council will aim to achieve these objectives in the following ways: 

 by ensuring that licensed vehicles do not give rise to a risk to passenger safety 

 by ensuring that licensed drivers are fit and proper persons and achieve as high a standard of good 
practice as is possible 

 by ensuring that licensed vehicles meet emissions standards and encouraging the use of low 
polluting vehicles 

 by encouraging the use of vehicles that are more accessible to persons who have disabilities 

 by ensuring that licensed vehicles are comfortable and properly insured 

 by liaising with the County Council highways department to encourage that taxis and private hire 
vehicles form part of the wider strategic transport and local transport plans 

 by working in partnership with a variety of other agencies to support the Council’s objective in relation 
to both the public and the trade  

 by reducing the frequency with which licence-holders are required to attend the Council offices 

 by ensuring online accessibility to allow remote application by new and existing licence-holders 

 by utilising electronic and mobile communication methods including the use of SMS messaging and 
extranet sites. 

 
4.3 Methods 
The methods to be employed will include:  

 work with the taxi and hackney carriage trade to deliver ongoing improvements, innovate, and deal 
with emerging issues 

 setting the standards for the licensing of vehicles, drivers and operators 

 annual licensing and routine inspection of vehicles, with appropriate follow-up action 

 routine inspection of documents, with appropriate follow-up action 

 routine checks of a driver’s medical fitness and criminal record history during the time the licence is 
in force and knowledge of the district, highway code and licensing policy as well as driving ability (at 
the time of application) 

 investigation of complaints with appropriate follow-up action 

 liaison with Hertfordshire Constabulary, neighbouring local authorities and other agencies 
concerning issues of mutual concern 

 prosecution, monitoring of contraventions, suspension or revocation of licences for breach of 
conditions or legislation 

 proper training and development of Council officers 

 continue to meet ongoing performance and efficiency targets for the service 

 provision of information to licensees about good practice and what to expect of any inspecting officer 

 promote the use of training/courses for licensees,  

 provide mandatory training when it is considered appropriate to do so 

 promotional activities to inform and encourage and maintain high standards. 
 
In seeking to meet these aims the Council will actively cooperate, assist and seek advice from agencies 
including:  

 Hertfordshire Constabulary 

Page 18

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/781711/assessing-fitness-to-drive-a-guide-for-medical-professionals.pdf


 

Page 7 of 77 

 Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency 

 Herts County Council 

 Other local authorities 

 Town and Parish Councils 

 Three Rivers Railways and London underground 

 Disclosure and Barring Service 

 Department for Transport  

 Driving and Vehicle Licensing Agency  

 Home Office  

 Department for Work and Pensions  

 Other relevant agencies and departments. 
 

 5. Uniformity 
The authority acknowledges the need to act in a consistent and uniform manner and advocates a common-
sense approach to the selection of enforcement action and activities. 

 
The following areas are all considered important in achieving uniformity:   

 the awareness of and adherence to this policy 

 training, qualifications and supervision of staff and training for Members 

 regular practical training and update sessions to ensure uniformity  

 use of joint training initiatives with other authorities will also be undertaken 

 the ongoing monitoring and auditing of licence-holders, testing stations, and activities 

 liaising with other enforcement agencies, adjoining authorities and trade bodies 

 compliance with relevant codes of practice/circulars (where not inconsistent with this policy) 
 
6. Administration of licences 
Applications for licences will only be validated and then determined when all documents and fee (as 
applicable) are received, as stated within this policy.  

 
The Council will always aim to produce licences as promptly as possible. Applications will normally be 
considered within 28 days of validation and, depending on circumstances, an application can then be 
granted, refused or deferred. 

 
7. General fees guidance 
In the event of an application not leading to the issue of a licence, a refund will be provided. Other costs 
incurred by an applicant such as the cost of any medical and DSA test and criminal record check (paid 
directly to the provider) or knowledge test will not be reimbursed. 

 
In the event of a licensed driver or operator surrendering their licence before its expiry, no refund will be 
provided. 

 
Where the surrender is as a result of illness certified to the Council by a registered medical practitioner, a 
pro rata refund shall be payable for the remaining full months of the licence. 

 
All licence fees must be paid by credit/debit card.  

 
8. Service standards 
Subject to amendment from time to time by the Head of Regulatory Services it is the intention of the Council 
to offer the following service levels:  
 
You are able to contact the customer service team by email, through the website, or by phone who will take 
your enquiry and details of which will be passed to the appropriate member of the licensing team. This 
process is to reduce the need for licence-holders to travel to the council offices and to allow the team to 
deal with enquiries as effectively as possible. 

 
The customer services team can be contacted by phone from 8:30am to 5:30pm, Monday to 
Thursday and 8:30 to 5:00pm on Fridays (excluding Bank Holidays) and can be contacted on 01923 
776611. 

 
The One Stop Shop is open for visitors from 8.30am to 5.00pm, Monday to Thursday, 8.30am to 4:30pm 
Fridays (excluding Bank Holidays) at Three Rivers House, Northway Rickmansworth WD3 1RL. Drivers 
can e-mail general enquiries to: enquiries@threerivers.gov.uk or licensing.team@threerivers.gov.uk  

 

Page 19

mailto:enquiries@threerivers.gov.uk
mailto:licensing.team@threerivers.gov.uk


 

Page 8 of 77 

Although the Council has 28 days to issue a licence upon receipt of a valid application, the Licensing 
section will strive to:-  

 Issue a private hire driver/hackney carriage driver licence as promptly as possible and usually within 
7 working days of the application being validated 

 Issue a private hire/hackney carriage vehicle licence as promptly as possible and usually within 7 
working days of the date of receipt of a complete and valid application 

 Issue change of vehicle licences as promptly as possible and usually within 2 working days of the 
application being validated.  

 
9. Notification of decisions 
Any notice required to be served by the Council under this licence or under any of the provisions of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be deemed to have been properly served if 
sent by pre-paid post to, or left at the last known address of, the holder of the licence. Notices may also be 
served by email and will be deemed served on the individual once sent. 

 
10.  Monitoring 
All documents will be checked for authenticity when submitted. Routine random checks will also occur 
throughout the year. In addition, visits will be made both to the ranks and to regular trade pick up points to 
check compliance. Checks of proprietor and operator documents and records will also be made and taxi 
ranks/stands and other frequented locations will also be conducted.  

 
The Council will also work in partnership with other agencies and neighbouring authorities to undertake 
compliance and enforcement activities. 

 
All complaints against licence-holders will be monitored and investigated and action taken in line with this 
policy as appropriate  

 
11. Records 
An up to date electronic record will be kept and maintained of all application details, fees paid, deposits 
and licences issued, together with the public registers as required by law.  

 
12. Data protection 
All information held on files and databases about an applicant is confidential, under the Data Protection Act 
1998. However, the Council is under a duty to protect the public and to protect the public funds it 
administers, and to this end may use any information provided by an applicant within this authority. The 
Council is under a duty to maintain Public Registers in accordance with the legislative requirements and all 
registers will be maintained on line through the Council’s Licensing Public Register. 

 
For the purposes of crime prevention, and with the purpose of protecting the public and/or protecting public 
funds, we may also share any information held with other bodies responsible for public functions, where 
there is a legal basis or a legal obligation to do so. For the most recent Council policy please visit 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/privacy-notice  

 
13. Safeguarding  
13.1 General 
The Council is committed to ensuring the safety and welfare of all vulnerable persons including children 
and young people, to whom we provide services directly or indirectly and with whom we come into contact. 
 
Drivers are on the frontline, often coming into contact with people who may be vulnerable, for example 
because they are young, have learning difficulties, be suffering ill health, or be elderly or who have drunk 
to excess on a night out, or who may have taken an illegal substance. Such persons may be travelling 
alone or accompanied by another person.  

 
Sadly there are persons who prey on precisely these people and drivers are often best placed to raise 
concerns over what they hear or see occurring whilst in their vehicles.  

 
Drivers may also have concerns over the vulnerability of passengers who are being dropped off at locations 
in or out of the district. For example drivers in other authorities have reported concerns that young persons 
are being dropped off at a particular guest house, hotel or house and are either distressed before being 
dropped off or after they have been picked up as a fare-paying passenger. 
 
Information is provided on the Council’s website in relation to safeguarding and applicants and licensees 
have a duty to report matters if they suspect harm: https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/service/safeguarding  
 

Page 20

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/privacy-notice
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/service/safeguarding


 

Page 9 of 77 

13.2 When you have concerns regarding a child 
If you are worried about a young person, you must do something. 
 
There are specialists who can advise you on what to do next. They can also talk to any young person 
themselves. 
 
If you are concerned about a young person you can contact the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
on 0300 123 4043 or email:  
www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/childrens-social-care/child-protection/report-child-protection-
concern.aspx if you think a child or young person is in immediate danger call 999. 
 
13.3 When you have concerns regarding an adult 
If you need to speak to someone urgently about a vulnerable adult: 

 Report abuse to Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board: 0300 123 4042 or dial: 999 

 Speak to the adult social care team: 01438 84455 

 Outside office hours: Complete the online form using the link below.  
 
For up to date information you should visit the safeguarding section of the Hertfordshire County Council 
website:https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/adult-social-services/report-a-concern-about-an-
adult/report-a-concern-about-an-adult.aspx 
     
14. Abuse of Drivers by members of the public 
The Council strongly disapproves of any form of abuse, discriminatory or otherwise, directed at drivers by 
members of the public. However, the Council is not the appropriate authority to investigate such incidents 
unless these form part of a counter-allegation following a complaint about a driver, in which case information 
will be obtained from all parties prior to a decision being made on the appropriate action for the Council to 
take. Incidents of this nature should be reported to the Police via 101 so that they can be investigated. The 
Council will assist the Police with regards to such investigations as far as possible. 
 
15. Powers 
We have powers in sections 61 and 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as 
amended) (the 1976 Act) to:  

 suspend  

 revoke  

 refuse to renew  
 
licences of applicants who have:  

 lost their right to work in the UK  

 been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence  

 failed to comply with the provisions of part II of the 1976 Act  

 failed to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 or  

 given the Council any other reasonable cause to act.  
 

16. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 
 Only applicants who comply with the requirements and conditions relating to the licensing of private hire 

drivers or hackney carriage drivers will be licensed.  
 

Existing drivers must comply with the conditions of their licence, this policy and any relevant legislation 
during the period of their licence. Failure to do so will result in the consideration of the various sanctions 
outlined in this policy. 

 
All new applicants are required to pass a specialist driving test as part of their application. Existing drivers 
who have not passed a driving test as prescribed by the Council will only be permitted to carry up to 4 
passengers. This will be stipulated on their licence. Existing drivers are entitled to take the specialist driving 
test at any time and once passed will be issued a badge permitting 8 passengers, at no additional cost on 
production of their certificate. 

 
Further, sections 51 and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 require that “a 
district council shall not grant a driver’s licence to drive a private hire vehicle or hackney carriage unless 
they are satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person”.  

 
16.1. Fit and proper person – information required for an assessment to be made 
To prove that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage or a private hire driver’s licence 

Page 21

http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/childrens-social-care/child-protection/report-child-protection-concern.aspx
http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/childrens-social-care/child-protection/report-child-protection-concern.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/adult-social-services/report-a-concern-about-an-adult/report-a-concern-about-an-adult.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/adult-social-services/report-a-concern-about-an-adult/report-a-concern-about-an-adult.aspx


 

Page 10 of 77 

or dual licence they must provide evidence of: 

 Driving standard – through a specialised test driving test supplied by a Council-approved provider 
(details available on request) 

 Medical fitness – on the Council’s prescribed form, signed by the applicant’s GP or medical practitioner 

 Criminal history and behaviour – through an enhanced DBS check 

 Knowledge of the local area, highway code, legislation and requirements relating to a hackney carriage 
and private hire and the Council’s policy in the form of a ‘knowledge test’ designed by the Council 

 Two references as to their character and reliability. 
 

Details of the above will be obtained and considered at the time of application, together with any other 
relevant information. Drivers will be required to maintain their ability to be fit and proper persons whilst 
licensed and must report any driving offences, changes to medical condition, civil or criminal offences for 
which they have been interviewed or charged.  

 
If the Council suspects that a driver may have fallen short of the standards required, the Council may need 
to conduct further enquiries to verify any information provided or the fitness of a person to hold a licence. 
By submitting an application for a licence or holding a licence applicants gives their consent to the release 
of data where necessary.    

 
Any applicant subsequently found to have provided false information will be dealt with in accordance with 
the provisions of this policy. 

 
16.2. Driving standard and knowledge 
The following requirements must both be demonstrated to establish whether a person’s driving standards 
are acceptable: 

 A valid full EU (UK) driver’s licence driver’s licence has been held for three years prior to application, 
and 

 

 Drivers pass a specialised driving test supplied by a Council-approved provider (details available on 
request) prior to application to ensure they are aware of the hazards of driving. The requirement to 
take a driving course helps ensure an acceptable standard of driving. Before an application can be 
validated the applicant must provide a signed copy of the assessment pass certificate which must be 
current at the time it is submitted.  

 
Through the knowledge test assessment, drivers will be tested on their knowledge of the local area. In 
addition, drivers will be tested on policy, related law, customer awareness, and elements of the Highway 
Code.  An application cannot be validated unless the applicant has passed the appropriate knowledge test 
which can be booked online. Applicants taking the test may not receive assistance from a third party.  

 
Drivers must present themselves in a professional manner and have good personal hygiene. Drivers will 
be expected to wear collared shirt, collared polo shirts or collared blouses which have a full body and short 
or long sleeves as well as smart long legged trousers (no denim), knee length tailored shorts, knee length 
skirts or dresses. 

  
Unacceptable examples of clothing or footwear include items which are unclean or damaged, clothing 
printed with words, logos or graphics which might offend, clothing intended to support any political party, 
pressure group or other organisation designed to provoke discrimination or objection, sports replica shirts 
e.g. football, rugby or cricket tops or track suits, beach-type footwear (e.g. flip-flops or mules), high heels, 
the wearing of hoods or other clothing that obscures the driver’s vision or their identity, sports shorts or 
swimming trunks, and showing a bare chest. 

  
Drivers must conduct themselves in a professional manner and collections should be punctual, drivers 
polite and knowledgeable of local routes, and vehicles kept clean and operated in accordance with 
conditions, byelaws and legislative requirements. Hackney drivers should only charge the meter rate or 
below.  

  
Drivers must not initiate any dialogue of a “sexual” nature with a passenger including by telephone contact, 
social media, email or any other form of communication. Licensed drivers are not permitted to become 
involved “sexually”, or have sexual contact with a passenger, whether consent is given or not and whether 
or not the vehicle is carrying a fare-paying passenger at the time. 

  
16.3. Medical fitness 
Drivers are not required to hold a Group 2, EU (UK) full driving licence, but they will have to demonstrate 
compliance with the medical standards for a Group 2 licence and will have to provide a medical certificate, 

Page 22

https://my.threerivers.gov.uk/en/AchieveForms/?form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-50461433-f268-46b4-835c-a703739d4697/AF-Stage-0383a15f-4307-4c90-9a96-0c132ed395ba/definition.json&redirectlink=%2Fen&cancelRedirectLink=%2Fen&consentMessage=yes


 

Page 11 of 77 

or the Council’s prescribed form to this effect; this should be no older than 3 months at the time of the 
application being completed. 

 
All drivers are required to provide a certificate signed by their registered medical practitioner to declare 
whether or not they are physically fit to be the driver of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. A medical 
certificate must be submitted at first application, every 3 years up to 65 years of age, and annually 
thereafter. 

 
Where an existing licensed hackney carriage driver applies to obtain a private hire licence, or vice versa, 
an additional medical will not be required. 

 
The Council will have regard to the published Department of Transport “best practice” guidance (as updated 
from time to time) when considering the medical fitness of new applicants with insulin-dependent diabetes 
or existing licence-holders diagnosed with insulin-dependent diabetes during the duration of their licence. 
Where an applicant is insulin-dependent the Council will require annual medical certificates. 

 
Where there is reasonable doubt over a driver’s fitness, the Council will require the driver to undertake a 
medical examination by a registered medical practitioner at any time as specified by the Council or in 
accordance with DVLA guidelines. 

 
The applicant is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any medical examination. 

 
Drivers must not drive a licensed vehicle if they are suffering from any disease or disability which would 
cause the licensed vehicle being driven by them to be a danger to the public. Drivers must ensure that they 
can, at all times, meet the eyesight requirements specified by the Department of Transport driving test. 
 
Drivers must immediately notify the Council and their operator of any illness, injury or other impairment 
affecting their ability to drive.  

 
16.4 Offender history and behaviour  
When submitting an application for a licence to drive a hackney carriage and/or private hire vehicle, 
applicants must declare all criminal or civil cautions or convictions they may have, whether they are foreign 
or domestic.  

 
Even those regarded as ‘spent’ under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 must be declared.  

 
In addition to this, applicants must notify us if they have been charged with an offence or have any pending 
prosecutions and if they have ever had a licence suspended, revoked or refused by another authority. 
Applicants must also advise the Council if they have withdrawn a hackney carriage or private hire 
application made to another authority, at any stage of the process. 

 
Failure to declare convictions and/or cautions, or giving false information to obtain a licence is an offence 
and will be treated very seriously. Likewise, giving false information or withholding information to keep a 
licence will be treated very seriously.  

 
If an applicant has not been a resident in the UK for a period of five years, they will need to obtain a 
“certificate of good conduct” or similar document from the relevant embassy.  

 
Applicants will also need to register with the Disclosure and Barring Update Service and providing consent 
to the Council carrying out a check with the Disclosure and Barring Update Service, which will disclose any 
cautions or convictions that they may have. Information received from the DBS will be treated in the strictest 
confidence and will be retained on manual and computer records for no longer than is deemed necessary. 

 
Proof of identity is required in order to obtain the Data Barring Service enhanced disclosure.  Applicants 
will be required to provide, amongst other documents, a birth certificate or valid passport, a copy of their 
EC full driving licence and two utility bills identifying their address. The full requirements are based on the 
DBS requirements in operation at the time of application and may therefore be varied by the service from 
time to time. 

 
Applicants must provide a valid DBS enhanced disclosure certificate (that was issued within the last 3 
months) and provide details of all convictions/cautions as part of the application.  

 
Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 allows district councils to send the driver’s application form 

Page 23



 

Page 12 of 77 

to the Police, (or other authorised body) and request the chief officer’s observations as to the applicant.  
 

Where an existing driver has been interviewed, charged or convicted of an offence, or other relevant 
information comes to the attention of the Council (such as a caution or fixed penalty notice being issued) 
which brings into question whether the driver is still a fit and proper person to hold a driver’s licence, action 
may be taken, as outlined in this policy (Section 20). 

 
The existence of a criminal record or disclosure of other information will not necessarily stop any person 
from gaining or keeping a licence. The decision will be based on the policy on criminal convictions and 
behaviour in sections 19 and 20 of this policy.   

 
16.5 Suspension, refusal, revocation by another Council 
If a new applicant has been suspended, refused or revoked by another Council, the licensing officer may 
refuse to issue a licence depending on the reason for the action already taken.  

 
The Council shall also have a right to make enquiries of that other authority. 

 
16.6 Dual driver’s licences 
As some individuals may wish to be able to carry out a combination of hackney and private hire work, the 
Council will provide a dual driver’s licence to reduce the burden on the applicant. Dual licence-holders are 
required to comply with any conditions or byelaws that are relevant to the work they are carrying out at any 
time, which will be dependent on the licensed vehicle being used.  

 
New applicants for dual licences will be required to obtain an additional qualification as part of the 
application process such as a relevant BTEC or NVQ.  

 
16.7 Training 
All drivers will be required to attend all mandatory training sessions organised by the Council. Failure to 
attend mandatory training sessions will constitute a breach of the Council’s hackney carriage and private 
hire policy. At the first instance, contravention points will be issued; any subsequent failure to attend will 
result in further action being taken again the driver’s licence. 

 
16.8 National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations 
There is a new initiative which is to help strengthen hackney carriage and private hire licensing for the 
benefit of both passengers and responsible hackney carriage and PHV drivers. 

  
The Local Government Association (LGA), the representative body for local councils, has commissioned a 
new National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3). The register will be hosted by the 
National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN). 

 
The intention of this is to prevent drivers who have had a hackney carriage or private hire licence revoked, 
or an application for one refused, going to another authority to dishonestly secure a licence by failing to 
disclose their previous licensing history. 

 
Instances of drivers doing this in the past have undermined public confidence in the hackney carriage and 
private hire trade and licensing authorities. The purpose of the NR3 initiative is therefore to provide a 
mechanism for licensing authorities to share details of individuals who have had a hackney carriage or 
private hire licence revoked or an application for one refused.  

 
The development of NR3 has been welcomed by all sections of the taxi trade, safety groups and charities, 
the Department for Transport and by licensing authorities. 

 
From 1 March 2019, the Council will begin using the NR3. This means that from that point: 

 Applications for new hackney carriage/ private hire licences and for renewals will be checked on 
the NR3 

 Where an existing licence is revoked or an application for renewal or a new licence is refused, this 
will be recorded on NR3. 

 
This Council, and other licensing authorities, will also be adding historic information on refusals and 
revocations of licences to the register. Historic data will not go back beyond the retention period of 25 years.  

 
Any relevant data entered onto NR3 which relates to existing licence-holders may be considered as part of 
future renewal processes. 

 

Page 24



 

Page 13 of 77 

The information recorded on NR3 will be limited to your: 
• name 
• date of birth 
• address and contact details 
• national insurance number 
• driving licence number 
• decision taken 
• the date of the decision 
• the date decision was effective. 
 

Information will be retained on NR3 for 25 years. 
 

Where an applicant’s details are flagged on NR3 during a search, this will be followed up separately 
between the authorities. Any such request in relation to your record will be responded to in accordance with 
the authority’s published policy at the Council.  
 
Licensing authorities will still be required to consider each application on its own merits, but the introduction 
of NR3 will help ensure that they are able to do so on the basis of all the information that is relevant to an 
application. 

 
All data processing and sharing undertaken by this authority on the NR3, and with individual authorities in 
regard to entries on the NR3 will be undertaken in accordance with the Data Protection Act (DPA) and the 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). The legal basis for processing this information is that it is 
necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority 
vested in the licensing authority – that is, assessing whether an individual is a fit and proper person to hold 
a hackney carriage or PHV licence. It is not intended that any NR3 data will be transferred out of the United 
Kingdom. 
 
If you wish to raise any issue related to the data protection legislation, including by relying on any of the 
rights afforded to data subjects under the GDPR, you can do so to the authority’s Data Protection Officer 
at Three Rivers District Council. 
 
17. Private Hire Operator licences 
17.1 Fit and proper person 
Applicants for private hire operator licences are required to pass the private hire knowledge test.  

 
With regard to criminal convictions/cautions, an operator is not an exempted profession under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974; therefore only unspent convictions will be taken into consideration 
when determining whether an applicant is a fit and proper person. In assessing an application for an 
operator’s licence, the policy on criminal convictions and behaviour in sections 19 and 20 of this policy will 
be referred to. 
 
The decision whether to grant or refuse a licence will be based on whether the convictions/cautions were 
declared, the type of offences and the total number of convictions/cautions recorded against each individual 
applicant.  
 
The overriding consideration in reaching a decision will be based on whether the operator (the individuals 
listed as licensees on the application) can fulfil their roles and run the company without posing any likely 
threat to the general safety of the public.  
 
If a situation arises where an operator licence application from a registered company is likely to be refused 
solely on the declared convictions of one individual within the organisation, the application may still proceed 
if the applicant decides to withdraw the name of that individual from the licence application.  
 
Accordingly, when submitting an application to be a registered private hire operator, you must declare any 
unspent cautions or convictions you may have, whether they are foreign or domestic. Failure to declare 
convictions and/or cautions or giving false information to obtain a licence is an offence and will be treated 
very seriously. Likewise giving false information or withholding information to keep a licence will be treated 
very seriously. If you have not been a resident in the UK for a period of five years, you will need to obtain 
a dated ‘certificate of good conduct’ or similar document from your relevant embassy.  
 
Applicants will need to obtain a basic disclosure certificate which will reveal any unspent convictions or 
cautions. The Disclosure certificate, issued within the last 3 months, must be submitted with the application 

Page 25



 

Page 14 of 77 

in order to validate it.  
 
Where an existing operator has been charged or convicted of an offence, or other relevant information 
comes to the attention of the Council which brings into question whether the driver is still a fit and proper 
person to hold an operator’s licence, action may be taken, as outlined in this policy 
 
The existence of a criminal record or disclosure of other information will not necessarily stop a person from 
gaining or keeping a licence. The decision will be based on the policy on criminal convictions and behaviour 
at sections 21 and 22 of this policy, and in accordance with this section.   
 
We will not accept disclosures obtained on behalf of another authority unless the applicant has signed up 
to the DBS Update Service and that the original DBS is for the appropriate workforce as defined by DBS 
guidelines. 
 
17.2 Previous applications 
If anyone named on an application has previously been refused an operator's licence or held an operator's 
licence which was suspended or revoked elsewhere, they will be expected to provide details of the refusal, 
suspension or revocation on their application.  
 
17.3 Planning permission 
All premises to be used as a private hire operator base or operations running from a residential address 
will require the appropriate planning consent or permitted development rights for that use class. All 
applicants must provide a certificate of lawfulness or planning consent in relation to the premises they 
intend to use. 
 
17.4 Use of mobile applications 
The use of mobile applications (apps) is becoming increasingly common for a wide range of uses, including 
many taxi companies and private hire operators. The Council supports the use of such innovation, which 
has many potential public safety benefits.  
 
Apps must be approved by the Council prior to their use, and must not have a negative impact on public 
safety. 
 
17.5 Training 
All operators will be required to attend all mandatory training sessions organised by the Council. Failure to 
attend mandatory training sessions will constitute a breach of the Council’s hackney carriage and private 
hire policy. At the first instance, contravention points will be issued; any subsequent failure to attend will 
result in further action being taken again the operator’s licence. 
 
18 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licences 
 
18.1 Type of vehicle 
The Transport Act 1985 allows licensing authorities to regulate vehicle standards. Circular 8/86 
accompanying the Transport Act, states that authorities will wish to ensure that vehicles are mechanically 
sound, roadworthy and safe.  The following will be applied: 

 All newly licensed hackney carriage and private hire vehicles must, as a minimum, be categorised 
as M1 and meet Euro 5 standards for emissions. 

 Any converted vehicles will be required to hold the appropriate low volume type approval certificate 
in the M classification or the enhanced single vehicle certificate together with the original M type 
approval. 

 
18.2 Vehicle standards 
All vehicles must have full vehicle type approval. The authorised testing stations listed are all permitted to 
undertake vehicle checks on behalf of the Council. In addition, an officer of the Council may require an 
additional test to be undertaken or the applicant to be directed to a specific testing garage in all cases at 
the expense of the applicant/licence-holder. The officer also retains the option to check any vehicle for 
standard of condition of appearance. 
 
Only vehicles that comply with the requirements and conditions relating to private hire vehicles/hackney 
carriage vehicles or non-standard private hire vehicles will be licensed. The vehicle must remain in the 
condition as determined by those conditions throughout the licensed period. The Council shall refer to its 
enforcement policy when dealing with licensees who fail to comply with these conditions or relevant 
legislation. 
 

Page 26



 

Page 15 of 77 

18.3 Vehicle age policy 
At the time a vehicle is first licensed (including changes of vehicles if not to a currently licensed vehicle), 
the vehicle must normally be less than 7 years of age. The vehicle’s age will be determined by the vehicle 
registration document. The age limit may be exceeded if the vehicle complies with all applicable standards.  
Once a vehicle reaches 10 years of age, the licence will only be renewed if the vehicle passes 3 compliance 
tests each year, at approximately 4-monthly intervals. 
 
18.4. Tyres 
The vehicle shall be equipped with a minimum of 4 road wheels and 1 full-sized spare wheel. The tyres 
shall be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer and not more than 10 years old. 
 
Tyres must not be purchased as part-worn or used. 
 
Tyres must have a minimum tyre tread depth of 3 mm over the central 3/4 of the tread pattern (including 
spare tyre). 
 
The vehicle must be fitted with either all radial or all cross-ply tyres and the spare tyre must be the same 
size as those fitted to the vehicle, except for a vehicle with a manufacturers ‘space saving’ wheel. 
 
Vehicles with a 'space-saving' wheel are to comply with the manufacturer's specifications as to use. When 
so used, the vehicle must not be used for plying for hire, or private hire. Any change in the type or size of 
the tyres fitted to the vehicle must be reported to the licensing officer at once. 
 
18.5 Accessibility  
The Council recognises the need to promote the use of wheelchair accessible vehicles to ensure that all 
members of the community are able to benefit from the service that they provide.  
 
*Requirements relating only to hackney carriage vehicles*. Whilst all newly issued hackney plates must be 
wheelchair-accessible, private hire vehicle applications for these types of vehicle are also welcomed by the 
Council. 
 
Where a vehicle is wheelchair-accessible: 

a)  All lifts / ramps must be maintained and in fully working order so as to comply with the Lifting 
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 

b)  All equipment used to strap /or tie a wheelchair in place should be fully maintained and in full 
working order  

c)  All tie / strap locations shall be kept clear of any obstruction. 
 

18.6 Reducing air pollution 
The Council is committed to encouraging applications for more fuel-efficient vehicles. Vehicle pollution has 
a significant impact on air quality in the district, and there is widespread agreement that more must be done 
to reduce the number of higher-polluting vehicles.  
 
Drivers are also advised that vehicles should not be left to idle as this causes unnecessary pollution and 
increases their fuel costs. 
 
From 1 May 2019 The Air Quality (Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles Database) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2019 will require the Council to provide details to the secretary of state of all hackney carriage 
and private hire vehicles. Therefore the following details will be provided as requested; 

(a)  the date from which the licence has effect; 
(c) the date on which the licence is due to expire; 
(d) a statement as to whether the vehicle is a taxi or a private hire vehicle 
(e)  such other information the licensing authority holds in relation to the vehicle that may be relevant  

for the purposes of ensuring the accurate identification of vehicles, having had regard to any 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State.3 

 
18.7 Advertising 
No signs, notices, advertisements, marks, numbers, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices 
whatsoever shall be displayed on, in or from any licensed vehicle except as required by any statutory 
provision or with prior written approval of the Council. In relation to other advertising materials, any false, 

                                                           
3 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111177969  

 

Page 27

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111177969


 

Page 16 of 77 

misleading or inaccurate material contrary to this policy and/or its conditions will result in the taking of 
enforcement action. 
 
All advertising material must be approved in writing by the Council prior to use or display and an 
administration fee of £25 will be payable per batch of advertising.  
 
Not more than two external advertisements (excluding the roof signs) may be carried on any vehicle, 
confined to the side panels and must comply with the Advertising Standards Authority code of advertising. 
 
Any advertising material must not use the Council’s logo.  
 
18.8 Taximeter calibration 
All hackney carriage vehicles must be fitted with a taximeter. Private hire vehicles that are fitted with a 
taximeter must adhere to the following conditions. 
 
The taximeter shall be calibrated following a change to the table of fares or when requested by the Council.  
A certificate of calibration provided by the taximeter installer must be produced on first issue, transfer or 
when the seal is damaged or missing. 
 
The operation of the taximeter must be in accordance with the provisions of the Byelaws in force at the time 
within the Three Rivers District with respect to hackney carriage vehicles. 
 
18.9 Change of Vehicle 
Change of vehicle applications must be completed and submitted by the licensed driver and not by the 
hire/lease company supplying the temporary vehicle. 
 
18.10 Roof Boxes and Roof Racks 
The use of roof boxes and roof racks is strictly prohibited unless there is roof space or storage already 
integrated into the vehicle. 
 
19. Guidelines for CCTV systems in hackney carriage & private hire vehicles 
19.1 Introduction 
These guidelines set out to ensure that CCTV systems installed in hackney carriages and private hire 
vehicles licensed by the Council are properly managed whilst being used to prevent and detect crime; and 
enhance the health, safety and security of both drivers and passengers. 
 
The decision whether to install CCTV in a licensed vehicle is at the discretion of the vehicle licence-holder 
and vehicle owner (if these are different), all costs would need to be met by these individuals as the Council 
will not provide funding or assist in finding funding.  
 
Vehicle owners, who may also be the driver and/or operator, installing CCTV systems must fully comply 
with the requirements set out in these guidelines. 
 
For the purposes of these guidelines the term "CCTV system" will include any electronic recording device 
attached to the inside of vehicle having the technical capability of capturing and retaining visual images and 
audio recording from inside or external to the vehicle. In addition to the standard CCTV camera system 
these may include for example, such devices as events/incident/accident data recording devices. 
 
19.2 The purpose of CCTV 
The purpose of the CCTV system shall be to provide a safer environment for the benefit of the driver and 
passengers by: 

 Deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime 

 Reducing the fear of crime 

 Assisting the Police in investigating incidents of crime 

 Assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents 
 

19.3 General requirements 
Any CCTV system to be fitted must, as a minimum, meet the requirements set out in this document. Only 
CCTV systems meeting these requirements and approved by the Council can be installed into licensed 
vehicles. 
 
CCTV systems installed will be inspected as part of the annual licensing inspection to ensure they do not 
pose a risk to the safety of the passengers or the driver and are fitted safely and securely. 
 

Page 28



 

Page 17 of 77 

The installation and operation of CCTV must comply with the requirements of the Information 
Commissioner’s CCTV Code of Practice. 
 
All equipment must comply with any legislative requirements in respect of Motor Vehicle Construction and 
Use Regulations 1986. CCTV installed must also meet any other relevant legislation, including any new 
legislation which may be introduced following the installation of such systems. 
 
All equipment must meet all requirements as regards safety, technical acceptability and operational/data 
integrity. 
 
All equipment must be designed, constructed and installed in such a way and in such materials as to present 
no danger to passengers or driver, including impact with the equipment in the event of a collision or danger 
from the electrical integrity being breached through vandalism, misuse, or wear and tear. 
 
19.4 Automotive Electromagnetic Compatibility Requirements (EMC) 
CCTV equipment must not interfere with any other safety, control, electrical, computer, navigation, satellite, 
or radio system in the vehicle. 
 
Any electrical equipment such as an in-vehicle CCTV system fitted after the vehicle has been manufactured 
and registered, is deemed to be an Electronic Sub Assembly (ESA) under the European Community 
Automotive Electromagnetic Compatibility Directive and therefore must meet with requirements specified 
in that Directive. 
 
CCTV equipment should be e-marked or CE-marked. If CE marked confirmation by the equipment 
manufacturer as being non-immunity related and suitable for use in motor vehicles is required. 
 
19.5 Camera design requirements 
The camera(s) must be fitted safely and securely, should not adversely encroach into the passenger area 
and must not impact on the safety of the driver, passenger or other road users. 
 
19.6 Installation 
All equipment must be installed as prescribed by the equipment and/or vehicle manufacturer installation 
instructions. 
 
The installed CCTV system must not weaken the structure or any component part of the vehicle or interfere 
with the integrity of the manufacturer's original equipment. 
 
All equipment must be installed in such a manner so as not to increase the risk of injury and/or discomfort 
to the driver and/or passengers. For example, temporary fixing methods such as suction cups will not be 
permitted, or lighting, such as infra-red, which emits at such a level that may cause distraction or nuisance 
to the driver and/or passengers. 
 
All equipment must be protected from the elements, secure from tampering and located such as to have 
the minimum intrusion into any passenger or driver area or impact on the luggage carrying capacity of the 
vehicle. 
 
It is contrary to the Motor Vehicle (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 for equipment to obscure the 
view of the road through the windscreen. 
 
Equipment must not obscure or interfere with the operation of any of the vehicle’s standard and/or 
mandatory equipment, i.e. not mounted on or adjacent to air bags/air curtains or within proximity of other 
supplementary safety systems which may cause degradation in performance or functionality of such safety 
systems. 
 
Viewing screens within the vehicle for the purposes of viewing captured images are not permitted. 
 
All wiring must be fused as set out in the manufacturer’s technical specification and be appropriately routed. 
If more than one camera is being installed their location within the vehicle must be specific for purpose i.e. 
to provide a safer environment for the benefit of the Taxi/ PHV driver and passengers. 
 
All equipment must be checked regularly and maintained to operational standards, including any repairs 
after damage. 
 
All system components requiring calibration in situ should be easily accessible. 

Page 29



 

Page 18 of 77 

 
19.7 Camera Activation Methods 
Activation of the equipment may be via a number and combination of options, including: 

 

 door switches 

 time delay 

 driver’s panic button 

 or, in the case of an incident/event recorder, predetermined G-Force parameters set on one or 
more axis (i.e. braking, acceleration, lateral forces). 

 
The CCTV system may be configured to record images for a short period of time before the trigger event, 
during the related incident and a short period following the related incident. 
 
A direct wired link to the vehicle’s taximeter, in the case of a Taxi, will not be acceptable. 
 
19.8 Audio Recording 
CCTV systems must not be used to record conversations between members of the public as this is highly 
intrusive and unlikely to be justified except in very exceptional circumstances. You must choose a system 
without this facility wherever possible; however, if the system comes equipped with sound recording facility 
then this functionality should be disabled. 
 
There are limited circumstances in which audio recording may be justified due to a specific threat to an 
individual’s personal safety, e.g. when a ‘panic button’ is utilised in response to a threat of physical violence.  
 
Where this audio recording facility is utilised a reset function must be installed which automatically disables 
audio recording and returns the system to normal default operation after a specified time period has 
elapsed. The time period that audio recording may be active should be the minimum possible and should 
be declared at the time of submission for approval of the equipment. 
 
In the limited circumstance where audio recording is justified, signs must make it very clear that audio 
recording is being or may be carried out. 
 
19.9 Image Security 
Images captured must remain secure at all times. 
 
The captured images must be protected using approved encryption software which is designed to guard 
against the compromise of the stored data, for example, in the event of the vehicle or equipment being 
stolen.  
 
The Information Commissioner’s Office has published guidance on how to keep personal data (including 
personal data contained in CCTV images) secure, on their website. 
 
19.10 Retention of CCTV images 
The CCTV equipment selected for installation must have the capability of retaining images either: 

 within its own secure, encrypted hard drive; 

 using a fully secured and appropriately encrypted detachable mass storage device, for example, 
a compact flash solid state card; 

 or where a service provider is providing storage facilities, transferred in real time using fully 
secured and appropriately encrypted GPRS (GSM telephone) signalling to a secure server 
within the service provider’s monitoring centre. 

 
Images must not be downloaded onto any kind of portable media device (e.g. CDs or memory sticks) for 
the purpose of general storage outside the vehicle. 
 
CCTV equipment selected for installation must include an automatic overwriting function, so that images 
are only retained within the installed system storage device for a maximum period of 28 days from the date 
of capture. Where a service provider is used to store images on a secure server, the specified retention 
period must also only be for a maximum period of 28 days from the date of capture. 
 
Where applicable, these provisions shall also apply to audio recordings. 
 
19.11 Notification to the Information Commissioner’s Office 
The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) is the official regulatory body responsible for enforcing 
compliance with privacy and data protection legislation. 

Page 30



 

Page 19 of 77 

 
The law defines a “data controller” as the individual or organisation which has ultimate responsibility for 
how personal data is collected and processed. For the purpose of the installation and operation of in-vehicle 
CCTV, the “data controller” is the company, organisation or individual which has decided to have a CCTV 
system installed and operating within the vehicle. The data controller is ultimately responsible for how the 
images are stored and used and determines in what circumstances the images should be disclosed. 
 
‘Notification’ is the process by which a data controller informs the ICO of certain details about their 
processing of personal information. These details are used to make an entry in the public register of data 
controllers. 
 
This means that any company, organisation or individual vehicle owner who has a CCTV system installed 
within a licensed vehicle must register with the ICO and obtain documented evidence of that registration. 
This documentary evidence may have to be presented to the Council at any time during the term of the 
vehicle licence. 
 
The notification requires renewal on an annual basis, and payment of the appropriate fee specified on the 
ICO’s website. 
 
19.12 Using a third party service provider (data processor) 
Where a service provider is used for the remote storage and/or management of CCTV data they will act as 
a ‘data processor’. 
 
A data processor, in relation to personal data, means any person (other than an employee of the data 
controller) who processes data on behalf of the data controller, in response to specific instructions. The 
data controller retains full responsibility for the actions of the data processor. 
 
There must be a formal written contract between the data controller and data processor (service provider). 
The contract must contain provisions covering security arrangements, retention/deletion instructions, 
access requests and termination arrangements. 
 
Documentary evidence of the contractual arrangements may be required to be presented to a Council 
official at any time during the term of the vehicle licence. 
 
19.13 Using recorded CCTV images 
The data controller is responsible for complying with all relevant data protection legislation, as well as being 
legally responsible for the use of all images including any breaches of privacy and data protection 
legislation. 
 
Any images and/or audio recordings should only be used for the purposes described earlier in these 
guidelines. 
 
Requests to view captured images may be submitted to the data controller by the Police or other statutory 
law enforcement agencies; the Council; insurance companies/brokers/loss adjusters; or in exceptional 
circumstances, other appropriate bodies. The data controller is responsible for responding to these 
requests in accordance with the law. Police or other law enforcement agencies should produce a standard 
template request form, setting out the reasons why the disclosure is required. Alternatively a signed 
statement may be accepted. 
 
All requests should only be accepted where they are in writing, and specify the reasons why disclosure is 
required. 
 
Under the DPA, members of the public may also make a request for the disclosure of images, but only 
where they have been the subject of a recording. This is known as a ‘Subject Access request’. Such 
requests must only be accepted where they are in writing and include sufficient proof of identity (which may 
include a photograph to confirm they are in fact the person in the recording).  
 
Data Controllers are also entitled to charge a fee for a subject access request (currently a maximum of 
£10). More guidance on handling subject access requests can be found in the ICO’s Subject Access 
Request Code of Practice, which is available on their website. 
 
  

Page 31



 

Page 20 of 77 

19.14 Signage 
All vehicles fitted with a CCTV system must display the sign shown below in a prominent position. The 
driver may also verbally bring to the attention of the passengers that CCTV equipment is in operation within 
the vehicle, if it is felt necessary or appropriate. 
 
The signage must be displayed in such positions so as to minimise obstruction of vision and to make it as 
visible as possible to passengers, before and after entering the vehicle. 
 

 
  
The name and contact details of the Data Controller must be provided in the blank space included on the 
sign template. The contact details can be in the form of either a telephone number, email address or website 
URL. 
 
19.15 Signage for external-facing CCTV systems 
Where a CCTV system is installed in order to record incidents outside the vehicle, it will not be practical to 
display a sign. Instead, when the CCTV is activated in response to an incident, the driver of the vehicle 
must inform the person(s) recorded that their personal data was captured as soon as practicable after the 
incident.  
 
They should also be informed of the purpose for which the device has been installed, for example to 
facilitate their insurance company’s investigation of insurance claims. 
 
19.16 Annual Certification from installer 
Any CCTV system should be checked annually by the installer and evidence of this must be provided to 
the Council. Where an installation company ceases to exist, a similar installation company should be used. 
 
19.17 CCTV Checklist 
To assist individual drivers, owners and operators who are considering the installation of a CCTV system, 
the Council has produced the summary checklist below to help ensure that all of the relevant approval 
requirements/standards are complied with. 
 
Please tick 

 Notification submitted to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). www.ico.org.uk 
 Has the ICO provided you with documentation to evidence your notification as the “data 

controller” associated with your system? 
 Do you have documentary evidence regarding contractual arrangements with any data 

processor or service provider associated with the operation or management of the CCTV 
system? (where applicable) 

 Have you displayed the required signage, including the relevant contact details? 
 Does the CCTV system meet the installation standards as set out in this policy? 

 
20. Communication, Audio and Visual Devices 
Mobile devices can only be used if they are held in a cradle and are used completely hands-free.   
 
All Communications Devices must be securely fitted within the vehicle and appropriately located so as to 
not interfere with the operation of the vehicle.      
 

Page 32

http://www.ico.org.uk/


 

Page 21 of 77 

The use of headphones is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle. 
 
In order to protect passenger confidentiality, a licensed driver must neither retain nor publish any image, 
sound or information of any passenger(s) captured on a hand-held recording device or any other form of 
recording device, except where this is to an authorised officer of the Council or Police. 
 

 21. Policy on Convictions and Conduct - New Applicants 
 21.1 Each case is to be taken on its own merit. 
 Some discretion may be appropriate if the offence and/or behaviour is isolated and there are mitigating 

circumstances. Equally, the history of offending (including multiple offences/combinations of offences /types 
of offences) and/or behaviour may warrant a longer period free from convictions. 

 
 Accordingly, whilst it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions that, individually, meet 

the guidelines below, the overall offending history must be considered when assessing the applicant’s 
suitability to be licensed. 

 
 A series of civil or criminal offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than an 

isolated minor conviction. Obviously some discretion can be afforded if an offence is isolated and there are 
mitigating circumstances, but the overriding consideration is the protection of the public. 

 
Simply remaining free of convictions will not necessarily be sufficient to show that a person is fit and proper 
where other circumstances/evidence bring this into question. Furthermore it should always be remembered 
that the periods free of conviction in this section are suggested minimums.  

 
Whilst the time period detailed in this section provides guidance to potential applicants as to how long they 
should wait before applying for a licence following described offences/convictions, any application made 
following these guidelines is still subject to the same considerations as to whether the applicant is fit and 
proper, and therefore simply following the guided timescales in no way guarantees the granting of a licence.  

 
 Notwithstanding and without prejudice to any other provision within this document, ordinarily the Council 

would as a minimum expect the standard rehabilitation periods identified in the Rehabilitation of Offenders 
Act 1974 to have expired.  

 
 Criminal convictions or civil penalties will be considered by officers or, in cases of doubt, by the Licensing 

sub-committee.  
 
 An application from any person awaiting trial for an offence which brings into question whether they are a 

fit and proper person (including but not limited to death by dangerous driving, drugs, violence, sexual 
offences, dishonesty, driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or offences of a habitual nature) will 
not normally be considered until the outcome of the trial. 

 
 In order for the Council to fully consider the case on its merits, the applicant should provide a written 

statement of the offences (including any that they are awaiting trial for), with evidence, covering the nine 
points in the paragraph below, which would be available for examination by the Council. 

 
 Where the Council becomes aware of issues including previous criminal history/convictions, any arrest, 

any charges, inappropriate behaviour for a hackney carriage/private hire driver and/or significant comments 
on any DBS check, consideration will be given to each applicant's suitability for licensing against the 
following criteria (in no particular order): 

 nature of the offence/conduct/charge etc. 

 circumstances in which the offence/conduct/charge etc. was committed 

 circumstances of the individual concerned 

 subsequent periods of good behaviour 

 overall conviction/behaviour history 

 sentence imposed by the Court 

 seriousness of the offence/conduct/charge etc. 

 any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references) 

 taking all the above issues into account, together with any other relevant issues, whether the 
protection of the public may be at risk. 

 
These guidelines do not deal with every type of offence, and do not prevent the Council from taking into 
account offences not specifically addressed in the guidelines, or other conduct which may be relevant as 
to whether an individual is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage or a private hire driver’s 
licence. 

Page 33



 

Page 22 of 77 

 21.2 Minor motoring offences 
 Convictions for minor traffic offences such as speed limit offences, or non-endorsable traffic offences such 

as obstruction or waiting in a restricted street should not prevent a person from applying to be a hackney 
carriage or private hire driver.  

 
 If sufficient points have been accrued to require a period of disqualification of the applicant’s driving licence 

then a hackney carriage or private hire licence may be granted 12 months after its restoration but a warning 
should be issued as to future conduct. New applicants with 6 or more points on their DVLA driver’s licence 
will be refused until endorsement(s) expire and the number of penalty points drops below this threshold. 
 
Further disqualification from driving as a result of penalty points being accrued may result in refusal to issue 
a licence. 
 
21.3 Traffic offences involving the loss of life 
A very serious view will be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a driving offence that resulted 
in the loss of life or serious injury. A licence will not be granted if an applicant has a conviction for any of 
the following:- 

 Causing death by dangerous driving 

 Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or drugs 

 Causing death by careless driving 

 Causing death by driving for any other reason 

 Or any similar offences (including aiding abetting, attempting or conspiring to commit) offences which 
replace the above.  

 
21.4 Major traffic offences not involving the loss of life 
A very serious view should also be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a major traffic offence 
even if it has not involved the loss of life, as it raises questions as to the applicant’s ability to protect the 
public. 

 
Before an application is considered, an applicant should be free of conviction for 10 years and since the 
completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, for offences such as: 

 Dangerous driving 

 Reckless driving 

 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to commit). 
 

 21.5 Other serious traffic offences 
Other serious traffic offences include: 

 Accident offences  

 Driving without due care and attention 

 Driving whilst using a mobile phone or mobile device 

 Careless driving 

 Construction and use offences (This is in relation to tinted windows) 

 Licence offences 

 Traffic direction and sign offences  

 Driving whilst disqualified 

 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 
 

Insurance offences and alcohol/drug offences are dealt with under their own separate subsections below. 
 

Theft or unauthorised taking of a vehicle are dealt with under the 'dishonesty' subsection below. 
 
 Any conviction for a serious traffic offence under ‘other serious traffic offences’ in this policy should normally 

merit refusal to issue a licence and no further application should be considered until a period of 7 years 
either free of conviction or since completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, has elapsed. 

 
 More than one conviction for a traffic offence within two years should merit refusal to issue a licence and 

no further application should be considered until a period of 5 years either free of convictions or since 
completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, has elapsed. 
 

 21.7 Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs (including medication) or legal highs 
 A serious view is taken of driving or being in charge of a vehicle whilst under the influence of drink or drugs 

or legal highs, as licensees are professional vocational drivers and drink/drug driving convictions raise 
serious concerns for the safety of the public. An isolated incident of drink driving or driving under the 

Page 34



 

Page 23 of 77 

influence of legal drugs should not necessarily debar an application but strict warnings will be given as to 
future behaviour. However an exception to this is the use of novel psychoactive substances (NPS – 
commonly referred to as legal highs) which will be treated in the same regards as illegal drugs below. 

 
 At least 5 years should elapse, after the restoration of the EU (UK) full driving licence, before an applicant 

may be considered for a private hire or hackney carriage driver’s licence.  
 
 More than one conviction for these offences or any conviction for driving under the influence of illegal drugs 

should raise grave doubts as to the applicant’s fitness to drive the public and therefore hold a licence.  
 

If there is reason to suspect persistent alcohol and/or drugs use, misuse or dependency (e.g. two or more 
offences relating to alcohol or drugs, with or without a vehicle) a specialist medical examination and report 
should be required before an application is entertained to ensure that the applicant meets the DVLA Group 
2 medical standards in relation to alcohol/drug misuse and dependency. If the applicant is found to be (or 
to previously have been) alcohol- or drug-dependent, a period of 5 years should elapse after treatment is 
complete before a further licence application is considered. 

 
 21.8 Drunkenness without a motor vehicle 

An isolated conviction for drunkenness need not debar a driver from obtaining a licence but a number of 
convictions could indicate a medical problem necessitating a medical examination. In some cases a warning 
would be sufficient.  If there is reason to suspect persistent alcohol use, misuse or dependency (e.g. two 
or more offences for drunkenness with or without a motor vehicle) a specialist medical examination and 
report may be required to ensure that the applicant meets the DVLA Group 2 medical standards in relation 
to alcohol misuse and dependency. 
 
In addition, applicants will normally be required to show a period of at least 5 years has elapsed after 
completion of detoxification treatment if (s)he was an alcoholic. 
 

 21.9 Illegal drugs without a motor vehicle 
A serious view is taken of any illegal drugs-related offence. The nature and quantity of the drugs, whether 
for personal use or supply are issues which should be considered. 

 
An applicant would normally be expected to be free of convictions relating to the possession of illegal drugs 
for 5 years requiring at least 5 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence. 

 
An application will normally be refused where the applicant has more than one conviction for offences 
related to the possession of illegal drugs and has not been free of conviction for 7 years with at least 7 
years to have passed since the completion of the sentence. 

 
An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence related to the 
supply, importing or production of illegal drugs and has not been free of conviction for 10 years with at least 
10 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence. 

 
If there is reason to suspect persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency (e.g. two or more convictions 
relating to any drugs, with or without a vehicle) a specialist medical examination and report will normally be 
required before an application is entertained to ensure that the applicant meets the DVLA Group 2 medical 
standards in relation to drug misuse and dependency. If the applicant is found to be (or to previously have 
been) drug dependent, a period of 5 years should elapse after treatment is complete before a further licence 
application is considered. 

 
 21.10 Sex and indecency offences 

As hackney carriage and private hire drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers. 
Applicants who have been convicted of sexual or indecency offences (or where there is other behaviour 
and/or evidence to suggest a disposition to commit such offences) must be closely scrutinised. Applicants 
with convictions for sexual offences will usually be refused.  
 

 In particular, an application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence 
such as: 
  

Page 35



 

Page 24 of 77 

 

 Rape 

 Assault by penetration 

 Offences involving children or vulnerable adults 

 Sexual assault 

 Indecent assault 

 Possession of indecent photographs, child pornography etc. 

 Exploitation of prostitution 

 Trafficking for sexual exploitation 

 Indecent exposure 

 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 

 Any sex or indecency offence that was committed in the course of employment as a taxi or PHV 
driver 

 Soliciting (e.g. kerb crawling) 

 Importuning 

 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to 
commit). 

 
If a licence is granted a strict warning as to future conduct should be issued.  

 
A person on the sex offenders register would not be considered a fit and proper person to hold a licence.   

 
 21.11 Violence 
 As hackney carriage and private hire drivers maintain close contact with the public, a firm line should be 

taken with drivers with offences involving violence. An application will normally be refused if the applicant 
has a conviction for an offence that involved loss of life or serious injury. 

 
 At least 5 years free of conviction with at least 5 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence 

before an application is considered from anyone whose offending history and/or other behaviour/evidence 
suggests an aggressive or violent disposition, and even then a strict warning should be administered as to 
future conduct.  

 
 However given the range of offences that involve violence, consideration must be given to the nature of the 

offences. In particular: 
 

(i) An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such 
as: 

 Murder 

 Manslaughter 

 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving 

 Terrorism offences 

 Kidnapping 

 Threats to kill 

 Wounding with intent to cause grievous bodily harm 

 Grievous bodily harm 

 Robbery 

 Burglary 

 Possession of a weapon 

 Any 'hate' crime or offence ordinarily falling within paragraph (iii) below aggravated by a 'hate' 
crime 

 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to 
commit). 
 

(ii) Before an application is granted, an applicant should be free of conviction for at least 7 years with 
at least 7 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, for 
offences including: 

 Assault occasioning Actual Bodily Harm 

 Assault with intent to resist arrest 

 Assault on Police 

 Domestic Violence related offences (unless these are covered by (i) above) 

 Harassment 

Page 36



 

Page 25 of 77 

 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to 
commit). 

 
(iii) Before an application is granted, an applicant should be free of conviction for at least 5 years with 

at least 5 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence, for offences including: 

 Arson  

 Common assault 

 Criminal Damage 

 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to 
commit) 

 
An application will normally be refused if an applicant has more than one conviction in the last 10 years for 
an offence of a violent nature. 

 
 21.12 Dishonesty 
 Taxi and PHV drivers are expected to be persons of trust. They deal with cash transactions and valuable 

property may be left in their vehicle in error.  
 
 Drivers are required to deposit such property with the police within 48 hours.  
 
 The widespread practice of delivering unaccompanied property is indicative of the trust that business 

people place in drivers. Moreover, it is relatively easy for a dishonest driver to defraud the public by 
demanding more than their legal fare etc.  

 
 This for example would include misuse of MPV additional occupancy rates. Licence-holders also have 

access to the names and addresses of their customers and their daily movements. Overseas visitors may 
not be familiar with the currency or costs of journeys and may be vulnerable to an unscrupulous driver. 
Accordingly a serious view should be taken of any conviction involving dishonesty.  

 
 Nationally it has been known for drivers to pass information on vulnerable persons to others for later abuse 

or to abuse vulnerable persons, including taking money from such persons.  
 

Offences involving dishonesty for the purposes of this policy include: 

 theft 

 fraud 

 benefit fraud 

 handling or receiving stolen goods 

 forgery  

 conspiracy to defraud 

 obtaining money or property by deception 

 other deception 

 taking a vehicle without consent 

 driving whilst disqualified  

 any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit).   
 

An application will normally be refused if an applicant has been convicted of burglary or more than one 
conviction for other dishonesty offences in the last 10 years. 

 
21.13 Insurance offences 
A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a vehicle without insurance. An 
isolated incident would normally prevent a licence being granted until a period of five years from the date 
of the offence has expired. More than one conviction for these offences within the past ten years would 
normally prevent a licence from being granted or renewed. 

 
21.14 Licensing offences 
This subsection applies to licensing offences not covered elsewhere within this convictions and behaviour 
section of the policy such as plying for hire, using an unlicensed vehicle/driver. 

 
At least 12 months free of conviction should elapse before an application will be considered. Unless there 
is significant mitigation, an applicant will normally be refused until a period of at least five years free of 
conviction has expired where the applicant has committed more than one licensing offence within the last 
five years. 

 

Page 37



 

Page 26 of 77 

An applicant with an isolated conviction that is more than one year old may be licensed subject to a written 
warning. 

 
Individuals previously licensed by the Council and revoked for offences connected to their licence will not 
normally be granted a further licence in the future. Cases such as this will be considered by the Lead 
Licensing Officer under their delegated authority. 

 
21.15 Cautions 
An admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued. Accordingly cautions will be assessed in 
the same way as a conviction by the Court. 

 
21.16 Non-conviction information 
If an applicant has, on more than one occasion, been arrested or charged but not convicted for an offence, 
or is subject to an antisocial behaviour injunction/order or similar order, which suggests he/she may not be 
a fit and proper person, or if there is other evidence to suggest the applicant may not be a fit and proper 
person, consideration should be given to refusing the application. 

 
Failing to declare convictions on the application form should normally result in refusal and at least twelve 
months elapsing from the date of receipt of the application form before an application will be considered 
and a new application will be required. 

 
As with the rest of this part of the policy, in assessing the action to take, the safety and security of the 
travelling public must be the paramount concern. 

 
 21.17 Suspension/refusal/revocation by another Council 

An applicant who has been suspended/refused/revoked by another Council may not be considered “fit and 
proper” for a period of at least 3 years from the date of the suspension/refusal/revocation. This period may 
be extended depending on the circumstances of the revocation.  

 
The Council shall also have a right to make enquiries of that other authority. 
 
22. Policy on Convictions and Conduct for existing licensees 
22.2 Time of action 
Existing holders of driver’s licences are required to notify the Council in writing within five working days of 
receiving a driving licence endorsement, fixed penalty notice, warning, reprimand, police caution, criminal 
conviction or other criminal proceedings (including their acquittal as part of a criminal case).  
 
In addition, licence-holders must inform the Council in writing or by email within 3 working days of their 
arrest for any matter (whether subsequently charged or not). To fail to do so, will raise serious questions 
for the Council as to the honesty of the licence-holder and will be taken into account as part of any 
subsequent renewal applications. 
 
22.3 Policy details 
Each case is to be taken on its own merit. 
 
Any person awaiting trial for or suspected of committing an offence which brings into question whether they 
are a fit and proper person (including but not limited to death by dangerous driving, drugs, violence, sexual 
offences, dishonesty, driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or offences of a habitual nature) will 
normally be revoked pending the outcome of an investigation or trial. 
 
Although each case will be assessed on its own merits in line with this policy, licence-holders should expect 
the revocation of their licence for these types of offences to be immediate in nature. The initial consideration 
regarding revocation will be undertaken by officers. However, if a driver does not agree with the officer’s 
decision to revoke his/her licence he/she may apply to the local Magistrates’ Court to appeal this decision 
within 21 days of the revocation being received by the driver. 
 
When considering whether a licence should be suspended or revoked, some discretion may be appropriate 
if the offence and/or behaviour is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances. Equally the history of 
offending (including multiple offences/combinations of offences/types of offences) and/or behaviour may 
warrant a longer period free from convictions. Accordingly the overall offending history must be considered 
when assessing the applicant's suitability to be licensed. 
 
Therefore any licence-holder awaiting trial for, or suspected of, committing an offence or demonstrating 
behaviour which, taken together with the licence-holder’s history of offending (including multiple offences 

Page 38



 

Page 27 of 77 

/combinations of offences /types of offences) and behaviour (including before the licence was granted and 
during the course of the licence), lead the Council to believe that the licence-holder is not a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence, may have their licence suspended or revoked.  
 
Whilst it is possible that a licence-holder may have a number of previous convictions that, individually, meet 
the guidelines below, the overall offending history must be considered when assessing the licence-holder’s 
suitability to continue to be licensed. A series of offences/behaviour over a period of time is more likely to 
give cause for concern than an isolated minor conviction/demonstration of unacceptable behaviour. 
Obviously some discretion can be afforded if an offence is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances 
but the overriding consideration is the protection of the public. 
 
In order for the Council to fully consider a case on its merits, the licence-holder should provide a written 
statement of the offences, with evidence, covering the nine points in the paragraph below, which would be 
available for examination by the Council. 
 
Where the Council becomes aware of issues including previous criminal history/convictions, any arrest, 
any charges, inappropriate behaviour for a hackney carriage/PHV driver and/or significant comments on 
any DBS check, consideration will be given to each licence-holder's suitability for licensing against the 
following criteria (in no particular order): 
 

 nature of the offence/conduct/charge etc. 

 circumstances in which the offence/conduct/charge etc. was committed 

 timely notification to the Council of offence/conduct/charge  

 circumstances of the individual concerned 

 subsequent periods of good behaviour 

 overall conviction/behaviour history 

 sentence imposed by the court 

 seriousness of the offence/conduct/charge etc. 

 any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references) 

 taking all the above issues into account, together with any other relevant issues, whether the protection 
of the public may be at risk. 

 
These guidelines do not deal with every type of offence, and do not prevent the Council from taking into 
account offences not specifically addressed in the guidelines, or other conduct which may be relevant as 
to whether an individual is a fit and proper person to continue to hold a hackney carriage or a private hire 
driver’s licence. 
 
23 Expedition policy for revoked licences where reinstating a licensee is considered appropriate 
23.1 General 
The High court ruling of R (application of Singh) v Cardiff City Council [2012] EWCH 1852 (Admin) has 
established that it is unlawful to suspend and then revoke a driver for a single offence. Therefore it is 
necessary to revoke a driver immediately if the Council becomes aware of information which gives serious 
concerns about a driver.  
 
This policy is to assist in the timely replacement of a driver’s licence, when it has been revoked but following 
investigation it has established that the Council does not have any remaining concerns with regards to the 
fit and proper nature of the person. 
 
A relevant officer of the Council will decide if an applicant falls in to this part of the policy and the applicant 
will be advised if this is the case. 
 
The investigation of the Council with regards to establishing whether an individual is fit and proper will take 
into account any available information but is not reliant on other authorities’ investigations into any 
connected allegations, although information will always be requested from other agencies when they are 
known to be involved. 
 
As the Council is required to consider each case on balance of probability, a police investigation which 
results in an individual not being convicted may not in itself be considered to be sufficient for the Council to 
issue a new licence to the individual as Police investigations are determined at a higher level of proof i.e. 
beyond reasonable doubt. In addition to this, a Police investigation may uncover breaches of this policy 
committed by a driver and the Council would need to take these into account. 
 
  

Page 39



 

Page 28 of 77 

23.2 Process 
If the Council makes a decision to issue a new licence to a driver whose licence was previously revoked, a 
new application will be required from the individual but some existing documents which are ‘in date’ in terms 
of the hackney carriage and private hire policy will normally be transferred to the new application. 
 
Depending on the circumstances surrounding the revocation, some updated documents may be required 
and these will be determined on a case by case basis. For example, if a driver’s health leads to their licence 
being revoked and their health subsequently improves so that they may be considered fit to be a licensed 
driver, a new medical would be required. The same would be the case for an individual who is subject to a 
Police investigation, where their criminal history would be checked using the DBS update service; if the 
applicant is no longer signed up to this service, a new DBS (First Advantage) will be required as part of 
their application (and they will be required to re-register for the update service). 
 
When a decision is made to issue a new licence, this will usually be processed within 5 working days of all 
required documentation being received. 
 
23.3 Fees   
The new licence will usually be issued for the period that the revoked licence had left to run and no further 
charge will be levied, with the exception of any connected costs such as for new documentation which will 
remain the applicant’s responsibility. 

  

Page 40

https://gbg.onlinedisclosures.co.uk/Authentication/Login?ReturnUrl=%2f


 

Page 29 of 77 

24. TABLE OF OFFENCES SUMMARY (PLEASE READ SPECIFIC PARAGRAPH FOR MORE 
INFORMATION. 

 
  

Offence category Offences 
Additional period if 

relevant 
Comment 

Serious violence 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Aggravated burglary 

Applications will not be 
granted for convictions in 

these categories 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Any homicide offence 

Grievous bodily harm 

Malicious wounding 

Rape 

Riot 

Sexual assault  

Terrorism 

Violent disorder 

        

Violence 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Actual bodily harm 

10 years 

Applications will 
not be granted if 
an applicant has 

two or more 
convictions 
involving 

violence or 
serious violence 

Affray 

Arson 

Assault on a police officer or 
other public servant 

Possession of a firearm 

Resisting arrest  

Robbery  

Slavery, abduction, false 
imprisonment etc 

Threats to kill  

Any offence that can be 
categorised as domestic violence 

7 years  

Applicants will 
be assessed 

according to the 
actual offence   

Public Order Act offences (eg 
causing harassment, alarm or 

distress) 
5 years 

Unless Classed 
as a ‘hate crime’  

        

Serious criminal 
offences 

  
  
  
  

Common assault  

5 years 
  
  
  

Applications will 
not be granted if 
an applicant has 

two or more 
convictions 
involving 

violence or 
serious violence 

Criminal damage 

Obstruction of police or other 
statutory officers 

Theft by an employee 

Possession of a weapon 
Applications will not be 

granted for convictions in 
this category 

  

Page 41



 

Page 30 of 77 

 

  

Sexual offences 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assault by penetration 
Applications will not be 
granted for convictions 

in this category 
  
  
  
  
  

Indecent assault 

Applications will not be 
granted for convictions 

in this category 
 

Child Sexual Exploitation  

Indecent assault 

Trafficking including 
preparatory offences as 

defined within the Sexual 
Offences Act 2003 

Making or distributing obscene 
material 

Applications will not be 
granted for anyone on 
the Sexual Offenders 
Register or where the 

offence involved 
Children, Young Adults 

or Vulnerable Adults 
  

Possession of indecent 
photographs  

5 years 

        

Dishonesty 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Theft 5 years 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant 

has two or more 
convictions involving 

dishonesty 

Burglary 

 
 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant 

has two or more 
convictions involving 

dishonesty 
  

Fraud (including benefit fraud) 

Handling or receiving stolen 
goods 

Forgery 

Obtaining money etc by 
deception 

Taking a vehicle without 
consent 

Evasion of taxes or duties 

Deception  

Attempting to pervert the 
course of justice or perjury 

5 years 

Page 42



 

Page 31 of 77 

 

 

Substance abuse 
offences 

Driving under the influence of 
drink or drugs (including 

prescription drugs) 
5 years 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant 

has two or more 
convictions involving 

driving under the 
influence 

Substance abuse 
offences 

Serious driving 
offences 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Driving under the influence of 
drink or drugs (including 

prescription drugs) 
Possession of drugs with intent 

to supply 

Applications will not be 
granted for convictions 

in this category 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant 

has two or more 
convictions involving 

driving under the 
influence 

  

Possession of drugs 8 years   

Causing death by dangerous 
driving 

 
 

Applications will not be 
granted for convictions 

in these categories 
  
  

  
  
  

Causing death by dangerous 
driving whilst under the 

influence of alcohol or drugs 

Causing death by careless 
driving 

Dangerous driving 10 years 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant 

has two or more 
convictions in this 

category 

Driving without due care and 
attention 

5 years Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant 

has two or more 
convictions in this 

category 
  

Inconsiderate driving 5 years 

Driving when disqualified 5 years 

Failing to identify driver of 
vehicle when required 

5 years 

Page 43



 

Page 32 of 77 

 
 

  

Other 
driving 

offences 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Construction and Use Regulation 
Offences 

Will not normally merit a 
refusal except for: 

  
  
  
  
  

Traffic directions and signs 
 existing applicants with 9 

or more points endorsed on 
their DVLA licence 

Pedestrian Crossing offences 
new applicants with 6 or 
more points endorsed on 

their DVLA licence 
  
  

Speed limits 

Motorway Offences 

Insurance offences 5 years 
Applications will not be 

granted if more than 
conviction 

Driving or having control of a 
vehicle without a valid MOT 

certificate 
5 years   

Driving or being in control of a 
vehicle without adequate insurance 

5 years 
Applications will not be 

granted if more than 
conviction 

Vehicle being used in anti-social 
manner 

1 year 
    

  
  
  

Vehicle being used in connection 
with commission of any criminal 

offence 

Driving otherwise than in 
accordance with a licence 5 years 

  Failing to stop after or to report an 
accident 

Licensing 
offences 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conviction under byelaws for 
hackney carriages 5 years 

  
  
  

Plying for hire 

Failing to carry an assistance dog 

1 year 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Charging more than the metered 
fare 

Refusing to convey a passenger 
within a controlled district 

Offences under any other licensing 
regime 

Failing to notify licensing authority 
of change of vehicle address etc 

Failing to notify licensing authority 
of accident to licensed vehicle 

Waiting on a hackney carriage rank 
as a private hire vehicle 

Unlawfully prolonging journey 

Obstruction of authorised officers 
or constables 

Failing to wear identification badge 

3 months 
  
  
  

May be up to 12 months for 
persistent failures to comply 

  
  
  

Failing to display vehicle licence 
plate on vehicle 

Failing to comply with vehicle 
licence conditions 

Deliberately or recklessly providing 
false information 

Page 44



 

Page 33 of 77 

25. Licensing enforcement 
25.1 General 
The Council issues hackney carriage and private hire driver and vehicle licences to ensure passenger 
safety. 
 
The DfT guidance is clear on the necessity of enforcement to maintain high standards of public safety. All 
enforcement schemes need to be proportionate and transparent. 
 
Any enforcement system needs to deal with persistent, low level breaches up to serious, possibly, criminal 
behaviour. There needs to be a grade of sanctions from informal warnings through to suspension and 
revocation of licence. It is clear that the majority of enforcement will be for relatively minor offences or 
breaches and will be undertaken by the licensing officer. 
 
25.2 Enforcement options 
There are a number of options that shall be considered following the identification of an activity for which 
the necessary licence, notice or registration has not been applied for or the Licensee has not complied with 
the conditions of a licence, notice or consent issued by the Council or byelaw made by the Council, or this 
policy or other legislation has been contravened. One or more of the following may be deemed appropriate: 

 Verbal advice 

 Inspection 

 Issue of points via monitoring of contraventions system 

 Suspension 

 Revocation 

 Refusal of future licence application or restriction of such licence by imposition of conditions 

 Formal Caution 

 Prosecution. 
 

There is a long standing relationship between the licensing team and the trade. This is based on the 
application of consistent standards for all parties. 
 
25.3 Enforcement Policy 
The authority will have regard to the Police and Criminal Evidence Act Codes of Practice 
 
25.4 Verbal advice 
To be followed where the vehicle or driver standards are found to be reasonably satisfactory but wanting in 
some minor respect. 
 
25.5 Inspection 
Inspections will normally be of vehicles or documents/records. In most cases, appointments will be made 
with adequate notice and at reasonable hours unless this would defeat the object of the inspection. 
Licensees will comply with officer requests to view documents or records and must attend appointments 
for inspections. 
 
25.6 Penalty points scheme 
Any licensed person who has in the opinion of the licensing officer committed an infringement of the law or 
licence conditions will be served with a notice as follows:- 
  

Page 45

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111169490/pdfs/ukdsiem_9780111169490_en.pdf


 

Page 34 of 77 

 
 

 
25.7 The Council operates a system whereby infringements of the law or licence conditions by a licence-
holder can be recorded and given a value dependent upon the nature of the infringement. This scheme 
reduces possible subjectivity from the enforcement process. Any licensee who, in the opinion of an 
authorised officer, has committed an infringement will be issued with a contraventions notice form.  
 
25.8 This is a points-based monitoring system whereby licensees receive a certain number of points against 
their hackney carriage or private hire licence for specific offences, similar to the way in which points are 
issued against a DVLA licence for motoring offences. If a driver reaches 12 points within a 12-month period, 
the licence will be referred to the Lead Licensing Officer [or the Regulatory Services/Licensing Sub-
Committee] for consideration. The decision maker will receive a report from officers and invite written 
representations from the licence-holder. This system allows the Licensing department to become aware of 
patterns or problems.  The penalty point scheme enables the licensing team leader or Members to give 
weight to patterns or problems when issues come before them. 
 
25.9 The monitoring of contraventions system is only in place for breaches of conditions that the Council 
witnesses and/or investigates. If, for example, the Police deal with an issue by way of issuing a penalty 
notice or awarding penalty points/fine, the Council would not then issue points as well. 

Contraventions Points x Contraventions Points x 

No first aid kit 3  No smoke free signage 2  

No fire extinguisher 3  Vehicle cleanliness 2  

No emergency bulb kit 3  Private hire parked on taxi rank 4  

Failure to display badge 3  Unattended vehicle on taxi rank 4  

Failure to display plate/internal 
plate/door sticker(s) (including 
magnet(s)) 

3  Obstructing the Licensing 
Team/Enforcement officer. 

6  

Failure to notify change of details 
/convictions/FPN/fines and fine 
alternatives such as driving courses 
undertaken as a licence requirement 
– vehicle/driver/operator 

3  Failure to produce documents on 
demand to the licensing enforcement 
officer 

3  

Failure to report an accident to the 
licensing team 

3  Carrying too many passengers 6  

Failure to report a complaint - 
driver/operator 

3  Refusal to carry guide dogs, hearing 
dogs, or service dogs (unless exempt) 

12  

Horn misuse 2  Smoking/vaping in vehicle 12  

Private hire plying for hire 6  Overcharging 6  

Defective tyres, including part worn 
and 10yrs+ 

4 (per tyre)  Use of handheld phone or radio whilst 
driving 

12  

Using unapproved advertising on/in 
vehicle 

2  Breach of Public Spaces Protection 
Order 

4  

Failure to dress appropriately as 
defined in TRDC policy 

2  Other licence requirements/breaches of 
legislation:- 

Dependa
nt on 
case 

 

 
Plate No: ………………………….Driver’s name: ………………………………………….Driver’s badge No:……….. 
 
Vehicle registration: ……………………………has been inspected as indicated above. The contravention(s) above 
 
mean(s) that you have acquired ………… points. 
 
The vehicle must not be used until the contravention(s) above have been rectified and the vehicle is presented to 
the Council Offices by ………/………/……… * 
 
Failure to comply with this notice could lead to the revocation or suspension of your licences and does not rule out 
further proceedings when this matter is considered along with driver/vehicle history.* 
 
Date: …………………………..     Signed: ……………………………………… 
 
*Delete where appropriate 

Page 46



 

Page 35 of 77 

 
25.10 If the licence-holder believes that points have been issued in error, or that there are mitigating 
circumstances not taken into account by the officer, there is a right of appeal to the Head of Regulatory 
Services, Three Rivers District Council, Three Rivers House, Northway, Rickmansworth, Hertfordshire, 
WD3 1RL within 14 days of receiving the notice containing the points. The licence-holder will receive 
notification of the decision of the appeal within 30 days of receipt of the notice of appeal.  
 
25.11 The issue of points does not prevent the Licensing section from taking any other or additional action, 
including prosecution where this is felt to be appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, any breach of 
legislation, conditions, or offences not contained within the table will be dealt with in line with the hackney 
carriage and private hire policy.   
 
25.12 Allocation of penalty points 
The penalty point scheme assists the trade in maintaining its high standards and will act as a first step in 
assuring compliance with the licence conditions.  
 
25.13 Points for Unattended vehicles 
A vehicle will be considered to be unattended if it is considered that the driver would not be available to be 
hired when a customer approached. Therefore, points would not be issued simply because the driver was 
standing outside of the vehicle but would be likely to be issued if the driver is not close enough to the vehicle 
to acknowledge the customer when they approach. Taxi ranks are provided for drivers to show that they 
are available for hire, and are not a parking provision for licensed vehicles. 
 
25.14 Contraventions that will be dealt with outside of the penalty point(s) scheme 
The following licence contraventions are considered to be very serious and therefore a single offence shall 
lead to consideration of whether a licence-holder should be suspended or revoked: 
 

 Unlicensed vehicle by a licensed driver 

 Unlicensed driver using a licensed vehicle 

 Failure to display hackney carriage or private hire plate on licensed vehicle 

 Driving with no valid Insurance 

 Driving with no valid compliance/MOT 

 Contravention of suspension notice.  
 

Whilst a defective tyre will normally lead to 4 points being issued, the Council will consider the severity of 
the defect and this could lead to a higher number of points being issued and potentially suspension or 
revocation of the driver’s licence.  

 
25.15 Suspension of licences 
A suspension notice can be issued giving 21 days’ notice before the suspension takes effect or can be with 
immediate effect in the interest of public safety. 
 
Whilst each case will be taken on its own merit, generally a suspension notice will normally be served in the 
following cases: 

 If there is a history of non-compliance with the licence conditions or legislation and/or where 12 
points have been issued as detailed above in a twelve month period.  

 If there is a significant contravention in terms of risk to members of the public due to non-
compliance.  

 If the person is not otherwise currently considered to be a fit and proper person to be a licensed 
driver.   

 Any other serious matter. 
 
The policy on criminal records and behaviour will be used to assess whether a suspension should be given 
and if so whether it should be with immediate effect. 
 
Also, the Crown Prosecution Service or Police may be asked to apply for bail conditions, which require 
any/all licences affected by this policy to be revoked by the Court. 
 
Where a licence is refused, revoked, suspended or not renewed the licence-holder must be provided within 
14 days of the decision being made and notice of the grounds on which the action was taken. 
  

Page 47



 

Page 36 of 77 

25.16 Revocation of licences 
In the case of a driver or operator licence, the test will be whether the driver/operator is a fit and proper 
person (assessed in accordance with this policy, current legislation, case law and guidance). If they are 
not, on the balance of probabilities, then the licence will be revoked. 

 
The decision to revoke a licence will not be taken lightly. The lead licensing officer has delegated authority 
to revoke licences if appropriate or can refer the licence to a Regulatory Services/Licensing Sub-Committee 
if deemed appropriate.   

 
25.17 Voluntary Surrender 
Voluntary offers to surrender a licence will be accepted if made in writing and the licence plate/disc/badge 
returned. No refund of licence fee will be paid on the surrender of a licence. 

 
25.18 Notification of decisions 
Any notice required to be served by the Council under this licence or under any of the provisions of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be deemed to have been properly served if 
sent by pre-paid post to, or left at, the last known address of the holder of the licence. Notices may also be 
served by email and will be deemed served on the individual once sent.  
 
25.19 Appeal against refusal, suspension or revocation of a licence 
The applicant or licence-holder has the right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court (or Crown Court if relating 
to refusal to grant a hackney carriage vehicle licence) Appeal procedures to the Magistrates’ Court will be 
detailed with notices sent out. On appeal to the Magistrates’ Court a suspended or revoked licence can 
continue to be used until the appeal is heard with the exception of those licence-holders suspended or 
revoked with immediate effect under section 61(2B)) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 
 
25.20 Formal caution  
This is an alternative to prosecution and requires that the offender must admit the offence. 
In considering the issue of a formal caution the following will be taken into account: 

 The seriousness of the offence.   

 The benefits of its use rather than prosecution, e.g. cost, speed, deterrent effect in respect of 
re-offending 

 The intention to rectify the contravention 

 The evidence regarding the contravention.   

 Previous history of the offender 

 Consideration of the public interest (application of public interest test). 
 

Written information will be given or sent to the offender regarding the significance of the caution immediately 
prior to offer of the formal caution. 
 
Formal cautions will always require first the signature of the offender and then the authorised local authority 
representative.  
 
Copies of the caution will be sent to the offender and sent to the central registrar of convictions.  The Legal 
department will hold the original caution. 
 
25.21 Prosecution   
Prosecution will normally only be contemplated when the offences are serious, for example where there is 
a potential for risk to passenger safety, or as a result of refusal to accept other courses of action.  Unlicensed 
persons or businesses will be considered for prosecution. 
The following will be taken into account; 

 the previous history   

 the explanations or attitudes  

 the probable public benefit 

 whether the use of a formal caution would be more appropriate. 
 

Prosecution will be authorised by the Head of Regulatory Services after consultation with the Head of Legal 
and Democratic Services.   
 
Should the Crown Prosecution Service be initiating action against a person or business for offences which 
also involve breaches of the Police Town Clauses Act 1847, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 or byelaws made in respect of hackney carriages, they may be authorised to initiate proceedings 
under these acts. 

Page 48



 

Page 37 of 77 

 
Three Rivers District Council   

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers Licence Requirements 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
The following conditions will be attached, pursuant to section 51(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”), to all Private Hire Drivers’ Licences issued by Three Rivers Council, 
unless a specific exemption has been granted by the authority. The attachment of these conditions does 
not affect the Council’s entitlement to attach any other condition to a licence in response to a specific issue 
arising from a particular application. These requirements apply to hackney carriage and private hire drivers. 
In determining what matters should be considered for a person to be a fit and proper person to be a driver 
the following applies: 
 
1. Introduction 
1.1. In these conditions: “the Council” means Three Rivers District Council; “the Operator” means the 
holder(s) of the Private Hire Operator’s Licence issued by the Council; “vehicle” means any licensed private 
hire vehicle (and hackney carriages, if bookings are also invited and accepted for fulfilment by these 
vehicles) operated by the Operator and “driver” means the holder of a private hire driver’s licence. 
 
1.2. Terms defined under section 80 of the 1976 Act shall bear the meanings set out therein. 
 
1.3. The licence is issued in respect of the person(s) whose details on the licence are not transferable. If at 
any time during the period of the licence the Operator for any reason does not wish to retain the licence, 
the licence shall be surrendered to the licensing officer at the Council. 
 
There would be no full or part refund of the licence fee in such circumstances. 
 
2. Fit and proper person 
Applications for a private hire driver’s licence can only be made by fit and proper persons. A fit and proper 
person must: 
 

 be medically fit 

 comply with the Council’s guidelines for the issue of hackney carriage and private hire driver and 
operator licences policy and the Home Office circular with regard to cautions, convictions or 
pending court appearances as detailed in the Home Office circular 

 not be entered on the sex offenders register 

 be an experienced driver 

 have the required knowledge of the district, highway code, policy and customer care. 
 
3. New applications 
Applications will only be accepted by the Licensing department if they are made on the form produced and 
provided by the Council.  
 
The first application for a driver’s licence must be accompanied by two independent references as to the 
character of the applicant. The names, addresses, and phone number of the referees must be stated on 
the application form.  
 
An application will also be only considered after it has proved that they have a right to work in the UK and 
the Council is in the receipt of three references, two passport-sized photographs, a full DVLA/ EU (UK) 
driving licence including photo card and DVLA code, a current medical certificate (not older than 3 months), 
proof of identity (Passport/ Birth Certificate), a relevant knowledge test pass certificate, an enhanced 
Disclosure and Barring Service criminal record check (not older than 3 months) or DBS certificate and 
written authorisation to check the ‘update service’, a specialist driving standards test certificate and a 
Certificate of Good Conduct from the relevant embassy for all applicants who have lived in the UK for less 
than 5 years (new applicants only) or who have been absent for a period of 9 months or more within the 
last three years for current licensees.  
 
If the Certificate is not issued in English, the applicant will be required to pay for the relevant translation. All 
fees must be paid when submitting the application.  
 
A medical certificate completed by the applicant’s registered medical practitioner is required to prove the 
applicant is fit to drive a licensed vehicle. 
 

Appendix 1 

Page 49



 

Page 38 of 77 

Where an existing licensed hackney carriage driver applies to obtain a private hire licence, or vice versa, 
no additional medical will be required. 
 
4. Renewal 
Applications will only be accepted by the Licensing department if they are made on the form produced and 
provided by the Council.  
 
An application will only be considered upon receipt of the correct fee, two passport-sized photographs and 
a full DVLA/EU (UK) driving licence including photo card and DVLA Code.  Any additional documents that 
are due to expire within the renewal period must also be presented at renewal. In addition, the expired 
driver’s badge must be returned to the Council in order to collect your replacement badge. 
 
All fees must be paid at the time of renewal. Only full applications will be accepted and any missing 
documents or elements will mean your application will not be processed.  
 
Licences will be issued following processing within 28 days of a full application.  
 
All applications for the renewal of a licence must be made at least four weeks prior to the expiry of the 
existing current licence. Applications received less than 28 days prior to the expiry of the licence may not 
be issued prior to the expiry of the current licence, and in these cases the Licensee will not be able to work 
as a licensed driver or drive a licensed vehicle until the new licence is issued. 
 
5. Fees 
The appropriate fee as prescribed from time to time by the Council must accompany all applications.    
 
6. Photographs 
An application must be accompanied by two recent passport sized photographs of the applicant. It must be 
signed by the applicant. It must be taken against a light coloured background, and clearly show your full 
face. You must not wear sunglasses, or any head covering unless head covering is worn for religious or 
medical reasons. The photo will be used for the driver’s badge that will be issued by the Council. 
 
7. Proof of identity 
A birth certificate, national insurance number, passport or new style photographic driver’s licence must be 
produced on first application. 
 
8. Duration of driver’s licence 
The standard period that a licence shall remain in force is three years, commencing from the date the 
licence is granted, not the date of the application itself. 
 
No licence will be issued for a period longer than the standard three-year period, but if an applicant wishes 
to be considered for a licence with a shorter duration, this request must be put in writing at the time of 
application. These requests will be considered on a case by case basis.  
  
A driver’s licence on renewal may be issued for a probationary period of less than three years as determined 
by the Council, dependant on the applicant’s ability to demonstrate being a fit and proper person. Items 
that could be considered would include driver’s experience, criminal record, references, past allegations, 
record of compliance with the conditions, outstanding fees and any other reasonable cause. 
 
9. Medical certificate 
The standard of medical examination as required by the Council is that normally associated with a Group 
2 driver’s licence. All drivers are required to provide a certificate signed by their registered medical 
practitioner to the effect that they are physically fit to be the driver of a taxi or private hire vehicle.  A medical 
certificate is required at first application, every 3 years up to 65 years of age, and annually thereafter. 
 
The applicant is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any medical examination.  
 
The licensee shall notify the licensing officer in writing as soon as possible and in any event not later than 
fourteen days of any illness or injury affecting his or her fitness to drive in any way. 

 
Where there is reasonable doubt over a driver’s fitness, the Council may direct the driver for a medical 
examination by a specified registered medical practitioner at any time. The applicant is responsible for the 
payment of all fees required for any medical examination. 
 
  

Page 50



 

Page 39 of 77 

10. Driving experience 
A valid full DVLA/ EU (UK) driver’s licence (Groups A and B) must have been held for a period of three 
years prior to application. Whilst each case will be taken on its merit, as a general principle a licence will 
not be granted where an applicant has been convicted of a serious driving offence in the past three years, 
or has more than six active points on their licence. 
 
In addition to the above, all new applicants will have to demonstrate good driving ability and be aware of 
potential hazards. This will be assessed by the completion of a driving assessment by the DSA; a valid 
(within valid date as printed on certificate) pass certificate will be required before the licence can be issued.  
Alternatively a driver can demonstrate his/her ability by being a member (by examination) of the Institute of 
Advanced Motorists, or holding a HGV/ PCV (PSV) licence.    
 
11. Disclosure and Barring Service criminal record check 
A DBS enhanced disclosure is required on receipt of new applications. Applicants and existing drivers are 
required to sign up to the update service provided by DBS (First Advantage), providing a mandate for this 
to the Council. An authorised officer can make random checks whilst the licence is effective. This will require 
a DBS enhanced disclosure application form to be completed by the applicant. All applicants should refer 
to the Council’s guidelines for issue of private hire driver and operator and Home Office circular with regards 
to any criminal convictions or cautions.  A fee is required for this check. 
 
Existing drivers at the time this policy is adopted will be required to sign up to the Update service when their 
current criminal record check is due to be updated. 
 
12. Convictions 
Convictions will be dealt with in accordance with the policy on criminal convictions and behaviour in section 
21 of the hackney carriage and private hire policy. 
 
In order to ensure protection of the public a driver must ensure immediate disclosure (within 72 hours) to 
the licensing officer in writing if they are charged, arrested, cautioned, or convicted of any offence during 
the period of their licence. Should knowledge of any offences be withheld, this will reflect on a person fitness 
to be a licensed driver and may lead to a licence being suspended. 
 
13. Driver’s identity badge 
The badge shall be worn at all times the vehicle is being used as a licensed vehicle and in such a position 
and manner as to be plainly and distinctly visible. Hanging from the interior mirror is not acceptable.  
 
On the expiry, revocation or suspension of the licence, the driver shall return the badge to the Council on 
demand.  
 
The driver must report the loss of their driver’s badge and or licence to the Council as soon as such loss 
becomes known. The driver cannot work as a private hire driver until a replacement has been issued. 
 
Upon the expiry, revocation or suspension of his/her licence, the driver must forthwith return to the Council 
the driver’s badge issued by the Council. 
 
The badge remains the property of the Council at all times. 
 
13. Compliance with legislation 
Drivers, where applicable, are expected to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the byelaws made in respect of hackney 
carriages and conditions relating to the private hire driver’s licence.  They are also expected to comply with 
Section 37 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and Equality Act (2010) in respect of assistance dogs.   
 
14. Smoking 
It is prohibited for anyone (driver or passenger) to smoke within the vehicle at any time. Appropriate signage 
must be displayed inside the vehicle in accordance with the Health Act 2006.  
The use of electronic / vapour cigarettes is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle while the driver 
has a passenger on board. The lack of knowledge and research into the long-term effects of the exposure 
to these devices is unknown. 
 
The Council requires an international no-smoking symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be displayed in 
the front passenger window or on the dashboard, and in the rear passenger window. The signs must be 
clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle.  
 

Page 51

https://gbg.onlinedisclosures.co.uk/Authentication/Login?ReturnUrl=%2f


 

Page 40 of 77 

15. Insurance 
The driver of a licensed vehicle must ensure the vehicle is insured for use for that specific purpose. Such 
insurance must be continuous and include full legal liability for passengers and luggage. 
 
16. CCTV in vehicles 
The licensee shall ensure that they do not drive a licensed vehicle with unauthorised facilities for recording 
visual or audio sources. All vehicles with an authorised CCTV system shall contain a certificate of 
authorisation. Any proposed CCTV system must satisfy the requirements of the CCTV conditions within the 
hackney carriage and private hire licensing policy and must be authorised by a relevant officer. 
 
17. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by refusal to grant a licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of 
a decision being made. 

 
18. Change of personal details 
The driver shall immediately (within 7 days or 5 working days) notify the authorised officer in writing of any 
change in his or her personal details. Changes shall include, change of operator, changes of address, 
name, marital status, phone number and mobile number with relevant documentation to supporting the 
change i.e. DVLA licence. 
 
19. Suspension, revocation, and refusal to renew licence 
Without prejudice to these conditions, the Council may suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the licence 
when considered necessary to do so. 
The Council will have regard to this policy when making a decision to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew 
a licence. 
 
20. Other offences 
The licensee shall be guilty of an offence if he or she: 

 Wilfully obstructs an authorised officer acting in pursuance of Part II of the 1976 or the Town        
Police Clauses Act 1847 

 Fails to comply with any requirements made to him or her by the authorised officer 

 Without reasonable cause fails to give the authorised officer any other assistance or information 
which he may require for the performance of his or her functions. 

 
21. Conduct of driver 
The licensee shall: 
 

1. at all times be clean and respectable in his or her dress, behave in a civil and orderly manner, and 
not use foul and abusive language; 

2. take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, entering or alighting from 
the vehicle; 

3. assist any passenger in gaining access to or exiting from the vehicle; 
4. assist any passenger with the loading and unloading of luggage into and out of the vehicle; 
5. afford reasonable assistance in removing a passenger’s luggage to or from the entrance of any. 

house, station or place at which he or she may collect or set down a person unless otherwise 
directed by the hirer, shall proceed to the destination requested by the Hirer by the shortest possible 
route; 

6. not drive the vehicle without the written consent of the proprietor of the vehicle; 
7. not drink, eat, or play audio equipment in the vehicle without the express permission of the hirer; 
8. shall ensure that no annoyance or disturbance is caused to residents or other road users whilst 

driving the vehicle; 
9. not sound the horn or lights of the vehicle or shout in order to signify to the Hirer or passengers 

that the Licensee is waiting for the Hirer or passengers; 
10. not drive a licensed vehicle in a manner that may intimidate or have the potential to intimidate 

another road user; 
11. take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of luggage conveyed in, being loaded in or removed 

from  the vehicle; 
12. comply with all road traffic law; 
13. not use a mobile phone whilst driving; 
14. ensure that he or she does not drive a vehicle with more passenger capacity than their badge 

authorises.; 
15. not smoke or permit a passenger to smoke in the vehicle.  

Page 52



 

Page 41 of 77 

16. ensure that regulation “No Smoking” signs are prominently displayed on the front passenger 
window or dashboard and on the rear passenger window of the vehicle, the signs are to be 
international “No Smoking” signs 70mm in diameter.  

 
In addition, the following apply. 
 
17. Drivers will ensure that they do not drive if they are under the influence of drugs or illegal or 

psychoactive substances. The use of these prior to commencing work, whilst at work or during 
meal/rest breaks in the working day, including meal/rest breaks spent outside of their operating 
base or vehicle or when on call, is strictly prohibited. 

18. Drivers must not initiate any dialogue of a “sexual” nature with a passenger including by telephone 
contact, social media, email or any other form of communication. Licensed drivers are not permitted 
to become involved “sexually”, or have sexual contact, with a passenger whether consent is given 
or not and whether or not the vehicle is carrying fare-paying passengers at the time. Conversations 
that are likely to offend or upset passengers should also be avoided, examples would be 
conversations of a personal nature, but whether a conversation would be considered ‘likely’ to 
offend or upset a passenger would be considered by the Council on an individual basis if a 
complaint is received. 

19. Before commencing work each day, licensed drivers must ensure that the vehicle is maintained in 
a clean, comfortable, safe, watertight and mechanically sound condition and is in all other respects 
suitable for the purpose for which it is intended. 

20. Before commencing work each day, licensed drivers must ensure that any vehicle they drive has 
an adequate Fire Extinguisher, First Aid Kit and Emergency Bulb Kit meeting the vehicle licence 
conditions. If during the day these items are used, the driver shall ensure that these are replaced 
before collecting the next customer. 

  
22. Passengers 
The licensee shall not:- 

a) Convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed 
in the licence for the vehicle  

b) Without the consent of the Hirer convey or permit to be conveyed any other person in the vehicle. 
 

Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 
c) Any child below the age of three years 
d) More than one person above the age of three years 
e) An infant in arms. 

 
The licensee shall ensure that all passengers between three and twelve years of age or 135cm in height 
wear an appropriate child restraint to travel in the front of a vehicle. If not available, these passengers must 
use an adult seat belt in the rear of the vehicle. 
 
23. Lost property  
23.1 The licensee shall ensure that, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 
thereafter, the vehicle is searched thoroughly for any property which may have been accidentally left 
therein, 
 
23.2. The licensee shall ensure that any property accidentally left, or found or handed to him in the vehicle 
will be taken to a Police station within 48 hours of it being found. 
 
23.3. All lost property, whether handed into the Police station or not, must be recorded either electronically 
or by any other method and be available for inspection by an authorised officer or Police officer. 
 
24. Written receipts 
The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide them with a written receipt for the fare paid. 
 
25. Animals/assistance/guide dogs  
The driver shall not convey in a licensed vehicle any animal belonging to or in the custody of himself or the 
proprietor or operator of the vehicle.  
 
The driver shall ensure that any animals, only belonging to or are in the custody of a fare paying passenger 
are conveyed in the rear of the vehicle. The driver shall transport any person and his/her guide or assistance 
dog without additional charge.  Holders of an exemption certificate from carrying animals (issued because 
of medical reasons) must display the certificate in a prominent position. 
 

Page 53



 

Page 42 of 77 

It is an offence to refuse to carry assistance/guide dogs. 
 
26. Prompt attendance 
26.1. The driver of a licensed vehicle shall, when hired, punctually attend at the appointed time and place, 
unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause. 
 
26.2. In the event of a delay or prevention by a sufficient cause, the driver shall contact the operator to 
inform them of the delay or sufficient cause. The driver or operator shall contact the hirer to explain the 
reason for delay. 
 
26.3. In the case of delay or prevention by a sufficient cause the operator shall either dispatch another 
vehicle or if necessary sub-contract the booking to another private hire operator to dispatch a replacement 
vehicle. 
 
27. Taximeter  
The following conditions apply. 
 

(a) A licensed driver shall not drive the vehicle unless the taximeter (where fitted) is in working condition 
and has been sealed by a meter company, which has issued the licensee with a calibration 
certificate.   

(b) The licensed driver shall not cause the fare recorded (in accordance with table of fares *Hackney 
Carriage Only*) to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had a reasonable opportunity of 
examining it and has paid the fare. 

(c) The Licensee shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper with any taximeter with which 
the vehicle is fitted, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto.  

(d) The Licensee shall ensure that when the vehicle is not in use the taximeter is switched off. 
 
28. Fare to be demanded 
28.1 The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a licensed vehicle a fare in excess of any previously 
agreed.  If the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter the fare shown on the face of the taximeter is the highest 
fare that can be charged. The driver shall not demand any fare higher than that shown on the face of the 
taximeter. 
 
28.2 (Hackney Carriage Only) A printed copy of the table of fares currently approved by the Council must 
be prominently displayed in the passenger compartment of the vehicle and the fare charged to any 
passenger shall not exceed that table. 
  
29. Seatbelts 
It is recommended that when driving the vehicle the licensee should wear a seat belt at all times. 
 
30. Insurance 
The driver of a licensed vehicle shall ensure that, before commencing to drive the vehicle, he or she is 
covered by a valid insurance policy for public hire (and private hire if private hire bookings are accepted 
from licensed operators) which includes full legal liability for passengers and luggage and shall ensure that 
they do not act in any way which might invalidate the insurance. 
 
The licensee shall, on being requested to do so, produce the insurance certificate to a Police officer or an 
authorised officer. 
 
31.  Accidents and damage to the vehicle 
The licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the vehicle 
and/or any damage materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle within 72 
hours of the accident using the form issued by the Council. In the interests of public safety, the licensee of 
any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to submit a compliance certificate to the Council. The 
licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for hire until it has been inspected and approved by the 
authorised officer or a new compliance certificate has been obtained where appropriate as considered by 
the Council on receipt of the reported details of the incident. 
 
32.  Inspections 
The licensee shall not obstruct the authorised officer or any Police officer from carrying out any inspection 
or test of the vehicle. 
 
  

Page 54



 

Page 43 of 77 

31. Copy of licence and requirements  
33.1 The licensee shall at all times when driving the vehicle carry a copy of their licence and these 
requirements, and shall make it available for inspection by the hirer, any other passenger, the authorised 
officer or a police officer upon request. 
 
34. Variation of requirements 
The Council reserves the right to vary, delete or waive any of these requirements. 
 
35. Notification of decisions  
Any notice required to be served by the Council under any licence granted or under any of the provisions 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be deemed to have been properly 
served if sent by pre-paid post to, or left at, the last known address of the holder of the licence. Notices 
may also be served by email and will be deemed served on the individual once sent. 
 
36. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by refusal to grant a licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of 
a decision being made. 

 
  

Page 55



 

Page 44 of 77 

Requirements relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“The 1976 Act”) 
 

1. Applications 
All applications will only be acceptable if they are in the form provided by the Council, such form must be 
completed and signed by the applicant. An application will only be considered after production of the vehicle 
registration document, MOT (when required by law), Certificate of Compliance, (European whole vehicle 
type approved, if required), insurance certificate, calibration certificate (for taxi meter) and fee. 
 
2. Renewal 
All applications will only be accepted if they are produced and provided by the Council,   

 
An application for renewal will only be considered upon receipt of the correct fee, the Vehicle Registration 
document, and any additional documents that are due to expire within the renewal period. This may include: 
Insurance, MOT, and compliance certificate. In addition, the expired vehicle plate must be returned to the 
Council in order to collect your replacement.  
 
All fees must be paid at the time of renewal. Only full applications will be accepted, any missing documents 
or elements will mean your application will not be processed. 
  
Licences will be issued following processing within 28 days of a full application. 
 
All applications for the renewal of a licence must be made at least four weeks prior to the expiry of the 
existing current licence. Applications received less than 28 days prior to the expiry of the licence may not 
be issued prior to the expiry of the current licence, and in these cases the licensee will not be able to work 
as a licensed driver until the new licence is issued. 
 
3. Fee 
The appropriate fee, paid in full, as prescribed from time to time by the Council, must accompany all 
applications.   
 
4. Duration of vehicle licence 
All licences shall remain in force for a maximum of one year only, commencing from the date of the granting 
of the licence. 
 
5. Dual plating 
No licence shall be granted where the proposed vehicle is already licensed by another Council. Such 
vehicles may be licensed following the surrender of the existing licence. Providing they meet the criteria of 
this policy and a full application is made.  
 
6. Change of vehicle or transfer of licence 
An application by the licence-holder for a change of vehicle or an application to transfer the licence will only 
be considered after production of the vehicle registration document, MOT, certificate of compliance, 
(European whole vehicle type approved, if required), insurance certificate, valid taximeter calibration 
certificate and the relevant fee. In the case of a transfer application a dated letter stating that the vehicle 
and the plate are being transferred from the current holder to the new owner. This letter must include 
addresses, plate number, vehicle type and registration.  
 
Please note a change of vehicle application, and a transfer of a vehicle licence cannot take place at 
the same time.  
 
7. Type of vehicle 
The Transport Act 1985 allows licensing authorities to regulate vehicle standards. Circular 8/86 
accompanying the Transport Act, states that authorities will wish to ensure that vehicles are mechanically 
sound, roadworthy and safe.  The following will be applied: 
 

 The vehicle must not be left hand drive 

 All newly licensed private hire vehicles must be no more than 7 years old as defined by the 
registration date on the vehicle V5 document and meet Euro 5 standards for emissions 

 Only vehicles holding or built to the standards required by the M1, M2 and M3 European whole 
vehicle type approval and meet Euro 5 standards for emissions will be licensed. 

 

Appendix 2 

 

Page 56



 

Page 45 of 77 

Any converted vehicles will be required to hold the appropriate low volume type approval certificate in the 
M classification or the enhanced single vehicle certificate together with the original M type approval. 
 

 The vehicle must be maintained throughout the term of the vehicle licence, to a high standard of 
appearance to the complete satisfaction of the Council, and kept in the condition stated in the 
standards for conditions of appearance of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. 

 The vehicle shall have at least four road wheels and a spare wheel or a canister of tyre inflator/repair 
kept in the vehicle. The tyres shall be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer and 
not more than 10 years old. Tyres must have a minimum tyre tread depth of 3 mm over the central 
3/4 of the tread pattern (including spare tyre). 

 No vehicle shall be licensed which would require any passenger to climb over any luggage in the 
vehicle or climb into any boot space 

 All seats, front and rear must be fitted with seat belts 

 The vehicle must be submitted for a mechanical test at a garage authorised by the Council and 
may be inspected for suitability by the Council’s licensing officer. A certificate of compliance with 
the standards required under the Road Traffic Act 1972, Sections 43 and 44 must be provided by 
the garage. In addition to those standards required by the MOT the items detailed in the attached 
form are required  

 The Council’s licensing officer may direct the vehicle to be inspected in accordance with the 
certificate of compliance at a specific testing station 

 A certificate of compliance and MOT will be valid for 1 year from date of issue. 

 The vehicle should contain a portable dry powder 1kg capacity fire extinguisher. The extinguisher 
must conform to BS EN3 1996 Standard, and should be mounted in a convenient position in the 
vehicle. The extinguisher shall be marked with the hackney carriage/private hire vehicle registration 
number 

 A first aid kit complying with the Health and Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 should be carried 
in the vehicle.  The kit to be marked with the hackney carriage/ private hire licence number 

 Vehicles that have been converted to use liquid petroleum gas and/or Compressed Natural Gas, 
require compliance with the Liquid Petroleum Gas Association’s Code of Practice No.11 

 That a valid certificate certifying compliance with the standards of the Code of Practice No. 11 be 
submitted with all new applications in respect of converted private hire and hackney carriage 
vehicles unless such vehicles were factory converted from new  
 

8. Seating capacity 
The seating capacity of any hackney carriage/private hire vehicle shall be calculated in accordance with 
the provisions of Regulation 44 of the Road Vehicles (Registration and Licensing) Regulations 2002, (SI 
2002 No. 2742) and the Council’s decision shall be binding. 
 
9. Testing of vehicles 
A licence shall not be granted in respect of any vehicle unless such vehicle has a current certificate of 
compliance as detailed below, and a valid MOT certificate (where required). 
 
10. Insurance and road fund licence 
All hackney carriage and private hire vehicles must be licensed and insured for hackney carriage or private 
hire use. Such insurance must be continuous and include full legal liability for passengers and luggage. 
Proof of insurance must be submitted with each application for a licence and where it expires during the 
term of the licence a new certificate or cover note must be supplied to the Licensing team. 
 
11. Certificate of compliance 

 A certificate of compliance will only be granted where a vehicle complies in all respects with the 
detailed standard set out in the main policy document. 

 A certificate of compliance shall be valid for one year only from the date of issue. 

 A certificate of compliance may only be issued by a vehicle testing station authorised and 
designated by the Council. 

 A current list of designated vehicle testing stations is available from the Council. 
 
12. Examination of vehicles 
The licensing officer may request that the vehicle is presented at the Council’s offices at Three Rivers 
House Northway Rickmansworth Hertfordshire WD3 1RL at a time and date agreed for the purpose of 
establishing that the vehicle complies with the Council’s requirements.  
 
  

Page 57



 

Page 46 of 77 

13. Smoking 
It is prohibited for anyone (driver or passenger) to smoke within the vehicle at any time. Appropriate signage 
must be displayed inside the vehicle in accordance with the Health Act 2006.  
The use of electronic / vapour cigarettes is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle while the driver 
has a passenger on board. The lack of knowledge and research into the long-term effects of the exposure 
to these devices is unknown. 

 
The Council requires an international no-smoking symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be displayed in 
the front passenger window or on the dashboard, and in the rear passenger window. The signs must be 
clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle.  
 
14. CCTV in vehicles 
The licensee shall ensure that their licensed vehicle does not contain any facilities to record visual or audio 
sources without first obtaining authorisation from the Council. Any proposed CCTV system must satisfy the 
requirements of the CCTV conditions section. 
 
15. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by refusal to grant a licence may appeal to the Magistrate’s Court within 21 days of 
a decision being made. 
 
16. Standards for conditions of appearance of vehicles 
The vehicle must comply with the following:- 
 
Rust: Any vehicle presented should be free from any significant areas of visible rusting.  Although minor 
blemishes should not constitute a failure, the following general criteria should be followed; any vehicle with 
visible rust patches should be failed 
 
Dents: Any vehicle with minor dents on one or more panels where such dents are more than 5cms in 
diameter/length should be failed 
 
Scratches: Any vehicle with un-repaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more panels, of 5cms 
in length, or a single scratch of more than 20cms in length, should be failed 
 
Paintwork: All panels on all vehicles shall be painted in manufacturer’s colour; panels with unmatched 
colours or in primer should be deemed as failures 
 
Seats: In conventional vehicles where it is intended that the licence be for four passengers, the rear seat 
must be at least 1220mm (48 inches) in width.  All seats shall have a minimum of 410mm (16 inches) per 
person and in respect of seating comply with the Road Vehicle (Registration and Licensing) Regulations 
2002.  All seats, including the driver’s must be free from repaired cuts, tears or cigarette burns, except of a 
very minor nature. Any repairs must have been carried out in a professional and neat manner.  All seats 
must be kept clean and tidy and free from all extraneous matter 
 
Carpets/floor covering: All carpets and floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, staining 
and soiling 
 
Headlining and other trim: All interior trim, including headlining shall be clean, complete, properly fitted 
and free from cuts, tears or soiling 
 
Boot/luggage compartment: This should be empty, except for spare wheel, essential tools and first aid 
kit (to comply with Health and Safety and First Aid Regulations). The compartment should be clean and 
any covering free from major cuts, tears or other damage or staining 
 
Interior: The interior must be kept clean, tidy and free of any water penetration or litter or other rubbish 
 
Vehicle emissions: The vehicle must comply with the Motor Vehicle (Emission Test) Regulations for Euro 
5 standard for emissions. 
 
Glazing: All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any vehicle with a reading lower than the following 
will not be licensed. Front Windscreen 75%, Front Side Windows 70%, All other Windows 30%. The lower 
the number the darker the tint. 
 
Roof Boxes and Roof Racks: The use of roof boxes and roof racks is strictly prohibited unless there is 
roof space or storage already integrated into the vehicle. 

Page 58



 

Page 47 of 77 

 
Requirements relating only to Private Hire Vehicles 

 
1. General 
The vehicle shall have three or four doors (a rear-opening hatch back will not be considered or counted as 
a door for the means of entry or egress, except that a multi-purpose vehicle may have a single sliding door 
to the left hand side of the vehicle) 

 
2. Private Hire occupancy plate 
The plate shall be securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle using a purposely made bracket at all times, 
regardless of whether the vehicle is being used  provided free of charge on issue and for a fee at any other 
time). If this is not suitable or practicable, the plate shall be securely and permanently fixed to the rear of 
the vehicle, on or above the bumper by the use of screws or bolts, and be clearly visible. A magnet will not 
be considered securely fixed for the purposes of this condition. The licensee shall ensure the plate is kept 
clean and is not wilfully or negligently concealed from public view whilst the vehicle is licensed. 

 

The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle at all times throughout the period of licence, has this plate 
exhibited in the manner described above. 
 
The identification plates shall remain the property of the Council. 
 
3. Private Hire Internal Licence Plate 
When licensed, the vehicle shall have an authorised internal licence plate. This is to be displayed in the 
front of the vehicle in such a way as to be clearly visible from the inside and the outside of the vehicle.   
 
4. Signs etc. 
No sign, notice, advertisement, plate, mark, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices shall be used, if 
it contains anything of a religious or political nature or advertises Tobacco, Alcohol, any form of sex shop 
or a sex establishment, or contains any matter likely to cause offence. Approval on the type and extent of 
the advertising should be sought from the licensing officer, for which there is an administration fee per batch 
of advertising. 
 
No signs or advertising containing the word “TAXI” will be permitted on any Private Hire vehicle.  
 
5. Private Hire signs 

 A roof sign is not permitted. 
 
As directed by the Council the operator shall cause to be fixed and maintained to the front driver and 
passenger doors a prescribed sign bearing the words “Private Hire Vehicle – Advance Bookings Only. 
 
6. Dispensation/Exemption Certificates from displaying vehicle licence plate  
The Licensing team have a duty of care to ensure that all residents, professional clients and general 
customers travelling in Private Hire vehicles are safe and secure at all times. Dispensations will only be 
considered for specialist private hire use. This does not include airport services, regular school contracts 
and normal daily/weekend private hire work.  
 
Information listed below is required to be submitted prior to a formal decision being made. New documents 
with this information will be required by the Licensing team at the renewal stage of the vehicle licence to 
assess whether the exemptions should remain in force.  
 

 Identification of vehicle/s involved. We will require full details of the vehicles being used under 
exemption certificates, including make and model of vehicle, vehicle registration, Licence details, 
Owners details and Full Name & Address of the driver using the vehicle.  
 

 Nature of work carried out by each vehicle, which is alleged to justify an exemption (which must be 
work of a prestigious nature, as opposed to ordinary private hire work) detailing each of your 
contracts and information on trips carried out under the exemption certificate.  

 

 Identities of all clients served by the vehicle/s identified. Full name, address and details of clients 
including contact name, telephone number and website address and companies house registration 
number.  

 

 Proportion of each vehicle's work, which is derived from each, named client. I.e. on a weekly basis 
how often will you be working for each individual client?  

Appendix 3 

Page 59



 

Page 48 of 77 

 

 Written confirmation from the clients named. A letter will be required confirming use of your services 
and confirming reasons why plates are not to be displayed.  

 
Should a dispensation be approved the licence plate will not be required to be fixed to the vehicle; however, 
the licence, dispensation certificate and plate must be carried at all times in the vehicle. No advertising is 
permitted on or in any vehicle with dispensation. 
 
Any person aggrieved by the decision of refusal to grant a certificate can appeal to the Head of Regulatory 
Services in writing within 14 days.  
 
Where the use of vehicles changes during the period that the vehicle is licensed, the Licensing team must 
be informed so dispensation can be removed. If dispensation is removed, the exceptions that this provides 
will no longer relate to that vehicle. 
 
7.  Residential qualification 
The operator of any private hire vehicle must maintain an office within the area of the Three Rivers District 
Council for a period of the licence. 
 
8. Private Hire Vehicles May Not Operate From Taxi Ranks and Stands 
Private Hire Vehicles may not operate from hackney carriage ranks or stands or ply the carriageway for 
hire but must be pre-booked. 
 
9. Roof Boxes and Roof Racks 
The use of roof boxes and roof racks is strictly prohibited unless there is roof space or storage already 
integrated into the vehicle. 
  

Page 60



 

Page 49 of 77 

Requirements Relating Only To Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
 

Town Police Clauses Act 1847 (“the 1847 Act”) 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 

 
1. General 

 All new hackney carriage vehicle licences issued shall be for a purpose built hackney carriage, 
capable of conveying a disabled person whilst seated in a wheelchair. The vehicle must be adapted 
or designed by the manufacturer or his agent, to carry at least one wheelchair bound passenger. 
Please check with the Licensing Department that the vehicle you intend to purchase meets the 
condition.  Vehicles of a type currently licensed as a hackney carriage in London are acceptable. 
 

 Other wheelchair accessible vehicles will be specifically approved by the Council for use as hackney 
carriages, subject to them meeting the following minimum requirements; 
 

 The wheelchair access should be available from the kerbside with the wheelchair facing forward and 
being secured to a CE type approved, manufacturer installed anchorage system for the chair. The 
passenger secured to a CE approved, manufacturer installed seat belt anchorage system 

 

 Passenger door dimensions to be not less than the minimum currently required of hackney carriages 
in London.   
 

 To improve access to disabled persons all hackney carriages licensed in compliance with the 
wheelchair accessibility requirements may only be changed to vehicles that similarly meet that 
standard  

 

 The vehicle shall have three or four doors (a rear-opening hatch back will not be considered or 
counted as a door for the means of entry or egress, except that a multi-purpose vehicle may have a 
single sliding door to the left hand side of the vehicle) 

 
2. Hackney Carriage Occupancy Plate 
When licensed, the vehicle shall have an authorised occupancy plate fixed to the rear of the vehicle.  The 
plate shall be securely and permanently fixed to the vehicle on or above the bumper and be clearly visible.  
The plate shall be secured to the vehicle by the use of a bracket.  If a bracket is not suitable or practicable, 
then the plate shall be fixed with the aid of screws or bolts.   
 
3. Hackney Carriage Internal Plate 
When licensed, the vehicle shall have an authorised internal plate. This is to be displayed in the front of the 
vehicle in such a way as to be clearly visible from the inside and the outside of the vehicle.   
 
4. Taximeter 
All hackney carriage vehicles shall be fitted with a taximeter installed by an authorised taximeter company 
and so constructed, attached, and maintained as to comply with the following requirement: 

 All new hackney carriage vehicles shall require a calendar controlled tariff taximeter 

 The taximeter shall be fitted with a key flag or other device the turning of which will bring the 
machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word “hired” to appear on the face of the meter 

 Such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position indicating that the 
machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter 

 When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the taximeter 
in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the licensee or driver is entitled 
to demand and take for hire of the vehicle by distance in pursuance of the table of fares made by the 
Council in that behalf 

 The word “fare” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to apply to 
the fare recorded thereon 

 The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all times plainly 
visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle, and for that purpose the letters and figures shall 
be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring 

 The taximeter shall be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a hiring which is during the 
hours of darkness as defined for the purposes of the Road Traffic Act 972, and also at the request 
of the hirer 

 The taximeter shall have connected thereto a roof sign bearing the words “TAXI” in accordance with 
paragraph 8 below and such sign shall be plainly visible and legible to persons wishing to hire the 

Appendix 4 

Page 61



 

Page 50 of 77 

vehicle and for that purpose it shall be capable of being suitably illuminated when the vehicle is plying 
or standing for hire 

 The taximeter and all its fittings shall be so affixed to the vehicle with seals or other appliances that 
it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by breaking, damaging or 
permanently displacing the seals or other appliances 

 When the vehicle is standing or plying for hire or returning from another district the key flag or other 
device fitted with the taximeter shall be locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face 
of the taximeter 

 Before beginning a journey for which a fare is to be charged for distance and time, the taximeter 
should be brought into action so that the word “hired” is legible on the face of the taximeter and the 
taximeter should be kept on until the hiring has terminated 

 The taximeter and its fittings will be sealed by the installer 

 The taximeter shall be calibrated and sealed by the taximeter company at first installation and then 
when a seal is broken or missing, following a change to the table of fares, or when requested by the 
Council. The certificate of calibration is to be provided by the taximeter installer. A valid certificate 
should be produced on transfer, change or renewal of a licence.  

 
5. Signs etc 
No sign, notice, advertisement, plate, mark, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices shall be used, if 
it contains anything of a religious or political nature or advertises tobacco, alcohol, any sex related 
establishment (shop or venue), or contains any matter likely to cause offence. Approval on the type and 
extent of the advertising should be sought from the licensing officer. A charge will be payable as detailed 
in this policy 
 
6. Roof signs 
The minimum sign dimensions for roof signs are 10” wide 5” deep and 4” high, there are no maximum 
measurements. The word taxi only in black capital letters to be clearly legible on the front and rear side of 
the roof sign. The front of the sign must be white and the back red or white. Purpose built taxis are exempt 
from these requirements. 
 
The sign must be illuminated when plying or available for hire during the hours of darkness and must be 
linked to the taximeter so that when a fare is being carried, the roof sign is not illuminated. 
 
7. Taxi ranks and stands 
Hackney carriages can operate from authorised ranks or stands, including ‘shared’ stands or ply the 
carriageway for hire or can be pre-booked. 
  

Page 62



 

Page 51 of 77 

Licensing conditions relating to Private Hire Drivers 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 

1. Introduction 
The following conditions are made by Three Rivers District Council in pursuance of the powers conferred 
by Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) to ensure efficient 
and effective regulation of private hire vehicle use and to ensure that proper vehicular and driver standards 
are maintained in the interests of public safety. 
 
These conditions should be read in conjunction with the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 and other relevant legislation. 
 
2. Definitions 
In these conditions: 
‘The application’ shall mean the application made by the licensee for the grant of the licence 
 
‘Authorised officer’ shall mean a licensing officer of the Council’s Regulatory Services Department or any 
other officer authorised by the Regulatory Services. 
 
‘The Council’ shall mean Three Rivers District Council 
 
‘the hirer’ shall mean any person or persons who from time-to-time hires or books the vehicle 
 
‘the licensee’ shall mean the person(s) named in the licence 
 
“the operator’ shall mean any person, company or partnership licensed by the Council to operate private 
hire vehicles 
 
“the vehicle” shall mean any private hire vehicle licensed by the Council 
 
3. General 
The licensee shall ensure that he or she complies in all respects with the requirements of any Act and 
regulations affecting the operation of private hire vehicles and motor vehicles, these conditions and any 
code of practice implemented by the Council. 
 
4. Maintenance of the vehicle 
The licensee shall: 
 

 Ensure that the vehicle to be driven by him or her is in a roadworthy condition, thoroughly cleansed; 
all equipment fittings and fixtures are present and serviceable and comply with the conditions 
attached to the licence relating to the vehicle before commencement of any journey. 

 Record details of checks and inspections in the record book provided by the proprietor of the vehicle. 

 Report any defect discovered by the licensee to the proprietor of the vehicle. 
 

5. Standard of Service 
The licensee shall: 

 at all times be clean and respectable in his or her dress, behave in a civil and orderly manner, and 
not use foul and abusive language 

 confirm the name, destination, and method of payment with every passenger prior to commencing 
any journey 

 take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, entering or alighting from 
the vehicle 

 assist any passenger in gaining access to or from the vehicle 

 assist any passenger with the loading and unloading of luggage into and out of the vehicle 

 afford reasonable assistance in removing a passenger’s luggage to or from the entrance of any 
house, station or place at which he or she may collect or set down a person 

 unless otherwise directed by the hirer, proceed to the destination requested by the hirer by the 
shortest possible route 

 not drive the vehicle without the written consent of the proprietor of the vehicle 

 not drink, eat, or play audio equipment in the vehicle without the express permission of the hirer 

 shall ensure that no annoyance or disturbance is caused to residents or other road users whilst 
driving the vehicle 

Appendix 5 

Page 63



 

Page 52 of 77 

 not use the horn or lights of the vehicle or shout in order to signify to the hirer or passengers that the 
Licensee is waiting for the Hirer or passengers 

 not drive a licensed vehicle in a manner that may intimidate or have the potential to intimidate another 
road user 

 take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of luggage conveyed in, being loaded in or removed 
from the vehicle 

 comply with all road traffic law 

 not use any hand-held communications or navigation devices or similar (such as mobile telephone, 
two-way radio, satellite navigation device or personal digital assistant) whilst driving 

 immediately notify the Council’s licensing officer if he or she has knowingly conveyed a dead body 
in the vehicle, and not drive the vehicle again until he or she has obtained written permission for the 
continued use of the vehicle 

 not cause or permit the vehicle to stand in such a manner as to suggest that it is standing or otherwise 
plying for hire or that it is a hackney carriage 

 not tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried in any private hire vehicle  

 not cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried for hire in any 
private hire vehicle 

 ensure that he or she does not drive a vehicle with more passenger capacity than their badge 
authorises.  

 
In addition, the following apply. 

 A licensed driver shall not smoke in their vehicle or permit any other person to smoke in their vehicle 
whether they are working or not. Under the Health Act 2006 all private hire / hackney carriage 
vehicles are required to be smoke-free at all times even when not being used for work purposes. ‘No 
Smoking’ signage must be displayed in the vehicle in accordance with the legislation. Failure to 
comply with the above may lead to a fixed penalty notice being issued or a criminal prosecution.  

 The use of electronic / vapour cigarettes is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle while the 
driver has a passenger on board. The lack of knowledge and research into the long-term effects of 
the exposure to these devices is unknown.  

 A licensed driver shall not initiate any dialogue of a “sexual” nature with a passenger including by 
telephone contact, social media, email or any other form of communication. Licensed drivers are not 
permitted to become involved “sexually”, or have sexual contact with a passenger, with or without 
consent. 

 Conversations that are likely to offend or upset passengers should also be avoided, examples would 
be conversations of a personal nature, but whether a conversation would be considered ‘likely’ to 
offend or upset a passenger would be considered by the Council on an individual basis if a complaint 
is received.  

 
6. Taximeter 
If the vehicle to be driven by the licensee is fitted with a taximeter, he or she shall not drive the vehicle as 
a private hire vehicle unless the taximeter is in working condition and has been sealed by a company with 
a calibration certificate being held by the Council. If the vehicle being driven by the licensee is fitted with a 
taximeter, he or she shall not cause the fare recorded to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had 
a reasonable opportunity of examining it and has paid the fare. 

 
The licensee shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper with any taximeter with which the vehicle 
is fitted, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto. The licensee shall ensure that when the 
vehicle is not in use the taximeter is switched off. 
 
If a taximeter is fitted then the tariff card shall be displayed in the vehicle so it is visible to the customer. 
 
7. Written Receipt of Fares 
The licensee shall, if requested by the hirer, provide a written receipt for the fare paid. 
 
8. Accidents and damage to the vehicle 
The licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the vehicle 
within 72 hours of the accident using the form issued by the Council.  In the interests of public safety, the 
licensee of any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to submit a compliance certificate to the 
Council.  
 
The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for hire until it has been inspected and approved by 
the authorised officer or a new compliance certificate has been obtained where appropriate as considered 
by the Council on receipt of the reported details of the incident. 

Page 64



 

Page 53 of 77 

 
9. Prompt attendance 
The licensee, when it is agreed that the vehicle has been hired, shall be in attendance with the vehicle at 
the appointed time and place and shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually 
attend with the vehicle at such appointed time and place.  Prior to collecting the hire the licensee shall 
ensure that he or she is aware of the destination and how to reach the destination. 
 
10. Driver’s identity badge 
The licensee, at all times, when acting in accordance with this licence, shall wear in such a position as to 
be plainly and distinctly visible the badge issued to him/her by the Council. Hanging the badge from the 
internal mirror is not acceptable. 
 
11. Proximity to an authorised rank 
The licensee shall not be permitted to wait or park on the public highway within 75 metres of an authorised 
hackney carriage rank. 
 
12. Fares and fare table 
The driver shall not demand from any hirer a fare in excess of any previously agreed for that hiring between 
the hirer and the operator or, if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and there has been no previous 
agreement as to the fare, the fare shown on the face of the taximeter. The driver shall not demand any fare 
higher than that shown on the face of the taximeter. 

 
The licensee shall cause any statement of fares provided by the operator to be exhibited inside the vehicle, 
in clearly distinguishable letters and figures. 
  
13. Seat belts 
When driving the vehicle it is recommended that the licensee shall wear a seat belt at all times.  
 
14. Passengers 
The licensee shall not:- 

f) Convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed in 
the licence for the vehicle  

g) Without the consent of the Hirer convey or permit to be conveyed any other person in the vehicle. 
 
Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 

h) Any child below the age of three years 
i) More than one person above the age of three years 
j) An infant in arms. 

 
The licensee shall ensure that all passengers between three and twelve years of age or 135cm in height 
wear an appropriate child restraint to travel in the front of a vehicle. If not available, these passengers must 
use an adult seat belt in the rear of the vehicle. 
 
15. Carriage of animals and Assistance Dogs 
The licensee shall not permit any animal belonging to or under the care of the licensee or the driver to ride 
in the vehicle when using the vehicle for private hire. The licensee or driver shall not refuse any request to 
carry an assistance/guide dog, accompanying a person with a disability unless the licensee and/or driver 
has been exempted from this requirement by the Council. It is an offence to refuse to carry a guide or 
assistance dog (unless a medical exemption certificate is held. The licensee shall not refuse any reasonable 
request to carry an animal belonging to the hirer in the rear of the vehicle. 
 
16. Private hire vehicle operator 
The Licensee shall not use the vehicle for private hire unless the bookings are invited and accepted by an 
operator within the district. The licensee shall ensure the operator has a current private hire vehicle 
operator’s licence issued by the Council. 
 
The licensee shall notify the authorised officer in writing of the name and address of the operator for whom 
they are permitted or employed to drive for within seven days from the date they commenced driving for 
that operator. If the licensee ceases driving for the operator, they shall notify the authorised officer in writing 
that they have ceased driving for the operator within seven days. If a driver ceases to work for an operator, 
and does not immediately notify the Council of their new operator’s details, they must return their drivers 
badge to the Council immediately. Any driver not employed or registered to an operator upon the renewal 
of their licence shall be permitted to renew their licence, but their badge and licence will be retained by the 
Council until they find gainful employment with an operator based within Three Rivers District. 

Page 65



 

Page 54 of 77 

 
17. Deposit of licence 
The driver shall deposit a copy of his or her paper licence with the vehicle licensee/proprietor and operator 
before commencing to drive the vehicle. The licence shall be retained by the vehicle licensee/proprietor 
and operator until such time as the driver ceases to drive that vehicle or ceases to be registered / employed 
by the Operator. 
 
18. Insurance 
The driver of a licensed vehicle shall ensure that they are covered by a valid, fully comprehensive insurance 
policy for private hire purposes which includes legal liability for passengers before commencing to drive the 
vehicle and shall ensure that they do not act in any way which might invalidate the insurance. The Licensee 
shall on being requested to do so produce the insurance certificate to a Police officer or the authorised 
officer. 

 
19. Lost property 
The licensee shall ensure that, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 
thereafter, the vehicle is searched thoroughly for any property which may have been accidentally left 
therein. The licensee shall take any property accidentally left in the vehicle or handed to him or her to a 
Police Station within the Three Rivers District boundary (see main policy) and leave it in the custody of the 
officer in charge and obtain a receipt. Such property if not sooner claimed by the owner must be taken to a 
Police station within 48 hours of the property being found. 
 
20. Inspections 
The licensee shall not obstruct the authorised officer or any Police officer from carrying out any inspection 
or test of the vehicle. 
 
21. Medical fitness 
The standard of medical examination as required by Three Rivers District Council is that normally 
associated with a Group 2 driver’s licence. All drivers are required to provide a certificate signed by their 
registered medical practitioner to the effect that they are physically fit to be the driver of a taxi or private 
hire vehicle.  A medical certificate is required at first application, every 3 years up to 65 years of age, and 
annually thereafter. 
 
The applicant is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any medical examination.  
 
The licensee shall notify the authorised officer in writing as soon as possible and in any event not later than 
fourteen days of any illness or injury affecting his or her fitness to drive in any way. 
 
Where there is reasonable doubt over a driver’s fitness, the Council may direct the driver for a medical 
examination by a specified registered medical practitioner at any time. The applicant is responsible for the 
payment of all fees required for any medical examination. 
 
22. Convictions and cautions 
The licensee shall, within 72 hours, disclose to the licensing officer in writing if they or any of their drivers 
are arrested, cautioned, or convicted of any offence (including motoring offences) during the period of this 
licence. A representative must fulfil this obligation if the licensee is detained by the Police. Fixed penalty 
notices must be declared when received not when the DVLA driving licence is updated. 
 
The licensee shall ensure that any licensed driver employed by them in any capacity is made aware that 
they are required to disclose all the information contained in point (16) above to the vehicle licence-holder 
during their period of employment. 

 
23. Change of personal details 
The licensee shall immediately notify the authorised officer in writing of any change in his or her personal 
details. Changes shall include, change of operator, changes of address, name status, phone number, 
mobile number, and email address. 
 
24. Copy of licence and requirements  
Licensees shall at all times when driving the vehicle carry with them a copy of their licence and these 
requirements, and shall make it available for inspection by the hirer, any other passenger, the authorised 
officer or a Police officer upon request 

 
25. Other offences 
The licensee shall be guilty of an offence if he or she: 

Page 66



 

Page 55 of 77 

 

 Wilfully obstructs an authorised officer acting in pursuance of Part II of the 1976 or the Town        
Police Clauses Act 1847; 

 Fails to comply with any requirements made to him or her by the authorised officer; 

 Without reasonable cause fails to give the authorised officer any other assistance or information 
which he may require for the performance of his or her functions. 

 
26. Variation of conditions 
The Council reserves the right to vary, delete or waive any of these conditions. 
 
27. CCTV in vehicles 
The licensee shall ensure that they do not drive a licensed vehicle with unauthorised facilities for recording 
visual or audio sources. All vehicles with an authorised CCTV system shall contain a certificate of 
authorisation. Any proposed CCTV system must satisfy the requirements of the CCTV conditions contained 
in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (available upon request) 
 
28. Right of appeal 
If aggrieved by any of these conditions, the licensee may appeal to a Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of 
the issue of the licence to the licensee. 
 
29. Expiry of licence 
The Licence-holder shall, upon expiry, revocation or suspension of his/her licence, forthwith return to the 
Council the licence and associated driver’s badge issued by the Council. 

 

Page 67



 

Page 56 of 77 

 
  

Appendix 6 

Page 68



 

Page 57 of 77 

Three Rivers District Council Hackney Carriage Byelaws 
Byelaws 
Made under section 68 of the Town and Police Clauses Act 1847, and section 171 of the Public Health Act 
1875, by the Council of Three Rivers District, with respect to hackney carriages in Three Rivers District. 
 
Interpretation 
Throughout these byelaws “the Council” means Three Rivers District Council and “the district” means Three 
Rivers District 
 
1. Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each hackney carriage corresponding 
with the number of its licence, shall be displayed 

(a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the licence granted to him the 
respect of the carriage to be legibly painted of marked on the outside and inside of the carriage 
or on plates affixed thereto. 

(b)  A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall:- 
(i)  not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be concealed from public 

view while the carriage is standing or plying for hire; and  
(ii)  not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such painting, marking or 

plate so defaced that any figure or material particular is illegible. 
 

2. Provisions regulating how hackney carriages are to be furnished or provided 
The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall:- 

(a) Provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may communicate with the driver; 
(b) Cause the roof or covering to be kept water-tight; 
(c) Provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less than one window 

on each side 
(d) Cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered 
(e) Cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering; 
(f) Cause the fitting and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well maintained and in 

every way fit for public service; 
(g) Provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to carry luggage; 
(h) Provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position as to be readily 

available for use; and 
(i) Provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such carriage and a separate means 

of ingress and egress for the driver. 
 

3. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause any taximeter with which the carriage is provided 
to be so constructed, attached and maintained as to comply with the following requirements, that 
is to say: 

(a) The taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag or other device the turning of which will bring the 
machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word “HIRED” to appear on the face of the 
taximeter 

(b) Such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that the 
machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter; 

(c) When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the 
taximeter in clearly legible figures, a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the proprietor or 
driver is entitled to demand and take for hire of the carriage by time as well as for distance in 
pursuance of the tariff fixed by the Council; 

(d)  The word “FARE” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to 
apply to the fare recorded thereon; 

(e) The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all times 
plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage, and for that purpose the letters and 
figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring; and 

(f) The taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with seals or other 
appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by breaking, 
damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliances. 

 
4. Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors and drivers of hackney carriages plying 
within the district in their several employments, and determining whether such drivers shall wear 
any and what badges 
The driver of a hackney carriage provided with a taximeter shall: 
 

Page 69



 

Page 58 of 77 

(a) When standing or plying for hire, keep the key, flag or other device fitted in pursuance of the 
byelaw, in that behalf locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face of the 
taximeter; 

(b) Before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance and time, bring the machinery 
of the taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag or other device so that the word “HIRED” 
is legible on the face of the taximeter and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action until the 
termination of the hiring; and  

(c) Cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a hiring 
which is between half-an-hour after sunset and half-an-hour before sunrise, and also at any other 
time at request of the hirer. 

 
5. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper 
with any taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals 
affixed thereto. 
The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not actually hired:- 

 
(a) Proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands appointed by the Council; 
(b) If a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of carriages authorised to 

occupy it, proceed to another stand; 
(c) On arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages authorised to occupy 

it, station the carriage immediately behind the carriage or carriages on the stand and so as to face 
in the same direction; and 

(d) From time to time, when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or moved forward 
cause his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place previously occupied by the carriage 
driven off or moved forward. 

 
6. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire, shall not make use of the 
services of any other person for the purpose of importuning any person to hire such carriage. 

 
7. The driver of a hackney carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and shall take all reasonable 
precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering or alighting from the vehicle. 

 
8. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has been hired to be in attendance with 
the carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, 
punctually attend with such carriage at such appointed time and place.  

 
9. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in such carriage 
any greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on the plate affixed to the outside of 
the carriage. 

 
10. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a hackney carriage he or she 
shall, when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear that badge in such a position and manner as 
to be plainly visible. 

 
11. The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when requested by any 
person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage: 

(a) Convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
(b) Afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; and  
(c) Afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any building, station or 

place at which he may take up or set down such person. 
 

12. Provisions fixing the rates or fares to be paid for hackney carriages within the district and 
securing the due publication of such fares 
The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and take for the hire of the 
carriage the rate or fare prescribed by the Council, the rate or fare being calculated by the combination of 
distance and time unless the hired express at the commencement of the hiring his desire to engage by 
time. 
 

Provided always that, where a hackney carriage furnished with a taximeter shall be hired by distance and 
time, the proprietor or driver shall not be entitled to demand or take a fare greater than that recorded on the 
taximeter, save for any extra charges authorised by the Council which it may not be possible to record on 
the face of the taximeter. 

 

Page 70



 

Page 59 of 77 

(a)  The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause a statement of the fares fixed by Council       
resolution to be exhibited inside the carriage, in clearly distinguishable letters and figures. 

(b)  The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, bearing a statement of fares in accordance with 
this byelaw, shall not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer the letter of figures in the statement to 
be concealed or rendered illegible at any time while the carriage is plying or being sued for hire. 

 
13. Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property accidentally left in Hackney 
carriages, and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof 
The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall immediately after the termination of any hiring or as 
soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the carriage for any property which may have been 
accidentally left therein 
 
The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left therein by any person 
who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found or handed in to him/her, carry it as soon as possible, 
and in any event within 24 hours, if not sooner claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to Watford Police 
Station, Shady Lane, Watford Herts WD17 1DD and leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the 
office, on his/her giving a receipt for it. 
 
14. Penalties 
Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on summary of conviction to a 
fine not exceeding level 2 on the Standard Scale and in the case of a continuing offence to a further fine 
not exceeding two pounds for each day during which the offence continues after conviction therefor. 
 
15. Repeal of Byelaws 
The byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by Three Rivers District Council on the 7 th 
December 1976 and which were confirmed by the Secretary of State at the Home Office and came into 
force on the 12th day of November 1976, are hereby repealed. 
 
The byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by Three Rivers District Council on the 16 th 

day of December 1977 substituting byelaw 16, and which were confirmed by the Secretary of State at the 
Home Office and came into force on the 10th day of February 1978, are hereby repealed. 
  

Page 71



 

Page 60 of 77 

Conditions relating to Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
 

Town Police Clauses Act 1847   (“the 1847 Act”) 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 

 
1. General 
Any requirement of legislation which affects the operations being carried out under the terms of this licence 
shall be regarded as if they are conditions of the hackney carriage Vehicle Licence. 
 

 The engine capacity of the vehicle must be no less than 1600cc (nominal). 
 

 The vehicle will be a London-type Taxi or an approved Euro Cab. 
 

 The vehicle shall have at least four road wheels and a spare wheel or a canister of tyre inflator/repair 
kept on the vehicle 

 

 All seats, front and rear and disabled must be fitted with seat belts and maintained in good order on 
all passenger seats (except as the law otherwise provides in relation to London-type taxis). 

 

 The vehicle should contain portable 1litre foam or dry powder 1Kg capacity fire extinguisher. The 
extinguisher must conform to BS EN3 1996 Standard and should be mounted in a convenient position 
in the vehicle. The extinguisher shall be marked with the licence number. 

 

 A First Aid Kit complying with the Health and Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 must be carried in 
the vehicle. The kit shall be marked with the vehicle licence number 

 

 The vehicle must be maintained to a high standard of appearance to the complete satisfaction of the 
Council, throughout the term of the vehicle licence and be kept in the condition stated in the 
Standards for conditions of appearance of a hackney carriage vehicle. 

 

 No alteration or change of in specification, design, condition or appearance of the vehicle shall be 
made without the approval of the Council at any time while the Licence is in force. 

 
2. Hackney carriage occupancy plate 
The vehicle shall have a hackney carriage occupancy plate (which is not the same as the hackney carriage 
vehicle licence disc) owned by the Council, but provided at the licensee’s expense, which shall display the 
following: 

 the number of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 

 the maximum number of passengers that the vehicle can carry; 

 the expiry date of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 

 the words “Three Rivers District Council hackney carriage”; 

 the vehicle registration number of the hackney carriage it is assigned to, and 

 any other information that the Council considers necessary. 
 
The plate shall be securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle using a purposely made bracket at all times 
provided free of charge on issue and for a fee at any other time). If this is not suitable or practicable, the 
plate shall be securely and permanently fixed to the rear of the vehicle, on or above the bumper by the use 
of screws or bolts, and be clearly visible. A magnet will not be considered securely fixed for the purposes 
of this condition. The licensee shall ensure the plate is kept clean and is not wilfully or negligently concealed 
from public view whilst the vehicle is licensed. 

 
The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle at all times throughout the period of licence, has this plate 
exhibited in the manner described above. 

 
In the event of revocation or suspension and on the service of a notice under section 58, of ‘the 1976 Act’ 
or upon expiry of the licence, the licensee shall return the said plate to the Council’s licensing office within 
seven days. 
 
The plate can be removed by the licensing officer or Police officer for reasons of gathering evidence under 
the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 and will be returned when a photocopy of the plate is made.  
 
 
 

Appendix 7 

Page 72



 

Page 61 of 77 

3. Hackney Carriage Internal Plate 
The vehicle shall for identification purposes be required to have a hackney carriage internal plate issued 
by the Council. The hackney carriage internal plate shall display: 
 

 the number of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 

 the maximum number of passengers that the vehicle can carry; 

 the expiry date of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 

 the words “Three Rivers District Council Hackney Carriage”; 

 the vehicle registration number of the hackney carriage it is assigned to, and 

 any other information that the Council considers necessary. 
 

 The hackney carriage internal plate shall be displayed in the front of the vehicle in such a position that 
it shall be clearly visible from both the inside and the outside of the vehicle. The licensee shall ensure 
that it is not wilfully or negligently concealed from public view. 

 

 The licensee shall ensure that no person uses or permits the use of the vehicle unless the hackney 
carriage internal plate issued is exhibited in the manner described under these conditions. 

 

 In the event of revocation or suspension and on the service of a notice under sections 58, 60 or 68 of 
‘the 1976 Act’ or upon expiry of the licence, the Licensee shall return the said disc to the Council’s 
licensing officer within seven days. 

 
4. Taximeter 
All hackney carriage vehicles shall be fitted with a taximeter installed by an authorised taximeter company 
and so constructed, attached, and maintained as to comply with the following requirements: 

 

 All new hackney carriage vehicles shall require a calendar-controlled tariff taximeter; 
 

 The taximeter shall be fitted with a key flag or other device, the turning of which will bring the machinery 
of the taximeter into action and cause the word “hired” to appear on the face of the meter; 

 

 Such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position indicating that the 
machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter; 

 

 When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the taximeter 
in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the licensee or driver is entitled to 
demand and take for hire of the vehicle by distance in pursuance of the table of fares made by the 
Council in that behalf; 

 

 The word “fare” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to apply to the 
fare recorded thereon; 

 

 The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all times plainly 
visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle, and for that purpose the letters and figures shall 
be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring; 

 

 The taximeter shall be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a hiring which is during the 
hours of darkness as defined for the purposes of the Road Traffic Act 972, and also at the request of 
the hirer; 

 

 The taximeter shall have connected thereto a roof sign bearing the words “TAXI” in accordance with 
paragraph 12 below and such sign shall be plainly visible and legible to persons wishing to hire the 
vehicle and for that purpose it shall be capable of being suitably illuminated when the vehicle is plying 
or standing for hire; 

 

 The taximeter and all its fittings shall be so affixed to the vehicle with seals or other appliances that it 
shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by breaking, damaging or 
permanently displacing the seals or other appliances; 

 

 When the vehicle is standing or plying for hire or returning from another district the key flag or other 
device fitted with the taximeter shall be locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face 
of the taximeter; 

 

Page 73



 

Page 62 of 77 

 Before beginning a journey for which a fare is to be charged for distance and time, the taximeter should 
be brought into action so that the word “HIRED” is legible on the face of the taximeter and the taximeter 
should be kept on until the hiring has terminated; 

 

 The Licensee shall ensure that the taximeter and its fittings will be sealed by the installer, and are not 
tampered with; 

 

 The taximeter shall be calibrated and sealed by the taximeter company at first  installation and then 
within 1 month of any change to the Table of Fares, or when directed by the Head of Regulatory 
Services, any authorised officer or Police officer to submit to calibration and testing of the Taximeter 
by a Taximeter  installer. A calibration certificate stating that the taximeter is calendar controlled and 
conforms to the Three Rivers District Council Table of Fares would be required in each of the above 
cases. 

 
5. Signs etc. 
No sign, notice, advertisement, plate, mark, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices shall be used, if 
it contains anything of a religious or political nature or advertises tobacco, alcohol, a sex shop or a sex 
establishment, or contains any matter likely to cause offence. Approval on the type and extent of the 
advertising should be sought from the relevant officer 
 
6. Roof signs 
The minimum sign dimensions for roof signs are 26cm wide 13cm deep and 11cm high, there are no 
maximum measurements. The word taxi only in black capital letters is to be clearly legible on the front and 
rear side of the roof sign. The front of the sign must be white and the back red or white. 
 
The sign must be illuminated when plying or available for hire during the hours of darkness and must be 
linked to the taximeter so that when a fare is being carried, the roof sign is not illuminated. 
 
No roof signs other than that prescribed in this condition will be permitted. 
 
7. Passengers 
The licensee shall not:- 

 Convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed 
in the licence for the vehicle 

 Without the consent of the hirer convey or permit to be conveyed any other person in the vehicle 

 Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 

 Any child below the age of three years 

 More than one person above the age of three years 

 An infant in arms 
 
The licensee shall ensure that all passengers between three and twelve years of age or 135cm in height 
wear an appropriate child restraint to travel in the front of a vehicle. If not available, these passengers must 
use an adult seat belt in the rear of the vehicle 
 
8. Alteration of vehicle 
No alterations in the specification, design or appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the written 
approval of the licensing officer while the licence is in force. 
 
9. Records of vehicle use 
Where more than one licensed driver has use of the hackney carriage, the licensee shall ensure that a 
record of usage is kept for the vehicle. This record shall include the name of the driver, the date of usage, 
and the start and end times of the individual’s usage. It shall be kept inside the vehicle at all times, and 
made available to an authorised officer upon request. 
 
10. Transfer of vehicle 
If the licensee wishes to transfers his/her interest in the vehicle to a person they shall within 7 working days 
inform the Council, specifying the name and address of the person to whom the vehicle is being transferred. 
 
The Council reserves the right to refuse to grant a licence to any person to whom a hackney carriage vehicle 
is transferred 
 
Under no circumstances may the new owner use the vehicle as a licensed vehicle until the licence has 
been transferred to that person and all documentation and any necessary fees paid. 
 

Page 74



 

Page 63 of 77 

11. Accidents and damage to the vehicle 
The licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the vehicle 
within 72 hours of the accident using the form issued by the Council.  In the interests of public safety the 
licensee of any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to submit a compliance certificate to the 
Council.  
 
The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for hire until it has been inspected and approved by 
the authorised officer or a new compliance certificate has been obtained where appropriate as considered 
by the Council on receipt of the reported details of the incident. 
 
12. Insurance and road fund licence 
All hackney carriage vehicles must be licensed and insured for public hire use.  The insurance must include 
legal liability for both passengers and luggage, and proof of insurance must be submitted with each 
application.  If the insurance expires during the term of the licence, a new cover note or certificate of 
insurance must be produced to the licensing team. 
 
A certificate of insurance must be provided to the authorised officer within 7 days of any such request. 
 
13. Lost property 
The Licensee shall ensure that, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 
thereafter, the vehicle is searched thoroughly for any property which may have been accidentally left 
therein. 
 
The licensee shall ensure that any property accidentally left, or found or handed to him in the vehicle will 
be, taken to a police station within 48 hours of it being found. 
 
14. Table of fares 
The licensee shall ensure a copy of the tables of fares as determined by the Council to be fixed inside the 
vehicle. The table of fares should be clearly readable by the passenger. 
 
15. Change of address and personal details 
The licensee shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address during the period of the licence 
within 7 days of such change-taking place. This shall include, name, address, telephone/mobile numbers 
and e-mail address. 
 
16. Proprietor to hold driver’s licence 
Before the licensee permits or employs another person to drive the vehicle as a hackney carriage, he shall, 
have retained a copy of the hackney carriage driver’s licence. This shall be retained until such time as the 
driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle. On cessation of service or employment the 
licensee shall return the hackney carriage driver’s licence to the driver. 
 
The licensee/proprietor must also ensure the driver holds a current DVLA driving licence in respect of the 
number of passengers authorised on the vehicle licence/plate. 
 
17. Copy of vehicle licence conditions 
The licensee shall ensure a copy of the vehicle licence conditions are maintained in the vehicle and makes 
them available for inspection by any authorised officer, the hirer or any passenger on request. 
 
18. Validity inspections 
Any authorised officer of the council or a Police constable shall have power at all reasonable times, to 
inspect and test for the purpose of ascertaining its fitness any hackney carriage or any taximeter fixed to 
such vehicle and to serve notice to require further inspection and testing if not so satisfied. 
 
19. Convictions and cautions 
The licensee shall, within 72 hours, disclose to the licensing officer in writing if they or any of their drivers 
are arrested, cautioned, or convicted of any offence (including motoring offences) during the period of this 
licence. A representative must fulfil this obligation if the licensee is detained by the police. Fixed penalty 
notices must be declared when received not when the DVLA driving licence is updated. 
 
The licensee shall ensure that any licensed driver employed by them in any capacity is made aware that 
they are required to disclose all the information contained in point (16) above to the vehicle licence-holder 
during their period of employment. 
 
If the licensee is a company or partnership section (16) applies equally to all directors or partners 

Page 75



 

Page 64 of 77 

 
The licensee shall make his or her DVLA driving licence available for inspection by an authorised officer of 
the Council or a police officer upon request. 

 
20. Taxi ranks and stands 
Hackney carriages will operate from authorised ranks or stands, including “shared” stands or ply the 
carriageway for hire or can be pre-booked.  
 
21. Giving of information 
Every proprietor shall within 7 days furnish on request the details, of any person who was authorised to 
drive the vehicle, to an authorised officer or to a Police officer. The details would include the name and 
address of the person. 
 
22. Assistance dogs 
All hackney carriage vehicle drivers are required to comply with Section 37 of the Disability Discrimination 
Act 1995 and Equality Act (2010) to carry assistance dogs assisting disabled persons and to do so without 
charge.  Holders of exemption certificates must display the certificate in a prominent position. 
 
It is an offence to refuse to carry a guide or assistance dog. 
 
23. Smoking 
It is prohibited for anyone (driver or passenger) to smoke within the vehicle at any time. Appropriate signage 
must be displayed inside the vehicle in accordance with the Health Act 2006. An international no-smoking 
symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be displayed in the front passenger window or on the dashboard, 
and in the rear passenger window. The signs must be clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle. 
 
24. CCTV in vehicles 
The licensee shall ensure that their licensed vehicle does not contain any facilities to record visual or audio 
sources without first obtaining authorisation from the Council. Any proposed CCTV system must satisfy the 
requirements of the CCTV conditions contained in the hackney carriage and private hire licensing policy.  
 
25. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by any conditions specified in this licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 
21 days of the decision being made. 
 
26. Standards for conditions of appearance of a hackney carriage vehicle 
The vehicle must comply with the following: 
 

(a) External advertising: Not more than two external advertisements (excluding the roof signs) may 
be carried on any vehicle, confined to the side panels and must comply with the Advertising 
Standards Authority code of advertising. 

 Although minor blemishes should not constitute a failure, the following general criteria should be 
followed: 

(b) Rust: Any vehicle presented should be free from any significant areas of visible rusting and any 
vehicle with visible rust patches should be failed. 

(c) Dents: Any vehicle with dents on one or more panels where such dents are more than 5cm in 
diameter/length should be failed. 

(d) Scratches: Any vehicle with un-repaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more panels, 
of 5cm in length, or a single scratch of more than 20cms in length, should be failed. 

(e) Paintwork: All panels on all vehicles shall be painted in manufacturer’s colour; panels with 
unmatched colours or in primer should be deemed as failures. 

(f) Seats: In conventional vehicles where it is intended that the licence be for four passengers, the 
rear seat must be at least 1220mm (48 inches) in width. All seats shall have a minimum of 410mm 
(16 inches) per person and in respect of seating comply with the Road Vehicle (Registration and 
Licensing) Regulations 2002.  All seats, including the driver’s, must be free from repaired cuts, 
tears or cigarette burns, except of a very minor nature. Any repairs must have been carried out in 
a professional and neat manner. All seats must be kept clean and tidy and free from all extraneous 
matter. 

(g) Carpets/floor covering: all carpets and floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, 
staining and soiling. 

(h) Headlining and other trim: All interior trim, including headlining shall be clean, complete, 
properly fitted and free from cuts, tears or soiling. 

Page 76



 

Page 65 of 77 

(i) Boot/luggage compartment: This should be empty, except for spare wheel, essential tools and 
first aid kit, (to comply with Health and Safety and First Aid Regulations. The compartment should 
be clean and any covering free from major cuts, tears or other damage or staining. 

(j) Interior: The interior must be kept clean, tidy and free of any water penetration or litter or other 
rubbish. 

(k) Vehicle emissions: The vehicle must comply with the Motor Vehicle (Emission Test) 
Regulations. 

(l) All glazing: All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any vehicle with a reading lower than 
the following will not be licensed. Front Windscreen 75%, Front Side Windows 70%, All other 
Windows 30%. The lower the number, the darker the tint. 

(m) Colour: All approved vehicles must be painted their original colour. 
(n) Mirrors: Either two wing mirrors or two door mirrors must be fitted, one on each side of the 

vehicle, so as to afford the driver adequate vision to the rear. Additional mirrors may be fitted, but 
not in such a position s to obstruct the driver’s clear view of the two mirrors required by this 
condition. 

 
27. Fees 
The fees payable for Licences and other charges described in these conditions will be in accordance with 
the scale approved by the Council from time to time. 
 
28. Byelaws 
The vehicle will also be subject to compliance with such Byelaws relating to hackney carriages that are in 
force within the Three Rivers District. 
  

Page 77



 

Page 66 of 77 

Conditions relating to Private Hire Vehicles 
  

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
Any requirement of legislation, which affect the operations being carried out under the terms of this licence, 
shall be regarded as if they are conditions of the Private Hire Vehicle Licence. 
 

 The vehicle shall have at least four road wheels and a spare wheel or a canister of tyre inflator/repair 
kept on the vehicle 

 

 The vehicle must be maintained throughout the term of the vehicle licence, to a high standard of 
appearance to the complete satisfaction of the Council, and kept in the condition stated in the 
Standards for conditions of appearance of a Private Hire vehicle. 

 

 All seats, front and rear must be fitted with seat belts. 
 

 The Council’s licensing officer may direct the vehicle to be inspected in accordance with the 
Certificate of Compliance at a specific testing station. 

 

 The vehicle should contain a portable dry powder 1Kg capacity fire extinguisher. The extinguisher 
must conform to BS EN3 1996 Standard, and should be mounted in a convenient position in the 
vehicle. The extinguisher shall be marked with the Private Hire vehicle licence number. 

 

 A first aid kit complying with the Health and Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 conforming to BS 
8599-2 should be carried in the vehicle. The kit is to be marked with the private hire vehicle licence 
number. 

 

 The licence-holder shall provide and maintain a suitable replacement bulb kit as to conform to the 
vehicle manufacturer’s specifications. 

 
1. Private Hire Occupancy Plate 
1.1 The vehicle shall have an occupancy plate, (which is not the same as the Private Hire Vehicle interior 

plate), owned by the Council, but provided at the Licensee’s expense, which shall display the following: 

 the number of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 

 the maximum number of passengers that the vehicle can carry; 

 the expiry date of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 

 the words “Three Rivers District Council Private Hire”; 

 the vehicle registration number of the Private Hire it is assigned to, and 

 any other information that the Council considers necessary. 
 

1.2 The plate shall be securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle using a purposely made bracket at all times 
provided free of charge on issue and for a fee at any other time). If this is not suitable or practicable, 
the plate shall be securely and permanently fixed to the rear of the vehicle, on or above the bumper 
by the use of screws or bolts, and be clearly visible. A magnet will not be considered securely fixed for 
the purposes of this condition. The Licensee shall ensure the plate is kept clean and is not wilfully or 
negligently concealed from public view whilst the vehicle is licensed. 

 

 The Licensee shall ensure that the vehicle at all times throughout the period of licence has this 
plate exhibited in the manner described above. 

 In the event of revocation and on the service of a notice under section 58 of the 1976 Act or 
upon expiry of the licence, the licensee shall return the said plate to the council’s licensing officer 
within seven days. 

 The plate can be removed by the licensing officer or Police officer for reasons of gathering 
evidence under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 and will be returned when a 
photocopy of the plate is made.  

 
2. Private Hire Internal Plate  
The vehicle shall for identification purposes be required to have a private hire internal plate issued by the 
Council.   
 
2.1 The private hire internal plate shall display: 

 the number of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 

 the maximum number of passengers that the vehicle can carry; 

Appendix 8 

Page 78



 

Page 67 of 77 

 the expiry date of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 

 the words “Three Rivers District Council Private Hire”; 

 the vehicle registration number of the Private Hire it is assigned to, and 

 any other information that the Council considers necessary. 
 

2.2  The private hire internal plate shall be displayed in the front of the vehicle in such a position that it shall 
be clearly visible from both the inside and the outside of the vehicle. The licensee shall ensure that it 
is not wilfully or negligently concealed from public view.  

 
2.3  The licensee shall ensure that no person uses or permits the use of the vehicle unless the Private Hire 

internal plate issued is exhibited in the manner described under these conditions. 
 
2.4  In the event of revocation or suspension and on the service of a notice under sections 58, 60 or 68 of 

‘the 1976 Act’ or upon expiry of the licence, the Licensee shall return the said disc to the Council’s 
licensing officer within seven days. 

 
3. Signs etc.  
3.1  No sign, notice, advertisement, plate, mark, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices shall be 

used, if it contains anything of a religious or political nature or advertises tobacco, alcohol, a sex or a 
sex establishment, or contains any matter likely to cause offence. Approval on the type and extent of 
the advertising should be sought from the licensing officer. 

 
3.2  No signs or advertising containing the word “taxi” will be permitted on any Private Hire vehicle.  
 
3.3  A roof sign is not permitted. 
 
4. Private Hire Door Stickers Signs 
4.1  As directed by the Council, the proprietor shall cause to be a fixed and maintained to the exterior of 

the vehicle a prescribed door sticker bearing the word “Private Hire – Advance Bookings Only” on the 
rear driver and passenger doors. The sign shall also include the vehicle plate number and the Three 
Rivers Logo on a green background.  

 
5. Dispensation/Exemption 
5.1  Vehicles issued with a dispensation certificate in line with the Three Rivers hackney carriage and 

private hire policy are exempt from displaying a vehicle occupancy plate and door stickers, but are still 
required to display the internal licence plate.  

 
5.2  Where the use of vehicles changes during the period that the vehicle is licensed, the Licensing team 

must be informed so dispensation can be removed. If dispensation is removed, the exemptions that 
this provided will no longer relate to that vehicle. 

 
6. Passengers 
6.1 The licensee shall not:- 

 

 Convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed 
in the licence for the vehicle 

 Without the consent of the hirer convey or permit to be conveyed any other person in the vehicle 

 Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 

 Any child below the age of three years 

 More than one person above the age of three years 

 An infant in arms. 
 

6.2  The licensee shall ensure that all passengers between three and twelve years of age or 135cm in 
height wear an appropriate child restraint to travel in the front of a vehicle. If not available, these 
passengers must use an adult seat belt in the rear of the vehicle. 

 
7. Alteration of vehicle 
7.1  No alterations in the specification, design or appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the 

written approval of the licensing officer. 
 
8. Transfer of the vehicle 
8.1  If the licensee wishes to transfers his/her interest in the vehicle to a person he or she shall within 14 

days submit the relevant application to the licensing team, specifying the name and address of the 
person to whom the vehicle is being transferred.  

Page 79



 

Page 68 of 77 

 
8.2  The Council reserves the right to refuse to grant a licence to any person to whom a private hire vehicle 

is transferred. 
 

9. Accidents and vehicle damage 
9.1  The Licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the 

vehicle within 72 hours of the accident in accordance with Section 50(3) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 which MUST be in writing by way of TRDC’s accident form.  

 
In the interests of public safety, the licensee of any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to 
submit a compliance certificate to the Council. The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used 
for hire until it has been inspected and approved by the authorised officer. 

 
9.2  The licensee shall report any damage materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of 

the vehicle to the authorised officer within 72 hours of the vehicle being damaged.  Should a Section 
60 or 68 notice be issued the licensee shall ensure that no further bookings are undertaken until the 
vehicle has passed a compliance test and the certificate issued has been provided to the Council. 

 
10. Insurance  
10.1 All private hire vehicles must be licensed and insured for private hire use.  Such insurance must be 

comprehensive, continuous and include full legal liability for passengers and luggage. Proof of 
insurance must be submitted with each application for a licence and, where it expires during the term 
of the licence, a new certificate or cover note must be supplied to the Licensing team. 

 
10.2 If a vehicle is temporarily removed from use as a Private Hire Vehicle, the licensee, on notification 

must return the internal and external plates to the licensing Officer. The vehicle can be temporarily 
removed from the public highway and its use as a private hire vehicle, thus removing the need to 
insure and document the vehicle for that period. The vehicle must not be used for private use during 
this time. 

 
10.3 A certificate of insurance must be provided to the relevant officer within 7 working days of any such 

request. 
 
11. Lost property 
11.1 The licensee shall ensure that, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 

thereafter, the vehicle is searched thoroughly for any property which may have been accidentally left 
therein. 

 
11.2 The licensee shall ensure that any property accidentally left, or found or handed to him or her in the 

vehicle will be, taken to a police station within 48 hours of it being found. 
 
12. Change of address and personal details 
12.1 The licensee shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address during the period of the 

licence within 7 days of such change-taking place. This shall include, name, address, telephone/mobile 
numbers and email address. 

  
The owner of the private hire vehicle must also provide a new V5 registration document and insurance 
documents showing the new address details. 

 
13. Proprietor to hold driver’s licence 
13.1 Before the licensee permits or employs another person to drive the vehicle as a private hire, he shall, 

have retained a copy of the drivers licence. This shall be retained until such time as the driver ceases 
to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle. On cessation of service or employment the licensee 
shall return the drivers licence to the driver. 

 
13.2 The licensee/ proprietor must also ensure the driver holds a current driving licence in respect of the 

number of passengers authorised on the vehicle licence/plate. 
 
14. Copy of vehicle licence conditions 
14.1 The licensee shall ensure a copy of the vehicle licence conditions are maintained in the vehicle and 

makes them available for inspection by any authorised officer, the hirer or any passenger on request. 
 
  

Page 80



 

Page 69 of 77 

15. Validity inspections 
15.1 Any authorised officer of the Council or a police constable shall have power at all reasonable times to 

inspect and test for the purpose of ascertaining its fitness any private hire vehicle and to serve notice 
to require further inspection and testing if not so satisfied. 

 
16. Notification of Convictions, Cautions and Arrest 
16.1The licensee shall immediately (within 72 hours) disclose to the licensing officer in writing if they or any 

of their drivers are arrested, cautioned, or convicted of any offence (including motoring offences) during 
the period of this licence. A representative must fulfil this obligation if the licensee is detained by the 
Police. Fixed penalty notices must be declared when received not when the DVLA driving licence is 
updated. 

 
16.2 The licensee shall ensure that any licensed driver employed by them in any capacity is made aware 

that they are required to disclose all the information contained in point (i) above to the vehicle licence 
holder during their period of employment. 

 
16.3 If the licensee is a company or partnership section (i) applies equally to all directors or partners 

 
16.4 The licensee shall make his or her DVLA driving licence available for inspection by the operator, the 

authorised officer or a police officer upon request. 
 
17. Residential qualification 
17.1 The operator of any Private Hire Vehicle must reside or maintain an office within the area of the Three 

Rivers District Council for a period of the licence. 
 

18. Private Hire Vehicles Must Not Operate From Taxi Ranks and Stands 
18.1 Private hire vehicles must not operate from hackney carriage ranks or stands or ply the carriageway 

for hire. All fares must be pre-booked. 
  
18.2 Private hire vehicles must not wait or park on the public highway within 75 metres of an authorised 

rank.  
 
19. Giving of information 
19.1 Every proprietor shall within 7 days furnish on request the details, of any person who was authorised 

to drive the private hire vehicle, to an authorised officer or to a police officer. The details would include 
the name and address of the person. 

 
20. Assistance dogs 
20.1 All hackney and private hire vehicle drivers are required to comply with Section 37 of the Disability 

Discrimination Act 1995 and Equality Act (2010) requiring them to carry assistance dogs assisting 
disabled persons and to do so without charge.  Holders of exemption certificates must display the 
certificate in a prominent position. 

 
20.2 It is an offence to refuse to carry a guide or assistance dog. 
 
21. Smoking 
21.1 It is prohibited for anyone (driver or passenger) to smoke within the vehicle at any time. Appropriate 

signage must be displayed inside the vehicle in accordance with the Health Act 2006.  
 
21.2 The Council requires that an international no-smoking symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be 

displayed in the front passenger window or on the dashboard, and in the rear passenger window. The 
signs must be clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle. 

 
23. CCTV in vehicles 
23.1 The licensee shall ensure that their licensed vehicle does not contain any facilities to record visual or 
audio sources without first obtaining authorisation from the Council. Any proposed CCTV system must 
satisfy the requirements of the CCTV conditions contained in the hackney carriage and private hire licensing 
Policy. 
  

Page 81



 

Page 70 of 77 

Standards for Conditions of Appearance of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle 
 
1. Although minor blemishes should not constitute a failure, the following general criteria should be followed. 
The vehicle must comply with the following:- 
 

(a)  Rust: Any vehicle presented should be free from any significant areas of visible rusting. Any 
vehicle with visible rust patches should be failed. 

 
(b)  Dents: Any vehicle with dents on one or more panels where such dents are more than 5 cm in 

diameter/length should be failed. 
 
(c)  Scratches: Any vehicle with un-repaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more panels, 

of 5 cm in length, or a single scratch of more than 20cms in length, should be failed. 
 
(d)   Paintwork: All panels on all vehicles shall be painted in manufacturer’s colour; panels with 

unmatched colours or in primer should be deemed as failures. 
 
(e)   Seats: In conventional vehicles where it is intended that the licence be for four passengers, the 

rear seat must be at least 1220mm (48 inches) in width.  All seats shall have a minimum of 410mm 
(16 inches) per person and in respect of seating comply with the Road Vehicles (Registration and 
Licensing) Regulations 2002.  All seats, including the driver’s must be free from repaired cuts, 
tears or cigarette burns, except of a very minor nature. Any repairs must have been carried out in 
a professional and neat manner.  All seats must be kept clean and tidy and free from all 
extraneous matter. 

 
(f)  Carpets/floor covering: All carpets and floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, 

tears, staining and soiling 
 
(g)  Headlining and other trim: All interior trim, including headlining shall be clean, complete, 

properly fitted and free from cuts, tears or soiling. 
 
(h)  Boot/luggage compartment: This should be empty, except for spare wheel, essential tools and 

first aid kit, (to comply with Health and Safety and First Aid Regulations). The compartment should 
be clean and any covering free from major cuts, tears or other damage or staining. 

 
(i)  Interior: The interior must be kept clean, tidy and free of any water penetration or litter or other 

rubbish. 
 
(J)   Vehicle emissions: The vehicle must comply with the Motor Vehicle (Emission Test)    

Regulations. 
 
(k)  Glazing: All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any vehicle with a reading lower than the 

following will not be licensed. Front windscreen 75, front side windows 70, all other windows 30. 
The lower the number the darker the tint. Exceptions may be made for limousines 

 
2. Appeals procedure 
2.1 Any person aggrieved by any conditions specified in this licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 

within 21 days of the decision being made. 
 
  

Appendix 9 

Page 82



 

Page 71 of 77 

Non-standard private hire vehicle conditions for stretched limousine, and novelty vehicles 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
1. General 
1.1. A limousine, or other novelty vehicle capable of carrying no more than 8 passengers for hire or reward 

is a private hire vehicle, and all other interpretations, policies and conditions relevant to licensed private 
hire vehicles also apply, except where described below:- 

 
1.2. For the purposes of this policy and licence conditions, a stretched limousine is defined as a luxurious 

vehicle that has been modified (stretched) to extend the length of the vehicle. The stretch shall not 
exceed 120 inches (measured between the rear edge of the front door and the front edge of the rear 
door).  The vehicle shall be capable of carrying up to, but not exceeding eight seated passengers.  
Each passenger seating area will be at least 400mm wide. 

 
1.3. For the purposes of this policy, a novelty vehicle shall be defined as follows:- 
 

 a)  any vehicle that has been specially constructed, adapted or converted by a low volume 
specialist vehicle manufacturer or modifier; 

 
 b)  any vehicle that has been specially modified from its original design specification; 
 
 c)  that is capable of carrying up to but not exceeding 8 passengers; 
 
 d)  vehicles intended for the carriage of fare-paying passengers that, prior to the introduction 

of this policy/conditions, would not be licensed by the authority as a private hire vehicle 
because they did not comply with one or more of the standard conditions relating to private 
hire vehicles 

 
 e)  any vehicle that, in the opinion of the licensing officer, because of its specialist 

design/styling or origin or age is required to be classed as a Novelty Vehicle. 
 
2. Age of vehicle 
2.1  Stretch limousines and other novelty vehicles are not subject to an age limit and will be licensed 

provided the vehicle presented meets all of the Council’s other criteria in terms of appearance and 
maintenance.   

  
3. Licence plates 
3.1. The vehicle licence plate must be kept in the boot of the vehicle at all times whilst the vehicle is licensed 

as a private hire vehicle.  The internal plate must be displayed in the front windscreen at all times so 
that the details are clearly visible. 

 
4. Driver 
4.1. Only a licensed private hire driver is permitted to drive the vehicle whilst it is licensed. The driver must 

ensure that they wear or clearly display their Council-issued identity badge in a prominent position at 
all times whilst working or driving the vehicle. 

 
4.2. The driver shall at all times be clean and respectable in their dress and behave in a civil and orderly 

manner. 
 
5. Signs etc. 
5.1. No sign, notice, advertisement or emblems shall be used or displayed on, in or from the vehicle other 

than those legally required, those contained within these conditions, or any authorised company 
details.   

 
5.2 Approval of the type of advertising should be sought from the Licensing team and written authorisation 

must be obtained prior to use.  No signs or advertising containing the word “taxi” or “cab” will be 
permitted on any private hire vehicle. 

 
6. Application Procedure 
6.1 In relation to stretch limousines and novelty vehicles the following must be provided on application (this 

is in addition to the requirements for a standard Private Hire vehicle): 
 

a)  Single vehicle approval certificate 

Appendix 10 

Page 83



 

Page 72 of 77 

b)  Documentation to confirm the overall weight of the vehicle 
c)  The vehicle identification number (VIN) plate must display ‘1L1’ to confirm that the conversion 

has been completed by an authorised dealer. This will be confirmed by inspection prior to any 
licence being issued. 

d)  Completed importation document (where applicable) 
e)  V5 vehicle registration 

 
 The licence shall remain in force for one year. 

 
7. Passengers and passenger safety 

1. The proprietor shall not permit the limousine/novelty vehicle to be used to carry a greater number of 
passengers than the number prescribed in the licence.   

2. Passengers will not be carried in the front of the vehicle. 
3. All passengers must remain seated at all times when the vehicle is in motion. 
4. The proprietor of the vehicle must: 

i)  Provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with the driver; 
ii)  Ensure that the interior of the vehicle is kept wind and watertight. 
iii)  Ensure that the seats in the passenger compartment are kept properly cushioned and covered; 
iv)  Ensure that the floor in the passenger compartment is provided with a proper carpet, mat or 

other suitable covering; 
v)  Provide at least two doors for use of persons conveyed in limousine/novelty vehicle and a 

separate means of ingress and egress for the driver; 
vi)  Ensure that the interior and exterior of the limousine/novelty vehicle is kept in a clean condition; 
vii)  Ensure that seatbelts are fitted to all forward and rear-facing seats and, in accordance with 

Construction and Use Regulations, where seat belts are fitted they must be worn by 
passengers at all times when the vehicle is in motion; 

viii)  Ensure that no seat is required to be moved to allow any passenger to enter or exit the vehicle; 
ix)  Ensure that an approved first aid kit will be carried in the vehicle at all times;  
x)  Report to the Council any alteration in the design of the vehicle, whether to the machinery or 

to the body. The Council may require the proprietor to submit the vehicle for further 
examination. 

 
8. Interior lighting 
8.1 There shall be maintained in the vehicle adequate internal lighting to enable passengers to enter and 

leave the vehicle with safety. 
 
9. Maximum stretch 
9.1 The maximum length of a limousine “stretch” shall not exceed 120 inches [3048 millimetres]. 
 
10. Left and right hand drive vehicles 
10.1 Both left- and right-hand drive vehicles will be considered for licensing as private hire vehicles. 
 
11. Tyres and road wheels 
11.1 The vehicle shall be equipped with a minimum of 4 road wheels and 1 full-sized spare wheel. The 

tyres shall be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer and not more than 10 years old. 
 Vehicles with a 'space-saving' wheel are to comply with the manufacturer's specifications as to use. 

When so used, the vehicle must not be used for plying for hire, or private hire. Any change in the type 
or size of the tyres fitted to the vehicle must be reported to the licensing officer at once.  

 
Tyres must have a minimum tyre tread depth of 3 mm over the central 3/4 of the tread pattern (including 
spare tyre). 
 

12. Windows 
12.1 The front windscreen shall allow a minimum level of 75% light transmittance and the front driver and 

passenger windows shall allow a minimum level of 70% light transmittance. 
 
13. Decommissioned vehicle markings 
13.1 Novelty Vehicles based on decommissioned Military or Emergency Response vehicles must have all 

official marking or lights removed. Any colour scheme must be of a contrast to the original colour 
scheme and to that of any previous or current military or emergency response vehicles. 

 
14. Roof racks 
14.1 A roof rack or any other device for storing luggage shall not be installed or maintained on any part of 

the vehicle except with the approval of the Council. 

Page 84



 

Page 73 of 77 

 
15. Exemption notice for displaying a licence plate / door stickers 
15.1 A certificate exempting the vehicle from displaying a licence plate and Council-issued door stickers 

will be issued by the Council. This certificate must be carried in the vehicle at all times and be available 
for inspection on request by an authorised officer of the Council or a Police constable. 

 
16. Insurance  
16.1 The Council will require proof that the vehicle is insured during the period of the licence and, on request 

by an authorised officer, the proprietor shall produce within 5 working days a current insurance 
certificate/cover note for private hire purposes.  Failure to produce proof of insurance as detailed above 
may result in the suspension of the licence. 

 
16.2 The proprietor is advised that they should, following the expiry of an insurance certificate/cover note, 

provide a current insurance policy to the Council 
 
17. Alcohol 
17.1 Alcoholic drinks provided in the vehicle shall be available only under the terms of an appropriate 

licence relating to the sale and supply of alcohol. 
 
17.2 Alcohol shall only be consumed while the vehicle is stationary and the bottle shall immediately 

afterwards be placed in a secure receptacle. 
 
17.3 If all of the passengers are below the age of 18, there shall be no alcohol in the vehicle for consumption 

or otherwise. 
 
17.4 Any glassware used in the vehicle must be made of shatterproof glass or plastic. 
 
18. Licensing Act 2003 
18.1 The driver shall not play or permit the performance of any media that, given its age classification or 

content, are unsuitable for the age of the passengers in the vehicle. 
 
18.2 The limousine operator shall ensure that a performing rights licence is held where appropriate. 
 
18.3 A Premises Licence will be required for the provision of any form of regulated entertainment within the 

scope of the Licensing Act 2003 when the vehicle is parked. 
 
19. Vehicle condition 
19.1 The vehicle shall be maintained in pristine condition with no visible defects, dents or blemishes to the 

external bodywork or internal trim or seating. 
 
19.2 The Council reserves the right to vary, delete or waive any of the foregoing Conditions. 
 
20. Driver and operator licensing requirements 
20.1 In addition to the limousine being licensed as a private hire vehicle with Three Rivers District Council, 

the limousine operator is required to hold a private hire operator’s licence with Three Rivers District 
Council. 

 
20.2 All bookings for a limousine licensed as a private hire vehicle must be booked through the licensed 

private hire operator. Once licensed as a private hire vehicle the limousine can only be driven by a 
licensed private hire driver who is also licensed by Three Rivers District Council. 

 
20.3 Details in respect of applications for private hire drivers’ licences and private hire operators’ licences 

can be obtained from the Licensing team. 
 
21. Rights of appeal 
21.1 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 sections 48 and 77 detail an applicant’s 

right of appeal.  In general terms where an applicant is aggrieved by the Council’s decision to refuse 
to grant a private hire vehicle licence or by any conditions imposed on a private hire licence the 
applicant has a right of appeal to Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the applicant being notified of 
the Council’s decision. 

 
22. Vehicle testing stations 
22.1 Licensed stretch limousines must be submitted for testing at six-monthly intervals, to the appropriate 

Class MOT standard from a testing station nominated by the Licensing team. 

Page 85



 

Page 74 of 77 

Conditions relating to Private Hire Operators 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
1. General 
An operator makes provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a private hire vehicle. 
 
Any legislative requirement shall be regarded as if they are conditions of the Private Hire Operator’s 
Licence. In determining what matters should be considered for a person to be a Fit and Proper Person to 
be an operator the following applies 
 
2. Fit and proper person 
Private hire operators must be fit and proper persons. A fit and proper person is defined in the hackney 
carriage and private hire policy. 
 
3. Details of current drivers 
A list of all current drivers and vehicles representing your company must be submitted as part of the 
renewal. 
 
4. Duration of private hire operator’s licence 
The standard period that a licence shall remain in force is for a period of five years from the date of issue. 
 
No licence will be issued for a period longer than the standard five-year period, but if an applicant wishes 
to be considered for a licence with a shorter duration, this request must be put in writing at the time of 
application. These requests will be considered on a case by case basis.   
 
An operator’s licence on renewal may be issued for a probationary period determined by the Council less 
than the standard five years, dependant on the applicant’s ability to demonstrate being a fit and proper 
person. Items that could be considered would include, criminal record, references, past allegations, record 
of compliance with the conditions, outstanding fees and any other reasonable cause. 
 
5. Basic disclosure check 
The authorised officer can make random checks. This will require a basic disclosure application form to 
have been submitted online or an enhanced disclosure certificate (GBG), or if the driver has signed up to 
the ‘update service’.  
 
6. Convictions and cautions 
Convictions and cautions will be considered in accordance with the hackney carriage and Private Hire 
Policy. 
  
In order to ensure protection of the public an operator must ensure disclosure to a relevant officer within 72 
hours in writing if they are arrested, cautioned, convicted or have any involvement with the Police regarding 
any offence during the period of their licence. Should knowledge of any offences be withheld, this could 
reflect on a person’s fitness to be a Private Hire Operator and may lead to a licence being suspended. If 
the operator licence is held by a company or partnership, the requirements of this section apply equally to 
all directors and partners.  
 
7. Record of bookings 
The record required to be kept by the operator under Section 56(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a suitable written or electronic form approved by the Council, provided 
at nominal cost by the Council, or on a spreadsheet provided by the Council, or on a nationally recognised 
piece of computer software. This software must be capable of providing the information listed below. The 
entries must be numbered consecutively, and no pages should be removed. The operator shall enter the 
required information for each booking invited or accepted by him, before the commencement of each 
journey.   
 

 The time and date of the booking 

 The name and address of the hirer 

 How the booking was made (i.e. by telephone, personal call etc.) 

 The time of pick-up 

 The point of pick-up 

 The destination 

 The time at which a driver was allocated to the booking 

 The name of the driver and the registration number of the vehicle allocated for the booking. 

Appendix 11 

Page 86

https://gbg.onlinedisclosures.co.uk/Authentication/Login?ReturnUrl=%2f


 

Page 75 of 77 

 Remarks (including details of any sub-contract). 
 
All records kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of not less than 18 months following the 
date of the last entry. In the case of computer records, the entries must be capable of being printed on 
demand at the request of a Police officer or the licensing officer. All records must be available for inspection 
and copying if required by licensing officer or Police officer.  
 
8. Standard of service 
The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the public at all reasonable 
times and for this purpose shall in particular: 
 

(a) Ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired to be in attendance at an appointed 
time and place, the vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause, punctually 
attend at that appointed time and place; 

 
(b) Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which the operator provides 

and to which the public have access, whether for the purpose of booking or waiting; 
 
(c) Ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has adequate seating facilities; 
 
(d) Ensure that any telephone facilities and radio equipment provided are maintained in a sound 

condition and that any defects are repaired promptly. 
 
NB: Planning approval, where required, must be obtained for any premises used for operating 
Private Hire business 
 
9. Complaints 
The operator shall notify the Council in writing within 72 hours of any complaints concerning a contract for 
hire or purported contract for hire relating to or arising from his business and of the action (if any) which the 
operator has taken or proposes to take in respect thereof. 
 
10. Address 
The operator must live or maintain an office within the Three Rivers District Council area for the period of 
the licence. The operator shall within 7 days, notify the Council in writing of any change of address during 
the period of the licence. A further application will be required for the new premises. Any premises used 
solely for work purposes are required to be smoke-free.   
 
11. Advertisements 

The Operator shall not cause any advertisement in respect of his / her business or the vehicles used for 
that purpose to include the words ‘taxi’ or ‘cab’, whether in the singular or plural, or any such other words 
that may be similar in meaning or appearance to either of those words, whether alone or as part of another 
word(s). 
 
The Operator shall ensure that Private Hire Vehicles that he/she operates does not display any roof sign. 
This is due to the fact that a Private Hire Vehicle must not be of a design or appearance of a Hackney 
Carriage. 
 
Only licensed vehicles may carry advertisements in relation to the private hire operator and any such 
advertisements must be submitted to and approved by the Licensing Officer at the Council prior to being 
used. Only the private hire operator business name and telephone number will be allowed. In addition to 
this requirement, it is recommended that an advertisement bear the words ‘Advanced Booking Only’ or 
‘Must be Pre-Booked’. 
 
12. Conduct 
The operator of a private hire vehicle shall not by calling out or otherwise importune any person to hire such 
vehicle and shall not make use of the services of any other person for that purpose. 
 
13. Record of vehicles etc. 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 56(3) of the 1976 Act the operator shall keep a record in a 
bound volume of all private hire vehicles operated by him and such record shall include the following 
particulars: 
 

 The registration mark of each vehicle 

 The make of the vehicle 

Page 87



 

Page 76 of 77 

 The name and address of the registered keeper 

 The names, addresses and driver’s licence numbers of drivers driving the vehicles 

 Details of any radio call sign used 
 
Such records shall be retained for a period of 18 months, and shall not be destroyed or otherwise disposed 
of before the expiry of such period without the previous written consent of the Council. 

 
14. Fares and fare table 
The operator upon request shall agree the fare for a journey booked, or provide an estimate of the fare, or 
explain that the journey will be metered. 
 
Should the operator dispatch a vehicle with a taximeter, they shall ensure that the meter is calibrated to the 
tariff of fares published by Three Rivers District Council, and that the published table of fares is clearly 
displayed in the vehicle. The operator shall ensure that the fare for such bookings does not exceed the rate 
on the meter. 
 
15. CCTV in vehicles 
The operator shall ensure that they retain a copy of the CCTV authorisation certificate from Three Rivers 
District Council for any vehicle containing a CCTV system. No vehicle is to contain facilities to record visual 
or audio sources without the vehicle licence-holder holding a certificate of authorisation from the Council.  
 
16. Operator to hold driver’s licences 
Before the operator permits or employs another person to drive a licensed private hire vehicle, he shall 
have retained a copy of the driver’s private hire driver’s licence. This shall be retained until such time as 
the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle. On cessation of service or employment 
the licensee shall return the private hire driver’s licence to the driver. 

 
The licensee/proprietor must also ensure the driver holds a current driver’s licence in respect of the number 
of passengers authorised on the vehicle licence/plate. 
 
The operator shall notify the Council within 7 days of the details of any driver no longer working for them. 
 
17. Disposal and acquisition of vehicles 
When an operator ceases to operate a particular vehicle or begins to operate a new vehicle, they shall 
inform the Council in writing as soon as possible but not later than within 7 days of such fact. 
 
18. Condition of vehicle 
The operator shall ensure that any private hire vehicle operated by him (regardless of who owns the vehicle 
or holds the vehicle licence) is maintained in the condition required by the private hire vehicle licensing 
conditions or hackney carriage vehicle licensing conditions. The operator will ensure the vehicle is 
maintained in a suitable mechanical condition, safe, comfortable, clean and presentable and that the 
external licence plate and internal licence disc provided by the Council is affixed to the vehicle in such a 
manner and position as shall be prescribed by the Council. 
 
19. Compliance with legislation 
Operators, where applicable, must comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the byelaws made in respect of hackney carriages 
and conditions relating to the private hire driver’s licence.  They shall also ensure compliance with Section 
37 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and the Equality Act (2010) in respect of assistance dogs.   
 
20. Smoking 
Operators must ensure that all vehicles dispatched by them display appropriate signage inside the vehicle 
in accordance with the Health Act 2006.  
 
The Council requires that an international no-smoking symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be displayed 
in the front passenger window or on the dashboard, and in the rear passenger window. The signs must be 
clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle. 
  
21. Insurance 
The licensee shall ensure that any vehicle they dispatch is covered by valid insurance for the purposes of 
private hire, and shall ensure that they do not act in any way which might invalidate the insurance. 
 
The licensee shall where applicable maintain and provide evidence of Employer’s Liability Insurance upon 
request in accordance with the Employer’s Liability Compulsory Insurance Act 1969.  

Page 88



 

Page 77 of 77 

 
In the case where members of the public have access to the operating centre, the licensee shall maintain 
at all times and provide evidence of Public Liability Insurance upon request.  
 
22. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by any conditions specified in this licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 
21 days of a decision being made. 
 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 83 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Hackney Carriage and  
Private Hire Policy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/licensing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted on 22 July 2019 
Effective from 1 October 2019 
Updated 4 May 2021: Sc18 p.42, Sc23 p.56 – To include the change of operator in the change of 
personal details that must be reported to the licensing team.  

Page 91

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/licensing
https://www.watford.gov.uk/intranettrdc


 

Page 2 of 83 

Contents 
Section No. Section Page 

1.  Definitions  3 
2.  Introduction  3 
3.  Background  4 
4.  Policy objections and aims 6 
5.  Uniformity 7 
6.  Administration of licences 7 
7.  General fees 7 
8.  Service standards 7 
9.  Notification of decisions 9 
10.  Monitoring 9 
11.  Records 10 
12.  Data protection 10 
13.  Safeguarding 10 
14.  Abuse of drivers by members of the public 11 
15.  Powers 11 
16.  Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 11 
17.  Tax Check 16 
18.  Private Hire Operator Licences 16 
19.  Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licences 17 
20.  Guidelines for CCTV systems in Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 

Vehicles 
20 

21.  Communication, Audio and Visual Devices 25 
22.  Policy on convictions and conduct - New Applicants 25 
23.  Policy on convictions and conduct - Existing licensees 32 
24.  Expedition policy for revoked licences where reinstating a licensee is 

considered appropriate       
33 

25.  Table of offences summary 35 
26.  Licensing enforcement 40 

 
Appendix  

No. 
Title Pages 

1 Licence Requirements relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Drivers   

41-47 

2 Requirements relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 48-51 
3 Requirements relating only to Private Hire Vehicles 52-53 
4 Requirements Relating only To Hackney Carriage Vehicles  54-55 
5 Licensing conditions relating to Private Hire Drivers  56-60 
6 Hackney Carriage Byelaws 61-64 
7 Conditions relating to Hackney Carriage Vehicles 65-70 
8 Conditions relating to Private Hire Vehicles 71-74 
9 Standards for Conditions of Appearance of a Hackney Carriage or Private 

Hire Vehicle 
75 

10 Non-standard Private Hire Vehicle conditions for stretched limousine, and 
novelty vehicles 

76-79 

11 Conditions relating to Private Hire Operators 80-83 
 

Page 92



 

Page 3 of 83 

 Definitions 

For the purpose of this policy – 
 
Authorised officer shall mean any officer within the Council authorised by the Council’s scheme of 
delegations as set out in the Council’s Constitution. 
 
The Council shall mean Three Rivers District Council. 

 
Hirer shall mean any person or persons who from time-to-time hires or books the vehicle. 

 
Licensee(s) shall mean the person(s) named in the licence. 

 
Operator shall mean a person holding a licence to operate private hire vehicles issued pursuant to Section 
55 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. A private hire operator's licence is 
required to enable a person to accept or invite bookings for private hire vehicles. 

 
Working day is any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, Christmas Day, Good Friday or a day which is 
a bank holiday under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971 in any part of the United Kingdom. 

 
Additional Periods This is an amount of time after the length of a criminal sentence that needs to expire 
before we would consider making a licensing decision about an applicant. For example, someone’s length 
of sentence for robbery may be two years, but they only serve six months’ imprisonment. We would not 
consider that person fit and proper for those two years and for an additional period of three years (that is, 
five years in total from the date of conviction). The additional periods are set out in Sc24 of the policy 
below.  
 
Free of conviction shall mean from the date the applicant was convicted. If the incident did not amount to 
a criminal offence or is not to be prosecuted, then the relevant date will be the date of the incident. 
 
Offence shall mean any criminal offence and/or any other behaviour including a civil penalty which brings 
into question whether the applicant is a fit and proper person. 
 
Conviction shall mean a criminal conviction or a civil penalty. However if the applicant is on trial, is not to 
be convicted or the incident did not amount to a criminal offence, the suggested periods free from 
convictions shall be considered by the Council when making their decision, taking all the evidence before 
them into account. 
 
Caution an admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued. Accordingly cautions will be 
assessed in the same way as a conviction by the court. 
 

 Introduction   

This policy has been produced pursuant to the powers conferred by the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 and Town and Police Clauses Act 147 which places the duty on the Council to carry 
out licensing functions in respect of hackney carriage and private hire vehicle, drivers and operators. 
 
In carrying out its said regulatory licensing functions, the Council will have regard to this policy document. 
Where it is necessary for the Council to depart from this policy, clear reasons will be given for doing so. 

 
Following consultation and adoption by the Council, this policy shall be kept under review and revised as 
necessary. The Head of Regulatory Services is authorised to make minor amendments to the policy without 
consultation by the Council.  

 
The policy refers to guidance that is available to applicants, drivers and operators and proprietors to assist 
them with the application processes and the running of the service. This guidance, application forms and 
current fees are available on the Council’s Website. Before granting or renewing a licence we must be 
satisfied that the applicant is a “fit and proper person” to hold a licence, as set out in sections 51, 55 and 
59 of the 1976 Act. This policy sets out how we decide not only whether an applicant is fit and proper when 
applying for a licence, but to assess whether they remain so once a licence has been issued.  
 
This policy provides guidance to any person with an interest in taxi and private hire licensing. In particular, 
but not exclusively:  

• Applicants for a driver’s licence  

Page 93



 

Page 4 of 83 

• Existing licensed drivers whose licences are being reviewed / renewed  
• Licensing officers  
• Members of the Regulatory Services/Licensing committee/sub-committee  
• Magistrates and Judges hearing appeals against local authority decisions  

 
This policy provides guidance to all parties on the criteria that will be taken into account when determining 
whether or not an applicant or an existing licence-holder is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney 
carriage and/or private hire driver or operator licence. Whilst criminal convictions play a significant part in 
the Licensing Authority’s determination on whether an individual is fit and proper or not, the Council will 
also take into account other factors such as demeanour, general character, non-criminal behaviour, driving 
abilities, and police information etc.  

 
The term “Fit and Proper” for the purposes of taxi and private hire licensing is not legally defined but it has 
also been described as “safe and suitable” in a number of court cases.  

 
 Background 

 Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a distinct role to play in an integrated transport 
system. They are able to provide services in situations where public transport is either not available 
(for example in rural areas, or outside “normal” hours of operation such as in the evenings or on 
Sundays), and/or for those with mobility difficulties. 

 Three Rivers District Council Boundary  

 

 
 

Page 94



 

Page 5 of 83 

 Practice, guidance & legislation 

The Department for Transport (DfT) has national responsibility for hackney carriage and private hire 
legislation in England and Wales. As a result of the Office of Fair Trading producing a report on the UK 
hackney carriage and private hire trade, the DfT was asked to produce best practice guidance for local 
licensing authorities. The latest guidance was issued in March 2010 entitled ‘Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing: Best Practice Guidance’1 and represents examples of good or best practice from within England 
and Wales. However, the document recognises that licensing authorities may reach their own decisions 
both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters in the light of their own circumstances. 
 
The Council has therefore taken account of the DfT guidance to develop this policy.  
 
This policy also takes account of the legislative basis of the Council’s taxi licensing powers, including those 
contained in the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976, the Immigration Act 2016 as amended. 
 

 Equality Act 2010  

In addition, the Equality Act 2010 has implications for both hackney carriage and private hire operators and 
drivers in respect of disabled access to vehicles.  
 

 Duties to assist passengers in wheelchairs 

 General 

Section 165 places a duty on a driver of designated wheelchair accessible hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles. The duties are: 

• To convey the passenger while in the wheelchair 
• Not to make any additional charge for doing so 

 
If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat: 

• To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is conveyed in safety and 
reasonable comfort; and 

• To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required to enable the passenger 
to get in or out of the vehicle and to secure/convey the wheelchair as appropriate. 

 
Section 167 of the Equality Act2 allows licensing authorities to maintain a list of “designated vehicles”, that 
is, a list of wheelchair-accessible hackney carriages and private hire vehicles licensed in their area. The 
consequence of being on this list is that the driver must undertake the duties in section 165.  
 
Following the full commencement of sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010 on 6th April 2017, the 
Council will maintain a statutory list of wheelchair-accessible vehicles (i.e. designated vehicles).  
 
Accordingly, drivers of these vehicles are required to carry passengers in wheelchairs, provide assistance 
to those passengers, and prohibits them from charging extra to do so.  
 
3.7 Policy on exempting drivers on medical and physical condition grounds   
The requirements of Section 165 of the Equality Act 2010 do not apply to drivers who are issued with a 
medical exemption certificate who display the prescribed notice in their vehicle. 
 
Generally, the Council will seek to consider the contents of a driver’s medical questionnaire when a driver 
requests to be granted the required exemption. However, where there is doubt as to the ability of the driver 
to assist passengers in wheelchairs, the Council may require the driver to obtain a more detailed report 
from their registered GP, confirming that the driver is not able to provide this service and should be granted 
an exemption certificate. Any charges associated with additional GP reports must be met by the driver and 
will not be reimbursed by the Council. 
 

                                                           
1 https://www.gov.uk/search?q=taxi+and+Private+hire+Licensing&show_organisations_filter=true 
 
2 http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2010/ukpga_20100015_en_1  
 

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/search?q=taxi+and+Private+hire+Licensing&show_organisations_filter=true
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2010/ukpga_20100015_en_1


 

Page 6 of 83 

3.8 Guide dogs and assistance dogs (sections 168 to 171 of Equality Act 2010)  
 
Councils are able to issue certificates to drivers who are exempt by their doctors under strict medical 
grounds from the duty to carry guide and assistance dogs. Exemption certificates will only be issued when 
written requirement for this exemption is provided by the driver’s registered GP practice. 
 
There is comprehensive guidance issued by the DfT in 2010 about the duties to carry guide and assistance 
dogs and the procedure for granting medical exemptions etc. 
 

 Immigration Act 2016 - https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/immigration-bill-2015-16  
 
The Immigration Act 2016 requires ‘right to work’ checks to be carried out on any applicant applying for a 
new or renewal of a hackney carriage driver’s licence, private hire driver’s licence or operator’s licence. 
Where a right to work is indefinite, this check is only required once; where it is time limited, licences may 
only be granted for that period and a further check is required when the existing right to work expires. 
 
 Policy aims & objectives 

 Objectives 

• the protection of the public 
• the maintenance of a professional and respected hackney carriage and private hire trade 
• access to an efficient and effective local transport service 
• the protection of our local environment 
• to support small businesses by ensuring a consistent and fair approach. 

 
 Aims 

The Council will aim to achieve these objectives in the following ways: 
• by ensuring that licensed vehicles do not give rise to a risk to passenger safety 
• by ensuring that licensed drivers are fit and proper persons and achieve as high a standard of good 

practice as is possible 
• by ensuring that licensed vehicles meet emissions standards and encouraging the use of low 

polluting vehicles 
• by encouraging the use of vehicles that are more accessible to persons who have disabilities 
• by ensuring that licensed vehicles are comfortable and properly insured 
• by liaising with the County Council highways department to encourage that taxis and private hire 

vehicles form part of the wider strategic transport and local transport plans 
• by working in partnership with a variety of other agencies to support the Council’s objective in relation 

to both the public and the trade  
• by reducing the frequency with which licence-holders are required to attend the Council offices 
• by ensuring online accessibility to allow remote application by new and existing licence-holders 
• by utilising electronic and mobile communication methods including the use of SMS messaging and 

extranet sites. 
 

 Methods 

 The methods to be employed will include:  

• work with the taxi and hackney carriage trade to deliver ongoing improvements, innovate, and deal 
with emerging issues 

• setting the standards for the licensing of vehicles, drivers and operators 
• annual licensing and routine inspection of vehicles, with appropriate follow-up action 
• routine inspection of documents, with appropriate follow-up action 
• routine checks of a driver’s medical fitness and criminal record history during the time the licence is 

in force and knowledge of the district, highway code and licensing policy as well as driving ability (at 
the time of application) 

• investigation of complaints with appropriate follow-up action 
• liaison with Hertfordshire Constabulary, neighbouring local authorities and other agencies 

concerning issues of mutual concern 
• prosecution, monitoring of contraventions, suspension or revocation of licences for breach of 

conditions or legislation 
• proper training and development of Council officers 

Page 96

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/781711/assessing-fitness-to-drive-a-guide-for-medical-professionals.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/immigration-bill-2015-16


 

Page 7 of 83 

• continue to meet ongoing performance and efficiency targets for the service 
• provision of information to licensees about good practice and what to expect of any inspecting officer 
• promote the use of training/courses for licensees,  
• provide mandatory training when it is considered appropriate to do so 
• promotional activities to inform and encourage and maintain high standards. 

 
4.3.2 In seeking to meet these aims the Council will actively cooperate, assist and seek advice from 

agencies including:  
• Hertfordshire Constabulary 
• Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency 
• Herts County Council 
• Other local authorities 
• Town and Parish Councils 
• Three Rivers Railways and London underground 
• Disclosure and Barring Service 
• Department for Transport  
• Driving and Vehicle Licensing Agency  
• Home Office  
• Department for Work and Pensions  
• Other relevant agencies and departments. 

 
  Uniformity 

 The authority acknowledges the need to act in a consistent and uniform manner and advocates a 
common-sense approach to the selection of enforcement action and activities. 

 The following areas are all considered important in achieving uniformity:   

• the awareness of and adherence to this policy 
• training, qualifications and supervision of staff and training for Members 
• regular practical training and update sessions to ensure uniformity  
• use of joint training initiatives with other authorities will also be undertaken 
• the ongoing monitoring and auditing of licence-holders, testing stations, and activities 
• liaising with other enforcement agencies, adjoining authorities and trade bodies 
• compliance with relevant codes of practice/circulars (where not inconsistent with this policy) 

 
 Administration of licences 

 Applications for licences will only be validated and then determined when all documents and fee (as 
applicable) are received, as stated within this policy.  

 The Council will always aim to produce licences as promptly as possible. Applications will normally be 
considered within 28 days of validation and, depending on circumstances, an application can then be 
granted, refused or deferred. 

 General fees guidance 

 In the event of an application not leading to the issue of a licence, a refund will be provided. Other 
costs incurred by an applicant such as the cost of any medical and DSA test and criminal record check 
(paid directly to the provider) or knowledge test will not be reimbursed. 

 In the event of a licence holder (driver or vehicle) or an operator surrendering their licence before its 
expiry, no refund will be provided. 

 Where the surrender is as a result of illness certified to the Council by a registered medical practitioner, 
a pro rata refund shall be payable for the remaining full months of the licence. 

 All licence fees must be paid by credit/debit card.  

 Any agreement to refund fees by the Council will be subject to an administration fee. 

 Refunds will only be granted within the licence period. Any request for refunds outside of the licence 
period timescale will be refused. 

Page 97



 

Page 8 of 83 

 Service standards 

 Subject to amendment from time to time by the Head of Regulatory Services it is the intention of the 
Council to offer the following service levels:  

 You are able to contact the customer service team by email, through the website, or by phone who will 
take your enquiry and details of which will be passed to the appropriate member of the licensing team. 
This process is to reduce the need for licence-holders to travel to the council offices and to allow the 
team to deal with enquiries as effectively as possible. 

 The customer services team can be contacted by phone on 01923 776611 from 8:30am to 
5:30pm, Monday to Thursday and 8:30 to 5:00pm on Fridays (excluding Bank Holidays). 

 The One Stop Shop is open for visitors from 8.30am to 5.00pm, Monday to Thursday, 8.30am to 
4:30pm Fridays (excluding Bank Holidays) at Three Rivers House, Northway Rickmansworth WD3 
1RL (this is subject to change at the Councils discretion). Drivers are encouraged to e-mail general 
enquiries to: enquiries@threerivers.gov.uk or licensing.team@threerivers.gov.uk  

 Although the Council has 28 days to issue a licence upon receipt of a valid application, the Licensing 
section will strive to:-  

• Issue a private hire driver/hackney carriage driver licence as promptly as possible and usually within 
7 working days of the application being validated 

• Issue a private hire/hackney carriage vehicle licence as promptly as possible and usually within 7 
working days of the date of receipt of a complete and valid application 

• Issue change of vehicle licences as promptly as possible and usually within 2 working days of the 
application being validated.  

 
 Notification of decisions 

 Any notice required to be served by the Council under this licence or under any of the provisions of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be deemed to have been properly 
served if sent by pre-paid post to, or left at the last known address of, the holder of the licence. Notices 
may also be served by email and will be deemed served on the individual once sent. 

 Monitoring 

 All documents will be checked for authenticity when submitted. Routine random checks will also 
occur throughout the year. In addition, visits will be made both to the ranks and to regular trade pick 
up points to check compliance. Checks of proprietor and operator documents and records will also 
be made and taxi ranks/stands and other frequented locations will also be conducted.  

 The Council will also work in partnership with other agencies and neighbouring authorities to 
undertake compliance and enforcement activities. 

 All complaints against licence-holders will be monitored and investigated and action taken in line with 
this policy as appropriate  

 Records 

 An up to date electronic record will be kept and maintained of all application details, fees paid, 
deposits and licences issued, together with the public registers as required by law.  

 Data Protection 

 All information held on files and databases about an applicant is confidential, under the Data 
Protection Act 1998. However, the Council is under a duty to protect the public and to protect the 
public funds it administers, and to this end may use any information provided by an applicant within 
this authority. The Council is under a duty to maintain Public Registers in accordance with the 
legislative requirements and all registers will be maintained on line through the Council’s Licensing 
Public Register. 

 For the purposes of crime prevention, and with the purpose of protecting the public and/or protecting 
public funds, we may also share any information held with other bodies responsible for public 

Page 98

mailto:enquiries@threerivers.gov.uk
mailto:licensing.team@threerivers.gov.uk


 

Page 9 of 83 

functions, where there is a legal basis or a legal obligation to do so. For the most recent Council 
policy please visit https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/privacy-notice. 

 Safeguarding  

 General 

 The Council is committed to ensuring the safety and welfare of all vulnerable persons including 
children and young people, to whom we provide services directly or indirectly and with whom we come into 
contact. 

 Drivers are on the frontline, often coming into contact with people who may be vulnerable, for 
example because they are young, have learning difficulties, be suffering ill health, or be elderly or who have 
drunk to excess on a night out, or who may have taken an illegal substance. Such persons may be travelling 
alone or accompanied by another person 

 Sadly there are persons who prey on precisely these people and drivers are often best placed to 
raise concerns over what they hear or see occurring whilst in their vehicles.  

 Drivers may also have concerns over the vulnerability of passengers who are being dropped off at 
locations in or out of the district. For example drivers in other authorities have reported concerns that young 
persons are being dropped off at a particular guest house, hotel or house and are either distressed before 
being dropped off or after they have been picked up as a fare-paying passenger 

 Information is provided on the Council’s website in relation to safeguarding and applicants and 
licensees have a duty to report matters if they suspect 
harm: https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/service/safeguarding  

 When you have concerns regarding a child 

 If you are worried about a young person, you must do something. 

 There are specialists who can advise you on what to do next. They can also talk to any young person 
themselves. 

 If you are concerned about a young person you can contact the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children 
Board on 0300 123 4043 or email:  

 www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/childrens-social-care/child-protection/report-child-protection-
concern.aspx if you think a child or young person is in immediate danger call 999. 

 When you have concerns regarding an adult 

 If you need to speak to someone urgently about a vulnerable adult: 

• Report abuse to Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board: 0300 123 4042 or dial: 999 
• Speak to the adult social care team: 01438 84455 
• Outside office hours: Complete the online form using the link below.  

 
 For up to date information you should visit the safeguarding section of the Hertfordshire County 

Council website:https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/adult-social-services/report-a-concern-about-
an-adult/report-a-concern-about-an-adult.aspx 

 Abuse of Drivers by members of the public 

 The Council strongly disapproves of any form of abuse, discriminatory or otherwise, directed at 
drivers by members of the public. However, the Council is not the appropriate authority to investigate 
such incidents unless these form part of a counter-allegation following a complaint about a driver, in 
which case information will be obtained from all parties prior to a decision being made on the 
appropriate action for the Council to take. Incidents of this nature should be reported to the Police 
via 101 so that they can be investigated. The Council will assist the Police with regards to such 
investigations as far as possible. 

 Powers 

Page 99

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/privacy-notice
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/service/safeguarding
http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/childrens-social-care/child-protection/report-child-protection-concern.aspx
http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/childrens-social-care/child-protection/report-child-protection-concern.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/adult-social-services/report-a-concern-about-an-adult/report-a-concern-about-an-adult.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/adult-social-services/report-a-concern-about-an-adult/report-a-concern-about-an-adult.aspx


 

Page 10 of 83 

 We have powers in sections 61 and 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
(as amended) (the 1976 Act) to:  

• suspend  
• revoke  
• refuse to renew  

 
15.2 licences of applicants who have:  

• lost their right to work in the UK  
• been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence  
• failed to comply with the provisions of part II of the 1976 Act  
• failed to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 or  
• given the Council any other reasonable cause to act.  

 
 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 

 Only applicants who comply with the requirements and conditions relating to the licensing of private 
hire drivers or hackney carriage drivers will be licensed.  

 Existing drivers must comply with the conditions of their licence, this policy and any relevant 
legislation during the period of their licence. Failure to do so will result in the consideration of the various 
sanctions outlined in this policy. 

 All new applicants are required to pass a specialist driving test as part of their application. Existing 
drivers who have not passed a driving test as prescribed by the Council will only be permitted to carry up 
to 4 passengers. This will be stipulated on their licence. 

 Existing drivers are entitled to take the specialist driving test at any time and once passed will be 
issued a badge permitting 8 passengers, at no additional cost on production of their certificate. 

 Further, sections 51 and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 require 
that “a district council shall not grant a driver’s licence to drive a private hire vehicle or hackney carriage 
unless they are satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person”.  

 Fit and proper person – information required for an assessment to be made 

 To prove that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage or a private hire driver’s 
licence or dual licence they must provide evidence of: 

• Driving standard – through a specialised test driving test supplied by a Council-approved provider 
(details available on request) 

• Medical fitness – on the Council’s prescribed form, signed by the applicant’s GP or medical practitioner 
• Criminal history and behaviour – through an enhanced DBS check 
• Knowledge of the local area, highway code, legislation and requirements relating to a hackney carriage 

and private hire and the Council’s policy in the form of a ‘knowledge test’ designed by the Council 
• Two references as to their character and reliability. 

 
   Details of the above will be obtained and considered at the time of application, together with any other 

relevant information. Drivers will be required to maintain their ability to be fit and proper persons whilst 
licensed and must report any driving offences, changes to medical condition, civil or criminal offences for 
which they have been interviewed or charged.  

 If the Council suspects that a driver may have fallen short of the standards required, the Council may 
need to conduct further enquiries to verify any information provided or the fitness of a person to hold a 
licence. By submitting an application for a licence or holding a licence applicants gives their consent to the 
release of data where necessary.    

 Any applicant subsequently found to have provided false information will be dealt with in accordance 
with the provisions of this policy. 

 Driving standard and knowledge 

 The following requirements must both be demonstrated to establish whether a person’s driving 
standards are acceptable: 

Page 100



 

Page 11 of 83 

• A valid full EU (UK) driver’s licence driver’s licence has been held for three years prior to application, 
and 

 
• Drivers pass a specialised driving test supplied by a Council-approved provider (details available on 

request) prior to application to ensure they are aware of the hazards of driving. The requirement to 
take a driving course helps ensure an acceptable standard of driving. Before an application can be 
validated the applicant must provide a signed copy of the assessment pass certificate which must be 
current at the time it is submitted.  

 
 Through the knowledge test assessment, drivers will be tested on their knowledge of the local area. 

In addition, drivers will be tested on policy, related law, customer awareness, and elements of the Highway 
Code.  An application cannot be validated unless the applicant has passed the appropriate knowledge test 
which can be booked online. Applicants taking the test may not receive assistance from a third party. 

 Drivers must present themselves in a professional manner and have good personal hygiene. 
Drivers will be expected to wear collared shirt, collared polo shirts or collared blouses which have a full 
body and short or long sleeves as well as smart long legged trousers (no denim), knee length tailored 
shorts, knee length skirts or dresses.  

 Unacceptable examples of clothing or footwear include items which are unclean or damaged, 
clothing printed with words, logos or graphics which might offend, clothing intended to support any political 
party, pressure group or other organisation designed to provoke discrimination or objection, sports replica 
shirts e.g. football, rugby or cricket tops or track suits, beach-type footwear (e.g. flip-flops or mules), high 
heels, the wearing of hoods or other clothing that obscures the driver’s vision or their identity, sports shorts 
or swimming trunks, and showing a bare chest. 

 Drivers must conduct themselves in a professional manner and collections should be punctual, 
drivers polite and knowledgeable of local routes, and vehicles kept clean and operated in accordance with 
conditions, byelaws and legislative requirements. Hackney drivers should only charge the meter rate or 
below. 

 Drivers must not initiate any dialogue of a “sexual” nature with a passenger including by telephone 
contact, social media, email or any other form of communication. Licensed drivers are not permitted to 
become involved “sexually”, or have sexual contact with a passenger, whether consent is given or not and 
whether or not the vehicle is carrying a fare-paying passenger at the time. 

 Medical fitness 

 Drivers are not required to hold a Group 2, EU (UK) full driving licence, but they will have to 
demonstrate compliance with the medical standards for a Group 2 licence and will have to provide a medical 
certificate, or the Council’s prescribed form to this effect; this should be no older than 3 months at the time 
of the application being completed. 

 All drivers are required to provide a certificate signed by their registered medical practitioner to 
declare whether or not they are physically fit to be the driver of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. 
A medical certificate must be submitted at first application, every 3 years up to 65 years of age, and annually 
thereafter. 

 Where an existing licensed hackney carriage driver applies to obtain a private hire licence, or vice 
versa, an additional medical will not be required unless due. 

 The Council will have regard to the published Department of Transport “best practice” guidance (as 
updated from time to time) when considering the medical fitness of new applicants with insulin-dependent 
diabetes or existing licence-holders diagnosed with insulin-dependent diabetes during the duration of their 
licence. Where an applicant is insulin-dependent the Council will require annual medical certificates. 

 Where there is reasonable doubt over a driver’s fitness, the Council will require the driver to 
undertake a medical examination by a registered medical practitioner at any time as specified by the Council 
or in accordance with DVLA guidelines. 

 The applicant is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any medical examination. 

 Drivers must not drive a licensed vehicle if they are suffering from any disease or disability which 
would cause the licensed vehicle being driven by them to be a danger to the public. Drivers must ensure 
that they can, at all times, meet the eyesight requirements specified by the Department of Transport driving 

Page 101

https://my.threerivers.gov.uk/en/AchieveForms/?form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-50461433-f268-46b4-835c-a703739d4697/AF-Stage-0383a15f-4307-4c90-9a96-0c132ed395ba/definition.json&redirectlink=%2Fen&cancelRedirectLink=%2Fen&consentMessage=yes


 

Page 12 of 83 

test. 

 Drivers must immediately notify the Council and their operator of any illness, injury or other 
impairment affecting their ability to drive. 

 Offender history and behaviour  

 When submitting an application for a licence to drive a hackney carriage and/or private hire vehicle, 
applicants must declare all criminal or civil cautions or convictions they may have, whether they are foreign 
or domestic. 

 Even those regarded as ‘spent’ under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 must be declared. 

 In addition to this, applicants must notify us if they have been charged with an offence or have any 
pending prosecutions and if they have ever had a licence suspended, revoked or refused by another 
authority. Applicants must also advise the Council if they have withdrawn a hackney carriage or private hire 
application made to another authority, at any stage of the process. 

 Failure to declare convictions and/or cautions, or giving false information to obtain a licence is an 
offence and will be treated very seriously. Likewise, giving false information or withholding information to 
keep a licence will be treated very seriously. 

 If an applicant has not been a resident in the UK for a period of five years, they will need to obtain 
a “certificate of good conduct” or similar document from the relevant embassy. 

 Applicants will also need to register with the Disclosure and Barring Update Service and providing 
consent to the Council carrying out a check with the Disclosure and Barring Update Service, which will 
disclose any cautions or convictions that they may have. Information received from the DBS will be treated 
in the strictest confidence and will be retained on manual and computer records for no longer than is 
deemed necessary. 

 Proof of identity is required in order to obtain the Disclosure and Barring Service enhanced 
disclosure. Applicants will be required to provide three forms of identification documents for the verification 
of the application. A full list of acceptable documents can be found here: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-identity-checking-guidelines/id-checking-guidelines-for-
standardenhanced-dbs-check-applications-from-1-july-2021  
 

 Applicants must provide a valid DBS enhanced disclosure certificate (that was issued within the 
last 3 months) and provide details of all convictions/cautions as part of the application 

 Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 allows district councils to send the driver’s 
application form to the Police, (or other authorised body) and request the chief officer’s observations as to 
the applicant.  

 Where an existing driver has been interviewed, charged or convicted of an offence, or other relevant 
information comes to the attention of the Council (such as a caution or fixed penalty notice being issued) 
which brings into question whether the driver is still a fit and proper person to hold a driver’s licence, action 
may be taken, as outlined in this policy (Section 20). 

 The existence of a criminal record or disclosure of other information will not necessarily stop any 
person from gaining or keeping a licence. The decision will be based on the policy on criminal convictions 
and behaviour in sections 19 and 20 of this policy. 

 Suspension, refusal, revocation by another Council. 

 If a new applicant has been suspended, refused or revoked by another Council, the licensing officer 
may refuse to issue a licence depending on the reason for the action already taken. 

  The Council shall also have a right to make enquiries of that other authority. 

 Dual driver’s licences 

 As some individuals may wish to be able to carry out a combination of hackney and private hire 
work, the Council will provide a dual driver’s licence to reduce the burden on the applicant. Dual licence-

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-identity-checking-guidelines/id-checking-guidelines-for-standardenhanced-dbs-check-applications-from-1-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-identity-checking-guidelines/id-checking-guidelines-for-standardenhanced-dbs-check-applications-from-1-july-2021


 

Page 13 of 83 

holders are required to comply with any conditions or byelaws that are relevant to the work they are carrying 
out at any time, which will be dependent on the licensed vehicle being used. 

 New applicants for dual licences will be required to obtain an additional qualification as part of the 
application process such as a relevant BTEC or NVQ.  

 Training 

 All drivers will be required to attend all mandatory training sessions organised by the Council. Failure 
to attend mandatory training sessions will constitute a breach of the Council’s hackney carriage and private 
hire policy. At the first instance, contravention points will be issued; any subsequent failure to attend will 
result in further action being taken again the driver’s licence. 

 National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations 

 There is a new initiative which is to help strengthen hackney carriage and private hire licensing for 
the benefit of both passengers and responsible hackney carriage and PHV drivers.  

 The Local Government Association (LGA), the representative body for local councils, has 
commissioned a new National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3). The register will 
be hosted by the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN). 

 The intention of this is to prevent drivers who have had a hackney carriage or private hire licence 
revoked, or an application for one refused, going to another authority to dishonestly secure a licence by 
failing to disclose their previous licensing history. 

 Instances of drivers doing this in the past have undermined public confidence in the hackney carriage 
and private hire trade and licensing authorities. The purpose of the NR3 initiative is therefore to provide a 
mechanism for licensing authorities to share details of individuals who have had a hackney carriage or 
private hire licence revoked or an application for one refused. 

 The development of NR3 has been welcomed by all sections of the taxi trade, safety groups and 
charities, the Department for Transport and by licensing authorities. 

 From 1 March 2019, the Council will begin using the NR3. This means that from that point: 

• Applications for new hackney carriage/ private hire licences and for renewals will be checked on the 
NR3 

• Where an existing licence is revoked or an application for renewal or a new licence is refused, this 
will be recorded on NR3 
 

 This Council, and other licensing authorities, will also be adding historic information on refusals and 
revocations of licences to the register. Historic data will not go back beyond the retention period of 25 years. 

 Any relevant data entered onto NR3 which relates to existing licence-holders may be considered as 
part of future renewal processes. 

 The information recorded on NR3 will be limited to your: 

• name 
• date of birth 
• address and contact details 
• national insurance number 
• driving licence number 
• decision taken 
• the date of the decision 
• the date decision was effective 

 
 Information will be retained on NR3 for 25 years. 

 Where an applicant’s details are flagged on NR3 during a search, this will be followed up separately 
between the authorities. Any such request in relation to your record will be responded to in accordance with 
the authority’s published policy at the Council. 

Page 103



 

Page 14 of 83 

 Licensing authorities will still be required to consider each application on its own merits, but the 
introduction of NR3 will help ensure that they are able to do so on the basis of all the information that is 
relevant to an application. 

 All data processing and sharing undertaken by this authority on the NR3, and with individual 
authorities in regard to entries on the NR3 will be undertaken in accordance with the Data Protection Act 
(DPA) and the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). The legal basis for processing this information 
is that it is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of 
official authority vested in the licensing authority – that is, assessing whether an individual is a fit and proper 
person to hold a hackney carriage or PHV licence. It is not intended that any NR3 data will be transferred 
out of the United Kingdom. 

 If you wish to raise any issue related to the data protection legislation, including by relying on any 
of the rights afforded to data subjects under the GDPR, you can do so to the authority’s Data Protection 
Officer at Three Rivers District Council. 

 Tax Check 

 From 4 April 2022 all renewing driver and operator applicants must provide a Tax Code check number 
on their application. No application will be considered unless the Tax check has been processed. 

 Applicants must first register for a personal tax account before April 2022 via the Government 
gateway https://www.gov.uk/log-in-register-hmrc-online-services/register  

 Once registered they will be required to generate their own 9 character tax check code by answering 
5 simple questions which will generate a tax code which must be entered onto their application. This code 
can be used for numerous applications as it is not a ‘one time only code’. 

 Applicants may not need to complete a tax check but they must check the following Gov.uk website 
addresses for HMRC guidance about tax registration obligations: 

• PAYE information: www.gov.uk/income-tax/how-you-pay-income-tax 
• registering for Self-Assessment: www.gov.uk/register-for-self-assessment 
• Corporation Tax information: www.gov.uk/corporation-tax 

 
 Applicants will be required to sign a declaration to confirm that they are aware of the guidance in 

relation to their tax registration obligations 

*NB – The Local Authority will not be provided with any information in relation the applicants Tax 
status or. financial affairs 
 

 Private Hire Operator licences 

 Fit and proper person 

 Applicants for private hire operator licences are required to pass the private hire knowledge test. 

 With regard to criminal convictions/cautions, an operator is not an exempted profession under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974; therefore only unspent convictions will be taken into consideration 
when determining whether an applicant is a fit and proper person. In assessing an application for an 
operator’s licence, the policy on criminal convictions and behaviour in sections 19 and 20 of this policy will 
be referred to. 

 The decision whether to grant or refuse a licence will be based on whether the convictions/cautions 
were declared, the type of offences and the total number of convictions/cautions recorded against each 
individual applicant. 

 The overriding consideration in reaching a decision will be based on whether the operator (the 
individuals listed as licensees on the application) can fulfil their roles and run the company without posing 
any likely threat to the general safety of the public. 

 If a situation arises where an operator licence application from a registered company is likely to be 
refused solely on the declared convictions of one individual within the organisation, the application may still 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/log-in-register-hmrc-online-services/register
https://www.gov.uk/income-tax/how-you-pay-income-tax
https://www.gov.uk/register-for-self-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/corporation-tax


 

Page 15 of 83 

proceed if the applicant decides to withdraw the name of that individual from the licence application. 

 Accordingly, when submitting an application to be a registered private hire operator, you must declare 
any unspent cautions or convictions you may have, whether they are foreign or domestic. Failure to declare 
convictions and/or cautions or giving false information to obtain a licence is an offence and will be treated 
very seriously. Likewise giving false information or withholding information to keep a licence will be treated 
very seriously. If you have not been a resident in the UK for a period of five years, you will need to obtain 
a dated ‘certificate of good conduct’ or similar document from your relevant embassy. 

 Applicants will need to obtain a basic disclosure certificate which will reveal any unspent convictions 
or cautions. The Disclosure certificate, issued within the last 3 months, must be submitted with the 
application in order to validate it. 

 Where an existing operator has been charged or convicted of an offence, or other relevant 
information comes to the attention of the Council which brings into question whether the driver is still a fit 
and proper person to hold an operator’s licence, action may be taken, as outlined in this policy. 

  The existence of a criminal record or disclosure of other information will not necessarily stop a 
person from gaining or keeping a licence. The decision will be based on the policy on criminal convictions 
and behaviour at sections 21 and 22 of this policy, and in accordance with this section. 

  We will not accept disclosures obtained on behalf of another authority unless the applicant has 
signed up to the DBS Update Service and that the original DBS is for the appropriate workforce as defined 
by DBS guidelines. 

 Previous applications 

 If anyone named on an application has previously been refused an operator's licence or held an 
operator's licence which was suspended or revoked elsewhere, they will be expected to provide details of 
the refusal, suspension or revocation on their application.  

 Planning permission 

  All premises to be used as a private hire operator base or operations running from a residential 
address will require the appropriate planning consent or permitted development rights for that use class. 
All applicants must provide a certificate of lawfulness or planning consent in relation to the premises they 
intend to use. 

 Use of mobile applications 

 The use of mobile applications (apps) is becoming increasingly common for a wide range of uses, 
including many taxi companies and private hire operators. The Council supports the use of such innovation, 
which has many potential public safety benefits.  

 Apps must be approved by the Council prior to their use, and must not have a negative impact on 
public safety. 

 Training 

 All operators will be required to attend all mandatory training sessions organised by the Council. 
Failure to attend mandatory training sessions will constitute a breach of the Council’s hackney carriage and 
private hire policy. At the first instance, contravention points will be issued; any subsequent failure to attend 
will result in further action being taken again the operator’s licence. 

 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licences 

 Type of vehicle 

The Transport Act 1985 allows licensing authorities to regulate vehicle standards. Circular 8/86 
accompanying the Transport Act, states that authorities will wish to ensure that vehicles are mechanically 
sound, roadworthy and safe.  The following will be applied: 

• All newly licensed hackney carriage and private hire vehicles must, as a minimum, be categorised 
as M1 and meet Euro 5 standards for emissions. 

Page 105



 

Page 16 of 83 

• Any converted vehicles will be required to hold the appropriate low volume type approval 
certificate in the M classification or the enhanced single vehicle certificate together with the 
original M type approval. 
 

 Vehicle standards 

All vehicles must have full vehicle type approval. The authorised testing stations listed are all permitted to 
undertake vehicle checks on behalf of the Council. In addition, an officer of the Council may require an 
additional test to be undertaken or the applicant to be directed to a specific testing garage in all cases at 
the expense of the applicant/licence-holder. The officer also retains the option to check any vehicle for 
standard of condition of appearance. 
 

 Only vehicles that comply with the requirements and conditions relating to private hire 
vehicles/hackney carriage vehicles or non-standard private hire vehicles will be licensed. The vehicle must 
remain in the condition as determined by those conditions throughout the licensed period. The Council shall 
refer to its enforcement policy when dealing with licensees who fail to comply with these conditions or 
relevant legislation. 
 

 Vehicle age policy 

 At the time a vehicle is first licensed (including changes of vehicles if not to a currently licensed 
vehicle), the vehicle must normally be less than 7 years of age. The vehicle’s age will be determined by the 
vehicle registration document. The age limit may be exceeded if the vehicle complies with all applicable 
standards.  Once a vehicle reaches 10 years of age, the licence will only be renewed if the vehicle passes 
3 compliance tests each year, at approximately 4-monthly intervals. 

 Tyres 

 The vehicle shall be equipped with a minimum of 4 road wheels and 1 full-sized spare wheel. The 
tyres shall be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer and not more than 10 years old. 

 Tyres must not be purchased as part-worn or used. 

 Tyres must have a minimum tyre tread depth of 3 mm over the central 3/4 of the tread pattern 
(including spare tyre). 

 The vehicle must be fitted with either all radial or all cross-ply tyres and the spare tyre must be the 
same size as those fitted to the vehicle, except for a vehicle with a manufacturers ‘space saving’ wheel. 

 Vehicles with a 'space-saving' wheel are to comply with the manufacturer's specifications as to use. 
When so used, the vehicle must not be used for plying for hire, or private hire. Any change in the type or 
size of the tyres fitted to the vehicle must be reported to the licensing officer at once. 

 Accessibility  

 The Council recognises the need to promote the use of wheelchair accessible vehicles to ensure 
that all members of the community are able to benefit from the service that they provide.  

*Requirements relating only to hackney carriage vehicles*. Whilst all newly issued hackney plates must be 
wheelchair-accessible, private hire vehicle applications for these types of vehicle are also welcomed by the 
Council. 
 

 Where a vehicle is wheelchair-accessible: 

a)  All lifts / ramps must be maintained and in fully working order so as to comply with the Lifting 
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 
b)  All equipment used to strap /or tie a wheelchair in place should be fully maintained and in full 
working order  
c)  All tie / strap locations shall be kept clear of any obstruction. 
 
 Reducing air pollution 

Page 106



 

Page 17 of 83 

 The Council is committed to encouraging applications for more fuel-efficient vehicles. Vehicle 
pollution has a significant impact on air quality in the district, and there is widespread agreement that more 
must be done to reduce the number of higher-polluting vehicles. 

 Drivers are also advised that vehicles should not be left to idle as this causes unnecessary pollution 
and increases their fuel costs. 

 From 1 May 2019 The Air Quality (Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles Database) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2019 will require the Council to provide details to the secretary of state of all hackney carriage 
and private hire vehicles. Therefore the following details will be provided as requested; 

a) the date from which the licence has effect; 
b) the date on which the licence is due to expire; 
c) a statement as to whether the vehicle is a taxi or a private hire vehicle 
d) such other information the licensing authority holds in relation to the vehicle that may be relevant  

for the purposes of ensuring the accurate identification of vehicles, having had regard to any 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State.3 

 Advertising 

 No signs, notices, advertisements, marks, numbers, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices 
whatsoever shall be displayed on, in or from any licensed vehicle except as required by any statutory 
provision or with prior written approval of the Council. In relation to other advertising materials, any false, 
misleading or inaccurate material contrary to this policy and/or its conditions will result in the taking of 
enforcement action. 

 All advertising material must be approved in writing by the Council prior to use or display and an 
administration fee of £25 will be payable per batch of advertising. 

 Not more than two external advertisements (excluding the roof signs) may be carried on any vehicle, 
confined to the side panels and must comply with the Advertising Standards Authority code of advertising. 

 Any advertising material must not use the Council’s logo.  

 Taximeter calibration 

 All hackney carriage vehicles must be fitted with a taximeter. Private hire vehicles that are fitted 
with a taximeter must adhere to the following conditions. 

 The taximeter shall be calibrated following a change to the table of fares or when requested by the 
Council.  A certificate of calibration provided by the taximeter installer must be produced on first issue, 
transfer or when the seal is damaged or missing. 

 The operation of the taximeter must be in accordance with the provisions of the Byelaws in force 
at the time within the Three Rivers District with respect to hackney carriage vehicles. 

 Change of Vehicle 

 Change of vehicle applications must be completed and submitted by the licensed driver and not by 
the hire/lease company supplying the temporary vehicle. 

 Roof Boxes and Roof Racks 

 The use of roof boxes and roof racks is strictly prohibited unless there is roof space or storage 
already integrated into the vehicle. 

  Guidelines for CCTV systems in hackney carriage & private hire vehicles 

 Introduction 

                                                           
3 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111177969  
 

Page 107

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111177969


 

Page 18 of 83 

 These guidelines set out to ensure that CCTV systems installed in hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles licensed by the Council are properly managed whilst being used to prevent and detect crime; 
and enhance the health, safety and security of both drivers and passengers. 

 The decision whether to install CCTV in a licensed vehicle is at the discretion of the vehicle licence-
holder and vehicle owner (if these are different), all costs would need to be met by these individuals as the 
Council will not provide funding or assist in finding funding. 

 Vehicle owners, who may also be the driver and/or operator, installing CCTV systems must fully 
comply with the requirements set out in these guidelines. 

 For the purposes of these guidelines the term "CCTV system" will include any electronic recording 
device attached to the inside of vehicle having the technical capability of capturing and retaining visual 
images and audio recording from inside or external to the vehicle. In addition to the standard CCTV camera 
system these may include for example, such devices as events/incident/accident data recording devices. 

 The purpose of CCTV 

 The purpose of the CCTV system shall be to provide a safer environment for the benefit of the driver 
and passengers by: 

• Deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime 
• Reducing the fear of crime 
• Assisting the Police in investigating incidents of crime 
• Assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents 

 
 General requirements 

 Any CCTV system to be fitted must, as a minimum, meet the requirements set out in this document. 
Only CCTV systems meeting these requirements and approved by the Council can be installed into licensed 
vehicles. 

 CCTV systems installed will be inspected as part of the annual licensing inspection to ensure they 
do not pose a risk to the safety of the passengers or the driver and are fitted safely and securely. 

 The installation and operation of CCTV must comply with the requirements of the Information 
Commissioner’s CCTV Code of Practice. 

 All equipment must comply with any legislative requirements in respect of Motor Vehicle Construction 
and Use Regulations 1986. CCTV installed must also meet any other relevant legislation, including any 
new legislation which may be introduced following the installation of such systems. 

 All equipment must meet all requirements as regards safety, technical acceptability and 
operational/data integrity. 

 All equipment must be designed, constructed and installed in such a way and in such materials as 
to present no danger to passengers or driver, including impact with the equipment in the event of a collision 
or danger from the electrical integrity being breached through vandalism, misuse, or wear and tear. 

 Automotive Electromagnetic Compatibility Requirements (EMC) 

 CCTV equipment must not interfere with any other safety, control, electrical, computer, navigation, 
satellite, or radio system in the vehicle. 

 Any electrical equipment such as an in-vehicle CCTV system fitted after the vehicle has been 
manufactured and registered, is deemed to be an Electronic Sub Assembly (ESA) under the European 
Community Automotive Electromagnetic Compatibility Directive and therefore must meet with requirements 
specified in that Directive. 

 CCTV equipment should be e-marked or CE-marked. If CE marked confirmation by the equipment 
manufacturer as being non-immunity related and suitable for use in motor vehicles is required. 

 Camera design requirements 

Page 108



 

Page 19 of 83 

 The camera(s) must be fitted safely and securely, should not adversely encroach into the 
passenger area and must not impact on the safety of the driver, passenger or other road users. 

 Installation 

 All equipment must be installed as prescribed by the equipment and/or vehicle manufacturer 
installation instructions. 

 The installed CCTV system must not weaken the structure or any component part of the vehicle or 
interfere with the integrity of the manufacturer's original equipment. 

 All equipment must be installed in such a manner so as not to increase the risk of injury and/or 
discomfort to the driver and/or passengers. For example, temporary fixing methods such as suction cups 
will not be permitted, or lighting, such as infra-red, which emits at such a level that may cause distraction 
or nuisance to the driver and/or passengers. 

 All equipment must be protected from the elements, secure from tampering and located such as to 
have the minimum intrusion into any passenger or driver area or impact on the luggage carrying capacity 
of the vehicle. 

 It is contrary to the Motor Vehicle (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 for equipment to 
obscure the view of the road through the windscreen. 

 Equipment must not obscure or interfere with the operation of any of the vehicle’s standard and/or 
mandatory equipment, i.e. not mounted on or adjacent to air bags/air curtains or within proximity of other 
supplementary safety systems which may cause degradation in performance or functionality of such safety 
systems. 

 Viewing screens within the vehicle for the purposes of viewing captured images are not permitted. 

 All wiring must be fused as set out in the manufacturer’s technical specification and be appropriately 
routed. 

 If more than one camera is being installed their location within the vehicle must be specific for 
purpose i.e. to provide a safer environment for the benefit of the Taxi/ PHV driver and passengers. 

 All equipment must be checked regularly and maintained to operational standards, including any 
repairs after damage. 

 All system components requiring calibration in situ should be easily accessible. 

 Camera Activation Methods 

 Activation of the equipment may be via a number and combination of options, including: 

• door switches 
• time delay 
• driver’s panic button 
or, 
• in the case of an incident/event recorder, predetermined G-Force parameters set on one 
 or more axis (i.e. braking, acceleration, lateral forces) 
 

 The CCTV system may be configured to record images for a short period of time before the trigger 
event, during the related incident and a short period following the related incident. 

 A direct wired link to the vehicle’s taximeter, in the case of a Taxi, will not be acceptable. 

 Audio Recording 

 CCTV systems must not be used to record conversations between members of the public as this 
is highly intrusive and unlikely to be justified except in very exceptional circumstances. You must choose a 
system without this facility wherever possible; however, if the system comes equipped with sound recording 
facility then this functionality should be disabled. 

Page 109



 

Page 20 of 83 

 There are limited circumstances in which audio recording may be justified due to a specific threat 
to an individual’s personal safety, e.g. when a ‘panic button’ is utilised in response to a threat of physical 
violence. 

 Where this audio recording facility is utilised a reset function must be installed which automatically 
disables audio recording and returns the system to normal default operation after a specified time period 
has elapsed. The time period that audio recording may be active should be the minimum possible and 
should be declared at the time of submission for approval of the equipment. 

 In the limited circumstance where audio recording is justified, signs must make it very clear that 
audio recording is being or may be carried out. 

 Image Security 

 Images captured must remain secure at all times. 

 The captured images must be protected using approved encryption software which is designed to 
guard against the compromise of the stored data, for example, in the event of the vehicle or equipment 
being stolen. 

 The Information Commissioner’s Office has published guidance on how to keep personal data 
(including personal data contained in CCTV images) secure, on their website. 

 Retention of CCTV images 

 The CCTV equipment selected for installation must have the capability of retaining images either: 

 within its own secure, encrypted hard drive; 

 using a fully secured and appropriately encrypted detachable mass storage device, for example, a 
compact flash solid state card; 

or 

 where a service provider is providing storage facilities, transferred in real time using fully secured 
and appropriately encrypted GPRS (GSM telephone) signalling to a secure server within the service 
provider’s monitoring centre. 

 Images must not be downloaded onto any kind of portable media device (e.g. CDs or memory sticks) 
for the purpose of general storage outside the vehicle. 

 CCTV equipment selected for installation must include an automatic overwriting function, so that 
images are only retained within the installed system storage device for a maximum period of 28 days from 
the date of capture. Where a service provider is used to store images on a secure server, the specified 
retention period must also only be for a maximum period of 28 days from the date of capture. 

 Where applicable, these provisions shall also apply to audio recordings. 

 Notification to the Information Commissioner’s Office 

 The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) is the official regulatory body responsible for enforcing 
compliance with privacy and data protection legislation 

 The law defines a “data controller” as the individual or organisation which has ultimate responsibility 
for how personal data is collected and processed. For the purpose of the installation and operation of in-
vehicle CCTV, the “data controller” is the company, organisation or individual which has decided to have a 
CCTV system installed and operating within the vehicle. The data controller is ultimately responsible for 
how the images are stored and used and determines in what circumstances the images should be 
disclosed. 

 ‘Notification’ is the process by which a data controller informs the ICO of certain details about their 
processing of personal information. These details are used to make an entry in the public register of data 
controllers. 

Page 110



 

Page 21 of 83 

 This means that any company, organisation or individual vehicle owner who has a CCTV system 
installed within a licensed vehicle must register with the ICO and obtain documented evidence of that 
registration. This documentary evidence may have to be presented to the Council at any time during the 
term of the vehicle licence. 

 The notification requires renewal on an annual basis, and payment of the appropriate fee specified 
on the ICO’s website. 

 Using a third party service provider (data processor) 

 Where a service provider is used for the remote storage and/or management of CCTV data they 
will act as a ‘data processor’. 

 A data processor, in relation to personal data, means any person (other than an employee of the 
data controller) who processes data on behalf of the data controller, in response to specific instructions. 
The data controller retains full responsibility for the actions of the data processor. 

 There must be a formal written contract between the data controller and data processor (service 
provider). The contract must contain provisions covering security arrangements, retention/deletion 
instructions, access requests and termination arrangements. 

 Documentary evidence of the contractual arrangements may be required to be presented to a 
Council official at any time during the term of the vehicle licence. 

 Using recorded CCTV images 

 The data controller is responsible for complying with all relevant data protection legislation, as well 
as being legally responsible for the use of all images including any breaches of privacy and data protection 
legislation. 

 Any images and/or audio recordings should only be used for the purposes described earlier in these 
guidelines. 

 Requests to view captured images may be submitted to the data controller by the Police or other 
statutory law enforcement agencies; the Council; insurance companies/brokers/loss adjusters; or in 
exceptional circumstances, other appropriate bodies. The data controller is responsible for responding to 
these requests in accordance with the law. Police or other law enforcement agencies should produce a 
standard template request form, setting out the reasons why the disclosure is required. Alternatively a 
signed statement may be accepted. 

 All requests should only be accepted where they are in writing, and specify the reasons why 
disclosure is required. 

 Under the DPA, members of the public may also make a request for the disclosure of images, but 
only where they have been the subject of a recording. This is known as a ‘Subject Access request’. Such 
requests must only be accepted where they are in writing and include sufficient proof of identity (which may 
include a photograph to confirm they are in fact the person in the recording). 

 Data Controllers are also entitled to charge a fee for a subject access request (currently a maximum 
of £10). More guidance on handling subject access requests can be found in the ICO’s Subject Access 
Request Code of Practice, which is available on their website. 

 Signage 

 All vehicles fitted with a CCTV system must display the sign shown below in a prominent position. 
The driver may also verbally bring to the attention of the passengers that CCTV equipment is in operation 
within the vehicle, if it is felt necessary or appropriate. 

 The signage must be displayed in such positions so as to minimise obstruction of vision and to make 
it as visible as possible to passengers, before and after entering the vehicle. 

Page 111



 

Page 22 of 83 

  
 The name and contact details of the Data Controller must be provided in the blank space included 

on the sign template. The contact details can be in the form of either a telephone number, email address 
or website URL. 

 Signage for external-facing CCTV systems 

 Where a CCTV system is installed in order to record incidents outside the vehicle, it will not be 
practical to display a sign. Instead, when the CCTV is activated in response to an incident, the driver of the 
vehicle must inform the person(s) recorded that their personal data was captured as soon as practicable 
after the incident. 

 They should also be informed of the purpose for which the device has been installed, for example 
to facilitate their insurance company’s investigation of insurance claims. 

 Annual Certification from installer 

 Any CCTV system should be checked annually by the installer and evidence of this must be 
provided to the Council. Where an installation company ceases to exist, a similar installation company 
should be used. 

  CCTV Checklist 

 To assist individual drivers, owners and operators who are considering the installation of a CCTV 
system, the Council has produced the summary checklist below to help ensure that all of the relevant 
approval requirements/standards are complied with. 

Please tick 
 Notification submitted to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). www.ico.org.uk 
 Has the ICO provided you with documentation to evidence your notification as the “data 

controller” associated with your system? 
 Do you have documentary evidence regarding contractual arrangements with any data 

processor or service provider associated with the operation or management of the CCTV 
system? (where applicable) 

 Have you displayed the required signage, including the relevant contact details? 
 Does the CCTV system meet the installation standards as set out in this policy? 

 
 Communication, Audio and Visual Devices 

 Mobile devices can only be used if they are held in a cradle and are used completely hands-free. 

 All Communications Devices must be securely fitted within the vehicle and appropriately located so as 
to not interfere with the operation of the vehicle. 

 The use of headphones is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle. 

Page 112

http://www.ico.org.uk/


 

Page 23 of 83 

 In order to protect passenger confidentiality, a licensed driver must neither retain nor publish any 
image, sound or information of any passenger(s) captured on a hand-held recording device or any other 
form of recording device, except where this is to an authorised officer of the Council or Police. 

 Policy on Convictions and Conduct - New Applicants 

  Each case is to be taken on its own merit. 

  Some discretion may be appropriate if the offence and/or behaviour is isolated and there are 
mitigating circumstances. Equally, the history of offending (including multiple offences/combinations of 
offences /types of offences) and/or behaviour may warrant a longer period free from convictions. 

  Accordingly, whilst it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions that, individually, 
meet the guidelines below, the overall offending history must be considered when assessing the applicant’s 
suitability to be licensed. 

  A series of civil or criminal offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern 
than an isolated minor conviction. Obviously some discretion can be afforded if an offence is isolated and 
there are mitigating circumstances, but the overriding consideration is the protection of the public. 

 Simply remaining free of convictions will not necessarily be sufficient to show that a person is fit and 
proper where other circumstances/evidence bring this into question. Furthermore it should always be 
remembered that the periods free of conviction in this section are suggested minimums. 

 Whilst the time period detailed in this section provides guidance to potential applicants as to how long 
they should wait before applying for a licence following described offences/convictions, any application 
made following these guidelines is still subject to the same considerations as to whether the applicant is fit 
and proper, and therefore simply following the guided timescales in no way guarantees the granting of a 
licence. 

  Notwithstanding and without prejudice to any other provision within this document, ordinarily the 
Council would as a minimum expect the standard rehabilitation periods identified in the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 to have expired. 

  Criminal convictions or civil penalties will be considered by officers or, in cases of doubt, by the 
Licensing sub-committee. 

  An application from any person awaiting trial for an offence which brings into question whether they 
are a fit and proper person (including but not limited to death by dangerous driving, drugs, violence, sexual 
offences, dishonesty, driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or offences of a habitual nature) will 
not normally be considered until the outcome of the trial. 

 In order for the Council to fully consider the case on its merits, the applicant should provide a written 
statement of the offences (including any that they are awaiting trial for), with evidence, covering the nine 
points in the paragraph below, which would be available for examination by the Council. 

  Where the Council becomes aware of issues including previous criminal history/convictions, any 
arrest, any charges, inappropriate behaviour for a hackney carriage/private hire driver and/or significant 
comments on any DBS check, consideration will be given to each applicant's suitability for licensing against 
the following criteria (in no particular order): 

• nature of the offence/conduct/charge etc. 
• circumstances in which the offence/conduct/charge etc. was committed 
• circumstances of the individual concerned 
• subsequent periods of good behaviour 
• overall conviction/behaviour history 
• sentence imposed by the Court 
• seriousness of the offence/conduct/charge etc. 
• any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references) 
• taking all the above issues into account, together with any other relevant issues, whether  

   the protection of the public may be at risk. 
 

 These guidelines do not deal with every type of offence, and do not prevent the Council from taking 
into account offences not specifically addressed in the guidelines, or other conduct which may be relevant 

Page 113



 

Page 24 of 83 

as to whether an individual is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage or a private hire driver’s 
licence. 

  Minor motoring offences 

 Convictions for minor traffic offences such as speed limit offences, or non-endorsable traffic 
offences such as obstruction or waiting in a restricted street should not prevent a person from applying to 
be a hackney carriage or private hire driver. 

 If sufficient points have been accrued to require a period of disqualification of the applicant’s driving 
licence then a hackney carriage or private hire licence may be granted 12 months after its restoration but 
a warning should be issued as to future conduct. New applicants with 6 or more points on their DVLA 
driver’s licence will be refused until endorsement(s) expire and the number of penalty points drops below 
this threshold. 

 Further disqualification from driving as a result of penalty points being accrued may result in refusal 
to issue a licence. 

 Traffic offences involving the loss of life 

 A very serious view will be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a driving offence that 
resulted in the loss of life or serious injury. A licence will not be granted if an applicant has a conviction for 
any of the following:- 

• Causing death by dangerous driving 
• Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or drugs 
• Causing death by careless driving 
• Causing death by driving for any other reason 
• Or any similar offences (including aiding abetting, attempting or conspiring to commit)  
 offences which replace the above.  
 

  Major traffic offences not involving the loss of life 

 A very serious view should also be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a major traffic 
offence even if it has not involved the loss of life, as it raises questions as to the applicant’s ability to protect 
the public. 

 Before an application is considered, an applicant should be free of conviction for 10 years and since 
the completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, for offences such as: 

• Dangerous driving 
• Reckless driving 
• Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to commit). 

 
  Other serious traffic offences 

 Other serious traffic offences include: 

• Accident offences  
• Driving without due care and attention 
• Driving whilst using a mobile phone or mobile device 
• Careless driving 
• Construction and use offences (This is in relation to tinted windows) 
• Licence offences 
• Traffic direction and sign offences  
• Driving whilst disqualified 
• Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to ` 

  commit) 
 

 Insurance offences and alcohol/drug offences are dealt with under their own separate subsections 
below 

 Theft or unauthorised taking of a vehicle are dealt with under the 'dishonesty' subsection below. 

Page 114



 

Page 25 of 83 

 Any conviction for a serious traffic offence under ‘other serious traffic offences’ in this policy should 
normally merit refusal to issue a licence and no further application should be considered until a period of 7 
years either free of conviction or since completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, has elapsed. 

 More than one conviction for a traffic offence within two years should merit refusal to issue a licence 
and no further application should be considered until a period of 5 years either free of convictions or since 
completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, has elapsed. 

 Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs (including medication) or legal highs 

 A serious view is taken of driving or being in charge of a vehicle whilst under the influence of drink 
or drugs or legal highs, as licensees are professional vocational drivers and drink/drug driving convictions 
raise serious concerns for the safety of the public. An isolated incident of drink driving or driving under the 
influence of legal drugs should not necessarily debar an application but strict warnings will be given as to 
future behaviour. However an exception to this is the use of novel psychoactive substances (NPS – 
commonly referred to as legal highs) which will be treated in the same regards as illegal drugs below. 

 At least 5 years should elapse, after the restoration of the EU (UK) full driving licence, before an 
applicant may be considered for a private hire or hackney carriage driver’s licence. 

 More than one conviction for these offences or any conviction for driving under the influence of 
illegal drugs should raise grave doubts as to the applicant’s fitness to drive the public and therefore hold a 
licence. 

 If there is reason to suspect persistent alcohol and/or drugs use, misuse or dependency (e.g. two or 
more offences relating to alcohol or drugs, with or without a vehicle) a specialist medical examination and 
report should be required before an application is entertained to ensure that the applicant meets the DVLA 
Group 2 medical standards in relation to alcohol/drug misuse and dependency. If the applicant is found to 
be (or to previously have been) alcohol- or drug-dependent, a period of 5 years should elapse after 
treatment is complete before a further licence application is considered. 

 Drunkenness without a motor vehicle 

 An isolated conviction for drunkenness need not debar a driver from obtaining a licence but a 
number of convictions could indicate a medical problem necessitating a medical examination. In some 
cases a warning would be sufficient.  If there is reason to suspect persistent alcohol use, misuse or 
dependency (e.g. two or more offences for drunkenness with or without a motor vehicle) a specialist medical 
examination and report may be required to ensure that the applicant meets the DVLA Group 2 medical 
standards in relation to alcohol misuse and dependency. 

 In addition, applicants will normally be required to show a period of at least 5 years has elapsed 
after completion of detoxification treatment if (s)he was an alcoholic. 

 Illegal drugs without a motor vehicle 

 A serious view is taken of any illegal drugs-related offence. The nature and quantity of the drugs, 
whether for personal use or supply are issues which should be considered. 

 An applicant would normally be expected to be free of convictions relating to the possession of 
illegal drugs for 5 years requiring at least 5 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence. 

 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has more than one conviction for 
offences related to the possession of illegal drugs and has not been free of conviction for 7 years with at 
least 7 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence. 

 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence related 
to the supply, importing or production of illegal drugs and has not been free of conviction for 10 years with 
at least 10 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence. 

 If there is reason to suspect persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency (e.g. two or more 
convictions relating to any drugs, with or without a vehicle) a specialist medical examination and report will 
normally be required before an application is entertained to ensure that the applicant meets the DVLA 
Group 2 medical standards in relation to drug misuse and dependency. If the applicant is found to be (or to 
previously have been) drug dependent, a period of 5 years should elapse after treatment is complete before 
a further licence application is considered. 

Page 115



 

Page 26 of 83 

 Sex and indecency offences 

 As hackney carriage and private hire drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable 
passengers. Applicants who have been convicted of sexual or indecency offences (or where there is other 
behaviour and/or evidence to suggest a disposition to commit such offences) must be closely scrutinised. 
Applicants with convictions for sexual offences will usually be refused. 

 In particular, an application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an 
offence such as: 

• Rape 
• Assault by penetration 
• Offences involving children or vulnerable adults 
• Sexual assault 
• Indecent assault 
• Possession of indecent photographs, child pornography etc. 
• Exploitation of prostitution 
• Trafficking for sexual exploitation 
• Indecent exposure 
• Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to 
 commit) 
• Any sex or indecency offence that was committed in the course of employment as a taxi or PHV 
 driver 
• Soliciting (e.g. kerb crawling) 
• Importuning 
• Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to 
 commit). 
 
 If a licence is granted a strict warning as to future conduct should be issued. 

 A person on the sex offenders register would not be considered a fit and proper person to hold a 
licence. 

 Violence 

 As hackney carriage and private hire drivers maintain close contact with the public, a firm line should 
be taken with drivers with offences involving violence. An application will normally be refused if the applicant 
has a conviction for an offence that involved loss of life or serious injury. 

 At least 5 years free of conviction with at least 5 years to have passed since the completion of the 
sentence before an application is considered from anyone whose offending history and/or other 
behaviour/evidence suggests an aggressive or violent disposition, and even then a strict warning should 
be administered as to future conduct. 

 However given the range of offences that involve violence, consideration must be given to the 
nature of the offences. In particular: 

 (i) An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such 
 as: 

• Murder 
• Manslaughter 
• Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving 
• Terrorism offences 
• Kidnapping 
• Threats to kill 
• Wounding with intent to cause grievous bodily harm 
• Grievous bodily harm 
• Robbery 
• Burglary 
• Possession of a weapon 
• Any 'hate' crime or offence ordinarily falling within paragraph (iii) below aggravated by a  

  'hate' crime 

Page 116



 

Page 27 of 83 

• Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to  
  commit). 
 (ii) Before an application is granted, an applicant should be free of conviction for at least 7 years 
 with at least 7 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, for 
 offences including: 

• Assault occasioning Actual Bodily Harm 
• Assault with intent to resist arrest 
• Assault on Police 
• Domestic Violence related offences (unless these are covered by (i) above) 
• Harassment 
• Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to  

  commit). 
 
 (iii) Before an application is granted, an applicant should be free of conviction for at least 5 years 
 with at least 5 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence, for offences including: 

• Arson  
• Common assault 
• Criminal Damage 
• Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to  

  commit) 
 

 An application will normally be refused if an applicant has more than one conviction in the last 10 
years for an offence of a violent nature. 

 Dishonesty 

 Taxi and PHV drivers are expected to be persons of trust. They deal with cash transactions and 
valuable property may be left in their vehicle in error. 

 Drivers are required to deposit such property with the police within 48 hours. 

 The widespread practice of delivering unaccompanied property is indicative of the trust that 
business people place in drivers. Moreover, it is relatively easy for a dishonest driver to defraud the public 
by demanding more than their legal fare etc. 

 This for example would include misuse of MPV additional occupancy rates. Licence-holders also 
have access to the names and addresses of their customers and their daily movements. Overseas visitors 
may not be familiar with the currency or costs of journeys and may be vulnerable to an unscrupulous driver. 
Accordingly a serious view should be taken of any conviction involving dishonesty. 

 Nationally it has been known for drivers to pass information on vulnerable persons to others for 
later abuse or to abuse vulnerable persons, including taking money from such persons. 

 Offences involving dishonesty for the purposes of this policy include: 

• theft 
• fraud 
• benefit fraud 
• handling or receiving stolen goods 
• forgery  
• conspiracy to defraud 
• obtaining money or property by deception 
• other deception 
• taking a vehicle without consent 
• driving whilst disqualified  
• any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit).   
 

 An application will normally be refused if an applicant has been convicted of burglary or more than 
one conviction for other dishonesty offences in the last 10 years. 

 Insurance offences 

Page 117



 

Page 28 of 83 

 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a vehicle without 
insurance. An isolated incident would normally prevent a licence being granted until a period of five years 
from the date of the offence has expired. More than one conviction for these offences within the past ten 
years would normally prevent a licence from being granted or renewed. 

 Licensing offences 

 This subsection applies to licensing offences not covered elsewhere within this convictions and 
behaviour section of the policy such as plying for hire, using an unlicensed vehicle/driver. 

 At least 12 months free of conviction should elapse before an application will be considered. Unless 
there is significant mitigation, an applicant will normally be refused until a period of at least five years free 
of conviction has expired where the applicant has committed more than one licensing offence within the 
last five years. 

 An applicant with an isolated conviction that is more than one year old may be licensed subject to 
a written warning. 

 Individuals previously licensed by the Council and revoked for offences connected to their licence 
will not normally be granted a further licence in the future. Cases such as this will be considered by the 
Lead Licensing Officer under their delegated authority. 

 Cautions 

 An admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued. Accordingly cautions will be 
assessed in the same way as a conviction by the Court.  

 Non-conviction information 

 If an applicant has, on more than one occasion, been arrested or charged but not convicted for an 
offence, or is subject to an antisocial behaviour injunction/order or similar order, which suggests he/she 
may not be a fit and proper person, or if there is other evidence to suggest the applicant may not be a fit 
and proper person, consideration should be given to refusing the application. 

 Failing to declare convictions on the application form should normally result in refusal and at least 
twelve months elapsing from the date of receipt of the application form before an application will be 
considered and a new application will be required. 

 As with the rest of this part of the policy, in assessing the action to take, the safety and security of 
the travelling public must be the paramount concern. 

 Suspension/refusal/revocation by another Council 

 An applicant who has been suspended/refused/revoked by another Council may not be considered 
“fit and proper” for a period of at least 3 years from the date of the suspension/refusal/revocation. This 
period may be extended depending on the circumstances of the revocation. 

 The Council shall also have a right to make enquiries of that other authority. 

 Policy on Convictions and Conduct for existing licensees 

 Time of action 

 Existing holders of driver’s licences are required to notify the Council in writing within five working days 
of receiving a driving licence endorsement, fixed penalty notice, warning, reprimand, police caution, criminal 
conviction or other criminal proceedings (including their acquittal as part of a criminal case). 

 In addition, licence-holders must inform the Council in writing or by email within 3 working days of their 
arrest for any matter (whether subsequently charged or not). To fail to do so, will raise serious questions 
for the Council as to the honesty of the licence-holder and will be taken into account as part of any 
subsequent renewal applications. 

 Policy details 

Page 118



 

Page 29 of 83 

 Each case is to be taken on its own merit. 

 Any person awaiting trial for or suspected of committing an offence which brings into question whether 
they are a fit and proper person (including but not limited to death by dangerous driving, drugs, violence, 
sexual offences, dishonesty, driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or offences of a habitual nature) 
will normally be revoked pending the outcome of an investigation or trial. 

 Although each case will be assessed on its own merits in line with this policy, licence-holders should 
expect the revocation of their licence for these types of offences to be immediate in nature. The initial 
consideration regarding revocation will be undertaken by officers. However, if a driver does not agree with 
the officer’s decision to revoke his/her licence he/she may apply to the local Magistrates’ Court to appeal 
this decision within 21 days of the revocation being received by the driver. 

 When considering whether a licence should be suspended or revoked, some discretion may be 
appropriate if the offence and/or behaviour is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances. Equally the 
history of offending (including multiple offences/combinations of offences/types of offences) and/or 
behaviour may warrant a longer period free from convictions. Accordingly the overall offending history must 
be considered when assessing the applicant's suitability to be licensed. 

 Therefore any licence-holder awaiting trial for, or suspected of, committing an offence or demonstrating 
behaviour which, taken together with the licence-holder’s history of offending (including multiple offences 
/combinations of offences /types of offences) and behaviour (including before the licence was granted and 
during the course of the licence), lead the Council to believe that the licence-holder is not a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence, may have their licence suspended or revoked. 

 Whilst it is possible that a licence-holder may have a number of previous convictions that, individually, 
meet the guidelines below, the overall offending history must be considered when assessing the licence-
holder’s suitability to continue to be licensed. A series of offences/behaviour over a period of time is more 
likely to give cause for concern than an isolated minor conviction/demonstration of unacceptable behaviour. 
Obviously some discretion can be afforded if an offence is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances 
but the overriding consideration is the protection of the public. 

 In order for the Council to fully consider a case on its merits, the licence-holder should provide a 
written statement of the offences, with evidence, covering the nine points in the paragraph below, which 
would be available for examination by the Council. 

 Where the Council becomes aware of issues including previous criminal history/convictions, any 
arrest, any charges, inappropriate behaviour for a hackney carriage/PHV driver and/or significant 
comments on any DBS check, consideration will be given to each licence-holder's suitability for licensing 
against the following criteria (in no particular order): 

• nature of the offence/conduct/charge etc. 
• circumstances in which the offence/conduct/charge etc. was committed 
• timely notification to the Council of offence/conduct/charge  
• circumstances of the individual concerned 
• subsequent periods of good behaviour 
• overall conviction/behaviour history 
• sentence imposed by the court 
• seriousness of the offence/conduct/charge etc. 
• any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references) 
• taking all the above issues into account, together with any other relevant issues, whether the protection 

of the public may be at risk. 
 
 These guidelines do not deal with every type of offence, and do not prevent the Council from taking 

into account offences not specifically addressed in the guidelines, or other conduct which may be relevant 
as to whether an individual is a fit and proper person to continue to hold a hackney carriage or a private 
hire driver’s licence. 

 Expedition policy for revoked licences where reinstating a licensee is considered appropriate 

 General 

 The High court ruling of R (application of Singh) v Cardiff City Council [2012] EWCH 1852 (Admin) 
has established that it is unlawful to suspend and then revoke a driver for a single offence. Therefore it is 

Page 119



 

Page 30 of 83 

necessary to revoke a driver immediately if the Council becomes aware of information which gives serious 
concerns about a driver. 

 This policy is to assist in the timely replacement of a driver’s licence, when it has been revoked but 
following investigation it has established that the Council does not have any remaining concerns with 
regards to the fit and proper nature of the person. 

 A relevant officer of the Council will decide if an applicant falls in to this part of the policy and the 
applicant will be advised if this is the case. 

 The investigation of the Council with regards to establishing whether an individual is fit and proper will 
take into account any available information but is not reliant on other authorities’ investigations into any 
connected allegations, although information will always be requested from other agencies when they are 
known to be involved. 

 As the Council is required to consider each case on balance of probability, a police investigation which 
results in an individual not being convicted may not in itself be considered to be sufficient for the Council to 
issue a new licence to the individual as Police investigations are determined at a higher level of proof i.e. 
beyond reasonable doubt. In addition to this, a Police investigation may uncover breaches of this policy 
committed by a driver and the Council would need to take these into account. 

 Process 

 If the Council makes a decision to issue a new licence to a driver whose licence was previously 
revoked, a new application will be required from the individual but some existing documents which are ‘in 
date’ in terms of the hackney carriage and private hire policy will normally be transferred to the new 
application. 

 Depending on the circumstances surrounding the revocation, some updated documents may be 
required and these will be determined on a case by case basis. For example, if a driver’s health leads to 
their licence being revoked and their health subsequently improves so that they may be considered fit to 
be a licensed driver, a new medical would be required. The same would be the case for an individual who 
is subject to a Police investigation, where their criminal history would be checked using the DBS update 
service; if the applicant is no longer signed up to this service, a new DBS (First Advantage) will be required 
as part of their application (and they will be required to re-register for the update service). 

 When a decision is made to issue a new licence, this will usually be processed within 5 working 
days of all required documentation being received. 

 Fees   

 The new licence will usually be issued for the period that the revoked licence had left to run and no 
further charge will be levied, with the exception of any connected costs such as for new documentation 
which will remain the applicant’s responsibility. 

  

Page 120

https://gbg.onlinedisclosures.co.uk/Authentication/Login?ReturnUrl=%2f


 

Page 31 of 83 

 TABLE OF OFFENCES SUMMARY (PLEASE READ SPECIFIC PARAGRAPH FOR MORE 
INFORMATION. 

 
  

Offence category Offences Additional period if relevant Comment 

Serious violence 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Aggravated burglary 

Applications will not be 
granted for convictions in 

these categories 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Any homicide offence 
Grievous bodily harm 
Malicious wounding 

Rape 
Riot 

Sexual assault  
Terrorism 

Violent disorder 
        

Violence 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Actual bodily harm 

10 years 

Applications will 
not be granted if 
an applicant has 

two or more 
convictions 

involving violence 
or serious 
violence 

Affray 
Arson 

Assault on a police officer or other 
public servant 

Possession of a firearm 
Resisting arrest  

Robbery  
Slavery, abduction, false 

imprisonment etc 
Threats to kill  

Any offence that can be categorised 
as domestic violence 

7 years  

Applicants will be 
assessed 

according to the 
actual offence   

Public Order Act offences (eg 
causing harassment, alarm or 

distress) 
5 years 

Unless Classed as 
a ‘hate crime’  

        

Serious criminal 
offences 

  
  
  
  

Common assault  

5 years 
  
  
  

Applications will 
not be granted if 
an applicant has 

two or more 
convictions 

involving violence 
or serious 
violence 

Criminal damage 
Obstruction of police or other 

statutory officers 

Theft by an employee 

Possession of a weapon 
Applications will not be 

granted for convictions in 
this category 

  

Page 121



 

Page 32 of 83 

  

Sexual offences 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assault by penetration 
Applications will not be 

granted for convictions in 
this category   

  
  
  
  

Indecent assault 

Applications will not be 
granted for convictions in 

this category 
 

Child Sexual Exploitation  
Indecent assault 

Trafficking including preparatory 
offences as defined within the 

Sexual Offences Act 2003 
Making or distributing obscene 

material 
Applications will not be 

granted for anyone on the 
Sexual Offenders Register 

or where the offence 
involved Children, Young 

Adults or Vulnerable Adults 
  

Possession of indecent 
photographs  

5 years 

        
Dishonesty 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Theft ears 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant has 

two or more convictions 
involving dishonesty 

Burglary 

 
 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant has 

two or more convictions 
involving dishonesty 

  

Fraud (including benefit fraud) 
Handling or receiving stolen 

goods 
Forgery 

Obtaining money etc by 
deception 

Taking a vehicle without consent 
Evasion of taxes or duties 

Deception  
Attempting to pervert the course 

of justice or perjury 

5 years 

Page 122



 

Page 33 of 83 

 

 

Substance abuse 
offences Driving under the influence of 

drink or drugs (including 
prescription drugs) 

5 years 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant has 

two or more convictions 
involving driving under the 

influence 
Substance abuse 

offences 
Serious driving 

offences 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Driving under the influence of 
drink or drugs (including 

prescription drugs) 
Possession of drugs with intent to 

supply 

Applications will not be 
granted for convictions in 

this category 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant has 

two or more convictions 
involving driving under the 

influence 
  

Possession of drugs 8 years   

Causing death by dangerous 
driving 

 
 

Applications will not be 
granted for convictions in 

these categories 
  
  

  
  
  

Causing death by dangerous 
driving whilst under the influence 

of alcohol or drugs 

Causing death by careless driving 

Dangerous driving 10 years 

Applications will not be 
granted if an applicant has 
two or more convictions in 

this category 
Driving without due care and 

attention 
5 years Applications will not be 

granted if an applicant has 
two or more convictions in 

this category 
  

Inconsiderate driving 5 years 
Driving when disqualified 5 years 

Failing to identify driver of vehicle 
when required 

5 years 

Page 123



 

Page 34 of 83 

Other 
driving 

offences 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Construction and Use Regulation 
Offences 

Will not normally merit a 
refusal except for: 

existing applicants with 9 or 
more points endorsed on 

their DVLA licence 
new applicants with 6 or more 

points endorsed on their 
DVLA licence 

  
  

  
  
  
  
  

Traffic directions and signs 

Pedestrian Crossing offences 

Speed limits 

Motorway Offences 

Insurance offences 5 years 
Applications will not be granted 

if more than one conviction 
Driving or having control of a vehicle 

without a valid MOT certificate 
5 years   

Driving or being in control of a vehicle 
without adequate insurance 

5 years 
Applications will not be granted 

if more than one conviction 
Vehicle being used in anti-social 

manner 1 year 
    

  
  
  

Vehicle being used in connection with 
commission of any criminal offence 

Driving otherwise than in accordance 
with a licence 5 years 

  Failing to stop after or to report an 
accident 

Licensing 
offences 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conviction under byelaws for hackney 
carriages 5 years 

  
  
  

Plying for hire 

Failing to carry an assistance dog 

1 year 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Charging more than the metered fare 

Refusing to convey a passenger within 
a controlled district 

Offences under any other licensing 
regime 

Failing to notify licensing authority of 
change of vehicle address etc 

Failing to notify licensing authority of 
accident to licensed vehicle 

Waiting on a hackney carriage rank as 
a private hire vehicle 

Unlawfully prolonging journey 

Obstruction of authorised officers or 
constables 

Failing to wear identification badge 
3 months 

  
  
  

May be up to 12 months for 
persistent failures to comply 

  
  
  

Failing to display vehicle licence plate 
on vehicle 

Failing to comply with vehicle licence 
conditions 

Page 124



 

Page 35 of 83 

 
 Licensing enforcement 

 General 

 The Council issues hackney carriage and private hire driver and vehicle licences to ensure 
passenger safety. 

 The DfT guidance is clear on the necessity of enforcement to maintain high standards of public 
safety. All enforcement schemes need to be proportionate and transparent. 

 Any enforcement system needs to deal with persistent, low level breaches up to serious, possibly, 
criminal behaviour. There needs to be a grade of sanctions from informal warnings through to suspension 
and revocation of licence. It is clear that the majority of enforcement will be for relatively minor offences or 
breaches and will be undertaken by the licensing officer. 

 Enforcement options 

 There are a number of options that shall be considered following the identification of an activity for 
which the necessary licence, notice or registration has not been applied for or the Licensee has not 
complied with the conditions of a licence, notice or consent issued by the Council or byelaw made by the 
Council, or this policy or other legislation has been contravened. One or more of the following may be 
deemed appropriate: 

• Verbal advice 
• Inspection 
• Issue of points via monitoring of contraventions system 
• Suspension 
• Revocation 
• Refusal of future licence application or restriction of such licence by imposition of conditions 
• Formal Caution 
• Prosecution. 

 
 There is a long standing relationship between the licensing team and the trade. This is based on the 

application of consistent standards for all parties. 

 Enforcement Policy 

 The authority will have regard to the Police and Criminal Evidence Act Codes of Practice. 

  Verbal advice 

 To be followed where the vehicle or driver standards are found to be reasonably satisfactory but 
wanting in some minor respect. 

 Inspection 

 Inspections will normally be of vehicles or documents/records. In most cases, appointments will be 
made with adequate notice and at reasonable hours unless this would defeat the object of the inspection. 
Licensees will comply with officer requests to view documents or records and must attend appointments 
for inspections. 

 Penalty points scheme 

 Any licensed person who has in the opinion of the licensing officer committed an infringement of the 
law or licence conditions will be served with a notice as follows:- 

  

Deliberately or recklessly providing 
false information 

Page 125

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111169490/pdfs/ukdsiem_9780111169490_en.pdf


 

Page 36 of 83 

 

 The Council operates a system whereby infringements of the law or licence conditions by a licence-
holder can be recorded and given a value dependent upon the nature of the infringement. This scheme 
reduces possible subjectivity from the enforcement process. Any licensee who, in the opinion of an 
authorised officer, has committed an infringement will be issued with a contraventions notice form. 

 This is a points-based monitoring system whereby licensees receive a certain number of points 
against their hackney carriage or private hire licence for specific offences, similar to the way in which points 
are issued against a DVLA licence for motoring offences. If a driver reaches 12 points within a 12-month 
period, the licence will be referred to the Lead Licensing Officer [or the Regulatory Services Sub-Committee] 
for consideration. The decision maker will receive a report from officers and invite written representations 
from the licence-holder. This system allows the Licensing department to become aware of patterns or 
problems.  The penalty point scheme enables the licensing team leader or Members to give weight to 
patterns or problems when issues come before them. 

Contraventions Points x Contraventions Points x 
No first aid kit 3  No smoke free signage 2  
No fire extinguisher 3  Vehicle cleanliness 2  
No emergency bulb kit 3  Private hire parked on taxi rank 4  
Failure to display badge 3  Unattended vehicle on taxi rank 4  
Failure to display plate/internal 
plate/door sticker(s) (including 
magnet(s)) 

3  Obstructing the Licensing 
Team/Enforcement officer. 

6  

Failure to notify change of details 
/convictions/FPN/fines and fine 
alternatives such as driving courses 
undertaken as a licence requirement 
– vehicle/driver/operator 

3  Failure to produce documents on 
demand to the licensing enforcement 
officer 

3  

Failure to report an accident to the 
licensing team 

3  Carrying too many passengers 6  

Failure to report a complaint - 
driver/operator 

3  Refusal to carry guide dogs, hearing 
dogs, or service dogs (unless exempt) 

12  

Horn misuse 2  Smoking/vaping in vehicle 12  
Private hire plying for hire 6  Overcharging 6  
Defective tyres, including part worn 
and 10yrs+ 

4 (per tyre)  Use of handheld phone or radio whilst 
driving 

12  

Using unapproved advertising on/in 
vehicle 

2  Breach of Public Spaces Protection 
Order 

4  

Failure to dress appropriately as 
defined in TRDC policy 

2  Other licence requirements/breaches of 
legislation:- 

Dependa
nt on 
case 

 

  
Plate No: ………………………….Driver’s name: ………………………………………….Driver’s badge No:……….. 
 
Vehicle registration: ……………………………has been inspected as indicated above. The contravention(s) above 
 
mean(s) that you have acquired ………… points. 
 
The vehicle must not be used until the contravention(s) above have been rectified and the vehicle is presented to 
the Council Offices by ………/………/……… * 
 
Failure to comply with this notice could lead to the revocation or suspension of your licences and does not rule out 
further proceedings when this matter is considered along with driver/vehicle history.* 
 
Date: …………………………..     Signed: ……………………………………… 
 
*Delete where appropriate 

Page 126



 

Page 37 of 83 

 The monitoring of contraventions system is only in place for breaches of conditions that the Council 
witnesses and/or investigates. If, for example, the Police deal with an issue by way of issuing a penalty 
notice or awarding penalty points/fine, the Council would not then issue points as well. 

 If the licence-holder believes that points have been issued in error, or that there are mitigating 
circumstances not taken into account by the officer, there is a right of appeal to the Head of Regulatory 
Services, Three Rivers District Council, Three Rivers House, Northway, Rickmansworth, Hertfordshire, 
WD3 1RL within 14 days of receiving the notice containing the points. The licence-holder will receive 
notification of the decision of the appeal within 30 days of receipt of the notice of appeal. 

 The issue of points does not prevent the Licensing section from taking any other or additional action, 
including prosecution where this is felt to be appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, any breach of 
legislation, conditions, or offences not contained within the table will be dealt with in line with the hackney 
carriage and private hire policy.   

 Allocation of penalty points 

The penalty point scheme assists the trade in maintaining its high standards and will act as a first step in 
assuring compliance with the licence conditions.  
 

 Points for Unattended vehicles 
A vehicle will be considered to be unattended if it is considered that the driver would not be available to be 
hired when a customer approached. Therefore, points would not be issued simply because the driver was 
standing outside of the vehicle but would be likely to be issued if the driver is not close enough to the vehicle 
to acknowledge the customer when they approach. Taxi ranks are provided for drivers to show that they 
are available for hire, and are not a parking provision for licensed vehicles. 
 

 Contraventions that will be dealt with outside of the penalty point(s) scheme 

The following licence contraventions are considered to be very serious and therefore a single offence shall 
lead to consideration of whether a licence-holder should be suspended or revoked: 

• Unlicensed vehicle by a licensed driver 
• Unlicensed driver using a licensed vehicle 
• Failure to display hackney carriage or private hire plate on licensed vehicle 
• Driving with no valid Insurance 
• Driving with no valid compliance/MOT 
• Contravention of suspension notice.  

 
Whilst a defective tyre will normally lead to 4 points being issued, the Council will consider the severity of 
the defect and this could lead to a higher number of points being issued and potentially suspension or 
revocation of the driver’s licence.  
 

 Suspension of licences 

 A suspension notice can be issued giving 21 days’ notice before the suspension takes effect or can 
be with immediate effect in the interest of public safety. 

 Whilst each case will be taken on its own merit, generally a suspension notice will normally be 
served in the following cases: 

• If there is a history of non-compliance with the licence conditions or legislation and/or where 
 12 points have been issued as detailed above in a twelve month period.  
• If there is a significant contravention in terms of risk to members of the public due to non-
 compliance.  
• If the person is not otherwise currently considered to be a fit and proper person to be a licensed 
driver.   
• Any other serious matter. 
 

 The policy on criminal records and behaviour will be used to assess whether a suspension should be 
given and if so whether it should be with immediate effect. 

 Also, the Crown Prosecution Service or Police may be asked to apply for bail conditions, which 
require any/all licences affected by this policy to be revoked by the Court. 

Page 127



 

Page 38 of 83 

 Where a licence is refused, revoked, suspended or not renewed the licence-holder must be provided 
within 14 days of the decision being made and notice of the grounds on which the action was taken. 

 Revocation of licences 

 In the case of a driver or operator licence, the test will be whether the driver/operator is a fit and 
proper person (assessed in accordance with this policy, current legislation, case law and guidance). If they 
are not, on the balance of probabilities, then the licence will be revoked. 

 The decision to revoke a licence will not be taken lightly. The lead licensing officer has delegated 
authority to revoke licences if appropriate or can refer the licence to a Regulatory Services/Licensing Sub-
Committee if deemed appropriate.   

 Voluntary Surrender 

 Voluntary offers to surrender a licence will be accepted if made in writing and the licence 
plate/disc/badge returned. No refund of licence fee will be paid on the surrender of a licence. 

 Notification of decisions 

 Any notice required to be served by the Council under this licence or under any of the provisions 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be deemed to have been properly 
served if sent by pre-paid post to, or left at, the last known address of the holder of the licence. Notices 
may also be served by email and will be deemed served on the individual once sent.  

 Appeal against refusal, suspension or revocation of a licence 

 The applicant or licence-holder has the right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court (or Crown Court if 
relating to refusal to grant a hackney carriage vehicle licence) Appeal procedures to the Magistrates’ Court 
will be detailed with notices sent out. On appeal to the Magistrates’ Court a suspended or revoked licence 
can continue to be used until the appeal is heard with the exception of those licence-holders suspended or 
revoked with immediate effect under section 61(2B)) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976. 

 Formal caution  

 This is an alternative to prosecution and requires that the offender must admit the offence. 

 In considering the issue of a formal caution the following will be taken into account: 

• The seriousness of the offence.   
• The benefits of its use rather than prosecution, e.g. cost, speed, deterrent effect in respect of 

re-offending 
• The intention to rectify the contravention 
• The evidence regarding the contravention.   
• Previous history of the offender 
• Consideration of the public interest (application of public interest test). 

 
 Written information will be given or sent to the offender regarding the significance of the caution 

immediately prior to offer of the formal caution. 

 Formal cautions will always require first the signature of the offender and then the authorised local 
authority representative. 

 Copies of the caution will be sent to the offender and sent to the central registrar of convictions.  
The Legal department will hold the original caution. 

 Prosecution   

 Prosecution will normally only be contemplated when the offences are serious, for example where 
there is a potential for risk to passenger safety, or as a result of refusal to accept other courses of action.  
Unlicensed persons or businesses will be considered for prosecution. 

 The following will be taken into account; 

Page 128



 

Page 39 of 83 

• the previous history   
• the explanations or attitudes  
• the probable public benefit 
• whether the use of a formal caution would be more appropriate. 
 

 Prosecution will be authorised by the Head of Regulatory Services after consultation with the Head 
of Legal and Democratic Services. 

 Should the Crown Prosecution Service be initiating action against a person or business for offences 
which also involve breaches of the Police Town Clauses Act 1847, Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 or byelaws made in respect of hackney carriages, they may be authorised to initiate 
proceedings under these acts. 

  

Page 129



 

Page 40 of 83 

 
Three Rivers District Council   

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers Licence Requirements 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
The following conditions will be attached, pursuant to section 51(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”), to all Private Hire Drivers’ Licences issued by Three Rivers Council, 
unless a specific exemption has been granted by the authority. The attachment of these conditions does 
not affect the Council’s entitlement to attach any other condition to a licence in response to a specific issue 
arising from a particular application. These requirements apply to hackney carriage and private hire drivers. 
In determining what matters should be considered for a person to be a fit and proper person to be a driver 
the following applies: 
 
1. Introduction 
1.1. In these conditions: “the Council” means Three Rivers District Council; “the Operator” means the 
holder(s) of the Private Hire Operator’s Licence issued by the Council; “vehicle” means any licensed private 
hire vehicle (and hackney carriages, if bookings are also invited and accepted for fulfilment by these 
vehicles) operated by the Operator and “driver” means the holder of a private hire driver’s licence. 
 
1.2. Terms defined under section 80 of the 1976 Act shall bear the meanings set out therein. 
 
1.3. The licence is issued in respect of the person(s) whose details on the licence are not transferable. If at 
any time during the period of the licence the Operator for any reason does not wish to retain the licence, 
the licence shall be surrendered to the licensing officer at the Council. 
 
There would be no full or part refund of the licence fee in such circumstances. 
 
2. Fit and proper person 
Applications for a private hire driver’s licence can only be made by fit and proper persons. A fit and proper 
person must: 
 

• be medically fit 
• comply with the Council’s guidelines for the issue of hackney carriage and private hire driver and 

operator licences policy and the Home Office circular with regard to cautions, convictions or 
pending court appearances as detailed in the Home Office circular 

• not be entered on the sex offenders register 
• be an experienced driver 
• have the required knowledge of the district, highway code, policy and customer care. 

 
3. New applications 
Applications will only be accepted by the Licensing department if they are made on the form produced and 
provided by the Council.  
 
The first application for a driver’s licence must be accompanied by two independent references as to the 
character of the applicant. The names, addresses, and phone number of the referees must be stated on 
the application form.  
 
An application will also be only considered after it has proved that they have a right to work in the UK and 
the Council is in the receipt of two references, two passport-sized photographs, a full DVLA/ EU (UK) driving 
licence including photo card and DVLA code, a current medical certificate (not older than 3 months), proof 
of identity (Passport/ Birth Certificate), a relevant knowledge test pass certificate, an enhanced Disclosure 
and Barring Service criminal record check (not older than 3 months) or DBS certificate and written 
authorisation to check the ‘update service’, a specialist driving standards test certificate, safeguarding 
course pass certificate and a Certificate of Good Conduct from the relevant embassy for all applicants who 
have lived in the UK for less than 5 years (new applicants only) or who have been absent for a period of 9 
months or more within the last three years for current licensees.  
 
If the Certificate is not issued in English, the applicant will be required to pay for the relevant translation. All 
fees must be paid when submitting the application.  
 
A medical certificate completed by the applicant’s registered medical practitioner is required to prove the 
applicant is fit to drive a licensed vehicle. 
 

Appendix 1 

Page 130



 

Page 41 of 83 

Where an existing licensed hackney carriage driver applies to obtain a private hire licence, or vice versa, 
no additional medical will be required unless due. 
 
4. Renewal 
Applications will only be accepted by the Licensing department if they are made on the form produced and 
provided by the Council.  
 
An application will only be considered upon receipt of the correct fee, two passport-sized photographs and 
a full DVLA/EU (UK) driving licence including photo card and DVLA Code.  Any additional documents that 
are due to expire within the renewal period must also be presented at renewal. In addition, the expired 
driver’s badge must be returned to the Council in order to collect your replacement badge. 
 
All fees must be paid at the time the application is submitted. Only full applications will be accepted and 
any missing documents or elements will mean your application will not be processed.  
 
Licences will be issued following processing within 28 days of a full application.  
 
All applications for the renewal of a licence must be made at least four weeks prior to the expiry of the 
existing current licence. Applications received less than 28 days prior to the expiry of the licence may not 
be issued prior to the expiry of the current licence, and in these cases the Licensee will not be able to work 
as a licensed driver or drive a licensed vehicle until the new licence is issued. 
 
5. Fees 
The appropriate fee as prescribed from time to time by the Council must accompany all applications.    
 
6. Photographs 
An application must be accompanied by two recent passport sized photographs of the applicant. It must be 
signed by the applicant. It must be taken against a light coloured background, and clearly show your full 
face. You must not wear sunglasses, or any head covering unless head covering is worn for religious or 
medical reasons. The photo will be used for the driver’s badge that will be issued by the Council. 
 
7. Proof of identity 
A birth certificate, national insurance number, passport or new style photographic driver’s licence must be 
produced on first application. 
 
8. Duration of driver’s licence 
The standard period that a licence shall remain in force is three years, commencing from the date the 
licence is granted, not the date of the application itself. 
 
No licence will be issued for a period longer than the standard three-year period, but if an applicant wishes 
to be considered for a licence with a shorter duration, this request must be put in writing at the time of 
application. These requests will be considered on a case by case basis.  
  
A driver’s licence on renewal may be issued for a probationary period of less than three years as determined 
by the Council, dependant on the applicant’s ability to demonstrate being a fit and proper person. Items 
that could be considered would include driver’s experience, criminal record, references, past allegations, 
record of compliance with the conditions, outstanding fees and any other reasonable cause. 
 
9. Medical certificate 
The standard of medical examination as required by the Council is that normally associated with a Group 
2 driver’s licence. All drivers are required to provide a certificate signed by their registered medical 
practitioner to the effect that they are physically fit to be the driver of a taxi or private hire vehicle.  A medical 
certificate is required at first application, every 3 years up to 65 years of age, and annually thereafter. 
 
The applicant is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any medical examination.  
 
The licensee shall notify the licensing officer in writing as soon as possible and in any event not later than 
fourteen days of any illness or injury affecting his or her fitness to drive in any way. 

 
Where there is reasonable doubt over a driver’s fitness, the Council may direct the driver for a medical 
examination by a specified registered medical practitioner at any time. The applicant is responsible for the 
payment of all fees required for any medical examination. 

 
10. Driving experience 

Page 131



 

Page 42 of 83 

A valid full DVLA/ EU (UK) driver’s licence (Groups A and B) must have been held for a period of three 
years prior to application. Whilst each case will be taken on its merit, as a general principle a licence will 
not be granted where an applicant has been convicted of a serious driving offence in the past three years, 
or has more than six active points on their licence. 
 
In addition to the above, all new applicants will have to demonstrate good driving ability and be aware of 
potential hazards. This will be assessed by the completion of a driving assessment by the DSA; a valid 
(within valid date as printed on certificate) pass certificate will be required before the licence can be issued.  
Alternatively a driver can demonstrate his/her ability by being a member (by examination) of the Institute of 
Advanced Motorists, or holding a HGV/ PCV (PSV) licence.    
 
11. Disclosure and Barring Service criminal record check 
All new applicants are required to submit an enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service certificate as part of 
an application. Once licensed, drivers must undergo an annual Enhanced DBS check. All new applicants 
as well as existing drivers are therefore required to sign up to the DBS update service, and provide a signed 
mandate to the Council authorising officers to check the status of their certificate online.  
 
An authorised officer can make random checks whilst the licence is effective.  
 
All applicants should refer to the Council’s guidelines for issue of private hire driver and operator and Home 
Office circular with regards to any criminal convictions or cautions.   
 
Existing drivers at the time this policy is adopted will be required to sign up to the Update service when their 
current criminal record check is due to be updated. Failure to register a DBS certificate on the Update 
Service may result in contravention points being issued. 
 
12. Convictions 
Convictions will be dealt with in accordance with the policy on criminal convictions and behaviour in section 
21 of the hackney carriage and private hire policy. 
 
In order to ensure protection of the public a driver must ensure immediate disclosure (within 72 hours) to 
the licensing officer in writing if they are charged, arrested, cautioned, or convicted of any offence during 
the period of their licence. Should knowledge of any offences be withheld, this will reflect on a person fitness 
to be a licensed driver and may lead to a licence being suspended. 
 
13. Driver’s identity badge 
The badge shall be worn at all times the vehicle is being used as a licensed vehicle and in such a position 
and manner as to be plainly and distinctly visible. Hanging from the interior mirror is not acceptable.  
 
The driver must report the loss of their driver’s badge and or licence to the Council as soon as such loss 
becomes known. The driver cannot work as a private hire driver until a replacement badge has been issued. 
A replacement badge must be applied for via the self-service portal: http://bit.ly/TRDCPHReplacement  
 
Upon the expiry, revocation or suspension of the licence, the driver must return the badge to the Council 
within 7 days (5 working days). 
 
The badge remains the property of the Council at all times. 
 
13. Compliance with legislation 
Drivers, where applicable, are expected to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the byelaws made in respect of hackney 
carriages and conditions relating to the private hire driver’s licence.  They are also expected to comply with 
Section 37 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and Equality Act (2010) in respect of assistance dogs.   
 
14. Smoking 
It is prohibited for anyone (driver or passenger) to smoke within the vehicle at any time. Appropriate signage 
must be displayed inside the vehicle in accordance with the Health Act 2006.  
The use of electronic / vapour cigarettes is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle while the driver 
has a passenger on board. The lack of knowledge and research into the long-term effects of the exposure 
to these devices is unknown. 
 
The Council requires an international no-smoking symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be displayed in 
the front passenger window or on the dashboard, and in the rear passenger window. The signs must be 
clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle.  

Page 132

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-update-service
http://bit.ly/TRDCPHReplacement


 

Page 43 of 83 

 
15. Insurance 
The driver of a licensed vehicle must ensure the vehicle is insured for use for that specific purpose. Such 
insurance must be continuous and include full legal liability for passengers and luggage. A copy of the 
insurance certificate must be kept in the vehicle at all times. 
 
Insurance Write Offs 
Three Rivers Council will NOT licence any vehicle that has been written off by an insurance company under 
categories A, B & S (formerly category C). However, we will accept Category N (formally Category D) as 
the vehicle will have only been damaged superficially and the structural integrity of the vehicle remains 
intact. 
 
16. CCTV in vehicles 
The licensee shall ensure that they do not drive a licensed vehicle with unauthorised facilities for recording 
visual or audio sources. All vehicles with an authorised CCTV system shall contain a certificate of 
authorisation. Any proposed CCTV system must satisfy the requirements of the CCTV conditions within the 
hackney carriage and private hire licensing policy and must be authorised by a relevant officer. 
 
17. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by refusal to grant a licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of 
a decision being made. 

 
18. Change of personal details 
The driver shall immediately (within 7 days (5 working days)) notify the authorised officer in writing of any 
change in his or her personal details. Changes that must be notified shall include; change of operator, 
changes of address, change of name/surname, marital status, phone number and mobile number. 
 
Any change of details must be reported via the online portal with the required application, fee(s) and 
supporting documentation evidencing the change of detail where necessary being submitted. 
http://bit.ly/TRDCLIChange  
 
19. Suspension, revocation, and refusal to renew licence 
Without prejudice to these conditions, the Council may suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the licence 
when considered necessary to do so. 
The Council will have regard to this policy when making a decision to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew 
a licence. 
 
20. Other offences 
The licensee shall be guilty of an offence if he or she: 

• Wilfully obstructs an authorised officer acting in pursuance of Part II of the 1976 or the Town        
Police Clauses Act 1847 

• Fails to comply with any requirements made to him or her by the authorised officer 
• Without reasonable cause fails to give the authorised officer any other assistance or information 

which he may require for the performance of his or her functions. 
 
21. Conduct of driver 
The licensee shall: 
 

1. at all times be clean and respectable in his or her dress, behave in a civil and orderly manner, and 
not use foul and abusive language; 

2. take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, entering or alighting from 
the vehicle; 

3. assist any passenger in gaining access to or exiting from the vehicle; 
4. assist any passenger with the loading and unloading of luggage into and out of the vehicle; 
5. afford reasonable assistance in removing a passenger’s luggage to or from the entrance of any. 

house, station or place at which he or she may collect or set down a person unless otherwise 
directed by the hirer, shall proceed to the destination requested by the Hirer by the shortest possible 
route; 

6. not drive the vehicle without the written consent of the proprietor of the vehicle; 
7. not drink, eat, or play audio equipment in the vehicle without the express permission of the hirer; 
8. shall ensure that no annoyance or disturbance is caused to residents or other road users whilst 

driving the vehicle; 
9. not sound the horn or lights of the vehicle or shout in order to signify to the Hirer or passengers 

that the Licensee is waiting for the Hirer or passengers; 

Page 133

http://bit.ly/TRDCLIChange


 

Page 44 of 83 

10. not drive a licensed vehicle in a manner that may intimidate or have the potential to intimidate 
another road user; 

11. take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of luggage conveyed in, being loaded in or removed 
from  the vehicle; 

12. comply with all road traffic law; 
13. not use a mobile phone whilst driving; 
14. ensure that he or she does not drive a vehicle with more passenger capacity than their badge 

authorises.; 
15. not smoke or permit a passenger to smoke in the vehicle.  
16. ensure that regulation “No Smoking” signs are prominently displayed on the front passenger 

window or dashboard and on the rear passenger window of the vehicle, the signs are to be 
international “No Smoking” signs 70mm in diameter.  

 
In addition, the following apply. 
 
17. Drivers will ensure that they do not drive if they are under the influence of drugs or illegal or 

psychoactive substances. The use of these prior to commencing work, whilst at work or during 
meal/rest breaks in the working day, including meal/rest breaks spent outside of their operating 
base or vehicle or when on call, is strictly prohibited. 

18. Drivers must not initiate any dialogue of a “sexual” nature with a passenger including by telephone 
contact, social media, email or any other form of communication. Licensed drivers are not permitted 
to become involved “sexually”, or have sexual contact, with a passenger whether consent is given 
or not and whether or not the vehicle is carrying fare-paying passengers at the time. Conversations 
that are likely to offend or upset passengers should also be avoided, examples would be 
conversations of a personal nature, but whether a conversation would be considered ‘likely’ to 
offend or upset a passenger would be considered by the Council on an individual basis if a 
complaint is received. 

19. Before commencing work each day, licensed drivers must ensure that the vehicle is maintained in 
a clean, comfortable, safe, watertight and mechanically sound condition and is in all other respects 
suitable for the purpose for which it is intended. 

20. Before commencing work each day, licensed drivers must ensure that any vehicle they drive has 
an adequate Fire Extinguisher, First Aid Kit and Emergency Bulb Kit meeting the vehicle licence 
conditions. If during the day these items are used, the driver shall ensure that these are replaced 
before collecting the next customer. 

  
22. Passengers 
The licensee shall not:- 

a) Convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed 
in the licence for the vehicle  

b) Without the consent of the Hirer convey or permit to be conveyed any other person in the vehicle. 
 

Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 
c) Any child below the age of three years 
d) More than one person above the age of three years 
e) An infant in arms. 

 
The licensee shall ensure that all passengers between three and twelve years of age or 135cm in height 
wear an appropriate child restraint to travel in the front of a vehicle. If not available, these passengers must 
use an adult seat belt in the rear of the vehicle. 
 
23. Lost property  
23.1 The licensee shall ensure that, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 
thereafter, the vehicle is searched thoroughly for any property which may have been accidentally left 
therein, 
 
23.2. The licensee shall ensure that any property accidentally left, or found or handed to him in the vehicle 
will be taken to a Police station within 48 hours of it being found. 
 
23.3. All lost property, whether handed into the Police station or not, must be recorded either electronically 
or by any other method and be available for inspection by an authorised officer or Police officer. 
 
24. Written receipts 
The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide them with a written receipt for the fare paid. 
 

Page 134



 

Page 45 of 83 

25. Animals/assistance/guide dogs  
The driver shall not convey in a licensed vehicle any animal belonging to or in the custody of himself or the 
proprietor or operator of the vehicle.  
 
The driver shall ensure that any animals, only belonging to or are in the custody of a fare paying passenger 
are conveyed in the rear of the vehicle. The driver shall transport any person and his/her guide or assistance 
dog without additional charge.  Holders of an exemption certificate from carrying animals (issued because 
of medical reasons) must display the certificate in a prominent position. 
 
It is an offence to refuse to carry assistance/guide dogs. 
 
26. Prompt attendance 
26.1. The driver of a licensed vehicle shall, when hired, punctually attend at the appointed time and place, 
unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause. 
 
26.2. In the event of a delay or prevention by a sufficient cause, the driver shall contact the operator to 
inform them of the delay or sufficient cause. The driver or operator shall contact the hirer to explain the 
reason for delay. 
 
26.3. In the case of delay or prevention by a sufficient cause the operator shall either dispatch another 
vehicle or if necessary sub-contract the booking to another private hire operator to dispatch a replacement 
vehicle. 
 
27. Taximeter  
The following conditions apply. 
 

(a) A licensed driver shall not drive the vehicle unless the taximeter (where fitted) is in working condition 
and has been sealed by a meter company, which has issued the licensee with a calibration 
certificate.   

(b) The licensed driver shall not cause the fare recorded (in accordance with table of fares *Hackney 
Carriage Only*) to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had a reasonable opportunity of 
examining it and has paid the fare. 

(c) The Licensee shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper with any taximeter with which 
the vehicle is fitted, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto.  

(d) The Licensee shall ensure that when the vehicle is not in use the taximeter is switched off. 
 
28. Fare to be demanded 
28.1 The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a licensed vehicle a fare in excess of any previously 
agreed.  If the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter the fare shown on the face of the taximeter is the highest 
fare that can be charged. The driver shall not demand any fare higher than that shown on the face of the 
taximeter. 
 
28.2 (Hackney Carriage Only) A printed copy of the table of fares currently approved by the Council must 
be prominently displayed in the passenger compartment of the vehicle and the fare charged to any 
passenger shall not exceed that table. 
  
29. Seatbelts 
It is recommended that when driving the vehicle the licensee should wear a seat belt at all times. 
 
30. Insurance 
The driver of a licensed vehicle shall ensure that, before commencing to drive the vehicle, he or she is 
covered by a valid insurance policy for public hire (and private hire if private hire bookings are accepted 
from licensed operators) which includes full legal liability for passengers and luggage and shall ensure that 
they do not act in any way which might invalidate the insurance. 
 
The licensee shall, on being requested to do so, produce the insurance certificate to a Police officer or an 
authorised officer. 
 
31.  Accidents and damage to the vehicle 
The licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the vehicle 
and/or any damage materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle within 72 
hours of the accident using the form issued by the Council. The report must be submitted via the online 
portal: http://bit.ly/LicensedvehicleAccident  
 

Page 135

http://bit.ly/LicensedvehicleAccident


 

Page 46 of 83 

In the interests of public safety, the licensee of any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to submit 
a compliance certificate to the Council. The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for hire until 
it has been inspected and approved by the authorised officer or a new compliance certificate has been 
obtained where appropriate as considered by the Council on receipt of the reported details of the incident. 
 
32.  Inspections 
The licensee shall not obstruct the authorised officer or any Police officer from carrying out any inspection 
or test of the vehicle. 
 
33. Copy of licence and requirements  

The licensee shall at all times when driving the vehicle carry a copy of their licence and these requirements, 
and shall make it available for inspection by the hirer, any other passenger, the authorised officer or a police 
officer upon request. 
 
34. Variation of requirements 
The Council reserves the right to vary, delete or waive any of these requirements. 
 
35. Notification of decisions  
Any notice required to be served by the Council under any licence granted or under any of the provisions 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be deemed to have been properly 
served if sent by pre-paid post to, or left at, the last known address of the holder of the licence. Notices 
may also be served by email and will be deemed served on the individual once sent. 
 
36. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by refusal to grant a licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of 
a decision being made. 

 
  

Page 136



 

Page 47 of 83 

Requirements relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“The 1976 Act”) 
 

1. Applications 
All applications will only be acceptable if they are in the form provided by the Council, such form must be 
completed and signed by the applicant. An application will only be considered after production of the vehicle 
registration document, MOT (when required by law), Certificate of Compliance, (European whole vehicle 
type approved, if required), insurance certificate, calibration certificate (for taxi meter) and fee. 
 
2. Renewal 
All applications will only be accepted if they are produced and provided by the Council.   

 
An application for renewal will only be considered upon receipt of the correct fee, the Vehicle Registration 
document, and any additional documents that are due to expire within the renewal period. This may include: 
Insurance, MOT, and compliance certificate. In addition, the expired vehicle plate must be returned to the 
Council in order to collect your replacement.  
 
All fees must be paid at the time the application is submitted. Only full applications will be accepted, any 
missing documents or elements will mean your application will not be processed. 
  
Licences will be issued following processing within 28 days of a full application. 
 
All applications for the renewal of a licence must be made at least four weeks prior to the expiry of the 
existing current licence. Applications received less than 28 days prior to the expiry of the licence may not 
be issued prior to the expiry of the current licence, and in these cases the licensee will not be able to work 
as a licensed driver until the new licence is issued. 
 
3. Fee 
The appropriate fee, paid in full, as prescribed from time to time by the Council, must accompany all 
applications.   
 
4. Duration of vehicle licence 
All licences shall remain in force for a maximum of one year only, commencing from the date of the granting 
of the licence. 
 
5. Dual plating 
Any vehicle that is licensed with another local authority as a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
cannot be licensed by the Council. 
 
Vehicles found to be licensed with another local authority, whilst licensed with the Council will have the 
vehicle licence automatically revoked. 
 
We believe that all licensed drivers should be allowed to maximise their potential income. However, it should 
be noted that a licensed driver can only drive a vehicle which is licensed by the same licensing authority 
that issued the driver licence. This means that if you hold a Three Rivers District Council driver’s licence 
you can only drive a Three Rivers District Council licensed vehicle.  
 
6. Change of vehicle or transfer of licence 
An application by the licence-holder for a change of vehicle or an application to transfer the licence will only 
be considered after production of the vehicle registration document, MOT, certificate of compliance, 
(European whole vehicle type approved, if required), insurance certificate, valid taximeter calibration 
certificate and the relevant fee. In the case of a transfer application a dated letter stating that the vehicle 
and the plate are being transferred from the current holder to the new owner. This letter must include 
addresses, plate number, vehicle type and registration.  
 
Please note a change of vehicle application, and a transfer of a vehicle licence cannot take place at 
the same time.  
 
7. Type of vehicle 
The Transport Act 1985 allows licensing authorities to regulate vehicle standards. Circular 8/86 
accompanying the Transport Act, states that authorities will wish to ensure that vehicles are mechanically 
sound, roadworthy and safe.  The following will be applied: 
 

Appendix 2 
 

Page 137



 

Page 48 of 83 

• The vehicle must not be left hand drive 
• All newly licensed private hire vehicles must be no more than 7 years old as defined by the 

registration date on the vehicle V5 document and meet Euro 5 standards for emissions 
• Only vehicles holding or built to the standards required by the M1, M2 and M3 European whole 

vehicle type approval and meet Euro 5 standards for emissions will be licensed. 
 

Any converted vehicles will be required to hold the appropriate low volume type approval certificate in the 
M classification or the enhanced single vehicle certificate together with the original M type approval. 
 
• The vehicle must be maintained throughout the term of the vehicle licence, to a high standard of 

appearance to the complete satisfaction of the Council, and kept in the condition stated in the 
standards for conditions of appearance of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. 

• The vehicle shall have at least four road wheels and a spare wheel or a canister of tyre inflator/repair 
kept in the vehicle. The tyres shall be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer and 
not more than 10 years old. Tyres must have a minimum tyre tread depth of 3 mm over the central 
3/4 of the tread pattern (including spare tyre). 

• No vehicle shall be licensed which would require any passenger to climb over any luggage in the 
vehicle or climb into any boot space 

• All seats, front and rear must be fitted with seat belts 
• The vehicle must be submitted for a mechanical test at a garage authorised by the Council and 

may be inspected for suitability by the Council’s licensing officer. A certificate of compliance with 
the standards required under the Road Traffic Act 1972, Sections 43 and 44 must be provided by 
the garage. In addition to those standards required by the MOT the items detailed in the attached 
form are required  

• The Council’s licensing officer may direct the vehicle to be inspected in accordance with the 
certificate of compliance at a specific testing station 

• A certificate of compliance and MOT will be valid for 1 year from date of issue. 
• The vehicle should contain a portable dry powder 1kg capacity fire extinguisher. The extinguisher 

must conform to BS EN3 1996 Standard, and should be mounted in a convenient position in the 
vehicle. The extinguisher shall be marked with the hackney carriage/private hire vehicle registration 
number 

• A first aid kit complying with the Health and Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 should be carried 
in the vehicle.  The kit to be marked with the hackney carriage/ private hire licence number 

• Vehicles that have been converted to use liquid petroleum gas and/or Compressed Natural Gas, 
require compliance with the Liquid Petroleum Gas Association’s Code of Practice No.11 

• That a valid certificate certifying compliance with the standards of the Code of Practice No. 11 be 
submitted with all new applications in respect of converted private hire and hackney carriage 
vehicles unless such vehicles were factory converted from new  
 

8. Seating capacity 
The seating capacity of any hackney carriage/private hire vehicle shall be calculated in accordance with 
the provisions of Regulation 44 of the Road Vehicles (Registration and Licensing) Regulations 2002, (SI 
2002 No. 2742) and the Council’s decision shall be binding. 
 
9. Testing of vehicles 
A licence shall not be granted in respect of any vehicle unless such vehicle has a current certificate of 
compliance as detailed below, and a valid MOT certificate (where required). 
 
10. Insurance and road fund licence 
All hackney carriage and private hire vehicles must be licensed and insured for hackney carriage or private 
hire use. Such insurance must be continuous and include full legal liability for passengers and luggage. 
Proof of insurance must be submitted with each application for a licence and where it expires during the 
term of the licence a new certificate or cover note must be supplied to the Licensing team. 
 
11. Certificate of compliance 

• A certificate of compliance will only be granted where a vehicle complies in all respects with the 
detailed standard set out in the main policy document. 

• A certificate of compliance shall be valid for one year only from the date of issue, unless the vehicle 
is over 10 years old. 

• A certificate of compliance may only be issued by a vehicle testing station authorised and 
designated by the Council. 

• A current list of designated vehicle testing stations is available from the Council. 
 

Page 138



 

Page 49 of 83 

12. Examination of vehicles 
The licensing officer may request that the vehicle is presented at the Council’s offices at Three Rivers 
House Northway Rickmansworth Hertfordshire WD3 1RL at a time and date agreed for the purpose of 
establishing that the vehicle complies with the Council’s requirements.  
 
13. Smoking 
It is prohibited for anyone (driver or passenger) to smoke within the vehicle at any time. Appropriate signage 
must be displayed inside the vehicle in accordance with the Health Act 2006.  
The use of electronic / vapour cigarettes is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle while the driver 
has a passenger on board. The lack of knowledge and research into the long-term effects of the exposure 
to these devices is unknown. 

 
The Council requires an international no-smoking symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be displayed in 
the front passenger window or on the dashboard, and in the rear passenger window. The signs must be 
clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle.  
 
14. CCTV in vehicles 
The licensee shall ensure that their licensed vehicle does not contain any facilities to record visual or audio 
sources without first obtaining authorisation from the Council. Any proposed CCTV system must satisfy the 
requirements of the CCTV conditions section. 
 
15. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by refusal to grant a licence may appeal to the Magistrate’s Court within 21 days of 
a decision being made. 
 
16. Standards for conditions of appearance of vehicles 
The vehicle must comply with the following:- 
 
Rust: Any vehicle presented should be free from any significant areas of visible rusting.  Although minor 
blemishes should not constitute a failure, the following general criteria should be followed; any vehicle with 
visible rust patches should be failed 
 
Dents: Any vehicle with minor dents on one or more panels where such dents are more than 5cms in 
diameter/length should be failed 
 
Scratches: Any vehicle with un-repaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more panels, of 5cms 
in length, or a single scratch of more than 20cms in length, should be failed 
 
Paintwork: All panels on all vehicles shall be painted in manufacturer’s colour; panels with unmatched 
colours or in primer should be deemed as failures 
 
Seats: In conventional vehicles where it is intended that the licence be for four passengers, the rear seat 
must be at least 1220mm (48 inches) in width.  All seats shall have a minimum of 410mm (16 inches) per 
person and in respect of seating comply with the Road Vehicle (Registration and Licensing) Regulations 
2002.  All seats, including the driver’s must be free from repaired cuts, tears or cigarette burns, except of a 
very minor nature. Any repairs must have been carried out in a professional and neat manner.  All seats 
must be kept clean and tidy and free from all extraneous matter 
 
Carpets/floor covering: All carpets and floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, staining 
and soiling 
 
Headlining and other trim: All interior trim, including headlining shall be clean, complete, properly fitted 
and free from cuts, tears or soiling 
 
Boot/luggage compartment: This should be empty, except for spare wheel, essential tools and first aid 
kit (to comply with Health and Safety and First Aid Regulations). The compartment should be clean and 
any covering free from major cuts, tears or other damage or staining 
 
Interior: The interior must be kept clean, tidy and free of any water penetration or litter or other rubbish 
 
Vehicle emissions: The vehicle must comply with the Motor Vehicle (Emission Test) Regulations for Euro 
5 standard for emissions. 
 

Page 139



 

Page 50 of 83 

Glazing: All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any vehicle with a reading lower than the following 
will not be licensed. Front Windscreen 75%, Front Side Windows 70%, All other Windows 30%. The lower 
the number the darker the tint. 
 
There may be exemptions to allow factory fitted tinted windows in exceptional circumstances for example 
vehicles working under an applied exemption whereby the vehicle is used for Corporate, executive or 
Chauffer hire service’. All vehicles that are used for schools contracts must not be fitted with tinted windows 
which are darker than required standards. Vehicles that are found to have such tints will be removed from 
service immediately and the tints must be replaced with more appropriate glazing at the cost to owner of 
the vehicle. 
 
Roof Boxes and Roof Racks: The use of roof boxes and roof racks is strictly prohibited unless there is 
roof space or storage already integrated into the vehicle. 
 
  

Page 140



 

Page 51 of 83 

 
Requirements relating only to Private Hire Vehicles 

 
1. General 
The vehicle shall have three or four doors (a rear-opening hatch back will not be considered or counted as 
a door for the means of entry or egress, except that a multi-purpose vehicle may have a single sliding door 
to the left hand side of the vehicle) 

 
2. Private Hire occupancy plate 
The plate shall be securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle using a purposely made bracket at all times, for 
the duration of the licence. If this is not suitable or practicable, the plate shall be securely and permanently 
fixed to the rear of the vehicle, on or above the bumper by the use of screws or bolts, and be clearly visible. 
A magnet will not be considered securely fixed for the purposes of this condition. The licensee shall ensure 
the plate is kept clean and is not wilfully or negligently concealed from public view whilst the vehicle is 
licensed. 

 
The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle at all times throughout the period of licence, has this plate 
exhibited in the manner described above. 
 
Any plate that is either lost or stolen must be reported to the Council immediately by email to the licensing 
team (licensing.team@threerivers.gov.uk). A replacement plate must be applied for via the self-service 
portal: http://bit.ly/TRDCPHReplacement. 
 
The identification plates shall remain the property of the Council. 
 
3. Private Hire Internal Licence Plate 
When licensed, the vehicle shall have an authorised internal licence plate. This is to be displayed in the 
front windscreen of the vehicle in such a way as to be clearly visible from the inside and the outside of the 
vehicle.   
 
4. Signs etc. 
No sign, notice, advertisement, plate, mark, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices shall be used, if 
it contains anything of a religious or political nature or advertises Tobacco, Alcohol, any form of sex shop 
or a sex establishment, or contains any matter likely to cause offence. Approval on the type and extent of 
the advertising should be sought from the licensing officer, for which there is an administration fee per batch 
of advertising. 
 
No signs or advertising containing the word “TAXI” will be permitted on any Private Hire vehicle.  
 
5. Private Hire signs 

 A roof sign is not permitted. 
 
As directed by the Council the operator shall cause to be fixed and maintained to the front driver and 
passenger doors a prescribed sign bearing the words “Private Hire Vehicle – Advance Bookings Only. 
 
6. Dispensation/Exemption Certificates from displaying vehicle licence plate  
The Licensing team have a duty of care to ensure that all residents, professional clients and general 
customers travelling in Private Hire vehicles are safe and secure at all times. Dispensations will only be 
considered for specialist private hire use. This does not include airport services, regular school contracts 
and normal daily/weekend private hire work.  
 
Information listed below is required to be submitted prior to a formal decision being made. New documents 
with this information will be required by the Licensing team at the renewal stage of the vehicle licence to 
assess whether the exemptions should remain in force.  
 

• Identification of vehicle/s involved. We will require full details of the vehicles being used under 
exemption certificates, including make and model of vehicle, vehicle registration, Licence details, 
Owners details and Full Name & Address of the driver using the vehicle.  
 

• Nature of work carried out by each vehicle, which is alleged to justify an exemption (which must be 
work of a prestigious nature, as opposed to ordinary private hire work) detailing each of your 
contracts and information on trips carried out under the exemption certificate.  

 

Appendix 3 

Page 141

mailto:licensing.team@threerivers.gov.uk
http://bit.ly/TRDCPHReplacement


 

Page 52 of 83 

• Identities of all clients served by the vehicle/s identified. Full name, address and details of clients 
including contact name, telephone number and website address and companies house registration 
number.  

 
• Proportion of each vehicle's work, which is derived from each, named client. I.e. on a weekly basis 

how often will you be working for each individual client?  
 
• Written confirmation from the clients named. A letter will be required confirming use of your services 

and confirming reasons why plates are not to be displayed.  
 

Should a dispensation be approved the licence plate will not be required to be fixed to the vehicle; however, 
the licence, dispensation certificate and plate must be carried at all times in the vehicle. No advertising is 
permitted on or in any vehicle with dispensation. 
 
Any person aggrieved by the decision of refusal to grant a certificate can appeal to the Head of Regulatory 
Services in writing within 14 days.  
 
Where the use of vehicles changes during the period that the vehicle is licensed, the Licensing team must 
be informed so dispensation can be removed. If dispensation is removed, the exceptions that this provides 
will no longer relate to that vehicle. 
 
7.  Residential qualification 
The operator of any private hire vehicle must operate from an office within the area of the Three Rivers 
District Council for a period of the licence. 
 
8. Private Hire Vehicles May Not Operate From Taxi Ranks and Stands 
Private Hire Vehicles may not park in or operate from hackney carriage ranks or stands or ply the 
carriageway for hire but must be pre-booked. 
 
9. Roof Boxes and Roof Racks 
The use of roof boxes and roof racks is strictly prohibited unless there is roof space or storage already 
integrated into the vehicle. 
  

Page 142



 

Page 53 of 83 

Requirements Relating Only To Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
 

Town Police Clauses Act 1847 (“the 1847 Act”) 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 

 
1. General 

• All new hackney carriage vehicle licences issued shall be for a purpose built hackney carriage, 
capable of conveying a disabled person whilst seated in a wheelchair. The vehicle must be adapted 
or designed by the manufacturer or his agent, to carry at least one wheelchair bound passenger. 
Please check with the Licensing Department that the vehicle you intend to purchase meets the 
condition.  Vehicles of a type currently licensed as a hackney carriage in London are acceptable. 
 

• Other wheelchair accessible vehicles will be specifically approved by the Council for use as hackney 
carriages, subject to them meeting the following minimum requirements; 
 

• The wheelchair access should be available from the kerbside with the wheelchair facing forward and 
being secured to a CE type approved, manufacturer installed anchorage system for the chair. The 
passenger secured to a CE approved, manufacturer installed seat belt anchorage system 

 
• Passenger door dimensions to be not less than the minimum currently required of hackney carriages 

in London.   
 

• To improve access to disabled persons all hackney carriages licensed in compliance with the 
wheelchair accessibility requirements may only be changed to vehicles that similarly meet that 
standard  

 
• The vehicle shall have three or four doors (a rear-opening hatch back will not be considered or 

counted as a door for the means of entry or egress, except that a multi-purpose vehicle may have a 
single sliding door to the left hand side of the vehicle) 

 
2. Hackney Carriage Occupancy Plate 
For the duration of the licence, the vehicle shall have an authorised occupancy plate fixed to the rear of the 
vehicle.  The plate shall be securely and permanently fixed to the vehicle on or above the bumper and be 
clearly visible.  The plate shall be secured to the vehicle by the use of a bracket.  If a bracket is not suitable 
or practicable, then the plate shall be fixed with the aid of screws or bolts.   
 
3. Hackney Carriage Internal Plate 
When licensed, the vehicle shall have an authorised internal plate. This is to be displayed in the front of the 
vehicle in such a way as to be clearly visible from the inside and the outside of the vehicle.   
 
4. Taximeter 
All hackney carriage vehicles shall be fitted with a taximeter installed by an authorised taximeter company 
and so constructed, attached, and maintained as to comply with the following requirement: 

• All new hackney carriage vehicles shall require a calendar controlled tariff taximeter 
• The taximeter shall be fitted with a key flag or other device the turning of which will bring the 

machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word “hired” to appear on the face of the meter 
• Such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position indicating that the 

machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter 
• When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the taximeter 

in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the licensee or driver is entitled 
to demand and take for hire of the vehicle by distance in pursuance of the table of fares made by the 
Council in that behalf 

• The word “fare” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to apply to 
the fare recorded thereon 

• The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all times plainly 
visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle, and for that purpose the letters and figures shall 
be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring 

• The taximeter shall be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a hiring which is during the 
hours of darkness as defined for the purposes of the Road Traffic Act 972, and also at the request 
of the hirer 

• The taximeter shall have connected thereto a roof sign bearing the words “TAXI” in accordance with 
paragraph 8 below and such sign shall be plainly visible and legible to persons wishing to hire the 

Appendix 4 

Page 143



 

Page 54 of 83 

vehicle and for that purpose it shall be capable of being suitably illuminated when the vehicle is plying 
or standing for hire 

• The taximeter and all its fittings shall be so affixed to the vehicle with seals or other appliances that 
it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by breaking, damaging or 
permanently displacing the seals or other appliances 

• When the vehicle is standing or plying for hire or returning from another district the key flag or other 
device fitted with the taximeter shall be locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face 
of the taximeter 

• Before beginning a journey for which a fare is to be charged for distance and time, the taximeter 
should be brought into action so that the word “hired” is legible on the face of the taximeter and the 
taximeter should be kept on until the hiring has terminated 

• The taximeter and its fittings will be sealed by the installer 
• The taximeter shall be calibrated and sealed by the taximeter company at first installation and then 

when a seal is broken or missing, following a change to the table of fares, or when requested by the 
Council. The certificate of calibration is to be provided by the taximeter installer. A valid certificate 
should be produced on transfer, change or renewal of a licence.  

 
5. Signs etc 
No sign, notice, advertisement, plate, mark, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices shall be used, if 
it contains anything of a religious or political nature or advertises tobacco, alcohol, any sex related 
establishment (shop or venue), or contains any matter likely to cause offence. Approval on the type and 
extent of the advertising should be sought from the licensing officer. A charge will be payable as detailed 
in this policy 
 
6. Roof signs 
The minimum sign dimensions for roof signs are 10” wide 5” deep and 4” high, there are no maximum 
measurements. The word taxi only in black capital letters to be clearly legible on the front and rear side of 
the roof sign. The front of the sign must be white and the back red or white. Purpose built taxis are exempt 
from these requirements. 
 
The sign must be illuminated when plying or available for hire during the hours of darkness and must be 
linked to the taximeter so that when a fare is being carried, the roof sign is not illuminated. 
 
7. Taxi ranks and stands 
Hackney carriages can operate from authorised ranks or stands, including ‘shared’ stands or ply the 
carriageway for hire or can be pre-booked. 
  

Page 144



 

Page 55 of 83 

Licensing conditions relating to Private Hire Drivers 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
1. Introduction 
The following conditions are made by Three Rivers District Council in pursuance of the powers conferred 
by Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) to ensure efficient 
and effective regulation of private hire vehicle use and to ensure that proper vehicular and driver standards 
are maintained in the interests of public safety. 
 
These conditions should be read in conjunction with the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 and other relevant legislation. 
 
2. Definitions 
In these conditions: 
‘The application’ shall mean the application made by the licensee for the grant of the licence 
 
‘Authorised officer’ shall mean a licensing officer of the Council’s Regulatory Services Department or any 
other officer authorised by the Regulatory Services. 
 
‘The Council’ shall mean Three Rivers District Council 
 
‘the hirer’ shall mean any person or persons who from time-to-time hires or books the vehicle 
 
‘the licensee’ shall mean the person(s) named in the licence 
 
“the operator’ shall mean any person, company or partnership licensed by the Council to operate private 
hire vehicles 
 
“the vehicle” shall mean any private hire vehicle licensed by the Council 
 
3. General 
The licensee shall ensure that he or she complies in all respects with the requirements of any Act and 
regulations affecting the operation of private hire vehicles and motor vehicles, these conditions and any 
code of practice implemented by the Council. 
 
4. Maintenance of the vehicle 
The licensee shall: 
 

• Ensure that the vehicle to be driven by him or her is in a roadworthy condition, thoroughly cleansed; 
all equipment fittings and fixtures are present and serviceable and comply with the conditions 
attached to the licence relating to the vehicle before commencement of any journey. 

• Record details of checks and inspections in the record book provided by the proprietor of the vehicle. 
• Report any defect discovered by the licensee to the proprietor of the vehicle. 
 

5. Standard of Service 
The licensee shall: 

• at all times be clean and respectable in his or her dress, behave in a civil and orderly manner, and 
not use foul and abusive language 

• confirm the name, destination, and method of payment with every passenger prior to commencing 
any journey 

• take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, entering or alighting from 
the vehicle 

• assist any passenger in gaining access to or from the vehicle 
• assist any passenger with the loading and unloading of luggage into and out of the vehicle 
• afford reasonable assistance in removing a passenger’s luggage to or from the entrance of any 

house, station or place at which he or she may collect or set down a person 
• unless otherwise directed by the hirer, proceed to the destination requested by the hirer by the 

shortest possible route 
• not drive the vehicle without the written consent of the proprietor of the vehicle 
• not drink, eat, or play audio equipment in the vehicle without the express permission of the hirer 
• shall ensure that no annoyance or disturbance is caused to residents or other road users whilst 

driving the vehicle 

Appendix 5 

Page 145



 

Page 56 of 83 

• not use the horn or lights of the vehicle or shout in order to signify to the hirer or passengers that the 
Licensee is waiting for the Hirer or passengers 

• not drive a licensed vehicle in a manner that may intimidate or have the potential to intimidate another 
road user 

• take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of luggage conveyed in, being loaded in or removed 
from the vehicle 

• comply with all road traffic law 
• not use any hand-held communications or navigation devices or similar (such as mobile telephone, 

two-way radio, satellite navigation device or personal digital assistant) whilst driving 
• immediately notify the Council’s licensing officer if he or she has knowingly conveyed a dead body 

in the vehicle, and not drive the vehicle again until he or she has obtained written permission for the 
continued use of the vehicle 

• not cause or permit the vehicle to stand in such a manner as to suggest that it is standing or otherwise 
plying for hire or that it is a hackney carriage 

• not tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried in any private hire vehicle  
• not cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried for hire in any 

private hire vehicle 
• ensure that he or she does not drive a vehicle with more passenger capacity than their badge 

authorises.  
 
In addition, the following apply. 
• A licensed driver shall not smoke in their vehicle or permit any other person to smoke in their vehicle 

whether they are working or not. Under the Health Act 2006 all private hire / hackney carriage 
vehicles are required to be smoke-free at all times even when not being used for work purposes. ‘No 
Smoking’ signage must be displayed in the vehicle in accordance with the legislation. Failure to 
comply with the above may lead to a fixed penalty notice being issued or a criminal prosecution.  

• The use of electronic / vapour cigarettes is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle while the 
driver has a passenger on board. The lack of knowledge and research into the long-term effects of 
the exposure to these devices is unknown.  

• A licensed driver shall not initiate any dialogue of a “sexual” nature with a passenger including by 
telephone contact, social media, email or any other form of communication. Licensed drivers are not 
permitted to become involved “sexually”, or have sexual contact with a passenger, with or without 
consent. 

• Conversations that are likely to offend or upset passengers should also be avoided, examples would 
be conversations of a personal nature, but whether a conversation would be considered ‘likely’ to 
offend or upset a passenger would be considered by the Council on an individual basis if a complaint 
is received.  

 
6. Taximeter 
If the vehicle to be driven by the licensee is fitted with a taximeter, he or she shall not drive the vehicle as 
a private hire vehicle unless the taximeter is in working condition and has been sealed by a company with 
a calibration certificate being held by the Council. If the vehicle being driven by the licensee is fitted with a 
taximeter, he or she shall not cause the fare recorded to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had 
a reasonable opportunity of examining it and has paid the fare. 

 
The licensee shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper with any taximeter with which the vehicle 
is fitted, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto. The licensee shall ensure that when the 
vehicle is not in use the taximeter is switched off. 
 
If a taximeter is fitted then the tariff card shall be displayed in the vehicle so it is visible to the customer. 
 
7. Written Receipt of Fares 
The licensee shall, if requested by the hirer, provide a written receipt for the fare paid. 
 
8. Accidents and damage to the vehicle 
The licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the vehicle 
and/or any damage materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle within 72 
hours of the accident using the form issued by the Council. The report must be submitted via the online 
portal: http://bit.ly/LicensedvehicleAccident  
 
In the interests of public safety, the licensee of any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to submit 
a compliance certificate to the Council. The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for hire until 

Page 146

http://bit.ly/LicensedvehicleAccident


 

Page 57 of 83 

it has been inspected and approved by the authorised officer or a new compliance certificate has been 
obtained where appropriate as considered by the Council on receipt of the reported details of the incident. 
 
9. Prompt attendance 
The licensee, when it is agreed that the vehicle has been hired, shall be in attendance with the vehicle at 
the appointed time and place and shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually 
attend with the vehicle at such appointed time and place.  Prior to collecting the hire the licensee shall 
ensure that he or she is aware of the destination and how to reach the destination. 
 
10. Driver’s identity badge 
The licensee, at all times, when acting in accordance with this licence, shall wear in such a position as to 
be plainly and distinctly visible the badge issued to him/her by the Council. Hanging the badge from the 
internal mirror is not acceptable. 
 
11. Proximity to an authorised rank 
The licensee shall not be permitted to wait or park on the public highway within 75 metres of an authorised 
hackney carriage rank. 
 
12. Fares and fare table 
The driver shall not demand from any hirer a fare in excess of any previously agreed for that hiring between 
the hirer and the operator or, if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and there has been no previous 
agreement as to the fare, the fare shown on the face of the taximeter. The driver shall not demand any fare 
higher than that shown on the face of the taximeter. 

 
The licensee shall cause any statement of fares provided by the operator to be exhibited inside the vehicle, 
in clearly distinguishable letters and figures. 
  
13. Seat belts 
When driving the vehicle it is recommended that the licensee shall wear a seat belt at all times.  
 
14. Passengers 
The licensee shall not:- 

f) Convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed in 
the licence for the vehicle  

g) Without the consent of the Hirer convey or permit to be conveyed any other person in the vehicle. 
 
Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 

h) Any child below the age of three years 
i) More than one person above the age of three years 
j) An infant in arms. 

 
The licensee shall ensure that all passengers between three and twelve years of age or 135cm in height 
wear an appropriate child restraint to travel in the front of a vehicle. If not available, these passengers must 
use an adult seat belt in the rear of the vehicle. 
 
15. Carriage of animals and Assistance Dogs 
The licensee shall not permit any animal belonging to or under the care of the licensee or the driver to ride 
in the vehicle when using the vehicle for private hire. The licensee or driver shall not refuse any request to 
carry an assistance/guide dog, accompanying a person with a disability unless the licensee and/or driver 
has been exempted from this requirement by the Council. It is an offence to refuse to carry a guide or 
assistance dog (unless a medical exemption certificate is held. The licensee shall not refuse any reasonable 
request to carry an animal belonging to the hirer in the rear of the vehicle. 
 
16. Private hire vehicle operator 
The Licensee shall not use the vehicle for private hire unless the bookings are invited and accepted by an 
operator within the district. The licensee shall ensure the operator has a current private hire vehicle 
operator’s licence issued by the Council. 
 
The licensee shall notify the authorised officer in writing of the name and address of the operator for whom 
they are permitted or employed to drive for within 7 days (5 working days) from the date they commenced 
driving for that operator. If the licensee ceases driving for the operator, they shall notify the authorised 
officer in writing that they have ceased driving for the operator within 7 days (5 working days). If a driver 
ceases to work for an operator, and does not immediately notify the Council of their new operator’s details, 
they must return their drivers badge to the Council immediately. Any driver not employed or registered to 

Page 147



 

Page 58 of 83 

an operator upon the renewal of their licence shall be permitted to renew their licence, but their badge and 
licence will be retained by the Council until they find gainful employment with an operator based within 
Three Rivers District. 

 
17. Deposit of licence 
The driver shall deposit a copy of his or her paper licence with the vehicle licensee/proprietor and operator 
before commencing to drive the vehicle. The licence shall be retained by the vehicle licensee/proprietor 
and operator until such time as the driver ceases to drive that vehicle or ceases to be registered / employed 
by the Operator. 
 
18. Insurance 
The driver of a licensed vehicle shall ensure that they are covered by a valid, fully comprehensive insurance 
policy for private hire purposes which includes legal liability for passengers before commencing to drive the 
vehicle and shall ensure that they do not act in any way which might invalidate the insurance. The Licensee 
shall on being requested to do so produce the insurance certificate to a Police officer or the authorised 
officer. 

 
19. Lost property 
The licensee shall ensure that, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 
thereafter, the vehicle is searched thoroughly for any property which may have been accidentally left 
therein. The licensee shall take any property accidentally left in the vehicle or handed to him or her to a 
Police Station within the Three Rivers District boundary (see main policy) and leave it in the custody of the 
officer in charge and obtain a receipt. Such property if not sooner claimed by the owner must be taken to a 
Police station within 48 hours of the property being found. 
 
20. Inspections 
The licensee shall not obstruct the authorised officer or any Police officer from carrying out any inspection 
or test of the vehicle. 
 
21. Medical fitness 
The standard of medical examination as required by Three Rivers District Council is that normally 
associated with a Group 2 driver’s licence. All drivers are required to provide a certificate signed by their 
registered medical practitioner to the effect that they are physically fit to be the driver of a taxi or private 
hire vehicle.  A medical certificate is required at first application, every 3 years up to 65 years of age, and 
annually thereafter. 
 
The applicant is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any medical examination.  
 
The licensee shall notify the authorised officer in writing as soon as possible and in any event not later than 
fourteen days of any illness or injury affecting his or her fitness to drive in any way. 
 
Where there is reasonable doubt over a driver’s fitness, the Council may direct the driver for a medical 
examination by a specified registered medical practitioner at any time. The applicant is responsible for the 
payment of all fees required for any medical examination. 
 
22. Convictions and cautions 
The licensee shall, within 72 hours, disclose to the licensing officer in writing if they or any of their drivers 
are arrested, cautioned, or convicted of any offence (including motoring offences) during the period of this 
licence. A representative must fulfil this obligation if the licensee is detained by the Police. Fixed penalty 
notices must be declared when received not when the DVLA driving licence is updated. 
 
The licensee shall ensure that any licensed driver employed by them in any capacity is made aware that 
they are required to disclose all the information contained in point (16) above to the vehicle licence-holder 
during their period of employment. 

 
23. Change of personal details 
The licensee shall notify the authorised officer within 7 days (5 working days) in writing of any change in 
his or her personal details. Changes shall include, change of operator, changes of address, name status, 
phone number, mobile number, and email address. 
 
24. Copy of licence and requirements  
Licensees shall at all times when driving the vehicle carry with them a copy of their licence and these 
requirements, and shall make it available for inspection by the hirer, any other passenger, the authorised 
officer or a Police officer upon request 

Page 148



 

Page 59 of 83 

 
25. Other offences 
The licensee shall be guilty of an offence if he or she: 

 
• Wilfully obstructs an authorised officer acting in pursuance of Part II of the 1976 or the Town        

Police Clauses Act 1847; 
• Fails to comply with any requirements made to him or her by the authorised officer; 
• Without reasonable cause fails to give the authorised officer any other assistance or information 

which he may require for the performance of his or her functions. 
 
26. Variation of conditions 
The Council reserves the right to vary, delete or waive any of these conditions. 
 
27. CCTV in vehicles 
The licensee shall ensure that they do not drive a licensed vehicle with unauthorised facilities for recording 
visual or audio sources. All vehicles with an authorised CCTV system shall contain a certificate of 
authorisation. Any proposed CCTV system must satisfy the requirements of the CCTV conditions contained 
in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (available upon request) 
 
28. Right of appeal 
If aggrieved by any of these conditions, the licensee may appeal to a Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of 
the issue of the licence to the licensee. 
 
29. Expiry of licence 
The Licence-holder shall, upon expiry, revocation or suspension of his/her licence, forthwith return to the 
Council the licence and associated driver’s badge issued by the Council. 

 

Page 149



 

Page 60 of 83 

 
  

Appendix 6 

Page 150



 

Page 61 of 83 

Three Rivers District Council Hackney Carriage Byelaws 
Byelaws 
Made under section 68 of the Town and Police Clauses Act 1847, and section 171 of the Public Health Act 
1875, by the Council of Three Rivers District, with respect to hackney carriages in Three Rivers District. 
 
Interpretation 
Throughout these byelaws “the Council” means Three Rivers District Council and “the district” means Three 
Rivers District 
 
1. Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each hackney carriage corresponding 
with the number of its licence, shall be displayed 

(a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the licence granted to him the 
respect of the carriage to be legibly painted of marked on the outside and inside of the carriage 
or on plates affixed thereto. 

(b)  A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall:- 
(i)  not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be concealed from public 

view while the carriage is standing or plying for hire; and  
(ii)  not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such painting, marking or 

plate so defaced that any figure or material particular is illegible. 
 

2. Provisions regulating how hackney carriages are to be furnished or provided 
The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall:- 

(a) Provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may communicate with the driver; 
(b) Cause the roof or covering to be kept water-tight; 
(c) Provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less than one window 

on each side 
(d) Cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered 
(e) Cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering; 
(f) Cause the fitting and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well maintained and in 

every way fit for public service; 
(g) Provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to carry luggage; 
(h) Provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position as to be readily 

available for use; and 
(i) Provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such carriage and a separate means 

of ingress and egress for the driver. 
 

3. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause any taximeter with which the carriage is provided 
to be so constructed, attached and maintained as to comply with the following requirements, that 
is to say: 

(a) The taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag or other device the turning of which will bring the 
machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word “HIRED” to appear on the face of the 
taximeter 

(b) Such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that the 
machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter; 

(c) When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the 
taximeter in clearly legible figures, a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the proprietor or 
driver is entitled to demand and take for hire of the carriage by time as well as for distance in 
pursuance of the tariff fixed by the Council; 

(d)  The word “FARE” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to 
apply to the fare recorded thereon; 

(e) The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all times 
plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage, and for that purpose the letters and 
figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring; and 

(f) The taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with seals or other 
appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by breaking, 
damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliances. 

 
4. Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors and drivers of hackney carriages plying 
within the district in their several employments, and determining whether such drivers shall wear 
any and what badges 
The driver of a hackney carriage provided with a taximeter shall: 
 

Page 151



 

Page 62 of 83 

(a) When standing or plying for hire, keep the key, flag or other device fitted in pursuance of the 
byelaw, in that behalf locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face of the 
taximeter; 

(b) Before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance and time, bring the machinery 
of the taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag or other device so that the word “HIRED” 
is legible on the face of the taximeter and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action until the 
termination of the hiring; and  

(c) Cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a hiring 
which is between half-an-hour after sunset and half-an-hour before sunrise, and also at any other 
time at request of the hirer. 

 
5. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper 
with any taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals 
affixed thereto. 
The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not actually hired:- 

 
(a) Proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands appointed by the Council; 
(b) If a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of carriages authorised to 

occupy it, proceed to another stand; 
(c) On arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages authorised to occupy 

it, station the carriage immediately behind the carriage or carriages on the stand and so as to face 
in the same direction; and 

(d) From time to time, when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or moved forward 
cause his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place previously occupied by the carriage 
driven off or moved forward. 

 
6. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire, shall not make use of the 
services of any other person for the purpose of importuning any person to hire such carriage. 

 
7. The driver of a hackney carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and shall take all reasonable 
precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering or alighting from the vehicle. 

 
8. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has been hired to be in attendance with 
the carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, 
punctually attend with such carriage at such appointed time and place.  

 
9. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in such carriage 
any greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on the plate affixed to the outside of 
the carriage. 

 
10. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a hackney carriage he or she 
shall, when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear that badge in such a position and manner as 
to be plainly visible. 

 
11. The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when requested by any 
person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage: 

(a) Convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
(b) Afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; and  
(c) Afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any building, station or 

place at which he may take up or set down such person. 
 

12. Provisions fixing the rates or fares to be paid for hackney carriages within the district and 
securing the due publication of such fares 
The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and take for the hire of the 
carriage the rate or fare prescribed by the Council, the rate or fare being calculated by the combination of 
distance and time unless the hired express at the commencement of the hiring his desire to engage by 
time. 
 

Provided always that, where a hackney carriage furnished with a taximeter shall be hired by distance and 
time, the proprietor or driver shall not be entitled to demand or take a fare greater than that recorded on the 
taximeter, save for any extra charges authorised by the Council which it may not be possible to record on 
the face of the taximeter. 

 

Page 152



 

Page 63 of 83 

(a)  The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause a statement of the fares fixed by Council       
resolution to be exhibited inside the carriage, in clearly distinguishable letters and figures. 

(b)  The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, bearing a statement of fares in accordance with 
this byelaw, shall not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer the letter of figures in the statement to 
be concealed or rendered illegible at any time while the carriage is plying or being sued for hire. 

 
13. Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property accidentally left in Hackney 
carriages, and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof 
The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall immediately after the termination of any hiring or as 
soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the carriage for any property which may have been 
accidentally left therein 
 
The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left therein by any person 
who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found or handed in to him/her, carry it as soon as possible, 
and in any event within 24 hours, if not sooner claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to Watford Police 
Station, Shady Lane, Watford Herts WD17 1DD and leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the 
office, on his/her giving a receipt for it. 
 
14. Penalties 
Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on summary of conviction to a 
fine not exceeding level 2 on the Standard Scale and in the case of a continuing offence to a further fine 
not exceeding two pounds for each day during which the offence continues after conviction therefor. 
 
15. Repeal of Byelaws 
The byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by Three Rivers District Council on the 7th 
December 1976 and which were confirmed by the Secretary of State at the Home Office and came into 
force on the 12th day of November 1976, are hereby repealed. 
 
The byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by Three Rivers District Council on the 16th day 
of December 1977 substituting byelaw 16, and which were confirmed by the Secretary of State at the Home 
Office and came into force on the 10th day of February 1978, are hereby repealed. 
  

Page 153



 

Page 64 of 83 

Conditions relating to Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
 

Town Police Clauses Act 1847   (“the 1847 Act”) 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 

 
1. General 
Any requirement of legislation which affects the operations being carried out under the terms of this licence 
shall be regarded as if they are conditions of the hackney carriage Vehicle Licence. 
 
• The engine capacity of the vehicle must be no less than 1600cc (nominal). 
 
• The vehicle will be a London-type Taxi or an approved Euro Cab. 
 
• The vehicle shall have at least four road wheels and a spare wheel or a canister of tyre inflator/repair 

kept on the vehicle 
 
• All seats, front and rear and disabled must be fitted with seat belts and maintained in good order on 

all passenger seats (except as the law otherwise provides in relation to London-type taxis). 
 
• The vehicle should contain portable 1litre foam or dry powder 1Kg capacity fire extinguisher. The 

extinguisher must conform to BS EN3 1996 Standard and should be mounted in a convenient position 
in the vehicle. The extinguisher shall be marked with the licence number. 

 
• A First Aid Kit complying with the Health and Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 must be carried in 

the vehicle. The kit shall be marked with the vehicle licence number 
 
• The vehicle must be maintained to a high standard of appearance to the complete satisfaction of the 

Council, throughout the term of the vehicle licence and be kept in the condition stated in the 
Standards for conditions of appearance of a hackney carriage vehicle. 

 
• No alteration or change of in specification, design, condition or appearance of the vehicle shall be 

made without the approval of the Council at any time while the Licence is in force. 
 
2. Hackney carriage occupancy plate 
The vehicle shall have a hackney carriage occupancy plate (which is not the same as the hackney carriage 
vehicle licence disc) owned by the Council, but provided at the licensee’s expense, which shall display the 
following: 

• the number of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 
• the maximum number of passengers that the vehicle can carry; 
• the expiry date of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 
• the words “Three Rivers District Council hackney carriage”; 
• the vehicle registration number of the hackney carriage it is assigned to, and 
• any other information that the Council considers necessary. 

 
The plate shall be securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle using a purposely made bracket at all times 
provided free of charge on issue and for a fee at any other time). If this is not suitable or practicable, the 
plate shall be securely and permanently fixed to the rear of the vehicle, on or above the bumper by the use 
of screws or bolts, and be clearly visible. A magnet will not be considered securely fixed for the purposes 
of this condition. The licensee shall ensure the plate is kept clean and is not wilfully or negligently concealed 
from public view whilst the vehicle is licensed. 

 
The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle at all times throughout the period of licence, has this plate 
exhibited in the manner described above. 

 
In the event of revocation or suspension and on the service of a notice under section 58, of ‘the 1976 Act’ 
or upon expiry of the licence, the licensee shall return the said plate to the Council’s licensing office within 
seven days. 
 
The plate can be removed by the licensing officer or Police officer for reasons of gathering evidence under 
the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 and will be returned when a photocopy of the plate is made.  
 
 
 

Appendix 7 

Page 154



 

Page 65 of 83 

3. Hackney Carriage Internal Plate 
The vehicle shall for identification purposes be required to have a hackney carriage internal plate issued 
by the Council. The hackney carriage internal plate shall display: 
 

• the number of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 
• the maximum number of passengers that the vehicle can carry; 
• the expiry date of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 
• the words “Three Rivers District Council Hackney Carriage”; 
• the vehicle registration number of the hackney carriage it is assigned to, and 
• any other information that the Council considers necessary. 

 
• The hackney carriage internal plate shall be displayed in the front of the vehicle in such a position that 

it shall be clearly visible from both the inside and the outside of the vehicle. The licensee shall ensure 
that it is not wilfully or negligently concealed from public view. 

 
• The licensee shall ensure that no person uses or permits the use of the vehicle unless the hackney 

carriage internal plate issued is exhibited in the manner described under these conditions. 
 

• In the event of revocation or suspension and on the service of a notice under sections 58, 60 or 68 of 
‘the 1976 Act’ or upon expiry of the licence, the Licensee shall return the said disc to the Council’s 
licensing officer within seven days. 

 
4. Taximeter 
All hackney carriage vehicles shall be fitted with a taximeter installed by an authorised taximeter company 
and so constructed, attached, and maintained as to comply with the following requirements: 

 
• All new hackney carriage vehicles shall require a calendar-controlled tariff taximeter; 
 
• The taximeter shall be fitted with a key flag or other device, the turning of which will bring the machinery 

of the taximeter into action and cause the word “hired” to appear on the face of the meter; 
 
• Such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position indicating that the 

machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter; 
 
• When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the taximeter 

in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the licensee or driver is entitled to 
demand and take for hire of the vehicle by distance in pursuance of the table of fares made by the 
Council in that behalf; 

 
• The word “fare” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to apply to the 

fare recorded thereon; 
 
• The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all times plainly 

visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle, and for that purpose the letters and figures shall 
be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring; 

 
• The taximeter shall be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a hiring which is during the 

hours of darkness as defined for the purposes of the Road Traffic Act 972, and also at the request of 
the hirer; 

 
• The taximeter shall have connected thereto a roof sign bearing the words “TAXI” in accordance with 

paragraph 12 below and such sign shall be plainly visible and legible to persons wishing to hire the 
vehicle and for that purpose it shall be capable of being suitably illuminated when the vehicle is plying 
or standing for hire; 

 
• The taximeter and all its fittings shall be so affixed to the vehicle with seals or other appliances that it 

shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by breaking, damaging or 
permanently displacing the seals or other appliances; 

 
• When the vehicle is standing or plying for hire or returning from another district the key flag or other 

device fitted with the taximeter shall be locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face 
of the taximeter; 

 

Page 155



 

Page 66 of 83 

• Before beginning a journey for which a fare is to be charged for distance and time, the taximeter should 
be brought into action so that the word “HIRED” is legible on the face of the taximeter and the taximeter 
should be kept on until the hiring has terminated; 

 
• The Licensee shall ensure that the taximeter and its fittings will be sealed by the installer, and are not 

tampered with; 
 
• The taximeter shall be calibrated and sealed by the taximeter company at first  installation and then 

within 1 month of any change to the Table of Fares, or when directed by the Head of Regulatory 
Services, any authorised officer or Police officer to submit to calibration and testing of the Taximeter 
by a Taximeter  installer. A calibration certificate stating that the taximeter is calendar controlled and 
conforms to the Three Rivers District Council Table of Fares would be required in each of the above 
cases. 

 
5. Signs etc. 
No sign, notice, advertisement, plate, mark, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices shall be used, if 
it contains anything of a religious or political nature or advertises tobacco, alcohol, a sex shop or a sex 
establishment, or contains any matter likely to cause offence. Approval on the type and extent of the 
advertising should be sought from the relevant officer 
 
6. Roof signs 
The minimum sign dimensions for roof signs are 26cm wide 13cm deep and 11cm high, there are no 
maximum measurements. The word taxi only in black capital letters is to be clearly legible on the front and 
rear side of the roof sign. The front of the sign must be white and the back red or white. 
 
The sign must be illuminated when plying or available for hire during the hours of darkness and must be 
linked to the taximeter so that when a fare is being carried, the roof sign is not illuminated. 
 
No roof signs other than that prescribed in this condition will be permitted. 
 
7. Passengers 
The licensee shall not:- 

• Convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed 
in the licence for the vehicle 

• Without the consent of the hirer convey or permit to be conveyed any other person in the vehicle 
• Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 
• Any child below the age of three years 
• More than one person above the age of three years 
• An infant in arms 

 
The licensee shall ensure that all passengers between three and twelve years of age or 135cm in height 
wear an appropriate child restraint to travel in the front of a vehicle. If not available, these passengers must 
use an adult seat belt in the rear of the vehicle 
 
8. Alteration of vehicle 
No alterations in the specification, design or appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the written 
approval of the licensing officer while the licence is in force. 
 
9. Records of vehicle use 
Where more than one licensed driver has use of the hackney carriage, the licensee shall ensure that a 
record of usage is kept for the vehicle. This record shall include the name of the driver, the date of usage, 
and the start and end times of the individual’s usage. It shall be kept inside the vehicle at all times, and 
made available to an authorised officer upon request. 
 
10. Transfer of vehicle 
If the licensee wishes to transfers his/her interest in the vehicle to a person they shall within 7 working days 
inform the Council, specifying the name and address of the person to whom the vehicle is being transferred. 
 
The Council reserves the right to refuse to grant a licence to any person to whom a hackney carriage vehicle 
is transferred 
 
Under no circumstances may the new owner use the vehicle as a licensed vehicle until the licence has 
been transferred to that person and all documentation and any necessary fees paid. 
 

Page 156



 

Page 67 of 83 

11. Accidents and damage to the vehicle 
The licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the vehicle 
within 72 hours of the accident using the form issued by the Council.  In the interests of public safety the 
licensee of any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to submit a compliance certificate to the 
Council.  
 
The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for hire until it has been inspected and approved by 
the authorised officer or a new compliance certificate has been obtained where appropriate as considered 
by the Council on receipt of the reported details of the incident. 
 
12. Insurance and road fund licence 
All hackney carriage vehicles must be licensed and insured for public hire use.  The insurance must include 
legal liability for both passengers and luggage, and proof of insurance must be submitted with each 
application.  If the insurance expires during the term of the licence, a new cover note or certificate of 
insurance must be produced to the licensing team. 
 
A certificate of insurance must be provided to the authorised officer within 7 days of any such request. 
 
13. Lost property 
The Licensee shall ensure that, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 
thereafter, the vehicle is searched thoroughly for any property which may have been accidentally left 
therein. 
 
The licensee shall ensure that any property accidentally left, or found or handed to him in the vehicle will 
be, taken to a police station within 48 hours of it being found. 
 
14. Table of fares 
The licensee shall ensure a copy of the tables of fares as determined by the Council to be fixed inside the 
vehicle. The table of fares should be clearly readable by the passenger. 
 
15. Change of address and personal details 
The licensee shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address during the period of the licence 
within 7 days of such change-taking place. This shall include, name, address, telephone/mobile numbers 
and e-mail address. 
 
16. Proprietor to hold driver’s licence 
Before the licensee permits or employs another person to drive the vehicle as a hackney carriage, he shall, 
have retained a copy of the hackney carriage driver’s licence. This shall be retained until such time as the 
driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle. On cessation of service or employment the 
licensee shall return the hackney carriage driver’s licence to the driver. 
 
The licensee/proprietor must also ensure the driver holds a current DVLA driving licence in respect of the 
number of passengers authorised on the vehicle licence/plate. 
 
17. Copy of vehicle licence conditions 
The licensee shall ensure a copy of the vehicle licence conditions are maintained in the vehicle and makes 
them available for inspection by any authorised officer, the hirer or any passenger on request. 
 
18. Validity inspections 
Any authorised officer of the council or a Police constable shall have power at all reasonable times, to 
inspect and test for the purpose of ascertaining its fitness any hackney carriage or any taximeter fixed to 
such vehicle and to serve notice to require further inspection and testing if not so satisfied. 
 
19. Convictions and cautions 
The licensee shall, within 72 hours, disclose to the licensing officer in writing if they or any of their drivers 
are arrested, cautioned, or convicted of any offence (including motoring offences) during the period of this 
licence. A representative must fulfil this obligation if the licensee is detained by the police. Fixed penalty 
notices must be declared when received not when the DVLA driving licence is updated. 
 
The licensee shall ensure that any licensed driver employed by them in any capacity is made aware that 
they are required to disclose all the information contained in point (16) above to the vehicle licence-holder 
during their period of employment. 
 
If the licensee is a company or partnership section (16) applies equally to all directors or partners 

Page 157



 

Page 68 of 83 

 
The licensee shall make his or her DVLA driving licence available for inspection by an authorised officer of 
the Council or a police officer upon request. 

 
20. Taxi ranks and stands 
Hackney carriages will operate from authorised ranks or stands, including “shared” stands or ply the 
carriageway for hire or can be pre-booked.  
 
21. Giving of information 
Every proprietor shall within 7 days furnish on request the details, of any person who was authorised to 
drive the vehicle, to an authorised officer or to a Police officer. The details would include the name and 
address of the person. 
 
22. Assistance dogs 
All hackney carriage vehicle drivers are required to comply with Section 37 of the Disability Discrimination 
Act 1995 and Equality Act (2010) to carry assistance dogs assisting disabled persons and to do so without 
charge.  Holders of exemption certificates must display the certificate in a prominent position. 
 
It is an offence to refuse to carry a guide or assistance dog. 
 
23. Smoking 
It is prohibited for anyone (driver or passenger) to smoke within the vehicle at any time. Appropriate signage 
must be displayed inside the vehicle in accordance with the Health Act 2006. An international no-smoking 
symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be displayed in the front passenger window or on the dashboard, 
and in the rear passenger window. The signs must be clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle. 
 
24. CCTV in vehicles 
The licensee shall ensure that their licensed vehicle does not contain any facilities to record visual or audio 
sources without first obtaining authorisation from the Council. Any proposed CCTV system must satisfy the 
requirements of the CCTV conditions contained in the hackney carriage and private hire licensing policy.  
 
25. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by any conditions specified in this licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 
21 days of the decision being made. 
 
26. Standards for conditions of appearance of a hackney carriage vehicle 
The vehicle must comply with the following: 
 

(a) External advertising: Not more than two external advertisements (excluding the roof signs) may 
be carried on any vehicle, confined to the side panels and must comply with the Advertising 
Standards Authority code of advertising. 

 Although minor blemishes should not constitute a failure, the following general criteria should be 
followed: 

(b) Rust: Any vehicle presented should be free from any significant areas of visible rusting and any 
vehicle with visible rust patches should be failed. 

(c) Dents: Any vehicle with dents on one or more panels where such dents are more than 5cm in 
diameter/length should be failed. 

(d) Scratches: Any vehicle with un-repaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more panels, 
of 5cm in length, or a single scratch of more than 20cms in length, should be failed. 

(e) Paintwork: All panels on all vehicles shall be painted in manufacturer’s colour; panels with 
unmatched colours or in primer should be deemed as failures. 

(f) Seats: In conventional vehicles where it is intended that the licence be for four passengers, the 
rear seat must be at least 1220mm (48 inches) in width. All seats shall have a minimum of 410mm 
(16 inches) per person and in respect of seating comply with the Road Vehicle (Registration and 
Licensing) Regulations 2002.  All seats, including the driver’s, must be free from repaired cuts, 
tears or cigarette burns, except of a very minor nature. Any repairs must have been carried out in 
a professional and neat manner. All seats must be kept clean and tidy and free from all extraneous 
matter. 

(g) Carpets/floor covering: all carpets and floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, 
staining and soiling. 

(h) Headlining and other trim: All interior trim, including headlining shall be clean, complete, 
properly fitted and free from cuts, tears or soiling. 

Page 158



 

Page 69 of 83 

(i) Boot/luggage compartment: This should be empty, except for spare wheel, essential tools and 
first aid kit, (to comply with Health and Safety and First Aid Regulations. The compartment should 
be clean and any covering free from major cuts, tears or other damage or staining. 

(j) Interior: The interior must be kept clean, tidy and free of any water penetration or litter or other 
rubbish. 

(k) Vehicle emissions: The vehicle must comply with the Motor Vehicle (Emission Test) 
Regulations. 

(l) All glazing: All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any vehicle with a reading lower than 
the following will not be licensed. Front Windscreen 75%, Front Side Windows 70%, All other 
Windows 30%. The lower the number, the darker the tint. 
There may be exemptions to allow factory fitted tinted windows in exceptional circumstances for 
example vehicles working under an applied exemption whereby the vehicle is used for Corporate, 
executive or Chauffer hire service’. All vehicles that are used for schools contracts must not be 
fitted with tinted windows which are darker than required standards. Vehicles that are found to 
have such tints will be removed from service immediately and the tints must be replaced with 
more appropriate glazing at the cost to owner of the vehicle.   

(m) Colour: All approved vehicles must be painted their original colour. 
(n) Mirrors: Either two wing mirrors or two door mirrors must be fitted, one on each side of the 

vehicle, so as to afford the driver adequate vision to the rear. Additional mirrors may be fitted, but 
not in such a position s to obstruct the driver’s clear view of the two mirrors required by this 
condition. 

 
27. Fees 
The fees payable for Licences and other charges described in these conditions will be in accordance with 
the scale approved by the Council from time to time. 
 
28. Byelaws 
The vehicle will also be subject to compliance with such Byelaws relating to hackney carriages that are in 
force within the Three Rivers District. 
  

Page 159



 

Page 70 of 83 

Conditions relating to Private Hire Vehicles 
  

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
Any requirement of legislation, which affect the operations being carried out under the terms of this licence, 
shall be regarded as if they are conditions of the Private Hire Vehicle Licence. 
 
• The vehicle shall have at least four road wheels and a spare wheel or a canister of tyre inflator/repair 

kept on the vehicle 
 
• The vehicle must be maintained throughout the term of the vehicle licence, to a high standard of 

appearance to the complete satisfaction of the Council, and kept in the condition stated in the 
Standards for conditions of appearance of a Private Hire vehicle. 

 
• All seats, front and rear must be fitted with seat belts. 
 
• The Council’s licensing officer may direct the vehicle to be inspected in accordance with the 

Certificate of Compliance at a specific testing station. 
 
• The vehicle should contain a portable dry powder 1Kg capacity fire extinguisher. The extinguisher 

must conform to BS EN3 1996 Standard, and should be mounted in a convenient position in the 
vehicle. The extinguisher shall be marked with the Private Hire vehicle licence number. 

 
• A first aid kit complying with the Health and Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 conforming to BS 

8599-2 should be carried in the vehicle. The kit is to be marked with the private hire vehicle licence 
number. 

 
• The licence-holder shall provide and maintain a suitable replacement bulb kit as to conform to the 

vehicle manufacturer’s specifications. 
 

1. Private Hire Occupancy Plate 
1.1 The vehicle shall have an occupancy plate, (which is not the same as the Private Hire Vehicle interior 

plate), owned by the Council, but provided at the Licensee’s expense, which shall display the following: 
• the number of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 
• the maximum number of passengers that the vehicle can carry; 
• the expiry date of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 
• the words “Three Rivers District Council Private Hire”; 
• the vehicle registration number of the Private Hire it is assigned to, and 
• any other information that the Council considers necessary. 

 
1.2 The plate shall be securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle using a purposely made bracket at all times 

provided free of charge on issue and for a fee at any other time). If this is not suitable or practicable, 
the plate shall be securely and permanently fixed to the rear of the vehicle, on or above the bumper 
by the use of screws or bolts, and be clearly visible. A magnet will not be considered securely fixed for 
the purposes of this condition. The Licensee shall ensure the plate is kept clean and is not wilfully or 
negligently concealed from public view whilst the vehicle is licensed. 

 
• The Licensee shall ensure that the vehicle at all times throughout the period of licence has this 

plate exhibited in the manner described above. 
• In the event of revocation and on the service of a notice under section 58 of the 1976 Act or 

upon expiry of the licence, the licensee shall return the said plate to the council’s licensing officer 
within seven days. 

• The plate can be removed by the licensing officer or Police officer for reasons of gathering 
evidence under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 and will be returned when a 
photocopy of the plate is made.  

 
2. Private Hire Internal Plate  
The vehicle shall for identification purposes be required to have a private hire internal plate issued by the 
Council.   
 
2.1 The private hire internal plate shall display: 

• the number of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 
• the maximum number of passengers that the vehicle can carry; 

Appendix 8 

Page 160



 

Page 71 of 83 

• the expiry date of the licence granted in respect of the vehicle; 
• the words “Three Rivers District Council Private Hire”; 
• the vehicle registration number of the Private Hire it is assigned to, and 
• any other information that the Council considers necessary. 
 

2.2  The private hire internal plate shall be displayed in the front windscreen of the vehicle in such a position 
that it shall be clearly visible from both the inside and the outside of the vehicle. The licensee shall 
ensure that it is not wilfully or negligently concealed from public view.  

 
2.3  The licensee shall ensure that no person uses or permits the use of the vehicle unless the Private Hire 

internal plate issued is exhibited in the manner described under these conditions. 
 
2.4  In the event of revocation or suspension and on the service of a notice under sections 58, 60 or 68 of 

‘the 1976 Act’ or upon expiry of the licence, the Licensee shall return the said disc to the Council’s 
licensing officer within seven days. 

 
3. Signs etc.  
3.1  No sign, notice, advertisement, plate, mark, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices shall be 

used, if it contains anything of a religious or political nature or advertises tobacco, alcohol, a sex or a 
sex establishment, or contains any matter likely to cause offence. Approval on the type and extent of 
the advertising should be sought from the licensing officer. 

 
3.2  No signs or advertising containing the word “taxi” will be permitted on any Private Hire vehicle.  
 
3.3  A roof sign is not permitted. 
 
4. Private Hire Door Stickers Signs 
4.1  As directed by the Council, the proprietor shall cause to be a fixed and maintained to the exterior of 

the vehicle a prescribed door sticker bearing the word “Private Hire – Advance Bookings Only” on the 
rear driver and passenger doors. The sign shall also include the vehicle plate number and the Three 
Rivers Logo on a green background.  

 
5. Dispensation/Exemption 
5.1  Vehicles issued with a dispensation certificate in line with the Three Rivers hackney carriage and 

private hire policy are exempt from displaying a vehicle occupancy plate and door stickers, but are still 
required to display the internal licence plate.  

 
5.2  Where the use of vehicles changes during the period that the vehicle is licensed, the Licensing team 

must be informed so dispensation can be removed. If dispensation is removed, the exemptions that 
this provided will no longer relate to that vehicle. 

 
6. Passengers 
6.1 The licensee shall not:- 

 
• Convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed 

in the licence for the vehicle 
• Without the consent of the hirer convey or permit to be conveyed any other person in the vehicle 
• Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 
• Any child below the age of three years 
• More than one person above the age of three years 
• An infant in arms. 

 
6.2  The licensee shall ensure that all passengers between three and twelve years of age or 135cm in 

height wear an appropriate child restraint to travel in the front of a vehicle. If not available, these 
passengers must use an adult seat belt in the rear of the vehicle. 

 
7. Alteration of vehicle 
7.1  No alterations in the specification, design or appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the 

written approval of the licensing officer. 
 
8. Transfer of the vehicle 
8.1  If the licensee wishes to transfers his/her interest in the vehicle to a person he or she shall within 14 

days submit the relevant application to the licensing team, specifying the name and address of the 
person to whom the vehicle is being transferred.  

Page 161



 

Page 72 of 83 

 
8.2  The Council reserves the right to refuse to grant a licence to any person to whom a private hire vehicle 

is transferred. 
 

9. Accidents and vehicle damage 
9.1 The licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the 

vehicle and/or any damage materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle 
within 72 hours of the accident using the form issued by the Council. The report must be submitted via 
the online portal: http://bit.ly/LicensedvehicleAccident  

 
In the interests of public safety, the licensee of any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to 
submit a compliance certificate to the Council. The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used 
for hire until it has been inspected and approved by the authorised officer or a new compliance 
certificate has been obtained where appropriate as considered by the Council on receipt of the 
reported details of the incident. 

 
9.2  Should a Section 60 or 68 notice be issued the licensee shall ensure that no further bookings are 

undertaken until the vehicle has passed a compliance test and the certificate issued has been provided 
to the Council. 

 
10. Insurance  
10.1 All private hire vehicles must be licensed and insured for private hire use.  Such insurance must be 

comprehensive, continuous and include full legal liability for passengers and luggage. Proof of 
insurance must be submitted with each application for a licence and, where it expires during the term 
of the licence, a new certificate or cover note must be supplied to the Licensing team. 

 
10.2 If a vehicle is temporarily removed from use as a Private Hire Vehicle, the licensee, on notification 

must return the internal and external plates to the licensing Officer. The vehicle can be temporarily 
removed from the public highway and its use as a private hire vehicle, thus removing the need to 
insure and document the vehicle for that period. The vehicle must not be used for private use during 
this time. 

 
10.3 A certificate of insurance must be provided to the relevant officer within 7 working days of any such 

request. 
 
11. Lost property 
11.1 The licensee shall ensure that, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 

thereafter, the vehicle is searched thoroughly for any property which may have been accidentally left 
therein. 

 
11.2 The licensee shall ensure that any property accidentally left, or found or handed to him or her in the 

vehicle will be, taken to a police station within 48 hours of it being found. 
 
12. Change of address and personal details 
12.1 The licensee shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address during the period of the 

licence within 7 days of such change-taking place. This shall include, name, address, telephone/mobile 
numbers and email address. 

  
The owner of the private hire vehicle must also provide a new V5 registration document and insurance 
documents showing the new address details. 

 
13. Proprietor to hold driver’s licence 
13.1 Before the licensee permits or employs another person to drive the vehicle as a private hire, he shall, 

have retained a copy of the drivers licence. This shall be retained until such time as the driver ceases 
to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle. On cessation of service or employment the licensee 
shall return the drivers licence to the driver. 

 
13.2 The licensee/ proprietor must also ensure the driver holds a current driving licence in respect of the 

number of passengers authorised on the vehicle licence/plate. 
 
14. Copy of vehicle licence conditions 
14.1 The licensee shall ensure a copy of the vehicle licence conditions are maintained in the vehicle and 

makes them available for inspection by any authorised officer, the hirer or any passenger on request. 
 

Page 162

http://bit.ly/LicensedvehicleAccident


 

Page 73 of 83 

15. Validity inspections 

15.1 Any authorised officer of the Council or a police constable shall have power at all reasonable times to 
inspect and test for the purpose of ascertaining its fitness any private hire vehicle and to serve notice 
to require further inspection and testing if not so satisfied. 

 
16. Notification of Convictions, Cautions and Arrest 
16.1The licensee shall immediately (within 72 hours) disclose to the licensing officer in writing if they or any 

of their drivers are arrested, cautioned, or convicted of any offence (including motoring offences) during 
the period of this licence. A representative must fulfil this obligation if the licensee is detained by the 
Police. Fixed penalty notices must be declared when received not when the DVLA driving licence is 
updated. 

 
16.2 The licensee shall ensure that any licensed driver employed by them in any capacity is made aware 

that they are required to disclose all the information contained in point (i) above to the vehicle licence 
holder during their period of employment. 

 
16.3 If the licensee is a company or partnership section (i) applies equally to all directors or partners 

 
16.4 The licensee shall make his or her DVLA driving licence available for inspection by the operator, the 

authorised officer or a police officer upon request. 
 
17. Residential qualification 
17.1 The operator of any Private Hire Vehicle operate from an office within the area of the Three Rivers 

District Council for a period of the licence. 
 

18. Private Hire Vehicles Must Not Operate From Taxi Ranks and Stands 
18.1 Private hire vehicles must not operate from hackney carriage ranks or stands or ply the carriageway 

for hire. All fares must be pre-booked. 
  
18.2 Private hire vehicles must not wait or park on the public highway within 75 metres of an authorised 

rank.  
 
19. Giving of information 
19.1 Every proprietor shall within 7 days furnish on request the details, of any person who was authorised 

to drive the private hire vehicle, to an authorised officer or to a police officer. The details would include 
the name and address of the person. 

 
20. Assistance dogs 
20.1 All hackney and private hire vehicle drivers are required to comply with Section 37 of the Disability 

Discrimination Act 1995 and Equality Act (2010) requiring them to carry assistance dogs assisting 
disabled persons and to do so without charge.  Holders of exemption certificates must display the 
certificate in a prominent position. 

 
20.2 It is an offence to refuse to carry a guide or assistance dog. 
 
21. Smoking 
21.1 It is prohibited for anyone (driver or passenger) to smoke within the vehicle at any time. Appropriate 

signage must be displayed inside the vehicle in accordance with the Health Act 2006.  
 
21.2 The Council requires that an international no-smoking symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be 

displayed in the front passenger window or on the dashboard, and in the rear passenger window. The 
signs must be clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle. 

 
23. CCTV in vehicles 
23.1 The licensee shall ensure that their licensed vehicle does not contain any facilities to record visual or 
audio sources without first obtaining authorisation from the Council. Any proposed CCTV system must 
satisfy the requirements of the CCTV conditions contained in the hackney carriage and private hire licensing 
Policy. 
  

Page 163



 

Page 74 of 83 

Standards for Conditions of Appearance of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle 
 
1. Although minor blemishes should not constitute a failure, the following general criteria should be followed. 
The vehicle must comply with the following:- 
 

(a)  Rust: Any vehicle presented should be free from any significant areas of visible rusting. Any 
vehicle with visible rust patches should be failed. 

 
(b)  Dents: Any vehicle with dents on one or more panels where such dents are more than 5 cm in 

diameter/length should be failed. 
 
(c)  Scratches: Any vehicle with un-repaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more panels, 

of 5 cm in length, or a single scratch of more than 20cms in length, should be failed. 
 
(d)   Paintwork: All panels on all vehicles shall be painted in manufacturer’s colour; panels with 

unmatched colours or in primer should be deemed as failures. 
 
(e)   Seats: In conventional vehicles where it is intended that the licence be for four passengers, the 

rear seat must be at least 1220mm (48 inches) in width.  All seats shall have a minimum of 410mm 
(16 inches) per person and in respect of seating comply with the Road Vehicles (Registration and 
Licensing) Regulations 2002.  All seats, including the driver’s must be free from repaired cuts, 
tears or cigarette burns, except of a very minor nature. Any repairs must have been carried out in 
a professional and neat manner.  All seats must be kept clean and tidy and free from all 
extraneous matter. 

 
(f)  Carpets/floor covering: All carpets and floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, 

tears, staining and soiling 
 
(g)  Headlining and other trim: All interior trim, including headlining shall be clean, complete, 

properly fitted and free from cuts, tears or soiling. 
 
(h)  Boot/luggage compartment: This should be empty, except for spare wheel, essential tools and 

first aid kit, (to comply with Health and Safety and First Aid Regulations). The compartment should 
be clean and any covering free from major cuts, tears or other damage or staining. 

 
(i)  Interior: The interior must be kept clean, tidy and free of any water penetration or litter or other 

rubbish. 
 
(J)   Vehicle emissions: The vehicle must comply with the Motor Vehicle (Emission Test)    

Regulations. 
 
(k)  Glazing: All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any vehicle with a reading lower than the 

following will not be licensed. Front windscreen 75, front side windows 70, all other windows 30. 
The lower the number the darker the tint.  

 
  There may be exemptions to allow factory fitted tinted windows in exceptional circumstances for 

example vehicles working under an applied exemption whereby the vehicle is used for Corporate, 
executive or Chauffer hire service’. All vehicles that are used for schools contracts must not be 
fitted with tinted windows which are darker than required standards. Vehicles that are found to 
have such tints will be removed from service immediately and the tints must be replaced with 
more appropriate glazing at the cost to owner of the vehicle.   

 
2. Appeals procedure 
2.1 Any person aggrieved by any conditions specified in this licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 

within 21 days of the decision being made. 
 
  

Appendix 9 

Page 164



 

Page 75 of 83 

Non-standard private hire vehicle conditions for stretched limousine, and novelty vehicles 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
1. General 
1.1. A limousine, or other novelty vehicle capable of carrying no more than 8 passengers for hire or reward 

is a private hire vehicle, and all other interpretations, policies and conditions relevant to licensed private 
hire vehicles also apply, except where described below:- 

 
1.2. For the purposes of this policy and licence conditions, a stretched limousine is defined as a luxurious 

vehicle that has been modified (stretched) to extend the length of the vehicle. The stretch shall not 
exceed 120 inches (measured between the rear edge of the front door and the front edge of the rear 
door).  The vehicle shall be capable of carrying up to, but not exceeding eight seated passengers.  
Each passenger seating area will be at least 400mm wide. 

 
1.3. For the purposes of this policy, a novelty vehicle shall be defined as follows:- 
 

 a)  any vehicle that has been specially constructed, adapted or converted by a low volume 
specialist vehicle manufacturer or modifier; 

 
 b)  any vehicle that has been specially modified from its original design specification; 
 
 c)  that is capable of carrying up to but not exceeding 8 passengers; 
 
 d)  vehicles intended for the carriage of fare-paying passengers that, prior to the introduction 

of this policy/conditions, would not be licensed by the authority as a private hire vehicle 
because they did not comply with one or more of the standard conditions relating to private 
hire vehicles 

 
 e)  any vehicle that, in the opinion of the licensing officer, because of its specialist 

design/styling or origin or age is required to be classed as a Novelty Vehicle. 
 
2. Age of vehicle 
2.1  Stretch limousines and other novelty vehicles are not subject to an age limit and will be licensed 

provided the vehicle presented meets all of the Council’s other criteria in terms of appearance and 
maintenance.   

  
3. Licence plates 
3.1. The vehicle licence plate must be kept in the boot of the vehicle at all times whilst the vehicle is licensed 

as a private hire vehicle.  The internal plate must be displayed in the front windscreen at all times so 
that the details are clearly visible. 

 
4. Driver 
4.1. Only a licensed private hire driver is permitted to drive the vehicle whilst it is licensed. The driver must 

ensure that they wear or clearly display their Council-issued identity badge in a prominent position at 
all times whilst working or driving the vehicle. 

 
4.2. The driver shall at all times be clean and respectable in their dress and behave in a civil and orderly 

manner. 
 
5. Signs etc. 
5.1. No sign, notice, advertisement or emblems shall be used or displayed on, in or from the vehicle other 

than those legally required, those contained within these conditions, or any authorised company 
details.   

 
5.2 Approval of the type of advertising should be sought from the Licensing team and written authorisation 

must be obtained prior to use.  No signs or advertising containing the word “taxi” or “cab” will be 
permitted on any private hire vehicle. 

 
6. Application Procedure 
6.1 In relation to stretch limousines and novelty vehicles the following must be provided on application (this 

is in addition to the requirements for a standard Private Hire vehicle): 
 

a)  Single vehicle approval certificate 

Appendix 10 

Page 165



 

Page 76 of 83 

b)  Documentation to confirm the overall weight of the vehicle 
c)  The vehicle identification number (VIN) plate must display ‘1L1’ to confirm that the conversion 

has been completed by an authorised dealer. This will be confirmed by inspection prior to any 
licence being issued. 

d)  Completed importation document (where applicable) 
e)  V5 vehicle registration 

 
 The licence shall remain in force for one year. 

 
7. Passengers and passenger safety 

1. The proprietor shall not permit the limousine/novelty vehicle to be used to carry a greater number of 
passengers than the number prescribed in the licence.   

2. Passengers will not be carried in the front of the vehicle. 
3. All passengers must remain seated at all times when the vehicle is in motion. 
4. The proprietor of the vehicle must: 

i)  Provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with the driver; 
ii)  Ensure that the interior of the vehicle is kept wind and watertight. 
iii)  Ensure that the seats in the passenger compartment are kept properly cushioned and covered; 
iv)  Ensure that the floor in the passenger compartment is provided with a proper carpet, mat or 

other suitable covering; 
v)  Provide at least two doors for use of persons conveyed in limousine/novelty vehicle and a 

separate means of ingress and egress for the driver; 
vi)  Ensure that the interior and exterior of the limousine/novelty vehicle is kept in a clean condition; 
vii)  Ensure that seatbelts are fitted to all forward and rear-facing seats and, in accordance with 

Construction and Use Regulations, where seat belts are fitted they must be worn by 
passengers at all times when the vehicle is in motion; 

viii)  Ensure that no seat is required to be moved to allow any passenger to enter or exit the vehicle; 
ix)  Ensure that an approved first aid kit will be carried in the vehicle at all times;  
x)  Report to the Council any alteration in the design of the vehicle, whether to the machinery or 

to the body. The Council may require the proprietor to submit the vehicle for further 
examination. 

 
8. Interior lighting 
8.1 There shall be maintained in the vehicle adequate internal lighting to enable passengers to enter and 

leave the vehicle with safety. 
 
9. Maximum stretch 
9.1 The maximum length of a limousine “stretch” shall not exceed 120 inches [3048 millimetres]. 
 
10. Left and right hand drive vehicles 
10.1 Both left- and right-hand drive vehicles will be considered for licensing as private hire vehicles. 
 
11. Tyres and road wheels 
11.1 The vehicle shall be equipped with a minimum of 4 road wheels and 1 full-sized spare wheel. The 

tyres shall be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer and not more than 10 years old. 
 Vehicles with a 'space-saving' wheel are to comply with the manufacturer's specifications as to use. 

When so used, the vehicle must not be used for plying for hire, or private hire. Any change in the type 
or size of the tyres fitted to the vehicle must be reported to the licensing officer at once.  

 
Tyres must have a minimum tyre tread depth of 3 mm over the central 3/4 of the tread pattern (including 
spare tyre). 
 

12. Windows 
12.1 The front windscreen shall allow a minimum level of 75% light transmittance and the front driver and 

passenger windows shall allow a minimum level of 70% light transmittance. 
 
13. Decommissioned vehicle markings 
13.1 Novelty Vehicles based on decommissioned Military or Emergency Response vehicles must have all 

official marking or lights removed. Any colour scheme must be of a contrast to the original colour 
scheme and to that of any previous or current military or emergency response vehicles. 

 
14. Roof racks 
14.1 A roof rack or any other device for storing luggage shall not be installed or maintained on any part of 

the vehicle except with the approval of the Council. 

Page 166



 

Page 77 of 83 

 
15. Exemption notice for displaying a licence plate / door stickers 
15.1 A certificate exempting the vehicle from displaying a licence plate and Council-issued door stickers 

will be issued by the Council. This certificate must be carried in the vehicle at all times and be available 
for inspection on request by an authorised officer of the Council or a Police constable. 

 
16. Insurance  
16.1 The Council will require proof that the vehicle is insured during the period of the licence and, on request 

by an authorised officer, the proprietor shall produce within 5 working days a current insurance 
certificate/cover note for private hire purposes.  Failure to produce proof of insurance as detailed above 
may result in the suspension of the licence. 

 
16.2 The proprietor is advised that they should, following the expiry of an insurance certificate/cover note, 

provide a current insurance policy to the Council 
 
17. Alcohol 
17.1 Alcoholic drinks provided in the vehicle shall be available only under the terms of an appropriate 

licence relating to the sale and supply of alcohol. 
 
17.2 Alcohol shall only be consumed while the vehicle is stationary and the bottle shall immediately 

afterwards be placed in a secure receptacle. 
 
17.3 If all of the passengers are below the age of 18, there shall be no alcohol in the vehicle for consumption 

or otherwise. 
 
17.4 Any glassware used in the vehicle must be made of shatterproof glass or plastic. 
 
18. Licensing Act 2003 
18.1 The driver shall not play or permit the performance of any media that, given its age classification or 

content, are unsuitable for the age of the passengers in the vehicle. 
 
18.2 The limousine operator shall ensure that a performing rights licence is held where appropriate. 
 
18.3 A Premises Licence will be required for the provision of any form of regulated entertainment within the 

scope of the Licensing Act 2003 when the vehicle is parked. 
 
19. Vehicle condition 
19.1 The vehicle shall be maintained in pristine condition with no visible defects, dents or blemishes to the 

external bodywork or internal trim or seating. 
 
19.2 The Council reserves the right to vary, delete or waive any of the foregoing Conditions. 
 
20. Driver and operator licensing requirements 
20.1 In addition to the limousine being licensed as a private hire vehicle with Three Rivers District Council, 

the limousine operator is required to hold a private hire operator’s licence with Three Rivers District 
Council. 

 
20.2 All bookings for a limousine licensed as a private hire vehicle must be booked through the licensed 

private hire operator. Once licensed as a private hire vehicle the limousine can only be driven by a 
licensed private hire driver who is also licensed by Three Rivers District Council. 

 
20.3 Details in respect of applications for private hire drivers’ licences and private hire operators’ licences 

can be obtained from the Licensing team. 
 
21. Rights of appeal 
21.1 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 sections 48 and 77 detail an applicant’s 

right of appeal.  In general terms where an applicant is aggrieved by the Council’s decision to refuse 
to grant a private hire vehicle licence or by any conditions imposed on a private hire licence the 
applicant has a right of appeal to Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the applicant being notified of 
the Council’s decision. 

 
22. Vehicle testing stations 
22.1 Licensed stretch limousines must be submitted for testing at six-monthly intervals, to the appropriate 

Class MOT standard from a testing station nominated by the Licensing team. 

Page 167



 

Page 78 of 83 

 
23. Accidents and damage to the vehicle 
The licensee shall report to the authorised officer any accident (motoring or otherwise) involving the vehicle 
and/or any damage materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle within 72 
hours of the accident using the form issued by the Council. The report must be submitted via the online 
portal: http://bit.ly/LicensedvehicleAccident.  
 
In the interests of public safety, the licensee of any vehicle involved in an accident will be required to submit 
a compliance certificate to the Council. The licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for hire until 
it has been inspected and approved by the authorised officer or a new compliance certificate has been 
obtained where appropriate as considered by the Council on receipt of the reported details of the incident. 
 

Page 168

http://bit.ly/LicensedvehicleAccident


 

Page 79 of 83 

Conditions relating to Private Hire Operators 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”) 
 
1. General 
An operator makes provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a private hire vehicle. 
 
Any legislative requirement shall be regarded as if they are conditions of the Private Hire Operator’s 
Licence. In determining what matters should be considered for a person to be a Fit and Proper Person to 
be an operator the following applies 
 
2. Fit and proper person 
Private hire operators must be fit and proper persons. A fit and proper person is defined in the hackney 
carriage and private hire policy. 
 
3. Use of licensed vehicles and drivers 
The Operator shall not invite or accept bookings for private hire work for any vehicle which is not currently 
licensed by the Council for such work. 
 
The Operator shall not employ or engage, whether directly or indirectly, any driver who does not hold a 
valid private hire or Hackney Carriage driver licence issued by the Council. 
 
4. Subcontracting 
Section 55A of the 1976 Act, inserted by the Deregulation Act 2015 permits operators licensed by the 
Council to sub-contract a private hire booking to another operator licensed by the Council or to any other 
private hire operator licensed by another local authority. The booking must not be sub-contracted directly 
to a licensed driver. 
 
If the booking is subcontracted the Operator must advise the customer that the booking will be sub-
contracted to another licensed operator and give the details of that licensed operator. 
 
5. Details of current drivers 
A list of all current drivers and vehicles representing your company must be submitted as part of the renewal 
and on request. 
 
4. Duration of private hire operator’s licence 
The standard period that a licence shall remain in force is for a period of five years from the date of issue. 
 
No licence will be issued for a period longer than the standard five-year period, but if an applicant wishes 
to be considered for a licence with a shorter duration, this request must be put in writing at the time of 
application. These requests will be considered on a case by case basis.   
 
An operator’s licence on renewal may be issued for a probationary period determined by the Council less 
than the standard five years, dependant on the applicant’s ability to demonstrate being a fit and proper 
person. Items that could be considered would include, criminal record, references, past allegations, record 
of compliance with the conditions, outstanding fees and any other reasonable cause. 
 
5. Basic disclosure check 
An annual basic disclosure certificate will be required from any person named on the Operator licence. This 
certificate will be due on or before expiry of the previous year’s certificate. Failure to submit a new basic 
disclosure certificate before the check date will result in a suspension being issued on the licence.  
 
6. Convictions and cautions 
Convictions and cautions will be considered in accordance with the hackney carriage and Private Hire 
Policy. 
  
In order to ensure protection of the public an operator must ensure disclosure to a relevant officer within 72 
hours in writing if they are arrested, cautioned, convicted or have any involvement with the Police regarding 
any offence during the period of their licence. Should knowledge of any offences be withheld, this could 
reflect on a person’s fitness to be a Private Hire Operator and may lead to a licence being suspended. If 
the operator licence is held by a company or partnership, the requirements of this section apply equally to 
all directors and partners.  
 
7. Record of bookings 

Appendix 11 

Page 169



 

Page 80 of 83 

The record required to be kept by the operator under Section 56(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a suitable written or electronic form approved by the Council, provided 
at nominal cost by the Council, or on a spreadsheet provided by the Council, or on a nationally recognised 
piece of computer software. This software must be capable of providing the information listed below. The 
entries must be numbered consecutively, and no pages should be removed. The operator shall enter the 
required information for each booking invited or accepted by him, before the commencement of each 
journey.   
 

• The time and date of the booking 
• The name and address of the hirer 
• How the booking was made (i.e. by telephone, personal call etc.) 
• The time of pick-up 
• The point of pick-up 
• The destination 
• The time at which a driver was allocated to the booking 
• The name of the driver and the registration number of the vehicle allocated for the booking. 
• Remarks (including details of any sub-contract). 

 
All records kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of not less than 18 months following the 
date of the last entry. In the case of computer records, the entries must be capable of being printed on 
demand at the request of a Police officer or the licensing officer. All records must be available for inspection 
and copying if required by licensing officer or Police officer.  

8. Number of Vehicles 
The licence holder will ensure that the number of vehicles used by the licence holder does not exceed the 
number of vehicles specified in the licence. 

7. Notification of change of details 
The operator shall within 7 days, notify the Council in writing of any change of personal details during the 
period of the licence. A notification of change of details must be submitted online along with the required 
fee(s) http://bit.ly/TRDCLIChange 
 
8. Standard of service 
The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the public at all reasonable 
times and for this purpose shall in particular: 
 

(a) Ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired to be in attendance at an appointed 
time and place, the vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause, punctually 
attend at that appointed time and place; 

 
(b) Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which the operator provides 

and to which the public have access, whether for the purpose of booking or waiting; 
 
(c) Ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has adequate seating facilities; 
 
(d) Ensure that any telephone facilities and radio equipment provided are maintained in a sound 

condition and that any defects are repaired promptly. 
 
NB: Planning approval, where required, must be obtained for any premises used for operating 
Private Hire business 
 
9. Complaints 
The operator shall notify the Council in writing within 72 hours of any complaints concerning a contract for 
hire or purported contract for hire relating to or arising from his business and of the action (if any) which the 
operator has taken or proposes to take in respect thereof. 
 
10. Address 
The operator must operate from an address within Three Rivers” and give the definition of ‘operate’ as 
defined by the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 paragraph 80(1) as meaning “in the 
course of business to make provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a private hire vehicle” 
and where the operator licence is granted for is where all bookings must be taken and all records must be 
kept.  

Page 170

http://bit.ly/TRDCLIChange


 

Page 81 of 83 

Once granted, an operator licence cannot be transferred to a different address. In the event of the business 
moving to a new address a new application will be required for the new premises 
 
11. Trading names 
Only trading or business names which have been authorised in writing by the Licensing Department can 
be used. This requirement includes any names used on promotional material, advertisements, website 
information or any other written documents. 
 
To prevent confusion to the public, trading names will generally not be authorised if they are actively being 
used by a company in an adjoining authority and, in these circumstances, any trading names would not 
then normally be authorised until they had not been actively used for a period of at least 18 months. Trading 
names will only be authorised or retained where there is evidence that they are actively used by the 
operator. Trading names can also be removed in appropriate circumstances. 
 
12. Advertisements 

The Operator shall not cause any advertisement in respect of his / her business or the vehicles used for 
that purpose to include the words ‘taxi’ or ‘cab’, whether in the singular or plural, or any such other words 
that may be similar in meaning or appearance to either of those words, whether alone or as part of another 
word(s). 
 
The Operator shall ensure that Private Hire Vehicles that he/she operates does not display any roof sign. 
This is due to the fact that a Private Hire Vehicle must not be of a design or appearance of a Hackney 
Carriage. 
 
Only licensed vehicles may carry advertisements in relation to the private hire operator and any such 
advertisements must be submitted to and approved by the Licensing Officer at the Council prior to being 
used. Only the private hire operator business name and telephone number will be allowed. In addition to 
this requirement, it is recommended that an advertisement bear the words ‘Advanced Booking Only’ or 
‘Must be Pre-Booked’. 
 
13. Conduct 
The operator of a private hire vehicle shall not by calling out or otherwise importune any person to hire such 
vehicle and shall not make use of the services of any other person for that purpose. 
 
14. Record of vehicles etc. 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 56(3) of the 1976 Act the operator shall keep a record in a 
bound volume of all private hire vehicles operated by him and such record shall include the following 
particulars: 
 
• The registration mark of each vehicle 
• The make of the vehicle 
• The name and address of the registered keeper 
• The names, addresses and driver’s licence numbers of drivers driving the vehicles 
• Details of any radio call sign used 
 
Such records shall be retained for a period of 18 months, and shall not be destroyed or otherwise disposed 
of before the expiry of such period without the previous written consent of the Council. 

 
15. Fares and fare table 
The operator upon request shall agree the fare for a journey booked, or provide an estimate of the fare, or 
explain that the journey will be metered. 
 
Should the operator dispatch a vehicle with a taximeter, they shall ensure that the meter is calibrated to the 
tariff of fares published by Three Rivers District Council, and that the published table of fares is clearly 
displayed in the vehicle. The operator shall ensure that the fare for such bookings does not exceed the rate 
on the meter. 
 
16. CCTV in vehicles 
The operator shall ensure that they retain a copy of the CCTV authorisation certificate from Three Rivers 
District Council for any vehicle containing a CCTV system. No vehicle is to contain facilities to record visual 
or audio sources without the vehicle licence-holder holding a certificate of authorisation from the Council.  
 
17. Operator to hold driver’s licences 

Page 171



 

Page 82 of 83 

Before the operator permits or employs another person to drive a licensed private hire vehicle, he shall 
have retained a copy of the driver’s private hire driver’s licence. This shall be retained until such time as 
the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle. On cessation of service or employment 
the licensee shall return the private hire driver’s licence to the driver. 

 
The licensee/proprietor must also ensure the driver holds a current driver’s licence in respect of the number 
of passengers authorised on the vehicle licence/plate. 
 
The operator shall notify the Council within 7 days of the details of any driver no longer working for them. 
 
18. Disposal and acquisition of vehicles 
When an operator ceases to operate a particular vehicle or begins to operate a new vehicle, they shall 
inform the Council in writing as soon as possible but not later than within 7 days of such fact. 
 
19. Condition of vehicle 
The operator shall ensure that any private hire vehicle operated by him (regardless of who owns the vehicle 
or holds the vehicle licence) is maintained in the condition required by the private hire vehicle licensing 
conditions or hackney carriage vehicle licensing conditions. The operator will ensure the vehicle is 
maintained in a suitable mechanical condition, safe, comfortable, clean and presentable and that the 
external licence plate and internal licence disc provided by the Council is affixed to the vehicle in such a 
manner and position as shall be prescribed by the Council. 
 
20. Compliance with legislation 
Operators, where applicable, must comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the byelaws made in respect of Hackney 
Carriages and conditions relating to the private hire driver’s licence.  They shall also ensure compliance 
with Section 37 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and the Equality Act (2010) in respect of Carrying 
of guide dogs and hearing dogs: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/50/section/37/enacted  
 
21. Smoking 
Operators must ensure that all vehicles dispatched by them display appropriate signage inside the vehicle 
in accordance with the Health Act 2006.  
 
The Council requires that an international no-smoking symbol at least 70mm in diameter must be displayed 
in the front passenger window or on the dashboard, and in the rear passenger window. The signs must be 
clearly visible from inside and outside of the vehicle. 
  
22. Insurance 
The licensee shall ensure that any vehicle they dispatch is covered by valid insurance for the purposes of 
private hire, and shall ensure that they do not act in any way which might invalidate the insurance. 
 
The licensee shall where applicable maintain and provide evidence of Employer’s Liability Insurance upon 
request in accordance with the Employer’s Liability Compulsory Insurance Act 1969.  
 
In the case where members of the public have access to the operating centre, the licensee shall maintain 
at all times and provide evidence of Public Liability Insurance upon request.  
 
23. Employees of Operator 
a) The operator must view a basic DBS certificate (dated within one month of the check) of any staff that 
have access to booking records or dispatch vehicles.   
b) The operator must maintain a register of all such staff which shall include a record of when each DBS 
check has been undertaken. This register must be available for inspection by an authorised officer of the 
Licensing Authority upon request. The register should include the following: 

1. the date that person’s employment in that role commenced 
2. the date the operator checked the DBS certificate 
3. the name of the person that checked the DBS certificate  
4. the date the person ceased to perform that role 

c) The register must be retained for 6 months in line with the booking records. 
d) Should an employee cease to be on the register and later re-enter the register a new basic DBS certificate 
(or use of the Update Service) should be viewed by the operator. 
e) Where the applicant/operator employs or intends to employ persons involved in taking bookings or the 
dispatch of vehicles, the operator must produce a policy on the employment of ex-offenders in those roles. 
The policy must be available for inspection on request of an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority. 

Page 172

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/50/section/37/enacted


 

Page 83 of 83 

f) The Operator must require that all staff employed in taking bookings or dispatching vehicles to report to 
them within 48 hours of any conviction, binding over, caution, warning, reprimand or arrest for any criminal 
matter whilst they are employed in this role. 
g) The operator must make certain that any outsourced booking and dispatch functions have adequate 
safeguarding measures in place for the protection of children and vulnerable adults. The operator must 
have required evidence of this from the company before outsourcing these functions. 
 
24. Appeals procedure 
Any person aggrieved by any conditions specified in this licence may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 
21 days of a decision being made. 
 
 

 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3: Consultation response(s) 

Dear Licencing Team, 
Thank you very much for your kind opportunity to speak about the new changes to its Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019.  
 
Yes I have some observations and comments on your new changes. 
  
Firstly: Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“The 1976 Act”) 
Clause 5. Dual plating Any vehicle that is licensed with another local authority as a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle cannot be licensed by the Council.  
 
This option basically reduces the opportunity for the private hire drivers. After Covid Pandemic 
and lockdown, most of the operators lost their customers and moved the business to online 
base operators like Uber and Bolt. All the operators don’t bother whether they are losing their 
business or not. They only care about their weekly fees from us. But we are struggling to 
continue. 
 
The other councils surrounding the Three Rivers District Council are giving permission to their 
drivers to operate with Uber and Bolt with their local license. Most customers mostly depend 
on Uber and Bolt now. The situation made it more difficult to get enough customers to cover 
our cost. My observation is to give permission to Uber/Bolt to operate with Three Rivers 
District Council Private Hire Taxi License holders or restrict the TFL/Uber/Bolt 
operation within the council and surrounding areas (councils).      
  
16. Standards for conditions of appearance of vehicles. The vehicle must comply with the 
following:-  
Glazing: All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any vehicle with a reading lower than the 
following will not be licensed. Front Windscreen 75%, Front Side Windows 70%, All other 
Windows 30%. The lower the number the darker the tint. There may be exemptions to allow 
factory fitted tinted windows in exceptional circumstances for example vehicles working under 
an applied exemption whereby the vehicle is used for Corporate, executive or Chauffer hire 
service’. All vehicles that are used for schools contracts must not be fitted with tinted windows 
which are darker than required standards. Vehicles that are found to have such tints will be 
removed from service immediately and the tints must be replaced with more appropriate 
glazing at the cost to owner of the vehicle. 
  
The change of tinted window rule is totally unprofessional and fully unethical. Every driver got 
their taxi license after going through all your procedures. The reason you want to change the 
rule is not appropriate at all in this case. As a council private hire taxi driver, I am feeling 
shame.  At least we deserve some respect and trust. However, if there is any dishonesty 
among us, imposing new rules cannot solve the issue. 
 
Technically it is not appropriate to change the factory fitted tinted glass of any vehicle. 
All vehicle companies are complying with the UK Govt guidelines before they are 
imported or manufactured. If we want to change any parts of a company fitted vehicle, 
ultimately, every car is losing the warranty. Not only that insurance premium will 
increase to modify the car. Overall, we need to pay the cost of changing all tinted 
windows. Seriously, do you think it is logical? 
  
You must monitor that the existing rules are executing properly or not. Any School Run 
contract should not be given to subcontract. But currently all operators distribute the 
“School Run” contracts to different operators/drivers/different council private hire 
drivers. If you prevent this stage and ensure one contract-one operator-one taxi-one 
driver, then it is more riskless and more trustworthy. 

Page 175



 
There are more other alternative options to prevent any incident, like install an 
authorized camera, School runner special photographic ID with Car Registration no, 
frequently check and follow up.      
 
Definitely I am disagreeing with this change and hope you will understand this change is not 
appropriate and also consider our concern. 
 
Finally thank you for giving the opportunity to express our view of your new changes.   
 
Thank you. 
 

Page 176



Page 1 of 8 
 

REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE – 8 MARCH 2022 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE – 14 MARCH 2022 
PART I  

6. INTRODUCTION OF A STREET TRADING POLICY (LICENSING) 

 (DCES) 

1 Summary 

1.1 In recent months, following a number of street trading applications, it is evident the 
Council requires a specific Policy to cover Street Trading and tighter internal 
processes which would be best achieved by implementing a new Street Trading 
Policy (“the Policy”). 

1.2 The aim of the Policy is to create a street trading environment which ensures fair 
trading, protects the amenity of residents, ensures the safety of those trading, 
promotes diversity and consumer choice and provides applicants with advice and 
guidance on the Council’s approach to the administration for street trading consents 
and licences under Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982 (“the Act”).  

1.3 Currently the licensing department rely on Schedule 4 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the Act”) when processing applications as no 
street trading policy exists. That said, the department does currently have a list of 
prohibited and consent streets (see Appendix II of the Policy) which were passed by 
Council on 10 July 2007.  These streets and the designation of streets as prohibited, 
consent or licence streets have not been reviewed at the current time. However, a 
review of the streets would be undertaken and reported within the next 18 months 
with amendments made thereafter. 

1.4 Officers are therefore seeking member agreement in adopting the Policy following a 
12 week public consultation which is due to expire on 11th March 2022. 

2 Details 

2.1 Street Trading is defined as the selling or exposing or offering for sale of any article 
(including a living thing) in a street. Under Schedule 4 of the Act, the Council can 
manage street trading by designating streets as ‘consent streets’, ‘licence streets’ or 
‘prohibited streets’. 

2.2 For clarification - a street includes a street, highway or other area (e.g. carpark, park, 
green, pavement) to which the public have access without payment and as such any 
land adjacent to the street will also fall within the scope of the Policy. The definition 
does not include buildings themselves or commercial premises. 

2.3 As highlighted above, the department does have a list of prohibited and consent 
streets which is displayed on our website. The current list of prohibited streets 
generally comprise of trunk roads, principle roads and specific named roads across 
the district. Additionally, at the Regulatory Services Committee in December 2017 it 
was agreed that trading be prohibited within 50m of any school boundary unless 
written permission is ascertained from the Head Teacher. 

Page 177

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 8 
 

2.4 It should be noted that there are a number of different type of street trading activities, 
from static street trading (i.e. burger van), mobile street trading (i.e. ice cream 
traders), markets/fairs/carnivals and special events. 

2.5 The Policy sets out the following in order to assist potential applicants before 
applying:  

- criteria for choosing a trading location/pitch which is aimed to assist potential 
applicants 

- requirements of trading vehicles i.e. emissions and encouragement of electronic 
vehicles  

- guidance on employees of street traders 

- operating hours 

- guidance on ice cream van chimes  

- trading near to schools 

- how the application process works from submission, consultation and 
determination  

- guidance on suitability of an applicant  

- requirements for street trading during events / special events 

2.6 The purpose of the Policy is therefore to: 

- provide guidance to applicants and the decision makers  

- to ensure fair trade occurs between mobile traders 

- protect the amenity of residents 

- promote diversity and consumer choice 

- provides applicants with advice and guidance on the Council’s approach to the 
administration of applications for street trading licences  

- prevent obstruction of the streets in the district and to ensure the safety of persons 
using them 

3 Consultation  

3.1 A public consultation initially took place for 6 weeks and expired on 26th January 2022. 
However, it was noted that the Parish Councils were omitted from the consultation 
and thus a further 6 week consultation commenced and expires on 11th March 2022. 

3.2 All existing street traders, all members, Parish Councils, relevant consultees on street 
trading licences/consents were notified and public notices were also displayed in the 
Watford Observer. The consultation was also displayed on the Council’s website. 

3.3 One response was received from the Clerk at Watford Rural Parish Council at the 
time of writing the report, any further comments received will be verbally updated at 
Committee.  

Page 178



Page 3 of 8 
 

3.4 The response included the following comments: 

This could be quite an important document for us as we are relaunching our street 
market this year once the large redevelopment in South Oxhey is complete. However, 
as the closing date is 28 January, my council will not be able to comment as the next 
Full Council meeting is not until after this date. I know from the policy itself you list us 
as a consultee so can you please confirm you will allow us time to discuss the policy 
at Full Council and, if applicable, comment accordingly?  

If I may please ask a few questions myself from having read it through quickly, so I 
can brief Cllrs: 

- Ours is a bespoke designed, designated market area so I know traders do not 
need a street trading licence (as St Andrews Road was previously before the 
market closed for redevelopment) but this does not seem to be mentioned in the 
policy. Should it be?  

- As it is a designated market area should Prestwick Road be listed as a consent 
street? 

- In the future, we have discussed the possibility of holding a Christmas market 
event at Delta Gain/Carpenders Avenue Shops. These roads are specifically 
listed as prohibited. What would be the best way to seek this to be overturned 
please? 
 

3.5 The Officer responses to the above questions are set out below. 

3.6 If a market or fair has acquired by virtue of a grant (including a presumed grant) or 
acquired or established by an enactment or order it will be exempt from street trading. 
If Watford Rural Parish (WRP) are able to evidence any of the above then their market 
will be exempt. From documentation on file it would appear that WRP were given 
delegated powers to hold an occasional market (one day a month) on the paved area 
of St Andrews precinct in South Oxhey, under the provisions of Section 50 of the 
Food Act 1984. As part of the agreement Watford Market appeared to have been 
consulted and had no objections to the market operating on a Thursday as it did not 
breach the charter condition that no other market was to operate within a 6.6 mile 
radius of the centre of Watford. It would appear that the market started sometime 
after March 1991 and an agreement was drawn up between WRP and a company 
called Innland Markets (the operator) who managed the market. This agreement 
started on 21 March 1991 and permitted Innland Markets to operate a market on 
payment of the licence fee for a 6 month period.  

3.7 In February 2020 it was agreed by Council: 

 That on or before the 20 March 2020 the Council revokes the powers delegated to 
Watford Rural Parish Council in 1990 to hold a market at St Andrews Road, South 
Oxhey and that the Chief Executive be authorised to formally revoke that delegation 
and to take all necessary steps in connection with the revocation. 

 That the Council using Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 agrees to 
delegate its powers under Section 50 of the Food Act 1984 to Watford Rural Parish 
Council to hold a market in Prestwick Road South Oxhey on the basis that the Parish 
Council will seek and obtain all necessary permissions licences and consents to 
operate a market at Prestwick Road at its own cost. 

That the Chief Executive (in consultation with the Leader of the Council and Ward 
Councillors) be authorised to agree and approve:- 

Page 179



Page 4 of 8 
 

- all the specific details around the delegation including, but not limited to, the date 
the delegated powers can be exercised from, the actual location of the market in 
Prestwick Road and any decisions on the Operator of the market. 

- the Business Plan to be produced by Watford Rural Parish Council. 

3.8 At the time of writing, Officers are of the view that WRP will require a street trading 
licence covering the market but will review any information supplied by WRP. The 
Policy sets out that for non-established markets the Council may issue one street 
trading consent/licence to the person organising the event.  

3.9 Prestwick Road is currently a consent street meaning an application would be 
required if any street trader wished to trade on the road. The application would need 
to satisfy the criteria specified within the Policy. 

3.10 With regards to future events within Delta Gain/Carpenders Avenue, the list of 
Prohibited and Consent streets is to be reviewed and is not subject to any change as 
a result of introducing this Policy.  

3.11 Following the previous committee, comments by Members were noted and Officers 
have duly considered the discussion which occurred. As a result, it was agreed that 
only mobile street traders should not be permitted to trade within a 50 metre radius 
of any other street trader removing reference to shops which trade in similar 
goods/articles.  

4 Options and Reasons for Recommendations 

4.1 There are 3 options available for Members: 

- Option 1: That Members agree the Policy subject to any new response(s) 
received within the consultation period. 

Any response(s) to be circulated to all members of the committee with an officer 
response. 

 
Following receipt of any further responses the Head of Regulatory Services will 
determine whether the Policy (attached to this report) can be presented to the 
Policy and Resources Committee for determination on formal adoption or 
returned to a future Regulatory Services Committee. 

 
- Option 2: Authorise Officers to make further changes on the Policy before going 

out to a further public consultation (if required). Following the expiry of the 
consultation for the Policy (if required) to agree the amended Policy and request 
that Policy & Resources Committee adopt the Policy. 

- Option 3: Decide not to adopt the Policy. 

5 Policy/Budget Reference and Implications 

5.1 The recommendations in this report are within the Council’s agreed budgets. Costs 
associated with the press notice have been subsumed within existing licensing 
budgets.  

5.2 There are no performance indicators impacted. 

Page 180



Page 5 of 8 
 

6 Staffing, Environmental, Community Safety & Public Health Implications  

6.1 None specific. 

7 Financial Implications 

6.1 The introduction of the Policy may deter applicants from applying which could have 
an impact on income. 

8 Legal Implications 

8.1 The adoption of the Policy will assist Officers and ensure the Council has a robust 
procedure in place when dealing with street trading within the district including in the 
determination of street trading applications. 

9 Equal Opportunities Implications 

9.1 Relevance Test 

Has a relevance test been completed for Equality Impact? 
 

No 

Did the relevance test conclude a full impact assessment 
was required? 

N/A 

 

9.2 Impact Assessment 

9.2.1 There is no detrimental impact likely towards any protected group from introducing 
the Policy.   

10 Customer Services Centre Implications 

10.1 CSC staff will be made aware of the Policy once it comes into force. 

11 Communications and Website Implications 

11.1 If agreed the Policy will be displayed on the TRDC website and will be published via 
TRDC social media platforms. Officers will also inform all those consulted that the 
Policy has come into force. 

12 Risk and Health & Safety Implications 

12.1 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on the 
website at http://www.threerivers.gov.uk.  In addition, the risks of the proposals in the 
report have also been assessed against the Council’s duties under Health and Safety 
legislation relating to employees, visitors and persons affected by our operations.  
The risk management implications of this report are detailed below. 

12.2 The subject of this report is covered by the Regulatory Service Plan. Any risks 
resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if necessary, 
managed within this/these plan(s). 

Page 181



Page 6 of 8 
 

Nature of 
Risk 

Consequence Suggested 
Control 
Measures 

Response 
(tolerate, 
treat 
terminate, 
transfer) 

Risk Rating 
(combination 
of likelihood 
and impact) 

Option 1: 
 

Prevents 
delays from 
having a 
consistent 
approach when 
dealing with 
street trading 
and ensuring 
guidance is 
readily 
available to 
applicants 

Members to 
agree to 
recommendation 
provided to 
ensure it can be 
adopted in the 
early part of 
2022 
 

Treat. 
  

Low 2. 

  

Option 2: 
 

Delays the 
department 
from having a 
consistent 
approach when 
dealing with 
street trading 
and preventing 
guidance being 
readily 
available to 
applicants  

Officers to make 
the necessary 
changes and 
bring back to the 
relevant 
Committee at 
their earliest 
opportunity (if 
such changes 
require further 
consultation) 
  

Treat.  Low 2. 

 
  
 
 
 

Option 3: 
 

Prevents 
consistency to 
decision 
making and 
fails to ensure 
that suitable 
guidance is 
available to 
applicants 

Officers to 
advice against 
this approach to 
ensure that 
there is greater 
consistency to 
street trading  

Treat. Low 2. 
 

 

12.3 The above risks are scored using the matrix below.  The Council has determined its 
aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of impact and 
likelihood scores 6 or less. 

 
 

Page 182



Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 
 

Impact Score  Likelihood Score 

4 (Catastrophic)  4 (Very Likely (≥80%)) 

3 (Critical)  3 (Likely (21-79%)) 

2 (Significant)  2 (Unlikely (6-20%)) 

1 (Marginal)  1 (Remote (≤5%)) 
 

12.4 In the officers’ opinion none of the new risks above, were they to come about, would 
seriously prejudice the achievement of the Strategic Plan and are therefore 
operational risks.  The effectiveness of the management of operational risks is 
reviewed by the Audit Committee annually. 

13 Recommendation 

13.1 That the Members of the Committee: 

1). Recommend to agree the Policy subject to any new response(s) received. Any 
response(s) received within the consultation period are to be circulated to all 
Members of the committee with an officer response.  
Following receipt of any further responses the Head of Regulatory Services will 
determine whether the Policy (attached to this report) can be presented to the Policy 
and Resources Committee for determination on formal adoption or returned to a 
future Regulatory Services Committee. 
 
Report prepared by: (Lorna Fryer, Lead Licensing Officer) 
 

Likelihood 
Very  Likely  --------------------------►

  R
em

ote 

Low 

4 

High 

8 

Very High 

12 

Very High 

16 

Low 

3 

Medium  

6 

High 

9 

Very High 

12 

Low 

2 

Low 

4 

Medium 

6 

High 

8 

Low 

1 

Low 

2 

Low 

3 

Low 

4 

Impact 
Low  --------------------------------------------------►  Unacceptable 

Page 183



Page 8 of 8 
 

Data Quality 
Data sources: 

 Data checked by: Matthew Roberts, Team Leader, Development Management 
Data rating:  

1 Poor  
2 Sufficient  
3 High X 

 
Background Papers: None. 
 
APPENDIX: 
 
Appendix A: Draft Street Trading Policy 2021 
 

 
 
 

Page 184



 

 

 

 

 

THREE RIVERS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 

 

STREET TRADING POLICY 
 

 

 

Adopted XXXX 
  

Page 185

https://www.watford.gov.uk/intranettrdc


Page 2 of 29 

 

Section Contents Page 

 Definitions 3 

1.  Introduction 3 

2.  Guidance for applicants 5 

 - Different types of street trading  

 - Choosing a trading location/pitch  

 - Site assessment  

 - Trading from a vehicle  

 - Employees  

 - Goods for sale  

 - Advertising  

 - Waste  

 - Opening/trading hours  

 - Street trading and the Licensing Act 2003  

 - Ice cream van chimes  

 - Trading near to a school  

3.  Application and determination process for new applications 11 

 - Types of consents/licences  

 - Duration of consents/licences   

 - Submitting an application  

4.  Consultations  12 

5.  Criteria used to determine the application 13 

 - Suitability of applicant  

 - Nature of goods  

 - Public safety  

 - Public order  

 - Avoidance of nuisance  

 - Character of the area  

 - Compliance with legal requirements  

 - Consultee’s observations  

6.  Approval of applications and issue of consents/licences 14 

7.  Appeal process  15 

8.  Display of consent/licence and badges  16 

9.  Consent/licence renewal process  17 

10.  Street trading during events  18 

 - Community and charitable events  

 - Special events and non-established markets  

11.  Fees  20 

12.  Surrender of consent/licence  20 

13.  Conditions  20 

14.  Enforcement  21 

15.  Review procedures  22 

16.  Return of licence  23 

 
Appendix I – Conditions 24-26 

 
Appendix II – Prohibited/Consent/Licence Streets 27-28 

 
Appendix III - Guidance on suitability of applicants 29-30 

 

 
  

Page 186



Page 3 of 29 

 

Definitions: 
 
‘Authorised Officer’ means any authorised officer of Three Rivers District Council. 
 
‘Consent Street’ means a street in which street trading is prohibited without a consent from 
Three Rivers District Council. 
 
‘Licence Street’ means a street in which street trading is prohibited without a licence from 
Three Rivers District Council. 
 
‘Non-established markets’ are markets that have not been established in law either by charter, 
prescriptive rights or by statute.  
 

‘Prohibited Street’ means a street in which street trading is prohibited. Under no circumstances 
will street trading be allowed. 
 
‘Street’ includes any road, footway, lay-by or any other open area to which the public have 
access without payment. 
 
‘Street Trading’ means the selling, or exposing or offering for sale, of any article in a street. 
 
‘The Council’ or ‘District Council’ means Three Rivers District Council. 
 
‘Trader’ or ‘Consent/Licence holder’ means the person(s) to whom the Licence has been 
granted or renewed and includes any other person employed or assisting the principal trader. 
 
‘Police Officer’ means any Police Officer of Hertfordshire Constabulary. 

 
1 Introduction 

1.1 Street Trading is defined as the selling or exposing or offering for sale of any article 
(including a living thing) in a street. Under the provisions of Schedule 4 to the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, a Local Authority may designate 
streets within its district as “consent” streets or “licence” streets in order to control street 
trading, whereby trading would not be permitted without the permission of the Authority. 

1.2 For clarification - a street includes a street, highway or other area (e.g. carpark, park, 
green, pavement) to which the public have access without payment and as such any 
land adjacent to the street will also fall within the scope of this policy. The definition does 
not include buildings themselves or commercial premises. 

1.3 In order to provide guidance to applicants and decision makers, the Council has adopted 
a Street Trading Policy (“the Policy”). 

1.4 The aim of the Policy is to create a street trading environment which:  

a) ensures fair trading between mobile traders in the district;  

b) protects the amenity of the residents by ensuring that licenced traders do not 
 cause nuisance, damage, disturbance or annoyance;  

c) ensures the safety of the people using them;  

d) promotes diversity and consumer choice;  

Page 187



Page 4 of 29 

 

e) provides applicants with advice and guidance on the council’s approach to the 
administration of applications for street trading consents/licences 

f) prevent obstruction of the streets in the District and to ensure the safety of persons 
using them.  

1.5 In doing so, it recognises the importance of local businesses to the local economy and 
that occasional, community-run events and those of a similar nature, are important 
factors in Three Rivers.  

1.6 This Policy will guide the Council when it considers applications under Schedule 4 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. 

1.7 The Council adopted this legislation in 1984 and all streets in the District currently have 
either been determined as ‘consent’ streets or ‘prohibited’ streets. No ‘licence’ streets 
are currently designated by the Authority but the list of designated streets may be 
amended to include ‘licence’ streets in future. Currently, anyone who wishes to trade on 
a consent street must hold a street trading consent. All streets listed in Appendix II 
under prohibited streets cannot be used for street trading. 

1.8 There are some exemptions from requiring a licence to trade. These include: 

 Pedlars: To operate as a pedlar, a pedlar’s certificate must be obtained 
through the local Police Authority who can provide advice on the application 
and the conditions of the certificate. 

 News Vendors selling newspapers or periodicals. 

 Shop forecourts selling goods associated with the shop.  

 Trading as a roundsman: Anyone trading as a roundsman has defined 
customers and defined routes. There is no statutory definition of a roundsman, 
however for the purposes of this Policy, the Licensing Authority considers a 
roundsman to be anyone who goes the round of his customers for orders and 
the delivery of goods, generally trading door to door rather than from the 
street. 

 Anything done in a market or fair the right to hold which was acquired by virtue 
of the grant (including a presumed grant) or acquired or established by virtue 
of an enactment or order; 

 Sales of articles by householders on land within the curtilage of their property, 
for example garage sales. This does not include selling products relating to a 
business 

 Goods from working farms or smallholdings sold at the premises where they 
were produced.  

 Trading as part of an established travelling fair where permission for the event 
has already been granted by Three Rivers District Council e.g. Carters Steam 
Fair, Classics on the Green 

 Community or charitable events where the profits are not used for private gain 
or are wholly passed to a charity, educational organisation or community 
based organisation.  

Page 188



Page 5 of 29 

 

 Any event whereby an entrance fee is charged to members of the public by 
the organiser 

1.9 Applicants should be aware that the Council is the land owner for some streets in the 
District, for which there may be an additional charge and/or restrictions on availability. 
Permission must be sought from the Council’s Property department prior to submitting 
an application, 

2 Guidance for applicants 

2.1 Different types of street trading activities 

Street trading includes, but is not limited to: 

2.1.1 Static Trading  

A static street trading consent/licence is issued for a trader who remains in one place 
during trading and who is not positioned on a Prohibited Street in the District. This would 
include food vans and stalls.  

2.1.2 Mobile Trading (including ice cream traders) 

Mobile consents/licences are issued to those who want to trade from numerous locations 
for a short period of time around the District. In order to meet the criteria for a mobile 
consent/licence, a trader generally must not remain in one place for more than 15 
minutes at a time and not return to the same street within 2 hours. A ‘particular length of 
street/site’ should normally be interpreted as being a length of street up to 500 metres 
long.  

2.1.3 Buskers  

Buskers do not normally require a street trading consent/licence and accordingly are not 
within the scope of this Policy. However, a street trading consent/licence may be 
required for musicians who wish to sell items associated with their performance, for 
example, CD’s or merchandise. 

2.1.4 Markets/Fetes/Carnivals/Special events 

Trading at community and charitable events, non-established markets and special 
events are covered in sections 29-31 of this policy. 

2.1.5 Selling a vehicle on the street 

A street trading consent/licence is required where vehicles are placed on a street and 
advertised for sale. This includes any vehicle displaying signs that name an individual 
or business; or displays notices/signs intended to sell the vehicle. 

2.2    Choosing a trading location/pitch  

2.2.1 Before applying for a street trading consent/licence, applicants must first identify a 
suitable trading pitch. It is for the applicant/trader to identify a suitable pitch having 
regard to the requirements laid out in the Policy and their business needs. The Licensing 
Authority does not maintain a list of suitable sites. The Licensing Authority also does not 
hold a list of available trading pitches or a waiting list for existing pitches.  

Page 189



Page 6 of 29 

 

2.2.2 It is for the applicant to determine the business viability of any pitch. A pitch must satisfy 
a number of criteria before being considered suitable to trade from. The applicant is 
expected to conduct this research themselves and provide the information to the 
Licensing Authority before submitting a full application.  

2.2.3 Any pitch in use before the approval of this Policy may remain under grandfather rights 
(an old rule which may continue to apply to some existing street traders, while a new 
rule will apply to all new applicants) until the licence is renewed. However any new 
pitches must meet all of the following criteria:  

a) Safe for public access by foot or by vehicle  

b) Has suitable parking spaces for customers and trading vehicle  

c) Is suitably lit (if trading after dark) to promote safe access and egress for 
customers and for visibility by other road users.  

d) Does not breach highway regulations or make hazardous the passage of the 
public, including people with disabilities, over the highway or otherwise cause 
 a traffic hazard.  

e) Does not impede the passage of emergency vehicle access.  

f) Where adjacent to a highway, there must be a safety barrier of a verge or 
footpath between the proposed trading location and the carriageway.  

g) Does not cause the loss of parking spaces to residents or businesses. No 
consent/licences will be granted in an areas of permit parking. 

h) Will not cause a disturbance, damage, interference, annoyance, 
inconvenience (e.g. noise nuisance, litter, odour etc.) to local residents or 
businesses. 

2.2.4 In order for the Licensing Authority to assess the potential trading pitch, the applicant 
will be required to submit a map of the location with the potential pitch marked out clearly.  

2.2.5 If the pitch is on private land, to which the public have access without paying, written 
evidence of the landowner’s permission to use that site will also be required as part of 
the application.  

2.2.6 The applicant or landowner must determine if there is appropriate or necessary planning 
permission to sell goods from the proposed location. Applicants are required to contact 
the Planning department prior to making an application for a consent/licence, to 
ascertain whether planning permission is required.  

2.2.7 If the site is on land owned by the Council then prior written permission will be required 
from the Property Services team prior to the submission of a Street Trading application.  

2.2.8 If a pitch of interest is already occupied, or is of interest to two street traders, then a pitch 
can be shared by splitting either the times or the days on which the traders wish to 
operate. The street traders must have a written mutual agreement between them, 
approved by the Licensing Authority, detailing when the pitch is going to be occupied by 
both traders. The location can be shared even if the exact pitch, where the trading 
vehicle is located, is not. The individual traders will need their own consent/licences for 
the location. 

Page 190



Page 7 of 29 

 

2.2.9 The Licensing Authority will inform applicants if a pitch is unlikely to meet the criteria. 
However, advice from the Licensing Authority does not guarantee that a proposed pitch 
applied for will not be subject to relevant objections during the consultation process 
following an official application and therefore be deemed unsuitable.  

2.3 Site Assessment 

Street trading licences from static locations will not normally be granted where: 

a) A significant effect on road safety would arise either from the siting of the trading 
activity itself, or from customers visiting or leaving the site; or 

b) Where there are concerns over the recorded level of personal injury accidents  in 
the locality where the street trading activity will be sited; or 

c) There would be a significant loss of amenity caused by traffic, noise, rubbish, 
potential for the harbourage of vermin, odour or fumes; or 

d) There is already adequate provision in the immediate vicinity of the site to be used 
for street trading purposes; or 

e) There is a conflict with Traffic Orders such as waiting restrictions; or  

f) The site or pitch obstructs either pedestrian or vehicular access, or traffic flows,  or 
places pedestrians in danger when in use for street trading purposes; or 

g) The trading unit obstructs the safe passage of users of the footway or carriageway; 
or 

h) The pitch interferes with sight lines for any road users such as at road junctions, or 
pedestrian crossing facilities; or 

i) The site does not allow the consent/licence holder, staff and customers to park  in a 
safe manner; or 

j) The street trading activity is carried out after dusk and the site is not adequately lit 
to allow safe access and egress from the site for both customers and staff. 

k) Trading from lay-by locations is restricted to sites which provide:- 

a. Sufficient width to allow vehicles to park and pass; 
b. Sufficient length to allow several large vehicles to park without causing 

congestion; and 
c. A verge (minimum width 1 metre) physically separating the lay by and the 

highway. 
 
 

2.4 Trading from a vehicle/trailer 

2.4.1 The trading and/or towing vehicle used must be compliant with the Driver and Vehicle 
Standards Agency (DVSA) MOT standards.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/driver-and-vehicle-standards-agency  

The trading and/or towing vehicle must be maintained in a roadworthy condition, taxed, 
insured and MOT checked at all times. The type, colour and dimensions of any trading 

Page 191

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/driver-and-vehicle-standards-agency


Page 8 of 29 

 

vehicles to be used will be submitted to the Licensing Authority with colour photos for 
approval.  

2.4.2 Details of where the trading vehicle is to be kept overnight must also be submitted.  

2.4.3 The trading vehicle must not be set up as a permanent structure and must be removed 
from the trading pitch within 30 minutes of the end of the consented hours, unless agreed 
in writing by the Licensing Authority; and upon any reasonable request made by the 
emergency services, Highway Authority (Hertfordshire County Council) or similar 
authority.  

2.4.4 Maintenance logs must be kept for the trading vehicle and made available for inspection 
when requested by an authorised officer from the Police, Licensing Authority or DVSA.  

2.4.5 If a trailer is going to be used as the trading vehicle, it must comply with the relevant 
laws around maximum weight that can be towed and height restrictions. The driver of 
the vehicle towing the trailer to and from the location must have the appropriate B3 
driving category included on their DVLA driving licence. 

2.4.6 All new vehicles to be used for mobile trading must comply with Euro standards for 
emissions and be no more than 7 years old.  

2.4.7 All renewing vehicles must pass an annual MOT and pass the required emissions test. 
Should we receive complaints about vehicle emissions, proprietors will be required to 
provide the Licensing Authority an emissions report from a garage. 

2.5 Employees  

2.5.1 Under the Immigration Act, introduced in 2016, 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/19/contents/enacted, the Home Office 
granted new duties for local authorities to deal with illegal workers and those who employ 
them. Anyone employing illegal workers, (those without the right to be working in the 
UK) can be fined up to £20,000 per illegal worker. The wages of the illegal workers can 
also be seized as proceeds of crime. You are required to check the residency status and 
right to work of anyone who you employ to trade under your street trading 
consent/licence and you must include their names on an application form. Proof of their 
right to work must also be submitted as part of the application.  

2.5.2 For more information on the Immigration Act, and the duties of employers to check the 
rights of their employees to work, please review the Home Office guidance. Any trader 
found to allow an illegal worker to work as part of their trading activities is likely to have 
their street trading consent/licence reviewed and/or revoked. 
https://www.gov.uk/topic/immigration-operational-guidance 

2.5.3 A passport style colour photo of each employee who will be working on the stall/in the 

vehicle will also be required to be submitted as part of the application.  

2.6 Goods for Sale  

Traders wishing to sell food items must be registered as a food business with the 
Environmental Health department in whose area the trading vehicle is stored and 
where any off site food preparation takes place.  

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/food-hygiene-ratings  

2.7     Advertising 

Page 192

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/19/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/topic/immigration-operational-guidance
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/food-hygiene-ratings


Page 9 of 29 

 

2.7.1 There must be no available means of attracting attention for the purposes of trading or 
any stands or signs away from the consented pitch. Any trader wishing to display 
advertising, such as A-boards, will require the approval of both the Planning department 
as well as the highways authority. Any unauthorised advertising will be removed.  

2.7.2 Advertising on the trading vehicle must be approved by the Licensing Authority.  

2.8    Waste 

2.8.1 Where goods are sold that are for immediate use or consumption, the trader must 
provide at least one suitably sized waste container with signage requesting the 
customers to use it. The consent/licence holder is responsible for disposal of refuse and 
must not use Council, highway or other waste bins. The consent/licence holder has a 
duty of care to dispose of the commercial waste lawfully.  

2.8.2 Advice can be sought from the Environment Agency at Environment Agency Website. 
Further information can also be found on the council’s web site – Three Rivers District 
Council Commercial Waste and Recycling 

2.8.3 There must be no disposal of liquid waste down the drains or onto the pavement, road 
or grassland. This includes waste cooking oil as it leads to blockages, odour, vermin 
problems and can pollute watercourses. Such action could result in prosecution. Waste 
oils should also not be disposed of with the rest of the catering or kitchen waste. Section 
111 of the Water Industry Act 1991 makes it illegal to permit any substance, which may 
interfere with the free flow of the sewerage system, to pass down any sewer or drain 
connecting to a public sewer. This is enforced by Thames Water. Further information 
about disposal of waste oils from catering premises can be found on the Food Standards 
Agency website https://www.food.gov.uk/.  

2.8.4 All waste water from the trading vans’ sinks must be collected and disposed of correctly. 
Officers of the responsible authorities will take the steps that they consider appropriate 
if traders are found to be disposing of oils, waste water etc. in an unlawful or 
unacceptable manner. Consent/licence holders must also organise adequate sanitation 
provision for themselves and their employees.  

2.9 Opening/Trading hours  

2.9.1 Street trading is limited to the days of the week and between the hours stated on the 
consent/licence. 

2.9.2 The consent/licence holder will be allowed 30 minute preparation time prior to the start 
of their trading hours in order to set up their trading vehicle, and there will be a 30 minute 
closing time to allow the trader to tidy and pack up. Consent/Licence holders are not 
permitted to trade during the preparation or closing times. If a pitch is shared between 
two Consent/Licence holders who will be operating on the same day, there will be an 
hour between the end time of the first consent/licence and the start time of the other 
Consent/Licence to allow for the respective closing and preparation time. If the location 
is shared (for example a lay-by), and not the exact pitch, then the preparation and closing 
times may overlap, requiring a 30 minute gap between trading times. 

2.9.3 Ice cream vans will not be permitted to trade before 09:00hrs and after 20:00hrs.  

2.10  Street trading and the Licensing Act 2003  

Page 193

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/trade-waste-and-recycling
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/trade-waste-and-recycling
https://www.food.gov.uk/


Page 10 of 29 

 

2.10.1 Street traders that either serve hot food or drink at any time between 23:00-hrs and 
05:00-hrs the following day or sell alcohol will also require a licence under the Licensing 
Act 2003.  

2.10.2 Details of the various licences issued under the Licensing Act 2003 can be found on 
the Licensing page of the Council’s website https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-
page/alcohol-and-entertainment-licensing  

2.10.3 A trader will not be allowed to trade if a licence is needed but not been issued. 

Ice Cream Van Chimes guidance 

2.11.1 Code of Practice on Noise from Ice-Cream Van Chimes Etc. in England 2013 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/245699/pb14030-ice-cream-vans.pdf  

2.11.2 It is an offence under S62 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 to sound your chimes 
before 12:00hrs (noon) or after 19:00hrs.  

2.11.3 You must not sound chimes as loudly in areas of low background noise or narrow 
streets as elsewhere and: 

 for longer than 12 seconds at a time;  

 more often than once every 2 minutes;  

 more than once when the vehicle is stationary at a selling point;  

 except on approach to or at a selling point;  

 when in sight of another vehicle which is trading;  

 when within 50 metres of schools (during school hours), hospitals, and places  of 
worship (on Sundays and other recognised day of worship);  

 more often than once every 2 hours in the same length of street;  

 louder than LAmax 80dB at 7.5 metres 

2.12 Trading Near to a School  

2.12.1 As part of the Every Child Matters: Change for Children Agenda, Central Government 
made a commitment in the national Children’s Plan to publish a child health strategy 
jointly between the Department of Health and the Department for Children, Schools and 
Families. Published on 12 February 2009, the “Healthy lives, brighter futures: the 
strategy for children and young people’s health” Strategy presents the Government’s 
vision for children and young people’s health and wellbeing.  

2.12.2 The Council recognises that a healthy start in life is vital for all children and young 
people to realise their full potential. In terms of child obesity there are benefits of not 
having certain traders such as ice cream vehicles and burger vans outside a school. 
This Policy seeks to support the Council’s commitment to reducing obesity and 
improving dental health and accordingly the Council has attached a condition to all street 
trading consent/licence that states there is a 50 metre exclusion zone around the 
curtilage of the school, as measured from any school boundary or entrances onto a 
highway, in which street traders are not allowed to trade, subject to the following times; 

Page 194

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/alcohol-and-entertainment-licensing
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/alcohol-and-entertainment-licensing
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/245699/pb14030-ice-cream-vans.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/245699/pb14030-ice-cream-vans.pdf


Page 11 of 29 

 

during term time and then between the hours of 12pm to 2.00pm and 15.00pm to 
17.00pm on any school day. The restrictions apply to all street trading consents, 
regardless of whom the consent/licence holders are targeting and whether or not the 
application is new or for a renewal of an existing Consent/licence. 

3. Application and determination process for new applications  

3.1 Types of consent/licence issued 

 Two types of consents/licences are issued; static or mobile 

3.2    Duration of consents/licences 

 A standard consent/licence is granted for a period of 12 months.  

 An occasional consent/licence may be granted for up to 7 days for activities such 
as street buskers selling merchandise, pop-up stalls etc.  

 A seasonal consent/licence may be granted for a period of 6 months for seasonal 
traders e.g. ice-cream vendors.  

3.3 Submitting an application  

3.3.1 An application for a Street Trading consent/licence must be made to the Council, and 
the following will be required to be submitted: 

a) A completed Street Trading consent/licence application form. 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/street-trading-licence  

b) The payment of the full fee as appropriate for the periods of trading applied for (The 
fee will be returned if the application is refused or not processed). 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/download?id=49643  

c) Where the proposed street trading activity is from a fixed position, a plan showing the 
precise trading position and its proximity to other similar retail outlets within a 100 
metre radius. The proposed position and orientation of the stall, van, barrow, cart etc. 
is to be shown on the plan. The plan shall also include any additional vehicles that 
will be parked on the site 

d) Colour photographs showing the front, side and rear aspects of the stall, van, 
barrow, cart etc. that will be used for the street trading activity. 

e) One passport size photograph of the applicant and of any employees who will be 
working in the vehicle/stall.  

f) A basic disclosure certificate (dated within the last 3 months) for the applicant and 
any employees who will be working in the vehicle/stall. 

g) Photographic ID and evidence of their right to reside and work in the UK for the 
applicant and any employees who will be working in the vehicle/stall. 

h) A copy of a current Public Liability certificate of insurance that covers the street 
trading activity for third party and public liability risks, to a minimum value of £5 
million. 

Page 195

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/street-trading-licence
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/download?id=49643


Page 12 of 29 

 

i) Evidence of registration of the food business with the appropriate Local  Authority 
and food hygiene rating 

j) MOT certificate for trading vehicle. 

k) Copy of driving licence for proposed applicants/employees who may drive or  tow 
the trading vehicle. A print out from the DVLA website dated within the  previous 
14 days is preferred. See https://www.gov.uk/view-driving-licence  

l) Commercial waste removal contract, including oil if relevant. 

m) Consent to use the proposed site location (if required) i.e. from the land/property 
owner, Hertfordshire County Council or Three Rivers District Council. 

3.3.2 Incomplete applications will not be validated or processed. The Licensing Authority will 
return any incomplete or invalid applications to the applicant if a period of 1 month has 
passed without the application being validated. 

3.3.3 Once an application is validated applicants should allow a minimum of 28 days for the 
Council to carry out consultation and to process the application. 

4 Consultations 

4.1 Before a Street Trading consent/licence is granted the Council will carry out a 
consultation process with various persons and groups on all applications. In particular 
the following organisations or persons will be consulted where appropriate: 

a) Three Rivers District Council Environmental Health Department (including 
Environmental Control and Food and Safety Teams) 

b) Three Rivers District Council Property and Estates Department 

c) Three Rivers District Council Planning Department 

d) Three Rivers District Council Transport and Parking Team  

e) Hertfordshire County Council Highways 

f) Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service 

g) Hertfordshire Police 

h) Trading Standards 

i) The appropriate Local Ward Councillor(s) and members of the Regulatory 
Services Committee 

j) The appropriate Parish or Town Council 

k) Any other person or body the Licensing Authority may consider appropriate 
depending on the type of application 

4.2 In addition to the above, further consultations may be carried out with property owners 
and occupiers in the vicinity of the proposed site who may be affected by the application. 
This consultation may require the Licensing Authority to notify the relevant property 
owner/occupiers in writing, or by requiring the applicant to erect a notice at the proposed 
site for the consultation period. If the applicant is asked to carry out this further 

Page 196

https://www.gov.uk/view-driving-licence


Page 13 of 29 

 

consultation and does not carry this out to the Council’s satisfaction, the application may 
be refused. 

4.3 Only written representations will be taken into consideration when determining an 
application. The Council will take into account any representations made by a person, 
business or body that is likely to be directly affected by the application. In addition, the 
representation must not be vexatious or frivolous and should concern itself only with 
matters likely to be affected by a successful application. 

4.4 The consultation period for new and renewal applications will run for 28 days. This allows 
time for the responsible authorities to consider the application and respond to the 
consultation.  Responses received after this period will only be considered at the 
discretion of the Licensing Authority. 

4.5 Licensing officers will advise consultees of any relevant history and information in 
relation to the applicant, including any relevant information that may be received during 
the consultation period. 

5 Criteria used to determine the Application 

The Council will use the criteria listed in this Policy below in determining any applications 

for Street Trading Consent/licences. Any representations received will be considered 

against the criteria. All criteria should normally be satisfied, with equal weight applied to 

each of the criteria listed. Each case will be assessed on its merits and individual 

circumstances, where appropriate, may be taken into consideration. 

5.1 Suitability of Applicant: 

5.1.1 When determining an application for the grant or renewal of a consent/licence, the 
Council will consider all relevant information relating to the suitability of the applicant and 
any employees including;  

5.1.2 Whether they have been cautioned or convicted of any offences of:  

a) Violence  
b) Dishonesty  
c) Drug related offences  
d) Sexual offences  
e) Public Order offences  
f) Food safety or health and safety offences  
g) Any offence resulting in a sentence of imprisonment  

 
This will involve the applicant making a declaration to confirm their status relating to any 
‘unspent’ cautions or convictions under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974.  

5.1.3 An applicant’s history of street trading including whether previous consents/licences 
have been used appropriately.  

5.1.4 An applicant who has been found to have been trading in the District without a valid 
consent/licence at any time will be prohibited from applying for a consent/licence for a 
period of 12 months from the date that he was found to be trading without a 
consent/licence  

5.1.5 The Council will reserve the right to request a basic disclosure check where it considers 
there is a risk to children and/or vulnerable people. 

Page 197



Page 14 of 29 

 

5.2 Nature of goods: 

5.2.1 The type of goods proposed to be sold will be taken into consideration.  

5.2.2 The consent/licence holder must not permit the sale of offensive weapons including 

imitation firearms, firearms, airguns, swords and crossbows 

5.3 Public Safety:  

The location of the proposed street trading activity should not present a substantial risk 
to the public in terms of road safety, obstruction and fire hazard. The term “public” refers 
to both the applicant’s customers and other members of the public using the street. In 
particular, reference will be made to the guidelines set out in section 2.3 on site 
assessment criteria. 

5.4 Public Order:  

The street trading activity should not present a risk to good public order in the locality in 
which it is situated. 

5.5 Avoidance of Nuisance:  

The street trading activity should not present a substantial risk of nuisance from noise, 
rubbish, potential for the harbourage of vermin, smells or fumes to households and 
businesses in the vicinity of the proposed street trading site. 

5.6 Character of the Area:  

In determining the area for the proposed activity, the following will be taken into 
consideration: 

a) The presence of similar outlets already existing in the immediate locality of the  
 proposed street trading site. 

b) The general needs of a locality, should no comparable outlets exist. Applicants  
 may be asked to demonstrate to the Council the need for the proposed street  
 trading activity. 

c) The quality of the goods sold by the applicant. 

d) The appearance of the applicant’s stall, van, barrow, cart etc. 

5.7 Compliance with legal requirements:  

The proposed street trading activity should be carried out from a trading unit that 
complies with all relevant legislation, such as food hygiene and health and safety. 

5.8 Consultees’ Observations:  

In relation to the points above, consideration will be given to written observations from 
any consultees. Any representations made to the proposed street trading activity will be 
considered in terms of relevance to the application that has been made. 

6 Issue of Consents & Licences 

Page 198



Page 15 of 29 

 

6.1 If there are no objections to the application, the consent/licence will be granted under 
delegated authority by the Licensing officers, and will be active from the date issued. No 
trading may take place until a consent/licence has been issued.  

6.2 The consent/licence granted is specific to the person to whom it is issued and is non-
transferable and there can be no sub-letting. 

6.3 In all cases when a Consent/licence has expired, and an application has not been 
submitted to the Council for renewal, a new application will have to be made. In such 
cases the application will be required to go through the full consideration process 
outlined in these guidelines. 

6.4 If the Licensing Authority receive valid and relevant objections from any of the 
consultees, the application may be refused. Valid objections can relate to any matters 
pertaining to the list in at Section 3(6)(a) to (g) of the Act.   

6.5 Section 3(6)(2)(i) & (ii) of the Act states that where the Council propose to refuse an 
application they shall first serve a notice on the applicant/licence holder as follows: 

 i) specifying the ground(s) on which their decision would be based; and 

 ii) stating that within 7 days of receiving the notice he may in writing require them to 
give him an opportunity to make representations to them concerning it. 

6.6 In exceptional circumstances whereby objections are received or whereby the additional 
information from the applicant has been received which should be considered further, 
the application will be referred to a sub-committee of the Regulatory Services -
Committee.     

7 Appeal Process 

7.1 Determination by Regulatory Services Committee 

7.1.1 Decisions of the Regulatory Services Committee and rights of appeal in relation to Street 
Trading Consents & Licences will be in accordance with the provisions set out in 
Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. Where an 
application is to be referred to a Regulatory Services Committee, an applicant (and if 
relevant any persons making written objections) will be informed of the decision to refer 
an application to the Regulatory Services Committee and notified of the date of the 
hearing of the application.   

7.1.2 The applicant can be represented by a solicitor, or supported by a friend or colleague. 
The Regulatory Services Committee will call a Sub-committee comprising 3 members, 
none of whom may be ward councillors to the area under the application, and will follow 
a set procedure that will be notified to the applicant in advance of the meeting, along 
with an officer report that will be presented at the meeting.  

7.1.3 In determining the application, the Regulatory Services Sub-Committee will consider 
presentations from the applicant, any person or organisation making an objection and 
the Council’s Licensing Officer. Applicants and persons making objections to an 
application should notify the Council’s Democratic Services Section at least five working 
days in advance of the meeting of any witnesses they intend to call and details of any 
evidence (written, photographic or other material or media) they intend to present at the 
hearing.  

Page 199



Page 16 of 29 

 

7.1.4 Where objections have been raised to the granting of a Street Trading Consent or 
Licence the Regulatory Services Sub-Committee will consider the objections or 
representations made. Only persons who have raised objections to the application will 
be allowed the opportunity to address the Regulatory Services Sub-Committee and ask 
questions relating to the application.  

7.1.5 The Regulatory Services Sub-Committee will consider all the evidence presented to it 
during the hearing and members may ask questions of the applicant, officers and 
persons making an objection (if any). After hearing the evidence presented to it, the 
Regulatory Services Sub-Committee will retire and come to a decision on the 
application. When a decision has been reached the Sub-Committee will inform the 
applicant of their decision. The decision of the Regulatory Services Sub-Committee will 
be confirmed in writing to the applicant within 5 working days of the meeting at which 
the application was considered.  

7.1.6 The Regulatory Services Sub-Committee will endeavour to ensure that, when  
considering an application that all persons get a fair hearing through:  

a) Considering each case on its merits.  

b) Using this Policy to assess applications as appropriate.  

c) Dealing with the application in a balanced and impartial manner.  

d) Ensuring that the rules of natural justice are applied at the hearing. 

e) Give equal time to those to make their representations and ask questions at 
the hearing.  

7.2 Further Rights of Appeal 

7.2.1 There is no right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against decisions of the Council in 
relation to Street Trading Consents under the Act. A person aggrieved by a decision of 
the Licensing Authority or the Regulatory Services Sub-Committee may make an 
application to the High Court for Judicial Review of the decision. There are strict time 
limits for making such applications. For further information about the potential grounds 
for Judicial Review and the procedure for making an application, applicants should seek 
legal advice from a solicitor as soon as they receive notice of the decision of the 
Regulatory Services Committee. 

7.2.2 If an application is refused either at grant or renewal of a Street Trading Licence , any 
person aggrieved may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against the decision so long as 
the reason for the decision falls within one of the categories designated under paragraph 
3(6)(d)–(g) of the Act. There is no right of appeal where refusal is based on grounds in 
3(6)(a)–(c) of the Act. A right of appeal must be exercised within 21 days of the date 
when the decision to refuse a licence was notified to the applicant or licence holder.  

7.2.3 If a Street Trading Licence is revoked, any person aggrieved may appeal to the 
Magistrates’ Court against the decision so long as the reason for the decision falls within 
one of the categories designated under paragraph 3(6)(d)–(g) of the Act. There is no 
right of appeal where refusal is based on grounds in 3 (6)(a) – (c) of the Act. A right of 
appeal must be exercised within 21 days of the date when the decision to refuse a 
licence was notified to the applicant or licence holder.  

8 Display of Consent/Licence and Badges 

Page 200



Page 17 of 29 

 

8.1 Individual static traders shall at all times, whilst trading, wear in a prominent position an 
identity badge provided by the Council. In addition the licence, or copy thereof, shall be 
displayed on the stall/vehicle.  

8.2 Upon issue of a mobile consent/licence, trader and any nominated assistants will not be 
issued with Identity badges. Instead, they will be issued with a laminated licence 
summary for each authorised vehicle, which must be displayed in a prominent location 
visible to customers all times whilst trading. The licence summary details the licence 
number, the name and photograph of the licence holder, and photographs of the 
nominated assistants.  

8.3 Traders at events will not be issued with identity badges. Instead they must display the 
consent/licence provided to them by the organiser of the event on their stall.  

9 Consent/Licence renewal process 

9.1 Applications for renewal will only be considered for standard consents/licences issued 
for 12 months.  

9.2 Applications must be downloaded from the Council’s website 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/street-trading-licence and once completed 
emailed to the Licensing team (licensing.team@threerivers,gov.uk) with ALL required 
supporting documents as listed on application and as follows: 

  Plan of site/location (if static trading) 

 Completed declaration of convictions & cautions for applicant(s) and 
nominated persons 

 Basic Disclosure and Barring Service certificate for applicant(s) and 
nominated persons (dated within the last 3 months) 

 Passport sized photograph of applicant(s) and nominated persons 

 Proof of right to work for applicant(s) and nominated persons 

 2 additional forms of identification for each applicant and nominated persons 

 Copy of the Public Liability Insurance 

 Food Safety/Hygiene certificates for all nominated persons 

 Colour photograph of any vehicle, stall, trolley, stand etc. used (digital image 
can be emailed to licensing.team@threerivers.gov.uk 

 If trading from vehicle – MOT certificate (if applicable) and valid insurance 
certificate (covering business use) 

 Consent from land owner (if applicable) 

The fee - £220.50 (£228 from April 2022) must be paid on submission of the application, 
by calling customer services on 01923 776611. 

 
9.3 Applications for renewal of a Consent/Licence will be granted provided that no 

substantiated complaints have been received regarding:  

 the manner in which the Consent/Licence holder has conducted their  
              business; or  

 the consent holder’s or authorised assistant’s conduct; and 

 where no relevant objections have been received 
 

9.4 All renewal applications must be submitted a minimum of 4 weeks prior to the expiry of 
the current licence to allow for processing of the application. Generally no further 
consultation will be necessary when dealing with a renewal application, however, the 
Council reserves the right to consult where there are, or have been, concerns raised in 

Page 201

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/street-trading-licence
mailto:licensing.team@threerivers,gov.uk
mailto:licensing.team@threerivers.gov.uk


Page 18 of 29 

 

the previous consent/licence period. The responsibility for ensuring renewal of 
consent/licence rests solely with the consent/licence holder, the Council will not send 
out reminders.  

9.5 If a renewal application and fee are not submitted before the expiry date of the current 
consent/licence then the consent/licence will lapse. A renewal application will not be 
accepted after the expiry of any existing consent/licence. The effect of this will be that a 
trader will not be permitted to trade until a new application and fee has been submitted 
and a new consent/licence is granted. 

10 Street trading during events 

10.1 Overview 

10.1.1 This Policy recognises that street trading may take place at various events throughout 
the district and aims to promote and support the organisers of events and encourage 
traders to attend. The Policy recognises that events take place for different reasons, 
from small scale events for charitable or community purposes to larger scale commercial 
ventures. 

10.1.2 Community and charity events are important in terms of promoting local causes and 
participation in local matters. The Council should assist organisers of these types of 
events in order to encourage community engagement. It should also be recognised that 
commercial events have an importance to the district in terms of promoting tourism and 
economic growth and that the Council should also assist organisers of commercial 
events. 

10.1.3 It should be recognised that the Council does also have a regulatory role to protect the 
public and existing businesses at any event. 

10.1.4  The decision as to whether an event falls within the non-commercial event or 
commercial event category rests with the Licensing Authority, with the Lead Licensing 
Officer’s decision being final. Event organisers are recommended to contact the 
Licensing Authority at the earliest opportunity in order to discuss what licences may be 
required for their event. 
 

10.2 Non-commercial events - community and charity events: 

10.2.1 Whilst the activity may be legally regarded as Street Trading activity, trading at charity 
or non-commercial community events, where the profits from individual stalls/units are 
donated to either a community-based organisation, an educational organisation or to a 
charity, will be exempt from the Council’s Street Trading requirements subject to the 
following conditions: 

a)  All traders however must be invited to trade at the event by the organisers 

b) The profits from individual stalls/units are donated to a registered charity, 
community-based or educational organisation, (and proof can be evidenced 
on request) 

10.2.2 Such community and charitable events will normally be organised by a Town or Parish 
Council, Three Rivers District Council or by a recognised group or charity with aims of 
engaging with and providing support to the local community. 

Page 202



Page 19 of 29 

 

10.2.3 Any traders (such as traders selling food or refreshments) attending such events 
for solely commercial gain may be subject to the Street Trading policy. 

10.3   Commercial events - special events and non-established markets 

10.3.1 Special events such as Christmas markets or continental street markets, and other 
non-established markets (as defined on page 3 of this policy) require a street trading 
consent/licence. By agreement with the organiser, the Council may issue one street 
trading consent/licence to the person organising the event. This aims to promote 
events and encourage traders to attend. However in the absence of such an 
agreement, each individual trader will be required to apply.  

10.3.2 If the organiser is to apply, the application must be accompanied by full details of each 
trader attending the event. Once issued a copy of the consent/licence must be provided 
to each trader by the event organiser and displayed by each individual stall holder 
during the event.  

10.3.3 A special event or non-established market must have a minimum of ten stalls and have 
potential to deliver significant economic benefit to the district. 

 The event organiser: 

 must be able to demonstrate how the event will deliver economic benefits to 
the district. 

 must have public liability insurance of at least £5 million per claim to cover the 
event. 

 must provide a draft event management plan at least 6 months before the first 
day of the event 

 must submit their completed event management plan to us at least one month 
before the event. This includes:  

 risk assessment 
 insurance details 
 traffic management 
 stewarding provisions 
 emergency procedures 
 fire safety 
 additional street cleansing 
 plan and stall layout, etc. 
 must agree that they will promote the event and outline/agree the marketing 

they will deliver up front. 
 must provide a copy of the previous years’ accounts (where applicable). 
 must attend safety advisory group meetings (these are established for larger 

events, where applicable) and take responsibility for agreed actions where 
necessary. 

10.3.4 As there will be an identified organiser of the market, who will be considered 
responsible for its delivery, management and supervision of stall holders, the Council 
will not require a DBS disclosure from each individual street trader. When this occurs it 
will be expected that the organiser has regard to the requirements of this policy, in 
particular Annex III Guidelines on the Suitability of Applicants, and ensures that each 
trader is suitable based on these requirements.  

10.3.5 Each application in this category will be considered according to its merits and may be 
referred to the Regulatory Services Sub-Committee for determination if objection(s) are 

Page 203



Page 20 of 29 

 

received from any consultee or whereby officers give notice of refusal and receive further 
representations. 

11. Fees 

11.1 Fees will be set and reviewed as part of the Regulatory Services work programme on a 
full cost recovery basis. The level of fees applicable takes into account the location, the 
duration of the Consent/Licence, trading hours and the articles to be sold. Details of the 
current fees can be found on the Council’s website  
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/download?id=49643 or on application to the Licensing 
Authority.  

11.2 Applications should be accompanied by the full relevant fee upon submission of the 
application. Fees should be paid to the Council’s Customer Service team by calling 
01923 776611. If the application is not successful, the application fee will be retained to 
cover the administration cost incurred in processing the application. 

11.3 If a valid application is submitted and the applicant cancels the application prior to a 
determination a partial refund will be granted on request minus an administration fee.  

12 Surrender of Consent/Licence 

The consent/licence holder will be required to return all street trading documentation 
with a written explanation as to why they have ceased trading. Once this is received 
within the department. No refund will be paid for a surrendered consent/licence. 
 

13 Conditions 

13.1 Consents/licences will be subject to standard conditions in order to promote public safety 
and avoid obstructions, nuisance and annoyance. Other additional conditions may be 
attached to a consent/licence and will be relevant to the category of consent/licence 
issued and the nature of the local environment. The Council’s standard consent/licence 
conditions can be seen in Appendix I. 

13.2 The Council may at any time vary the conditions of a street trading consent/licence.  

Should conditions change during the consent/licence time the amended conditions 
would come into force once the consent/licence is renewed. 

13.3 The conditions must be complied with at all times and failure to do so could lead to the 
consent or licence being revoked, or not renewed. 

14 Enforcement 

14.1 The Council aims to work closely with other enforcement authorities to enforce the 
provisions of all appropriate legislation. Obtaining a licence does not confer the holder 
immunity in regard to other legislation that may apply, e.g. Public Liability, Health & 
Safety at Work, Food Hygiene and Safety, Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing, 
Planning controls, and applicants must ensure all such permissions, etc. are in place 
prior to trading. 

14.2 Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 sets out the 
offences for non-compliance with the provisions as set out in this Policy. Offences for 
which a person may be convicted and fined include for example: 

 engaging in street trading in a consent/licence street without being 

authorised to do so; or  

Page 204

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/download?id=49643


Page 21 of 29 

 

 contravening any condition of their consent/licence; or  

 making a false statement which he knows to be false, in connection with an 

application for a consent/licence 

14.3 Without prejudice to the Council’s powers to prosecute for any offences under the Act, 
the Council may take the following enforcement steps where appropriate dependant on 
the severity of the breach or offence:  

 Verbal / Written warning to trader 

 Issue of Fixed Penalty Notice  

 Refuse to renew a Consent/Licence  

 Revocation of Consent/Licence  

 Prosecution 

14.4 In determining what course of action is necessary the following matters will be 
considered: Seriousness of the breach or offence  

 Previous trading history  

 Level of past compliance  

 Traders response to previous warnings 

14.5 An Authorised Officer may visit the consent/licence holder and inspect the vehicle/stall 
or other vehicle or premises that the applicant trades from to ensure compliance with 
the conditions and criteria set down within this Policy. Periodic inspections may occur 
during the consent/licence period to ensure full compliance. 

14.6 Where, during the course of the consent/licence, there are any charges, police 
investigations, and/or convictions against the consent/licence holder or nominated 
assistant, the consent/licence may be revoked with immediate effect. A consent or 
licence may also be revoked for any other reasonable cause.  A consent/licence may 
also be revoked for any of the grounds listed at paragraph 5(1) of Schedule 4 of the Act. 
The Council shall not be liable in any circumstances whatsoever to pay any 
compensation to a consent/licence holder in respect of any revocation. 

14.7 In the event that a further application for a street trading consent/licence is made 
following revocation of a previous consent/licence the matter will be passed to the 
Regulatory Services Sub-Committee for a determination. 

14.8 Failure of the trader to advise the Council in writing of any charges, police investigations 
and/or convictions or cautions within 7 days which arise during the term of the licence 
may result in refusal to grant any future applications. 

14.9 Where a complaint is received from either the public or another authority, such as the 
police or local authority, the complaint will be investigated and the Council may revoke 
the consent/licence.  

14.10 Where two consent/licence holders are investigated due to complaints of breaches of 
conditions or arguments over trading times and areas, both consent/licence holders will 
be expected to fully participate in mediation. Where issues persist or mediation is 
refused the Council may consider enforcement action or referral to the Regulatory 
Services Sub-Committee for a consideration of the matter and a decision on whether to 
apply additional conditions, revoke or renew Consents/licences for either or both parties. 

14.11 The Council holds the right to ask traders causing a nuisance to cease the activity that 
they are conducting and leave the area. 

Page 205



Page 22 of 29 

 

15 Review Procedures 

15.1 This Policy will be reviewed from time to time should changes occur in relevant 
legislation, the nature of street trading generally or as a result of local considerations 
within the Three Rivers District. In any case, this Policy will be reviewed within five years 
of adoption or as a result of any major legislative changes. 

15.2 Any minor changes that do not impact on the aims and objectives of the policy or reflect 
changes in legislation will be made with the approval of the Head of Regulatory Services.  

15.3 Any significant changes can be approved by the Regulatory Services Committee  

16 Return of Consent/Licence 

Once a consent/licence has expired, been surrendered, suspended or revoked the 
consent/licence MUST be returned to the Licencing Authority within 7 days. 

  

Page 206



Page 23 of 29 

 

APPENDIX I – Street trading consent/licence - Standard Conditions 

1. Trading may only take place on the days and during the times as specified on the 

consent/licence 

2. The consent/licence holder shall not sell any type of food, goods or merchandise other 
than as specified on the consent/licence 

3. Static traders are only permitted to trade from the stationary vehicle/trailer or stall, as 
detailed on the consent/licence, in the position indicated by the deposited location plan. 
In the event of this position being unavailable for any reason beyond the control of the 
Council the position may be relocated at any authorised officer’s discretion to another 
nearby area 

4. Mobile traders are only permitted to trade in locations that are agreed by the Licensing 
Authority.  

5. The trader shall at all times, whilst trading, provide a suitable receptacle for rubbish 
and litter and remove the rubbish and litter from the site at the end of the day’s trading. 
The trader shall collect any litter or food waste originating from the business and 
deposited on the highway by the customers 

6. The trader shall not deposit fat or other liquid or solid waste onto land or into highway 
drains 

7. The trader shall not operate in a manner which causes nuisance to the public or other 
persons in the vicinity. The trader will not be permitted to use loudspeakers, radios, or 
any amplified sound 

8. No animals shall be present on any stall or vehicle 

9. The trader shall comply with all relevant statutes, regulations and bylaws for the time 
being in force and with the conditions of the licence 

10. The trader shall comply with all requirements of the Food Hygiene (England) 
Regulations 2013, Regulation (EC) N0 852/2004 on the hygiene of foodstuffs and any 
associated legislation 

11. The trader shall maintain a minimum food hygiene rating score of 3. The hygiene rating 
must be displayed prominently on the stall or vehicle. Where a rating below 3 is 
obtained, the operator has 3 months to obtain a rerating of 3 or above. If after 3 months 
an improvement to 3 or above rating has not occurred, then the business should 
immediately cease trading until satisfactory remedies have be put in place to the 
satisfaction of the Council. The consent/licence may be revoked.  

 
12.  The trader shall allow access by any authorised officer or his/her representatives at 

all times to ensure that the terms of the licence are being carried out to their 
satisfaction. 

13. The trader shall display his street trading consent/licence , which shall be plainly visible 
to the public and available for inspection by officers of the Council or Police 

14. The trader shall provide insurance to the sum of £5,000,000 to ensure against third 
party liability claims and to indemnify the Council against all claims, liabilities, actions, 
demands and expense arising in respect of the grant or renewal of this licence. The 

Page 207



Page 24 of 29 

 

trader shall provide insurance certificate upon application and on demand for 
inspection by the Council. 

15. The trader is not permitted to hold any auction sale 

16. If the licence allows the trader to trade from a vehicle, or stall, the trader shall only use 
the approved vehicle or stall and may not trade from any other vehicle or stall. No table, 
chairs or similar articles shall be placed outside the vehicle/stall without the prior 
approval of the Council 

17. The trader shall comply with all reasonable requirements of any authorised officer or 
Police officer, including temporarily ceasing trading where necessary for public order 
or safety reasons 

18. No child under the age of 17 shall be engaged in the trading 

19. The licence is personal to the applicant and is not transferable to any other person, 
firm or company 

20. No sub-letting of licences is permitted 

21. The trader or his employees may not sell, display or wear any article which is offensive 
either in writing or pictures. The authorised officer’s decision as to what is offensive is 
final 

22. The trader shall reimburse all costs incurred by the Council as a result of any damage 
caused by the trader’s occupation of the approved site 

23. The Council may revoke the licence forthwith if there is any breach by the trader of any 
of the terms contained therein 

24. The Council may revoke this licence at any time and will normally give four weeks’ 
notice of revocation unless earlier revocation is appropriate due to a breach of the 
conditions 

25. The trader shall maintain his vehicle/stall in good condition, to the satisfaction of the 
Council. Any vehicle/trailer must be kept in a roadworthy condition, taxed, insured and 
MOT’d at all times 

26. The trader shall move his vehicle/stall at the end of each day’s trading unless otherwise 
agreed as part of the application process by the Licensing Authority. 

27. Traders who have licence to trade in any town centre will not be authorised to do so 
on Market days, or at a time where there is an event of cultural, community or historical 
significance taking place in the town centre. The Council will notify the trader of the 
dates when trading is not permitted 

28. The trader shall not place or display any sign or structures on or adjacent to the 
highway, this also includes street furniture such as tables, chairs, gazeebo’s etc. 

29. The trader shall at all times display a conspicuous and clearly legible tariff board on 
the vehicle or stall showing the tariff for the goods on sale 

30. The Council may at any time vary, substitute or modify the conditions as shown above 
provided a copy is provided to the licence holder in advance of any change or on 
renewal of their licence/consent. 

Page 208



Page 25 of 29 

 

31. The licensee will advise the Council in writing of ANY dealings with the police within 
48 hours of any reportable incident. 

32. Consent/licence holders shall notify the Council of any changes to their contact details 

as soon as it occurs, such as home address, telephone or email. A fee is applicable to 

amend the consent/licence record(s). 

 

33. The trader must notify the Council in writing of any charges, convictions or cautions 

within 7 days which arise during the course of the licence, including for any nominated 

assistant, failure to do so may result in revocation or the refusal to grant any future 

applications. 

 

34. If a Consent/Licence Holder fails to comply with any of the conditions attached to a 

Street trading consent/licence, the Consent/Licence may be suspended for an 

indefinite period or revoked. The Consent/Licence Holder may also be prosecuted if 

offences have taken place. 

Additional conditions for mobile street traders (Ice Cream Vendors)  

1. Must not stop within 50 metres of any school grounds from an hour before the start of 
the school day until an hour after the end of the school day (unless with the written 
authority of Head Teacher of any school). 

2. Must move from position to position remaining stationary for no more than 15 minutes 
on a residential street to initially attract customers and thereafter only long enough to 
serve customers present. The vehicle must move on as soon as the last customer has 
been served and no other customer is clearly awaiting service  

3. Ensure that any stopping position does not infringe any parking or traffic requirements 
or cause obstruction of the highway and does not present any dangers to highway 
users.  

4. Must not sound chimes before 12:00hrs (noon) or after 19:00hrs 

5. Must not trade within 50m radius from another street trader  

6. The chimes should not be played when in sight of another ice cream van (whether 
moving or stationary) which might reasonably be taken to be in the street for trading 
purposes. 

7. Not stop in any 500 metres section of any street more than once in every two hours.  

Additional conditions applicable to Markets 

1. The Consent/Licence holder should keep records of each stallholder present on the 

market, to include the stallholder’s pitch number, name and company name, their 

address, vehicle registration, brief description of products offered and a contact 

telephone number. This must be produced on request to an authorised officer. 

  

Page 209



Page 26 of 29 

 

APPENDIX II – List of current Prohibited/Consent/Licence Streets 

Prohibited Streets  

These are streets where Street Trading is prohibited and an application for Street trading 
consent/licence will be refused. 

Trunk Roads  

 

- between A41 and Watford Borough boundary.  

- that part which lies between the roundabout at Long Lane and the A412 
Denham Way.  

- that part of the road which lies within the Three Rivers District at Garston. 

Principal Roads  

All of the following roads which lie within the Three Rivers District:-  

 

 

 

 

 

Abbots Langley  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 210



Page 27 of 29 

 

 

 

Bedmond  

 

 

 

 

Carpenders Park  

 

 

Chorleywood  

 

 

 

 

Croxley Green  

 

At the Regulatory Services Committee of 6th December 2017 it was agreed that trading be 
prohibited with 50m of any School Boundary unless written permission is ascertained from the 
Head Teacher.  

CONSENT STREETS  

Any other street within the District of Three Rivers not designated as a Prohibited Street 
subject to meeting the application criteria specified in the Policy. 

[Note: LICENCE STREETS – currently none]  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 211



Page 28 of 29 

 

APPENDIX III - Guidance on suitability of applicants 

The Council will take into account the following guidance concerning any ‘unspent’ cautions 
or convictions for the offences listed below when determining whether a new applicant, 
Consent/Licence holder or their employee is suitable to hold a Street Trading 
Consent/Licence.  

a. Violence  

A Consent/Licence application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at least) 
of a conviction or caution for an offence of violence. 

b. Dishonesty  

A Consent/licence application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at least) 
of a conviction or caution for an offence of dishonesty.  

c. Drug related  

A Consent/licence application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at least) 
of a conviction or caution for a drug related offence.  

For offences of supplying drugs, Consent/licence applications will normally be refused for 5 
years (at least) following conviction.  

d. Sexual and indecency  

A Consent/licence application will normally be refused when it is made within 5 years (at least) 
of cautions or convictions for any serious sexual offences. Applications will be refused from 
applicants currently on the Sex Offender’s Register.  

e. Public Order  

A Consent/licence application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at least) 
of a conviction or caution for an offence relating to breaches of public order.  

f. Food safety or health and safety  

A Consent/licence application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years of a 
conviction or caution for an offence relating to food safety (where the Licence involves sale of 
food or drink) or health and safety.  

g. Any offence resulting in a sentence of imprisonment  

A Consent/licence application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at least) 
of the date of release from prison, where a custodial sentence has been imposed.  

The safeguarding of children, young people and vulnerable people is of a particular concern. 
Where the Council receives notification that:  

i. an applicant or Consent/licence holder is the subject of an investigation by the Police 
into inappropriate conduct, or illegal activity, or  

ii. an applicant or Consent/licence holder has been implicated in a safeguarding issue 
i.e. where children, young people or vulnerable people have been or may be exposed 
to inappropriate behaviour or language by the applicant/Consent/licence holder the 
matter shall be referred to the Regulatory Services Sub-Committee to determine 

Page 212



Page 29 of 29 

 

whether the person can be considered as suitable to either be granted or retain a Street 
Trading Consent/Licence.    

Notwithstanding the existence of the convictions guidance, each case will be decided on its 
own merits. 

 

 
 

 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE – 8 MARCH 2022 
 

PART I – DELEGATED 
 

7. REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
 (CED) 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To consider and make necessary changes to the Committee’s work programme. 
 
2. Details 
 
2.1 The work programme is presented at each meeting of the Committee to enable 

necessary changes to be made by the Committee and to provide Members with 
updated information on future meetings.  The appendix to this report details the 
Committee’s work programme to date. 

 
3. Financial, Legal, Staffing and Environmental Implications 
 
3.1 None specific. 
 
4. Recommendation 
 
4.1 That the Committee considers and makes any necessary changes to its work 

programme. 
 
 Report prepared by: Sarah Haythorpe, Principal Committee Manager 
 
 Background Papers 
 Reports and minutes – Regulatory Services Committee 2021. 
 
 APPENDIX 
 
 Regulatory Services Committee’s Work Programme 
 

APPENDIX 
 

REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE – WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Date Items to be considered 
2022 Review of Licensing Fees and Charges  

2023 Review of Polling Stations (takes place every 4 years, 
reviewed 2019) 

 

Page 215

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 AMENDMENTS TO TRDC'S EXISTING HACKNEY CARRIAGE, PRIVATE HIRE AND OPERATOR POLICY
	1 Summary
	1.1 The existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019 (“the Policy”) (see Appendix 1) was effective from 1 October 2019 following a review earlier that year. The Policy is required to be reviewed every three years with the next review schedul...
	1.2 Notwithstanding the above and prior to the forthcoming review, if necessary, a number of immediate changes to the Policy are required which require Committee approval. The changes have come to light over the past year when using the policy, ensuri...
	1.3 The changes to the Policy are set out in more detail within Section 2 of this report.
	1.4 Following the Regulatory Services Committee in December, a 12 week public consultation commenced and expires on 11 March 2022.

	2 Details
	2.1 The proposed changes are broken down to the relevant parts below and are considered necessary in order to tighten the existing Policy to ensure the Council licences those that are fit and proper and ensure we can do all we can in protecting the pu...
	2.2 One of the changes requires private hire operators to submit an annual basic disclosure certificate which coincides with the policy aims such as protecting the public and by ensuring that those licensed and in charge of booking do not harm passeng...
	2.3 Other changes such as not accepting insurance write offs aim to maintain the high standard of the trade operating within the District and greater clarification is provided to ensure that the requirements for all are clear.
	2.3.1 UHackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licence Requirements:U (Appendix 1 of the Policy)
	2.3.2 UHackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles Requirements:U (Appendix 2 of the Policy)
	- Clarification that any other vehicle licenced with another authority cannot be licenced by TRDC
	- Clarification over exemptions for factory fitted tinted windows
	2.3.3 UConditions relating to Private Hire Operators:U (Appendix 11 of the Policy)
	2.3.4 UTax Check:U (paragraph 17 of the amended Policy)
	2.3.4.1 The introduction of a paragraph setting out that from 4 April 2022 licensing authorities must carry out checks on applications from individuals, companies and any type of partnership to make sure they are aware of their tax responsibilities or...

	2.3.5 The checks must be done prior to granting or refusing a licence when renewing, applying for the same type of licence they previously held that ceased to be valid less than a year ago and applying for the same type of licence they already hold wi...
	2.3.6 As such, changes to the application process will be required and licences cannot be issued until the tax check has been completed.
	2.3.7 Further guidance was provided via Gov.uk in January 2022P0F P.


	3 Consultation
	3.1 A public consultation regarding the changes to the Policy took place for 6 weeks and initially expired on 28 January 2022. However, the consultation was extended by a further 6 weeks as the Parish Councils were omitted from the original consultati...
	3.2 As a result of the consultation exercise, all existing taxi licence holders, all members, Parish Councils, relevant consultees on licence applications were notified and public notices were also displayed in the Watford Observer throughout the cons...
	3.3 One response was received at the time of writing the report and is attached at Appendix 3. A response to the comments received is set out below:
	3.4 Dual plating
	3.4.1 Vehicles are not permitted to be dual licensed with many, if not all, licensing authorities. This is due to the requirement to display a licence plate throughout the duration of the licence. Should the licence plate be removed, the proprietor wo...

	3.5 Glazing
	3.5.1 The legal requirementP1F P is as stated in our Policy: Front Windscreen 75%, Front Side Windows 70%, All other Windows 30%.
	3.5.2 Further to the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in RotherhamP2F P this measure has been put in place for the utmost safety of the young and vulnerable as public safety is our utmost consideration.

	3.6 Sub-contracting
	3.6.1 In response to the representation received, the amended Policy simply states that bookings must not be sub-contracted to another licensed driver. Section 55A of the 1976 Act permits operators licensed by the Council to sub-contract a private hir...
	3.6.2 TRDC does not have any control over which operators/drivers are awarded schools contracts as this is a function of Herts County Council.

	3.7 Alternative options to prevent incidents like installing cameras
	3.7.1 Vehicle proprietors are permitted to install CCTV at their own expense, however, if the Licensing Authority was to make this a mandatory condition there may be many drivers that could not afford to install CCTV. Officers are not aware of any ava...
	3.7.2 Conditions set by the Policy must be practicable, financially viable for both the proprietor and the Licensing Authority, and must be proportionate.


	4 Options and Reasons for Recommendations
	4.1 Following discussion at Committee, there are three options available for Members:
	4.2 Officers recommend that Members adopt Option 1 so the changes to the Policy can be implemented without delay, subject to any other responses received, whilst improving the effectiveness of the department and to ensure greater safety checks for ope...

	5 Policy/Budget Reference and Implications
	5.1 The recommendations in this report are within the Council’s agreed policy and budgets. Costs associated with a press notice are to be subsumed within existing licensing budgets.

	6 Financial Implications
	6.1 By implementing stricter controls this could result in reduced numbers of applicants which could affect income. However, the impact of this will be hard to quantify.

	7 Legal Implications
	7.1 No legal implications.

	8 Equal Opportunities Implications
	8.1 Relevance Test

	9 Impact Assessment
	9.1 There is no detrimental impact likely towards any protected group from the proposed changes to the Policy.

	10 Customer Services Centre Implications
	10.1 The CSC will be made aware of the adoption of the Policy if agreed.

	11 Communications and Website Implications
	11.1 If agreed, an update will be added to the licensing pages of the Three Rivers website. Officers will also ensure that all operators and drivers are aware of the new changes if agreed.

	12 Risk and Health & Safety Implications
	12.1 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on the website at http://www.threerivers.gov.uk.  In addition, the risks of the proposals in the report have also been assessed against the Council’s duties under Health and S...
	12.2 The subject of this report is covered by the Regulatory Services Service Plan.  Any risks resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if necessary, managed within this plan.
	12.3 The above risks are scored using the matrix below.  The Council has determined its aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of impact and likelihood scores 6 or less.
	12.4 In the officer’s opinion none of the new risks above, were they to come about, would seriously prejudice the achievement of the Strategic Plan and are therefore operational risks.  The effectiveness of the management of operational risks is revie...

	13 Recommendation
	13.1 That the Members of the Committee:
	Report prepared by: Lorna Fryer, Lead Licensing Officer
	Appendix 1: Existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019
	Appendix 2: Amended Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019 (changes highlighted)
	Appendix 3: Consultation response(s)

	(05i) 22 03 08 RG i - App1 - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019
	(05ii) 22 03 08 RG i - App2 - Amended Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 2019
	1  Definitions
	Offence shall mean any criminal offence and/or any other behaviour including a civil penalty which brings into question whether the applicant is a fit and proper person.

	2 Introduction
	3 Background
	3.1 Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a distinct role to play in an integrated transport system. They are able to provide services in situations where public transport is either not available (for example in rural areas, or outside “norm...
	3.2 Three Rivers District Council Boundary
	3.3  Practice, guidance & legislation
	3.4 Equality Act 2010
	3.5 Duties to assist passengers in wheelchairs
	3.6 General
	3.8 Guide dogs and assistance dogs (sections 168 to 171 of Equality Act 2010)
	3.9 Immigration Act 2016 - 34Thttps://www.gov.uk/government/collections/immigration-bill-2015-1634T

	4 Policy aims & objectives
	4.1 Objectives
	4.2 Aims
	4.3 Methods
	4.3.1 The methods to be employed will include:


	5  Uniformity
	5.1 The authority acknowledges the need to act in a consistent and uniform manner and advocates a common-sense approach to the selection of enforcement action and activities.
	5.2 The following areas are all considered important in achieving uniformity:

	6 Administration of licences
	6.1 Applications for licences will only be validated and then determined when all documents and fee (as applicable) are received, as stated within this policy.
	6.2 The Council will always aim to produce licences as promptly as possible. Applications will normally be considered within 28 days of validation and, depending on circumstances, an application can then be granted, refused or deferred.

	7 General fees guidance
	7.1 In the event of an application not leading to the issue of a licence, a refund will be provided. Other costs incurred by an applicant such as the cost of any medical and DSA test and criminal record check (paid directly to the provider) or knowled...
	7.2 In the event of a licence holder (driver or vehicle) or an operator surrendering their licence before its expiry, no refund will be provided.
	7.3 Where the surrender is as a result of illness certified to the Council by a registered medical practitioner, a pro rata refund shall be payable for the remaining full months of the licence.
	7.4 All licence fees must be paid by credit/debit card.
	7.5 Any agreement to refund fees by the Council will be subject to an administration fee.
	7.6 Refunds will only be granted within the licence period. Any request for refunds outside of the licence period timescale will be refused.

	8 Service standards
	8.1 Subject to amendment from time to time by the Head of Regulatory Services it is the intention of the Council to offer the following service levels:
	8.2 You are able to contact the customer service team by email, through the website, or by phone who will take your enquiry and details of which will be passed to the appropriate member of the licensing team. This process is to reduce the need for lic...
	8.3 The customer services team can be contacted by phone on 01923 776611 from 8:30am to 5:30pm, Monday to Thursday and 8:30 to 5:00pm on Fridays (excluding Bank Holidays).
	8.4 The One Stop Shop is open for visitors from 8.30am to 5.00pm, Monday to Thursday, 8.30am to 4:30pm Fridays (excluding Bank Holidays) at Three Rivers House, Northway Rickmansworth WD3 1RL (this is subject to change at the Councils discretion). Driv...
	8.5 Although the Council has 28 days to issue a licence upon receipt of a valid application, the Licensing section will strive to:-

	9 Notification of decisions
	9.1 Any notice required to be served by the Council under this licence or under any of the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be deemed to have been properly served if sent by pre-paid post to, or left at the ...

	10 Monitoring
	10.1 All documents will be checked for authenticity when submitted. Routine random checks will also occur throughout the year. In addition, visits will be made both to the ranks and to regular trade pick up points to check compliance. Checks of propri...
	10.2 The Council will also work in partnership with other agencies and neighbouring authorities to undertake compliance and enforcement activities.
	10.3 All complaints against licence-holders will be monitored and investigated and action taken in line with this policy as appropriate

	11 Records
	11.1 An up to date electronic record will be kept and maintained of all application details, fees paid, deposits and licences issued, together with the public registers as required by law.

	12 Data Protection
	12.1 All information held on files and databases about an applicant is confidential, under the Data Protection Act 1998. However, the Council is under a duty to protect the public and to protect the public funds it administers, and to this end may use...
	12.2 For the purposes of crime prevention, and with the purpose of protecting the public and/or protecting public funds, we may also share any information held with other bodies responsible for public functions, where there is a legal basis or a legal...

	13 Safeguarding
	13.1 General
	13.2 The Council is committed to ensuring the safety and welfare of all vulnerable persons including children and young people, to whom we provide services directly or indirectly and with whom we come into contact.
	13.3 Drivers are on the frontline, often coming into contact with people who may be vulnerable, for example because they are young, have learning difficulties, be suffering ill health, or be elderly or who have drunk to excess on a night out, or who m...
	13.4 Sadly there are persons who prey on precisely these people and drivers are often best placed to raise concerns over what they hear or see occurring whilst in their vehicles.
	13.5 Drivers may also have concerns over the vulnerability of passengers who are being dropped off at locations in or out of the district. For example drivers in other authorities have reported concerns that young persons are being dropped off at a pa...
	13.6 Information is provided on the Council’s website in relation to safeguarding and applicants and licensees have a duty to report matters if they suspect harm: 34Thttps://www.threerivers.gov.uk/service/safeguarding34T
	13.7 When you have concerns regarding a child
	13.8 If you are worried about a young person, you must do something.
	13.9 There are specialists who can advise you on what to do next. They can also talk to any young person themselves.
	13.10 If you are concerned about a young person you can contact the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board on 0300 123 4043 or email:
	13.11 34Twww.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/childrens-social-care/child-protection/report-child-protection-concern.aspx34T if you think a child or young person is in immediate danger call 999.
	13.12 When you have concerns regarding an adult
	13.13
	13.14 If you need to speak to someone urgently about a vulnerable adult:
	13.15 For up to date information you should visit the safeguarding section of the Hertfordshire County Council website:34Thttps://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/adult-social-services/report-a-concern-about-an-adult/report-a-concern-about-an-adult.a...

	14 Abuse of Drivers by members of the public
	14.1 The Council strongly disapproves of any form of abuse, discriminatory or otherwise, directed at drivers by members of the public. However, the Council is not the appropriate authority to investigate such incidents unless these form part of a coun...

	15 Powers
	15.1 We have powers in sections 61 and 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) (the 1976 Act) to:

	16 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers
	16.1 Only applicants who comply with the requirements and conditions relating to the licensing of private hire drivers or hackney carriage drivers will be licensed.
	16.2 Existing drivers must comply with the conditions of their licence, this policy and any relevant legislation during the period of their licence. Failure to do so will result in the consideration of the various sanctions outlined in this policy.
	16.3 All new applicants are required to pass a specialist driving test as part of their application. Existing drivers who have not passed a driving test as prescribed by the Council will only be permitted to carry up to 4 passengers. This will be stip...
	16.4 Existing drivers are entitled to take the specialist driving test at any time and once passed will be issued a badge permitting 8 passengers, at no additional cost on production of their certificate.
	16.5 Further, sections 51 and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 require that “a district council shall not grant a driver’s licence to drive a private hire vehicle or hackney carriage unless they are satisfied that an appl...
	16.6 Fit and proper person – information required for an assessment to be made
	16.7 To prove that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage or a private hire driver’s licence or dual licence they must provide evidence of:
	16.8   Details of the above will be obtained and considered at the time of application, together with any other relevant information. Drivers will be required to maintain their ability to be fit and proper persons whilst licensed and must report any d...
	16.9 If the Council suspects that a driver may have fallen short of the standards required, the Council may need to conduct further enquiries to verify any information provided or the fitness of a person to hold a licence. By submitting an application...
	16.10 Any applicant subsequently found to have provided false information will be dealt with in accordance with the provisions of this policy.
	16.11 Driving standard and knowledge
	16.12 The following requirements must both be demonstrated to establish whether a person’s driving standards are acceptable:
	16.13 Through the knowledge test assessment, drivers will be tested on their knowledge of the local area. In addition, drivers will be tested on policy, related law, customer awareness, and elements of the Highway Code.  An application cannot be valid...
	16.14 Drivers must present themselves in a professional manner and have good personal hygiene. Drivers will be expected to wear collared shirt, collared polo shirts or collared blouses which have a full body and short or long sleeves as well as smart ...
	16.15 Unacceptable examples of clothing or footwear include items which are unclean or damaged, clothing printed with words, logos or graphics which might offend, clothing intended to support any political party, pressure group or other organisation d...
	16.16 Drivers must conduct themselves in a professional manner and collections should be punctual, drivers polite and knowledgeable of local routes, and vehicles kept clean and operated in accordance with conditions, byelaws and legislative requiremen...
	16.17 Drivers must not initiate any dialogue of a “sexual” nature with a passenger including by telephone contact, social media, email or any other form of communication. Licensed drivers are not permitted to become involved “sexually”, or have sexual...
	16.18 Medical fitness
	16.19 Drivers are not required to hold a Group 2, EU (UK) full driving licence, but they will have to demonstrate compliance with the medical standards for a Group 2 licence and will have to provide a medical certificate, or the Council’s prescribed f...
	16.20 All drivers are required to provide a certificate signed by their registered medical practitioner to declare whether or not they are physically fit to be the driver of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. A medical certificate must be sub...
	16.21 Where an existing licensed hackney carriage driver applies to obtain a private hire licence, or vice versa, an additional medical will not be required unless due.
	16.22 The Council will have regard to the published Department of Transport “best practice” guidance (as updated from time to time) when considering the medical fitness of new applicants with insulin-dependent diabetes or existing licence-holders diag...
	16.23 Where there is reasonable doubt over a driver’s fitness, the Council will require the driver to undertake a medical examination by a registered medical practitioner at any time as specified by the Council or in accordance with DVLA guidelines.
	16.24 The applicant is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any medical examination.
	16.25 Drivers must not drive a licensed vehicle if they are suffering from any disease or disability which would cause the licensed vehicle being driven by them to be a danger to the public. Drivers must ensure that they can, at all times, meet the ey...

	16.26 Drivers must immediately notify the Council and their operator of any illness, injury or other impairment affecting their ability to drive.
	16.27 Offender history and behaviour
	16.28 When submitting an application for a licence to drive a hackney carriage and/or private hire vehicle, applicants must declare all criminal or civil cautions or convictions they may have, whether they are foreign or domestic.
	16.29 Even those regarded as ‘spent’ under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 must be declared.
	16.30 In addition to this, applicants must notify us if they have been charged with an offence or have any pending prosecutions and if they have ever had a licence suspended, revoked or refused by another authority. Applicants must also advise the Cou...
	16.31 Failure to declare convictions and/or cautions, or giving false information to obtain a licence is an offence and will be treated very seriously. Likewise, giving false information or withholding information to keep a licence will be treated ver...
	16.32 If an applicant has not been a resident in the UK for a period of five years, they will need to obtain a “certificate of good conduct” or similar document from the relevant embassy.
	16.33 Applicants will also need to register with the Disclosure and Barring Update Service and providing consent to the Council carrying out a check with the Disclosure and Barring Update Service, which will disclose any cautions or convictions that t...
	16.34 Proof of identity is required in order to obtain the Disclosure and Barring Service enhanced disclosure. Applicants will be required to provide three forms of identification documents for the verification of the application. A full list of accep...
	34Thttps://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-identity-checking-guidelines/id-checking-guidelines-for-standardenhanced-dbs-check-applications-from-1-july-202134T

	16.35 Applicants must provide a valid DBS enhanced disclosure certificate (that was issued within the last 3 months) and provide details of all convictions/cautions as part of the application
	16.36 Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 allows district councils to send the driver’s application form to the Police, (or other authorised body) and request the chief officer’s observations as to the applicant.
	16.37 Where an existing driver has been interviewed, charged or convicted of an offence, or other relevant information comes to the attention of the Council (such as a caution or fixed penalty notice being issued) which brings into question whether th...
	16.38 The existence of a criminal record or disclosure of other information will not necessarily stop any person from gaining or keeping a licence. The decision will be based on the policy on criminal convictions and behaviour in sections 19 and 20 of...
	16.39 Suspension, refusal, revocation by another Council.
	16.40 If a new applicant has been suspended, refused or revoked by another Council, the licensing officer may refuse to issue a licence depending on the reason for the action already taken.
	16.41  The Council shall also have a right to make enquiries of that other authority.
	16.42 Dual driver’s licences
	16.43 As some individuals may wish to be able to carry out a combination of hackney and private hire work, the Council will provide a dual driver’s licence to reduce the burden on the applicant. Dual licence-holders are required to comply with any con...
	16.44 New applicants for dual licences will be required to obtain an additional qualification as part of the application process such as a relevant BTEC or NVQ.
	16.45 Training
	16.46 All drivers will be required to attend all mandatory training sessions organised by the Council. Failure to attend mandatory training sessions will constitute a breach of the Council’s hackney carriage and private hire policy. At the first insta...
	16.47 National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations
	16.48 There is a new initiative which is to help strengthen hackney carriage and private hire licensing for the benefit of both passengers and responsible hackney carriage and PHV drivers.
	16.49 The Local Government Association (LGA), the representative body for local councils, has commissioned a new National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3). The register will be hosted by the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN).
	16.50 The intention of this is to prevent drivers who have had a hackney carriage or private hire licence revoked, or an application for one refused, going to another authority to dishonestly secure a licence by failing to disclose their previous lice...
	16.51 Instances of drivers doing this in the past have undermined public confidence in the hackney carriage and private hire trade and licensing authorities. The purpose of the NR3 initiative is therefore to provide a mechanism for licensing authoriti...
	16.52 The development of NR3 has been welcomed by all sections of the taxi trade, safety groups and charities, the Department for Transport and by licensing authorities.
	16.53 From 1 March 2019, the Council will begin using the NR3. This means that from that point:
	16.54 This Council, and other licensing authorities, will also be adding historic information on refusals and revocations of licences to the register. Historic data will not go back beyond the retention period of 25 years.
	16.55 Any relevant data entered onto NR3 which relates to existing licence-holders may be considered as part of future renewal processes.
	16.56 The information recorded on NR3 will be limited to your:
	16.57 Information will be retained on NR3 for 25 years.
	16.58 Where an applicant’s details are flagged on NR3 during a search, this will be followed up separately between the authorities. Any such request in relation to your record will be responded to in accordance with the authority’s published policy at...
	16.59 Licensing authorities will still be required to consider each application on its own merits, but the introduction of NR3 will help ensure that they are able to do so on the basis of all the information that is relevant to an application.
	16.60 All data processing and sharing undertaken by this authority on the NR3, and with individual authorities in regard to entries on the NR3 will be undertaken in accordance with the Data Protection Act (DPA) and the General Data Protection Regulati...
	16.61 If you wish to raise any issue related to the data protection legislation, including by relying on any of the rights afforded to data subjects under the GDPR, you can do so to the authority’s Data Protection Officer at Three Rivers District Coun...

	17 Tax Check
	17.1 From 4 April 2022 all renewing driver and operator applicants must provide a Tax Code check number on their application. No application will be considered unless the Tax check has been processed.
	17.2 Applicants must first register for a personal tax account before April 2022 via the Government gateway 34Thttps://www.gov.uk/log-in-register-hmrc-online-services/register34T
	17.3 Once registered they will be required to generate their own 9 character tax check code by answering 5 simple questions which will generate a tax code which must be entered onto their application. This code can be used for numerous applications as...
	17.4 Applicants may not need to complete a tax check but they must check the following Gov.uk website addresses for HMRC guidance about tax registration obligations:
	17.5 Applicants will be required to sign a declaration to confirm that they are aware of the guidance in relation to their tax registration obligations

	18 Private Hire Operator licences
	18.1 Fit and proper person
	18.2 Applicants for private hire operator licences are required to pass the private hire knowledge test.
	18.3 With regard to criminal convictions/cautions, an operator is not an exempted profession under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974; therefore only unspent convictions will be taken into consideration when determining whether an applicant is a...
	18.4 The decision whether to grant or refuse a licence will be based on whether the convictions/cautions were declared, the type of offences and the total number of convictions/cautions recorded against each individual applicant.
	18.5 The overriding consideration in reaching a decision will be based on whether the operator (the individuals listed as licensees on the application) can fulfil their roles and run the company without posing any likely threat to the general safety o...
	18.6 If a situation arises where an operator licence application from a registered company is likely to be refused solely on the declared convictions of one individual within the organisation, the application may still proceed if the applicant decides...
	18.7 Accordingly, when submitting an application to be a registered private hire operator, you must declare any unspent cautions or convictions you may have, whether they are foreign or domestic. Failure to declare convictions and/or cautions or givin...
	18.8 Applicants will need to obtain a basic disclosure certificate which will reveal any unspent convictions or cautions. The Disclosure certificate, issued within the last 3 months, must be submitted with the application in order to validate it.
	18.9 Where an existing operator has been charged or convicted of an offence, or other relevant information comes to the attention of the Council which brings into question whether the driver is still a fit and proper person to hold an operator’s licen...
	18.10  The existence of a criminal record or disclosure of other information will not necessarily stop a person from gaining or keeping a licence. The decision will be based on the policy on criminal convictions and behaviour at sections 21 and 22 of ...
	18.11  We will not accept disclosures obtained on behalf of another authority unless the applicant has signed up to the DBS Update Service and that the original DBS is for the appropriate workforce as defined by DBS guidelines.

	18.12 Previous applications
	18.13 If anyone named on an application has previously been refused an operator's licence or held an operator's licence which was suspended or revoked elsewhere, they will be expected to provide details of the refusal, suspension or revocation on thei...
	18.14 Planning permission
	18.15  All premises to be used as a private hire operator base or operations running from a residential address will require the appropriate planning consent or permitted development rights for that use class. All applicants must provide a certificate...
	18.16 Use of mobile applications
	18.17 The use of mobile applications (apps) is becoming increasingly common for a wide range of uses, including many taxi companies and private hire operators. The Council supports the use of such innovation, which has many potential public safety ben...
	18.18 Apps must be approved by the Council prior to their use, and must not have a negative impact on public safety.
	18.19 Training
	18.20 All operators will be required to attend all mandatory training sessions organised by the Council. Failure to attend mandatory training sessions will constitute a breach of the Council’s hackney carriage and private hire policy. At the first ins...

	19 34THackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licences34T
	19.1 Type of vehicle
	19.2 Vehicle standards
	19.3 Only vehicles that comply with the requirements and conditions relating to private hire vehicles/hackney carriage vehicles or non-standard private hire vehicles will be licensed. The vehicle must remain in the condition as determined by those con...
	19.4 Vehicle age policy
	19.5 At the time a vehicle is first licensed (including changes of vehicles if not to a currently licensed vehicle), the vehicle must normally be less than 7 years of age. The vehicle’s age will be determined by the vehicle registration document. The ...
	19.6 Tyres
	19.6.1 The vehicle shall be equipped with a minimum of 4 road wheels and 1 full-sized spare wheel. The tyres shall be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer and not more than 10 years old.
	19.6.2 Tyres must not be purchased as part-worn or used.
	19.6.3 Tyres must have a minimum tyre tread depth of 3 mm over the central 3/4 of the tread pattern (including spare tyre).
	19.6.4 The vehicle must be fitted with either all radial or all cross-ply tyres and the spare tyre must be the same size as those fitted to the vehicle, except for a vehicle with a manufacturers ‘space saving’ wheel.
	19.6.5 Vehicles with a 'space-saving' wheel are to comply with the manufacturer's specifications as to use. When so used, the vehicle must not be used for plying for hire, or private hire. Any change in the type or size of the tyres fitted to the vehi...

	19.7 Accessibility
	19.8 The Council recognises the need to promote the use of wheelchair accessible vehicles to ensure that all members of the community are able to benefit from the service that they provide.
	19.9 Where a vehicle is wheelchair-accessible:
	19.10 Reducing air pollution
	19.11 The Council is committed to encouraging applications for more fuel-efficient vehicles. Vehicle pollution has a significant impact on air quality in the district, and there is widespread agreement that more must be done to reduce the number of hi...
	19.12 Drivers are also advised that vehicles should not be left to idle as this causes unnecessary pollution and increases their fuel costs.
	19.13 From 1 May 2019 The Air Quality (Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles Database) (England and Wales) Regulations 2019 will require the Council to provide details to the secretary of state of all hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. Therefore th...
	19.14 Advertising
	19.15 No signs, notices, advertisements, marks, numbers, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices whatsoever shall be displayed on, in or from any licensed vehicle except as required by any statutory provision or with prior written approval of th...
	19.16 All advertising material must be approved in writing by the Council prior to use or display and an administration fee of £25 will be payable per batch of advertising.
	19.17 Not more than two external advertisements (excluding the roof signs) may be carried on any vehicle, confined to the side panels and must comply with the Advertising Standards Authority code of advertising.
	19.18 Any advertising material must not use the Council’s logo.
	19.19 Taximeter calibration
	19.20 All hackney carriage vehicles must be fitted with a taximeter. Private hire vehicles that are fitted with a taximeter must adhere to the following conditions.
	19.21 The taximeter shall be calibrated following a change to the table of fares or when requested by the Council.  A certificate of calibration provided by the taximeter installer must be produced on first issue, transfer or when the seal is damaged ...
	19.22 The operation of the taximeter must be in accordance with the provisions of the Byelaws in force at the time within the Three Rivers District with respect to hackney carriage vehicles.
	19.23 Change of Vehicle
	19.24 Change of vehicle applications must be completed and submitted by the licensed driver and not by the hire/lease company supplying the temporary vehicle.
	19.25 Roof Boxes and Roof Racks
	19.26 The use of roof boxes and roof racks is strictly prohibited unless there is roof space or storage already integrated into the vehicle.

	20 34T Guidelines for CCTV systems in hackney carriage & private hire vehicles34T
	20.1 Introduction
	20.2 These guidelines set out to ensure that CCTV systems installed in hackney carriages and private hire vehicles licensed by the Council are properly managed whilst being used to prevent and detect crime; and enhance the health, safety and security ...
	20.3 The decision whether to install CCTV in a licensed vehicle is at the discretion of the vehicle licence-holder and vehicle owner (if these are different), all costs would need to be met by these individuals as the Council will not provide funding ...
	20.4 Vehicle owners, who may also be the driver and/or operator, installing CCTV systems must fully comply with the requirements set out in these guidelines.
	20.5 For the purposes of these guidelines the term "CCTV system" will include any electronic recording device attached to the inside of vehicle having the technical capability of capturing and retaining visual images and audio recording from inside or...
	20.6 The purpose of CCTV
	20.7 The purpose of the CCTV system shall be to provide a safer environment for the benefit of the driver and passengers by:
	20.8 General requirements
	20.9 Any CCTV system to be fitted must, as a minimum, meet the requirements set out in this document. Only CCTV systems meeting these requirements and approved by the Council can be installed into licensed vehicles.
	20.10 CCTV systems installed will be inspected as part of the annual licensing inspection to ensure they do not pose a risk to the safety of the passengers or the driver and are fitted safely and securely.
	20.11 The installation and operation of CCTV must comply with the requirements of the Information Commissioner’s CCTV Code of Practice.
	20.12 All equipment must comply with any legislative requirements in respect of Motor Vehicle Construction and Use Regulations 1986. CCTV installed must also meet any other relevant legislation, including any new legislation which may be introduced fo...
	20.13 All equipment must meet all requirements as regards safety, technical acceptability and operational/data integrity.
	20.14 All equipment must be designed, constructed and installed in such a way and in such materials as to present no danger to passengers or driver, including impact with the equipment in the event of a collision or danger from the electrical integrit...
	20.15 Automotive Electromagnetic Compatibility Requirements (EMC)
	20.16 CCTV equipment must not interfere with any other safety, control, electrical, computer, navigation, satellite, or radio system in the vehicle.
	20.17 Any electrical equipment such as an in-vehicle CCTV system fitted after the vehicle has been manufactured and registered, is deemed to be an Electronic Sub Assembly (ESA) under the European Community Automotive Electromagnetic Compatibility Dire...
	20.18 CCTV equipment should be e-marked or CE-marked. If CE marked confirmation by the equipment manufacturer as being non-immunity related and suitable for use in motor vehicles is required.
	20.19 Camera design requirements
	20.20 The camera(s) must be fitted safely and securely, should not adversely encroach into the passenger area and must not impact on the safety of the driver, passenger or other road users.
	20.21 Installation
	20.22 All equipment must be installed as prescribed by the equipment and/or vehicle manufacturer installation instructions.
	20.23 The installed CCTV system must not weaken the structure or any component part of the vehicle or interfere with the integrity of the manufacturer's original equipment.
	20.24 All equipment must be installed in such a manner so as not to increase the risk of injury and/or discomfort to the driver and/or passengers. For example, temporary fixing methods such as suction cups will not be permitted, or lighting, such as i...
	20.25 All equipment must be protected from the elements, secure from tampering and located such as to have the minimum intrusion into any passenger or driver area or impact on the luggage carrying capacity of the vehicle.
	20.26 It is contrary to the Motor Vehicle (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 for equipment to obscure the view of the road through the windscreen.
	20.27 Equipment must not obscure or interfere with the operation of any of the vehicle’s standard and/or mandatory equipment, i.e. not mounted on or adjacent to air bags/air curtains or within proximity of other supplementary safety systems which may ...
	20.28 Viewing screens within the vehicle for the purposes of viewing captured images are not permitted.
	20.29 All wiring must be fused as set out in the manufacturer’s technical specification and be appropriately routed.
	20.30 If more than one camera is being installed their location within the vehicle must be specific for purpose i.e. to provide a safer environment for the benefit of the Taxi/ PHV driver and passengers.
	20.31 All equipment must be checked regularly and maintained to operational standards, including any repairs after damage.
	20.32 All system components requiring calibration in situ should be easily accessible.
	20.33 Camera Activation Methods
	20.34 Activation of the equipment may be via a number and combination of options, including:
	20.35 The CCTV system may be configured to record images for a short period of time before the trigger event, during the related incident and a short period following the related incident.
	20.36 A direct wired link to the vehicle’s taximeter, in the case of a Taxi, will not be acceptable.
	20.37 Audio Recording
	20.38 CCTV systems must not be used to record conversations between members of the public as this is highly intrusive and unlikely to be justified except in very exceptional circumstances. You must choose a system without this facility wherever possib...
	20.39 There are limited circumstances in which audio recording may be justified due to a specific threat to an individual’s personal safety, e.g. when a ‘panic button’ is utilised in response to a threat of physical violence.
	20.40 Where this audio recording facility is utilised a reset function must be installed which automatically disables audio recording and returns the system to normal default operation after a specified time period has elapsed. The time period that au...
	20.41 In the limited circumstance where audio recording is justified, signs must make it very clear that audio recording is being or may be carried out.
	20.42 Image Security
	20.43 Images captured must remain secure at all times.
	20.44 The captured images must be protected using approved encryption software which is designed to guard against the compromise of the stored data, for example, in the event of the vehicle or equipment being stolen.
	20.45 The Information Commissioner’s Office has published guidance on how to keep personal data (including personal data contained in CCTV images) secure, on their website.
	20.46 Retention of CCTV images
	20.47 The CCTV equipment selected for installation must have the capability of retaining images either:
	20.48 within its own secure, encrypted hard drive;
	20.49 using a fully secured and appropriately encrypted detachable mass storage device, for example, a compact flash solid state card;
	or
	20.50 where a service provider is providing storage facilities, transferred in real time using fully secured and appropriately encrypted GPRS (GSM telephone) signalling to a secure server within the service provider’s monitoring centre.
	20.51 Images must not be downloaded onto any kind of portable media device (e.g. CDs or memory sticks) for the purpose of general storage outside the vehicle.
	20.52 CCTV equipment selected for installation must include an automatic overwriting function, so that images are only retained within the installed system storage device for a maximum period of 28 days from the date of capture. Where a service provid...
	20.53 Where applicable, these provisions shall also apply to audio recordings.
	20.54 Notification to the Information Commissioner’s Office
	20.55 The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) is the official regulatory body responsible for enforcing compliance with privacy and data protection legislation
	20.56 The law defines a “data controller” as the individual or organisation which has ultimate responsibility for how personal data is collected and processed. For the purpose of the installation and operation of in-vehicle CCTV, the “data controller”...
	20.57 ‘Notification’ is the process by which a data controller informs the ICO of certain details about their processing of personal information. These details are used to make an entry in the public register of data controllers.
	20.58 This means that any company, organisation or individual vehicle owner who has a CCTV system installed within a licensed vehicle must register with the ICO and obtain documented evidence of that registration. This documentary evidence may have to...
	20.59 The notification requires renewal on an annual basis, and payment of the appropriate fee specified on the ICO’s website.
	20.60 Using a third party service provider (data processor)
	20.61 Where a service provider is used for the remote storage and/or management of CCTV data they will act as a ‘data processor’.
	20.62 A data processor, in relation to personal data, means any person (other than an employee of the data controller) who processes data on behalf of the data controller, in response to specific instructions. The data controller retains full responsi...
	20.63 There must be a formal written contract between the data controller and data processor (service provider). The contract must contain provisions covering security arrangements, retention/deletion instructions, access requests and termination arra...
	20.64 Documentary evidence of the contractual arrangements may be required to be presented to a Council official at any time during the term of the vehicle licence.
	20.65 Using recorded CCTV images
	20.66 The data controller is responsible for complying with all relevant data protection legislation, as well as being legally responsible for the use of all images including any breaches of privacy and data protection legislation.
	20.67 Any images and/or audio recordings should only be used for the purposes described earlier in these guidelines.
	20.68 Requests to view captured images may be submitted to the data controller by the Police or other statutory law enforcement agencies; the Council; insurance companies/brokers/loss adjusters; or in exceptional circumstances, other appropriate bodie...
	20.69 All requests should only be accepted where they are in writing, and specify the reasons why disclosure is required.
	20.70 Under the DPA, members of the public may also make a request for the disclosure of images, but only where they have been the subject of a recording. This is known as a ‘Subject Access request’. Such requests must only be accepted where they are ...
	20.71 Data Controllers are also entitled to charge a fee for a subject access request (currently a maximum of £10). More guidance on handling subject access requests can be found in the ICO’s Subject Access Request Code of Practice, which is available...
	20.72 Signage
	20.73 All vehicles fitted with a CCTV system must display the sign shown below in a prominent position. The driver may also verbally bring to the attention of the passengers that CCTV equipment is in operation within the vehicle, if it is felt necessa...
	20.74 The signage must be displayed in such positions so as to minimise obstruction of vision and to make it as visible as possible to passengers, before and after entering the vehicle.
	20.75 The name and contact details of the Data Controller must be provided in the blank space included on the sign template. The contact details can be in the form of either a telephone number, email address or website URL.
	20.76 Signage for external-facing CCTV systems
	20.76.1 Where a CCTV system is installed in order to record incidents outside the vehicle, it will not be practical to display a sign. Instead, when the CCTV is activated in response to an incident, the driver of the vehicle must inform the person(s) ...
	20.76.2 They should also be informed of the purpose for which the device has been installed, for example to facilitate their insurance company’s investigation of insurance claims.

	20.77 Annual Certification from installer
	20.77.1 Any CCTV system should be checked annually by the installer and evidence of this must be provided to the Council. Where an installation company ceases to exist, a similar installation company should be used.

	20.78  CCTV Checklist
	20.79 To assist individual drivers, owners and operators who are considering the installation of a CCTV system, the Council has produced the summary checklist below to help ensure that all of the relevant approval requirements/standards are complied w...

	21 Communication, Audio and Visual Devices
	21.1 Mobile devices can only be used if they are held in a cradle and are used completely hands-free.
	21.2 All Communications Devices must be securely fitted within the vehicle and appropriately located so as to not interfere with the operation of the vehicle.
	21.3 The use of headphones is not permitted to be used in a licensed vehicle.
	21.4 In order to protect passenger confidentiality, a licensed driver must neither retain nor publish any image, sound or information of any passenger(s) captured on a hand-held recording device or any other form of recording device, except where this...

	22 Policy on Convictions and Conduct - New Applicants
	22.1  Each case is to be taken on its own merit.
	22.2  Some discretion may be appropriate if the offence and/or behaviour is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances. Equally, the history of offending (including multiple offences/combinations of offences /types of offences) and/or behaviour m...
	22.3  Accordingly, whilst it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions that, individually, meet the guidelines below, the overall offending history must be considered when assessing the applicant’s suitability to be licensed.
	22.4  A series of civil or criminal offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than an isolated minor conviction. Obviously some discretion can be afforded if an offence is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances, ...
	22.5 Simply remaining free of convictions will not necessarily be sufficient to show that a person is fit and proper where other circumstances/evidence bring this into question. Furthermore it should always be remembered that the periods free of convi...
	22.6 Whilst the time period detailed in this section provides guidance to potential applicants as to how long they should wait before applying for a licence following described offences/convictions, any application made following these guidelines is s...
	22.7  Notwithstanding and without prejudice to any other provision within this document, ordinarily the Council would as a minimum expect the standard rehabilitation periods identified in the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 to have expired.
	22.8  Criminal convictions or civil penalties will be considered by officers or, in cases of doubt, by the Licensing sub-committee.
	22.9  An application from any person awaiting trial for an offence which brings into question whether they are a fit and proper person (including but not limited to death by dangerous driving, drugs, violence, sexual offences, dishonesty, driving unde...
	22.10  In order for the Council to fully consider the case on its merits, the applicant should provide a written statement of the offences (including any that they are awaiting trial for), with evidence, covering the nine points in the paragraph below...
	22.11  Where the Council becomes aware of issues including previous criminal history/convictions, any arrest, any charges, inappropriate behaviour for a hackney carriage/private hire driver and/or significant comments on any DBS check, consideration w...
	22.12 These guidelines do not deal with every type of offence, and do not prevent the Council from taking into account offences not specifically addressed in the guidelines, or other conduct which may be relevant as to whether an individual is a fit a...
	22.13  Minor motoring offences
	22.14 Convictions for minor traffic offences such as speed limit offences, or non-endorsable traffic offences such as obstruction or waiting in a restricted street should not prevent a person from applying to be a hackney carriage or private hire driver.
	22.15 If sufficient points have been accrued to require a period of disqualification of the applicant’s driving licence then a hackney carriage or private hire licence may be granted 12 months after its restoration but a warning should be issued as to...
	22.16 Further disqualification from driving as a result of penalty points being accrued may result in refusal to issue a licence.
	22.17 Traffic offences involving the loss of life
	22.18 A very serious view will be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a driving offence that resulted in the loss of life or serious injury. A licence will not be granted if an applicant has a conviction for any of the following:-
	22.19  Major traffic offences not involving the loss of life
	22.20 A very serious view should also be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a major traffic offence even if it has not involved the loss of life, as it raises questions as to the applicant’s ability to protect the public.
	22.21 Before an application is considered, an applicant should be free of conviction for 10 years and since the completion of the sentence, whichever is longer, for offences such as:
	 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to commit).
	22.22  Other serious traffic offences
	22.23 Other serious traffic offences include:
	22.24 34TInsurance offences34T and alcohol/drug offences are dealt with under their own separate subsections below
	22.25 34TTheft34T or unauthorised taking of a vehicle are dealt with under the 'dishonesty' subsection below.
	22.26 Any conviction for a serious traffic offence under ‘other serious traffic offences’ in this policy should normally merit refusal to issue a licence and no further application should be considered until a period of 7 years either free of convicti...
	22.27 More than one conviction for a traffic offence within two years should merit refusal to issue a licence and no further application should be considered until a period of 5 years either free of convictions or since completion of the sentence, whi...
	22.28 Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs (including medication) or legal highs
	22.29 A serious view is taken of driving or being in charge of a vehicle whilst under the influence of drink or drugs or legal highs, as licensees are professional vocational drivers and drink/drug driving convictions raise serious concerns for the sa...
	22.30 At least 5 years should elapse, after the restoration of the EU (UK) full driving licence, before an applicant may be considered for a private hire or hackney carriage driver’s licence.
	22.31 More than one conviction for these offences or any conviction for driving under the influence of illegal drugs should raise grave doubts as to the applicant’s fitness to drive the public and therefore hold a licence.
	22.32 If there is reason to suspect persistent alcohol and/or drugs use, misuse or dependency (e.g. two or more offences relating to alcohol or drugs, with or without a vehicle) a specialist medical examination and report should be required before an ...
	22.33 Drunkenness without a motor vehicle
	22.34 An isolated conviction for drunkenness need not debar a driver from obtaining a licence but a number of convictions could indicate a medical problem necessitating a medical examination. In some cases a warning would be sufficient.  If there is r...
	22.35 In addition, applicants will normally be required to show a period of at least 5 years has elapsed after completion of detoxification treatment if (s)he was an alcoholic.
	22.36 Illegal drugs without a motor vehicle
	22.37 A serious view is taken of any illegal drugs-related offence. The nature and quantity of the drugs, whether for personal use or supply are issues which should be considered.
	22.38 An applicant would normally be expected to be free of convictions relating to the possession of illegal drugs for 5 years requiring at least 5 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence.
	22.39 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has more than one conviction for offences related to the possession of illegal drugs and has not been free of conviction for 7 years with at least 7 years to have passed since the compl...
	22.40 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence related to the supply, importing or production of illegal drugs and has not been free of conviction for 10 years with at least 10 years to have passed si...
	22.41 If there is reason to suspect persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency (e.g. two or more convictions relating to any drugs, with or without a vehicle) a specialist medical examination and report will normally be required before an application ...
	22.42 Sex and indecency offences
	22.43 As hackney carriage and private hire drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers. Applicants who have been convicted of sexual or indecency offences (or where there is other behaviour and/or evidence to suggest a disposition to c...
	22.44 In particular, an application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as:
	 Similar or replacement offences to those listed above (including attempted or conspiracy to  commit).
	22.45 If a licence is granted a strict warning as to future conduct should be issued.
	22.46 A person on the sex offenders register would not be considered a fit and proper person to hold a licence.
	22.47 Violence
	22.48 As hackney carriage and private hire drivers maintain close contact with the public, a firm line should be taken with drivers with offences involving violence. An application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an offe...
	22.49 At least 5 years free of conviction with at least 5 years to have passed since the completion of the sentence before an application is considered from anyone whose offending history and/or other behaviour/evidence suggests an aggressive or viole...
	22.50 However given the range of offences that involve violence, consideration must be given to the nature of the offences. In particular:
	22.51 An application will normally be refused if an applicant has more than one conviction in the last 10 years for an offence of a violent nature.
	22.52 Dishonesty
	22.53 Taxi and PHV drivers are expected to be persons of trust. They deal with cash transactions and valuable property may be left in their vehicle in error.
	22.54 Drivers are required to deposit such property with the police within 48 hours.
	22.55 The widespread practice of delivering unaccompanied property is indicative of the trust that business people place in drivers. Moreover, it is relatively easy for a dishonest driver to defraud the public by demanding more than their legal fare etc.
	22.56 This for example would include misuse of MPV additional occupancy rates. Licence-holders also have access to the names and addresses of their customers and their daily movements. Overseas visitors may not be familiar with the currency or costs o...
	22.57 Nationally it has been known for drivers to pass information on vulnerable persons to others for later abuse or to abuse vulnerable persons, including taking money from such persons.
	22.58 Offences involving dishonesty for the purposes of this policy include:
	22.59 An application will normally be refused if an applicant has been convicted of burglary or more than one conviction for other dishonesty offences in the last 10 years.
	22.60 34TInsurance offences34T
	22.61 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a vehicle without insurance. An isolated incident would normally prevent a licence being granted until a period of five years from the date of the offence has expired. ...
	22.62 Licensing offences
	22.63 This subsection applies to licensing offences not covered elsewhere within this convictions and behaviour section of the policy such as plying for hire, using an unlicensed vehicle/driver.
	22.64 At least 12 months free of conviction should elapse before an application will be considered. Unless there is significant mitigation, an applicant will normally be refused until a period of at least five years free of conviction has expired wher...
	22.65 An applicant with an isolated conviction that is more than one year old may be licensed subject to a written warning.
	22.66 Individuals previously licensed by the Council and revoked for offences connected to their licence will not normally be granted a further licence in the future. Cases such as this will be considered by the Lead Licensing Officer under their dele...
	22.67 Cautions
	22.68 An admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued. Accordingly cautions will be assessed in the same way as a conviction by the Court.
	22.69 Non-conviction information
	22.70 If an applicant has, on more than one occasion, been arrested or charged but not convicted for an offence, or is subject to an antisocial behaviour injunction/order or similar order, which suggests he/she may not be a fit and proper person, or i...
	22.71 Failing to declare convictions on the application form should normally result in refusal and at least twelve months elapsing from the date of receipt of the application form before an application will be considered and a new application will be ...
	22.72 As with the rest of this part of the policy, in assessing the action to take, the safety and security of the travelling public must be the paramount concern.
	22.73 Suspension/refusal/revocation by another Council
	22.74 An applicant who has been suspended/refused/revoked by another Council may not be considered “fit and proper” for a period of at least 3 years from the date of the suspension/refusal/revocation. This period may be extended depending on the circu...
	22.75 The Council shall also have a right to make enquiries of that other authority.

	23 Policy on Convictions and Conduct for existing licensees
	23.1 Time of action
	23.2 Existing holders of driver’s licences are required to notify the Council in writing within five working days of receiving a driving licence endorsement, fixed penalty notice, warning, reprimand, police caution, criminal conviction or other crimin...
	23.3 In addition, licence-holders must inform the Council in writing or by email within 3 working days of their arrest for any matter (whether subsequently charged or not). To fail to do so, will raise serious questions for the Council as to the hones...
	23.4 Policy details
	23.5 Each case is to be taken on its own merit.
	23.6 Any person awaiting trial for or suspected of committing an offence which brings into question whether they are a fit and proper person (including but not limited to death by dangerous driving, drugs, violence, sexual offences, dishonesty, drivin...
	23.7 Although each case will be assessed on its own merits in line with this policy, licence-holders should expect the revocation of their licence for these types of offences to be immediate in nature. The initial consideration regarding revocation wi...
	23.8 When considering whether a licence should be suspended or revoked, some discretion may be appropriate if the offence and/or behaviour is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances. Equally the history of offending (including multiple offence...
	23.9 Therefore any licence-holder awaiting trial for, or suspected of, committing an offence or demonstrating behaviour which, taken together with the licence-holder’s history of offending (including multiple offences /combinations of offences /types ...
	23.10 Whilst it is possible that a licence-holder may have a number of previous convictions that, individually, meet the guidelines below, the overall offending history must be considered when assessing the licence-holder’s suitability to continue to ...
	23.11 In order for the Council to fully consider a case on its merits, the licence-holder should provide a written statement of the offences, with evidence, covering the nine points in the paragraph below, which would be available for examination by t...
	23.12 Where the Council becomes aware of issues including previous criminal history/convictions, any arrest, any charges, inappropriate behaviour for a hackney carriage/PHV driver and/or significant comments on any DBS check, consideration will be giv...
	23.13 These guidelines do not deal with every type of offence, and do not prevent the Council from taking into account offences not specifically addressed in the guidelines, or other conduct which may be relevant as to whether an individual is a fit a...

	24 Expedition policy for revoked licences where reinstating a licensee is considered appropriate
	24.1 General
	24.2 The High court ruling of R (application of Singh) v Cardiff City Council [2012] EWCH 1852 (Admin) has established that it is unlawful to suspend and then revoke a driver for a single offence. Therefore it is necessary to revoke a driver immediate...
	24.3 This policy is to assist in the timely replacement of a driver’s licence, when it has been revoked but following investigation it has established that the Council does not have any remaining concerns with regards to the fit and proper nature of t...
	24.4 A relevant officer of the Council will decide if an applicant falls in to this part of the policy and the applicant will be advised if this is the case.
	24.5 The investigation of the Council with regards to establishing whether an individual is fit and proper will take into account any available information but is not reliant on other authorities’ investigations into any connected allegations, althoug...
	24.6 As the Council is required to consider each case on balance of probability, a police investigation which results in an individual not being convicted may not in itself be considered to be sufficient for the Council to issue a new licence to the i...
	24.7 Process
	24.8 If the Council makes a decision to issue a new licence to a driver whose licence was previously revoked, a new application will be required from the individual but some existing documents which are ‘in date’ in terms of the hackney carriage and p...
	24.9 Depending on the circumstances surrounding the revocation, some updated documents may be required and these will be determined on a case by case basis. For example, if a driver’s health leads to their licence being revoked and their health subseq...
	24.10 When a decision is made to issue a new licence, this will usually be processed within 5 working days of all required documentation being received.
	24.11 Fees
	24.12 The new licence will usually be issued for the period that the revoked licence had left to run and no further charge will be levied, with the exception of any connected costs such as for new documentation which will remain the applicant’s respon...

	25 TABLE OF OFFENCES SUMMARY (PLEASE READ SPECIFIC PARAGRAPH FOR MORE INFORMATION.
	26 Licensing enforcement
	26.1 General
	26.2 The Council issues hackney carriage and private hire driver and vehicle licences to ensure passenger safety.
	26.3 The DfT guidance is clear on the necessity of enforcement to maintain high standards of public safety. All enforcement schemes need to be proportionate and transparent.
	26.4 Any enforcement system needs to deal with persistent, low level breaches up to serious, possibly, criminal behaviour. There needs to be a grade of sanctions from informal warnings through to suspension and revocation of licence. It is clear that ...
	26.5 Enforcement options
	26.6 There are a number of options that shall be considered following the identification of an activity for which the necessary licence, notice or registration has not been applied for or the Licensee has not complied with the conditions of a licence,...
	26.7 There is a long standing relationship between the licensing team and the trade. This is based on the application of consistent standards for all parties.
	26.8 Enforcement Policy
	26.9 The authority will have regard to the 34TPolice and Criminal Evidence Act Codes of Practice.
	26.10  Verbal advice
	26.11 To be followed where the vehicle or driver standards are found to be reasonably satisfactory but wanting in some minor respect.
	26.12 34TInspection34T
	26.13 Inspections will normally be of vehicles or documents/records. In most cases, appointments will be made with adequate notice and at reasonable hours unless this would defeat the object of the inspection. Licensees will comply with officer reques...
	26.14 Penalty points scheme
	26.15 Any licensed person who has in the opinion of the licensing officer committed an infringement of the law or licence conditions will be served with a notice as follows:-
	26.16 The Council operates a system whereby infringements of the law or licence conditions by a licence-holder can be recorded and given a value dependent upon the nature of the infringement. This scheme reduces possible subjectivity from the enforcem...
	26.17 This is a points-based monitoring system whereby licensees receive a certain number of points against their hackney carriage or private hire licence for specific offences, similar to the way in which points are issued against a DVLA licence for ...
	26.18 The monitoring of contraventions system is only in place for breaches of conditions that the Council witnesses and/or investigates. If, for example, the Police deal with an issue by way of issuing a penalty notice or awarding penalty points/fine...
	26.19 If the licence-holder believes that points have been issued in error, or that there are mitigating circumstances not taken into account by the officer, there is a right of appeal to the Head of Regulatory Services, Three Rivers District Council,...
	26.20 The issue of points does not prevent the Licensing section from taking any other or additional action, including prosecution where this is felt to be appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, any breach of legislation, conditions, or offences not...
	26.21 Allocation of penalty points
	26.22 Points for Unattended vehicles
	26.23 Contraventions that will be dealt with outside of the penalty point(s) scheme
	26.24 Suspension of licences
	26.25 A suspension notice can be issued giving 21 days’ notice before the suspension takes effect or can be with immediate effect in the interest of public safety.
	26.26 Whilst each case will be taken on its own merit, generally a suspension notice will normally be served in the following cases:
	26.27 The policy on criminal records and behaviour will be used to assess whether a suspension should be given and if so whether it should be with immediate effect.
	26.28 Also, the Crown Prosecution Service or Police may be asked to apply for bail conditions, which require any/all licences affected by this policy to be revoked by the Court.
	26.29 Where a licence is refused, revoked, suspended or not renewed the licence-holder must be provided within 14 days of the decision being made and notice of the grounds on which the action was taken.
	26.30 Revocation of licences
	26.31 In the case of a driver or operator licence, the test will be whether the driver/operator is a fit and proper person (assessed in accordance with this policy, current legislation, case law and guidance). If they are not, on the balance of probab...
	26.32 The decision to revoke a licence will not be taken lightly. The lead licensing officer has delegated authority to revoke licences if appropriate or can refer the licence to a Regulatory Services/Licensing Sub-Committee if deemed appropriate.
	26.33 Voluntary Surrender
	26.34 Voluntary offers to surrender a licence will be accepted if made in writing and the licence plate/disc/badge returned. No refund of licence fee will be paid on the surrender of a licence.
	26.35 Notification of decisions
	26.36 Any notice required to be served by the Council under this licence or under any of the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be deemed to have been properly served if sent by pre-paid post to, or left at, t...
	26.37 Appeal against refusal, suspension or revocation of a licence
	26.38 The applicant or licence-holder has the right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court (or Crown Court if relating to refusal to grant a hackney carriage vehicle licence) Appeal procedures to the Magistrates’ Court will be detailed with notices sent ...
	26.39 Formal caution
	26.40 This is an alternative to prosecution and requires that the offender must admit the offence.
	26.41 In considering the issue of a formal caution the following will be taken into account:
	26.42 Written information will be given or sent to the offender regarding the significance of the caution immediately prior to offer of the formal caution.
	26.43 Formal cautions will always require first the signature of the offender and then the authorised local authority representative.
	26.44 Copies of the caution will be sent to the offender and sent to the central registrar of convictions.  The Legal department will hold the original caution.
	26.45 Prosecution
	26.46 Prosecution will normally only be contemplated when the offences are serious, for example where there is a potential for risk to passenger safety, or as a result of refusal to accept other courses of action.  Unlicensed persons or businesses wil...
	26.47 The following will be taken into account;
	26.48 Prosecution will be authorised by the Head of Regulatory Services after consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services.
	26.49 Should the Crown Prosecution Service be initiating action against a person or business for offences which also involve breaches of the Police Town Clauses Act 1847, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or byelaws made in respect ...

	Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“The 1976 Act”)
	12. Examination of vehicles

	Requirements Relating Only To Hackney Carriage Vehicles
	Licensing conditions relating to Private Hire Drivers
	Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”)
	Town Police Clauses Act 1847   (“the 1847 Act”)
	Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”)
	Conditions relating to Private Hire Vehicles
	Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”)
	Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”)
	Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”)
	NB: Planning approval, where required, must be obtained for any premises used for operating Private Hire business


	(05iii) 22 03 08 RG i - Appendix 3 - Consultation Response(s)

	6 INTRODUCTION OF A STREET TRADING POLICY (LICENSING)
	6. Introduction of a Street Trading Policy (Licensing)
	(DCES)
	1 Summary
	1.1 In recent months, following a number of street trading applications, it is evident the Council requires a specific Policy to cover Street Trading and tighter internal processes which would be best achieved by implementing a new Street Trading Poli...
	1.2 The aim of the Policy is to create a street trading environment which ensures fair trading, protects the amenity of residents, ensures the safety of those trading, promotes diversity and consumer choice and provides applicants with advice and guid...
	1.3 Currently the licensing department rely on Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the Act”) when processing applications as no street trading policy exists. That said, the department does currently have a list of ...
	1.4 Officers are therefore seeking member agreement in adopting the Policy following a 12 week public consultation which is due to expire on 11PthP March 2022.

	2 Details
	2.1 Street Trading is defined as the selling or exposing or offering for sale of any article (including a living thing) in a street. Under Schedule 4 of the Act, the Council can manage street trading by designating streets as ‘consent streets’, ‘licen...
	2.2 For clarification - a street includes a street, highway or other area (e.g. carpark, park, green, pavement) to which the public have access without payment and as such any land adjacent to the street will also fall within the scope of the Policy. ...
	2.3 As highlighted above, the department does have a list of prohibited and consent streets which is displayed on our website. The current list of prohibited streets generally comprise of trunk roads, principle roads and specific named roads across th...
	2.4 It should be noted that there are a number of different type of street trading activities, from static street trading (i.e. burger van), mobile street trading (i.e. ice cream traders), markets/fairs/carnivals and special events.
	2.5 The Policy sets out the following in order to assist potential applicants before applying:
	- criteria for choosing a trading location/pitch which is aimed to assist potential applicants
	- requirements of trading vehicles i.e. emissions and encouragement of electronic vehicles
	- guidance on employees of street traders
	- operating hours
	- guidance on ice cream van chimes
	- trading near to schools
	- how the application process works from submission, consultation and determination
	- guidance on suitability of an applicant
	- requirements for street trading during events / special events
	2.6 The purpose of the Policy is therefore to:
	- provide guidance to applicants and the decision makers
	- to ensure fair trade occurs between mobile traders
	- protect the amenity of residents
	- promote diversity and consumer choice
	- provides applicants with advice and guidance on the Council’s approach to the administration of applications for street trading licences
	- prevent obstruction of the streets in the district and to ensure the safety of persons using them

	3 Consultation
	3.1 A public consultation initially took place for 6 weeks and expired on 26PthP January 2022. However, it was noted that the Parish Councils were omitted from the consultation and thus a further 6 week consultation commenced and expires on 11PthP Mar...
	3.2 All existing street traders, all members, Parish Councils, relevant consultees on street trading licences/consents were notified and public notices were also displayed in the Watford Observer. The consultation was also displayed on the Council’s w...
	3.3 One response was received from the Clerk at Watford Rural Parish Council at the time of writing the report, any further comments received will be verbally updated at Committee.
	3.4 The response included the following comments:
	3.5 The Officer responses to the above questions are set out below.
	3.6 If a market or fair has acquired by virtue of a grant (including a presumed grant) or acquired or established by an enactment or order it will be exempt from street trading. If Watford Rural Parish (WRP) are able to evidence any of the above then ...
	3.7 In February 2020 it was agreed by Council:
	That on or before the 20 March 2020 the Council revokes the powers delegated to Watford Rural Parish Council in 1990 to hold a market at St Andrews Road, South Oxhey and that the Chief Executive be authorised to formally revoke that delegation and to...
	That the Council using Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 agrees to delegate its powers under Section 50 of the Food Act 1984 to Watford Rural Parish Council to hold a market in Prestwick Road South Oxhey on the basis that the Parish Counci...
	That the Chief Executive (in consultation with the Leader of the Council and Ward Councillors) be authorised to agree and approve:-

	- all the specific details around the delegation including, but not limited to, the date the delegated powers can be exercised from, the actual location of the market in Prestwick Road and any decisions on the Operator of the market.
	- the Business Plan to be produced by Watford Rural Parish Council.
	3.8 At the time of writing, Officers are of the view that WRP will require a street trading licence covering the market but will review any information supplied by WRP. The Policy sets out that for non-established markets the Council may issue one str...
	3.9 Prestwick Road is currently a consent street meaning an application would be required if any street trader wished to trade on the road. The application would need to satisfy the criteria specified within the Policy.
	3.10 With regards to future events within Delta Gain/Carpenders Avenue, the list of Prohibited and Consent streets is to be reviewed and is not subject to any change as a result of introducing this Policy.
	3.11 Following the previous committee, comments by Members were noted and Officers have duly considered the discussion which occurred. As a result, it was agreed that only mobile street traders should not be permitted to trade within a 50 metre radius...

	4 Options and Reasons for Recommendations
	4.1 There are 3 options available for Members:
	- Option 1: That Members agree the Policy subject to any new response(s) received within the consultation period.
	- Option 2: Authorise Officers to make further changes on the Policy before going out to a further public consultation (if required). Following the expiry of the consultation for the Policy (if required) to agree the amended Policy and request that Po...
	- Option 3: Decide not to adopt the Policy.


	5 Policy/Budget Reference and Implications
	5.1 The recommendations in this report are within the Council’s agreed budgets. Costs associated with the press notice have been subsumed within existing licensing budgets.
	5.2 There are no performance indicators impacted.

	6 Staffing, Environmental, Community Safety & Public Health Implications
	6.1 None specific.

	7 Financial Implications
	6.1 The introduction of the Policy may deter applicants from applying which could have an impact on income.

	8 Legal Implications
	8.1 The adoption of the Policy will assist Officers and ensure the Council has a robust procedure in place when dealing with street trading within the district including in the determination of street trading applications.

	9 Equal Opportunities Implications
	9.1 Relevance Test
	9.2 Impact Assessment
	9.2.1 There is no detrimental impact likely towards any protected group from introducing the Policy.


	10 Customer Services Centre Implications
	10.1 CSC staff will be made aware of the Policy once it comes into force.

	11 Communications and Website Implications
	11.1 If agreed the Policy will be displayed on the TRDC website and will be published via TRDC social media platforms. Officers will also inform all those consulted that the Policy has come into force.

	12 Risk and Health & Safety Implications
	12.1 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on the website at http://www.threerivers.gov.uk.  In addition, the risks of the proposals in the report have also been assessed against the Council’s duties under Health and S...
	12.2 The subject of this report is covered by the Regulatory Service Plan. Any risks resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if necessary, managed within this/these plan(s).
	12.3 The above risks are scored using the matrix below.  The Council has determined its aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of impact and likelihood scores 6 or less.
	12.4 In the officers’ opinion none of the new risks above, were they to come about, would seriously prejudice the achievement of the Strategic Plan and are therefore operational risks.  The effectiveness of the management of operational risks is revie...

	13 Recommendation
	13.1 That the Members of the Committee:

	(06i) 22 03 08 RG i - Appendix 1 - Street Trading Policy

	7 REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME
	7. REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME
	1. Summary
	1.1 To consider and make necessary changes to the Committee’s work programme.

	2. Details
	2.1 The work programme is presented at each meeting of the Committee to enable necessary changes to be made by the Committee and to provide Members with updated information on future meetings.  The appendix to this report details the Committee’s work ...

	3. Financial, Legal, Staffing and Environmental Implications
	3.1 None specific.

	4. Recommendation
	4.1 That the Committee considers and makes any necessary changes to its work programme.

	Reports and minutes – Regulatory Services Committee 2021.
	APPENDIX
	Regulatory Services Committee’s Work Programme
	APPENDIX
	REGULATORY SERVICES COMMITTEE – WORK PROGRAMME


	Date
	Items to be considered



